MSC COMMUNICATION IN PHYSIOLOGICAL AND PATHOLOGICAL SETTINGS

EDITED BY: Philippe Bourin, Louis Casteilla, Jeffrey Gimble and Antonio Salgado PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88976-803-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88976-803-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

MSC COMMUNICATION IN PHYSIOLOGICAL AND PATHOLOGICAL SETTINGS

Topic Editors:

Philippe Bourin, Independent researcher, France Louis Casteilla, Université de Toulouse, France Jeffrey Gimble, Obatala Sciences, United States Antonio Salgado, University of Minho, Portugal

Dr. Bourin works in a biotechnology company that develops a production process of ASC for clinical uses. Dr. Gimble is a co-founder, co-owner, and Chief Scientific Officer at Obatala Sciences and LaCell, biotechnology companies focused on the clinical translation of adipose-derived cells and tissues. The other Guest Editors declare no competing interests with regard to the Research Topic subject.

Citation: Bourin, P., Casteilla, L., Gimble, J., Salgado, A., eds. (2022). MSC Communication in Physiological and Pathological Settings. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88976-803-5

Table of Contents

- **04** *Editorial: MSC Communication in Physiological and Pathological Settings* Philippe Bourin, Jeffrey M. Gimble, Louis Casteilla and António Salgado
- Distinct Factors Secreted by Adipose Stromal Cells Protect the Endothelium From Barrier Dysfunction and Apoptosis
 Hongyan Lu, Stephanie Merfeld-Clauss, Yameena Jawed, Keith L. March, Michael E. Coleman and Natalia V. Bogatcheva
- 21 Extracellular Vesicle-Dependent Communication Between Mesenchymal Stromal Cells and Immune Effector Cells

Riccardo Bazzoni, Paul Takam Kamga, Ilaria Tanasi and Mauro Krampera

36 Amnion-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cell Exosomes-Mediated Autophagy Promotes the Survival of Trophoblasts Under Hypoxia Through mTOR Pathway by the Downregulation of EZH2

Yijing Chu, Weiping Chen, Wei Peng, Yong Liu, Lin Xu, Jianxin Zuo, Jun Zhou, Yan Zhang, Ning Zhang, Jing Li, Ling Liu, Ke Yao, Guoqiang Gao, Xiaofei Wang, Rendong Han, Chong Liu, Yan Li, Huansheng Zhou, Yuxiang Huang and Yuanhua Ye

- **48** Molecular Pathways Modulated by Mesenchymal Stromal Cells and Their Extracellular Vesicles in Experimental Models of Liver Fibrosis Giulia Chiabotto, Chiara Pasquino, Giovanni Camussi and Stefania Bruno
- 61 Molecular Crosstalk Between Macrophages and Mesenchymal Stromal Cells

Hazel Y. Stevens, Annie C. Bowles, Carolyn Yeago and Krishnendu Roy

79 The Role of Notch and Wnt Signaling in MSC Communication in Normal and Leukemic Bone Marrow Niche

Paul Takam Kamga, Riccardo Bazzoni, Giada Dal Collo, Adriana Cassaro, Ilaria Tanasi, Anna Russignan, Cristina Tecchio and Mauro Krampera

98 Endogenous Mobilization of Mesenchymal Stromal Cells: A Pathway for Interorgan Communication?

Amandine Girousse, Maxime Mathieu, Quentin Sastourné-Arrey, Sylvie Monferran, Louis Casteilla and Coralie Sengenès

- **106** Macrophage Control of Incipient Bone Formation in Diabetic Mice Miya Kang, Ghadeer Thalji, Chun-Chieh Huang, Sajjad Shirazi, Yu Lu, Sriram Ravindran and Lyndon F. Cooper
- 118 Eph-Ephrin Signaling Mediates Cross-Talk Within the Bone Microenvironment

Agnieszka Arthur and Stan Gronthos



Editorial: MSC Communication in Physiological and Pathological Settings

Philippe Bourin¹*, Jeffrey M. Gimble², Louis Casteilla³ and António Salgado^{4,5}

¹Independent Researcher, Toulouse, France, ²Obatala Sciences Inc., New Orleans, LA, United States, ³Institut RESTORE, Université de Toulouse, CNRS U-5070, EFS, ENVT, Inserm U1301, Toulouse, France, ⁴Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Medicine, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal, ⁵ICVS/3B's Associate Lab, PT Government Associated Lab, Guimarães, Portugal

Keywords: mesenchymal stem cells, cell comunication, editorial, physiological settings, pathology

Editorial on the Research Topic

MSC Communication in Physiological and Pathological Settings

Mesenchymal stromal/stem cells (MSC), first identified within bone marrow, have been studied since the late 1960s. Pioneering studies by Friedenstein and others showed that MSC had the potential for differentiation into osteoblasts, chondrocytes and adipocytes and that, in addition, they supported hematopoiesis. Subsequent work highlighted the presence of similar cells in multiple tissue sites and uncovered other signature MSC properties such as their immunomodulatory and antifibrotic activities. Furthermore, in vivo pre-clinical animal models and first-in-human clinical trials have extended these analyses of MSC to evaluate their transplantation actions in many types of disorders. The ability of MSC to communicate with their local microenvironment and systemically is now appreciated as their predominant mechanism of action, making them a privileged tool for regenerative medical applications, through mechanisms of action that are a direct consequence of their microenvironmental and/or systemic communication capacity. However, the means of communication can be varied according to the physiological or pathophysiological situation and may include the secretion of small molecules, cytokines, adipokines, microRNA, and exosome/vesicles as well as direct cell-cell interactions mediated via surface receptors. This special issue contains a series of articles over-viewing the current status of MSC's communication avenues in the context of pathophysiological settings and clinical translation. These nine papers focus on two central themes (Planat-Benard et al., 2021): the crosstalk of MSC and immune cells and; (2) the involvement of MSC

of articles over-viewing the current status of MSC's communication avenues in the context of pathophysiological settings and clinical translation. These nine papers focus on two central themes (Planat-Benard et al., 2021): the crosstalk of MSC and immune cells and; (2) the involvement of MSC in tissue physiology and pathophysiology. The first theme, immune modulation by MSC, is an emerging topic of discovery. Bazzoni et al. review the crosstalk of MSC with the immune cells via extracellular vesicles. They evaluate pleiotropic action of MSC relevant to the pathways involving both for innate and adaptative immune systems. Stevens et al. extend this theme with an in depth look at the crosstalk between MSC and the mononuclear phagocytic system. This manuscript presents multimodal data relating to paracrine secretion, metabolic reprogramming, organelle donation, extracellular vesicles and contact dependent communications. Planat et al., emphasizes that a common and central point between the MSC features of multipotency paracrine activity, and physical cell-cell interactions, especially with

immune inflammatory cells, is the key importance of metabolism that governs their fate and

behaviors. Finally, Kang et al. present experimental data showing that macrophages exert

considerable influence on the differentiation of MSC in pathophysiological conditions. They

report that in type 2 diabetes mellitus, macrophages at rest display an inflammatory phenotype

Citation:

Biology

OPEN ACCESS

Valerie Kouskoff.

United Kingdom

Philippe Bourin

*Correspondence:

Specialty section:

Edited and reviewed by:

University of Manchester,

philippe.bourin@orange.fr

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research,

Frontiers in Cell and Developmental

a section of the iournal

Received: 31 March 2022

Accepted: 08 April 2022

Published: 05 May 2022

Bourin P, Gimble JM, Casteilla L and Salgado A (2022) Editorial: MSC Communication in Physiological and Pathological Settings. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 10:909550. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2022.909550

4

and impaired bone regeneration.

Manuscripts within the second theme explore the role of MSC in various physiological or pathological conditions. Two manuscripts examine the interactions between the MSC and the other cells of the bone microenvironment. Arthur and Gronthos review the role of Eph-Ephrin system on bone physiology and hematopoiesis, showing that multiple Eph receptors and Ephrin ligands underpin MSC physiology, cartilage and bone homeostasis or hematopoiesis. In a related study, Takam Kamga et al. bring an interesting perspective to the role of the Notch and Wnt pathways as they relate to communication between MSC and hematopoietic cells in both healthy and leukemic subjects. They demonstrate how physiological signaling can be hijacked by cancer cells for their own protection at the expense of the neighboring MSC. Two experimental manuscripts provide support for a potential role of MSC to mitigate pathological conditions. Chu et al. show that amnion MSC can reduce the impact of hypoxia on trophoblasts. This effect is correlated with downmodulation of the mTOR pathway via EZH2 and hypothetically could be the mechanism of support for a clinical trial on the use of MSC therapy to mitigate or treat

REFERENCE

Planat-Benard, V., Varin, A., and Casteilla, L. (2021). MSCs and Inflammatory Cells Crosstalk in Regenerative Medicine: Concerted Actions for Optimized Resolution Driven by Energy Metabolism. Front. Immunol. 12, 626755. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.626755

Conflict of Interest: Author JMG is a co-founder, co-owner, and employee of the companies LaCell LLC and Obatala Sciences, for profit biotech companies focusing on adipose derived stromal/stem cell clinical translation. Author LC is a shareholder of cell-easy and have a consultancy activity for this company.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

preeclampsia. Lu et al. explore the benefit of MSC conditioned medium to protect endothelium via a multifactorial mechanism involving both protein growth factors and small molecules such as carbon monoxide. Chiabotto et al. critically review the preclinical data showing that MSC impact liver fibrosis via mechanisms involving MSC engraftment and differentiation along the hepatic lineage as well as secretion of extracellular vesicles exerting anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic effects.

Together, this body of work provides a topical summary of the current status of our understanding of MSC communication in health and disease. We hope that these contributions will provide both insights and inspiration to the next generation of investigators exploring the fields of stromal/stem cell biology and regenerative medicine.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PB wrote the manuscript, JMG, LC, and AS corrected it. All approved the final manuscript.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors, and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Bourin, Gimble, Casteilla and Salgado. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Distinct Factors Secreted by Adipose Stromal Cells Protect the Endothelium From Barrier Dysfunction and Apoptosis

Hongyan Lu^{1,2,3}, Stephanie Merfeld-Clauss^{1,2,3}, Yameena Jawed^{1,2,3}, Keith L. March^{1,2,3}, Michael E. Coleman⁴ and Natalia V. Bogatcheva^{1,2,3,5*}

¹ Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, Indiana University, Indianapolis, IN, United States, ² Indiana Center for Vascular Biology and Medicine and Vascular and Cardiac Adult Stem Cell Therapy Center, Indianapolis, IN, United States, ³ Roudebush Veteran Affairs Medical Center, Indianapolis, IN, United States, ⁴ Theratome Bio, Inc., Indianapolis, IN, United States, ⁵ Division of Pulmonary, Sleep and Critical Care, Department of Medicine, Indiana University, Indianapolis, IN, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Louis Casteilla, Université de Toulouse, France

Reviewed by:

Rudolf Lucas, Augusta University, United States Himakarnika Alluri, Precision Medicine Group, United States

> *Correspondence: Natalia V. Bogatcheva nbogatch@iu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 17 July 2020 Accepted: 26 August 2020 Published: 30 September 2020

Citation:

Lu H, Merfeld-Clauss S, Jawed Y, March KL, Coleman ME and Bogatcheva NV (2020) Distinct Factors Secreted by Adipose Stromal Cells Protect the Endothelium From Barrier Dysfunction and Apoptosis. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:584653. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.584653 We have shown previously that adipose stromal cell (ASC)-derived conditioned media (CM) limited lung injury, endothelial barrier dysfunction, and apoptosis. Here, we used endothelial hyperpermeability and apoptosis assays to investigate how concentration processes affect endothelium-directed bioactivity of ASC-CM and to gain information on the nature of bioactive factors. Comparison of ASC-CM concentrated with differential molecular weight (MW) cutoff filters showed that endothelial barrier protection depended on the species-specific factors in ASC-CM fractionated with MW > 50 kDa. Known barrier regulators-keratin growth factor (KGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF)-were detected in ASC-CM fraction of > 100 kDa. Pretreatment of endothelial monolayers with concentrations of KGF, VEGF, and HGF detected in ASC-CM showed that only KGF and HGF protect the endothelium from barrier dysfunction. Depletion of KGF and HGF from ASC-CM attenuated ASC-CM's ability to protect the endothelial barrier. In contrast to barrierprotective factors, apoptosis-protective factors fractionated with MW < 3 kDa and were not species-specific. Application of donors of apoptosis-mitigating gases showed that the CO donor carbon monoxide-releasing molecule 2 (CORM2) protected the endothelium from apoptosis, while the H₂S donor NaSH did not. Knockdown of COgenerating heme oxygenase 1 in ASC attenuated ASC-CM's ability to protect the endothelium from apoptosis. We have shown that tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α)induced apoptosis in endothelium is c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK)-dependent, and JNK activation is inhibited by ASC-CM pretreatment of endothelial cells. ASC-CM from heme oxygenase 1-depleted ASC displayed attenuated ability to suppress endothelial JNK activation, suggesting that CO-mediated protection of the endothelium from apoptosis is achieved by the downregulation of the JNK pathway. Altogether, our results demonstrate that the concentration of ASC-CM with low MW cutoff filters significantly reduces its anti-apoptotic activity while preserving its barrier-protective activity.

Keywords: ASC, conditioned media, endothelial cells, barrier dysfunction, apoptosis

INTRODUCTION

Adipose stromal cells (ASC) are a population of adult mesenchymal stromal (stem) cells first isolated from adipose tissue in Zuk et al. (2001). They have self-renewing properties and can differentiate into several cell lineages, but like other stromal cells, their therapeutic potential is thought to be associated with the secretion of protective and regenerative factors rather than engraftment and trans-differentiation (Liang et al., 2014). The therapeutic potential of ASC has been shown in several models of disease (Feisst et al., 2015). On the basis of these experimental studies, ASC entered clinical trials for diverse indications including musculoskeletal disorders, fistula, ulcers following peripheral artery disease, multiple sclerosis, myocardial infarction and stroke, COPD, and pulmonary fibrosis (can be reviewed at https://stemcellsportal.com/ifats-clinical-trialsview). Significant promise shown by ASC (Bateman et al., 2018) led to therapy progression to phase II and phase III clinical trials and regulatory approval for Crohn's fistula (Galipeau and Sensebe, 2018; Olsen et al., 2018).

Since anti-inflammatory, anti-apoptotic, proliferative, angiogenic, immunomodulatory, and antioxidant effects displayed by stromal cells are attributed to secreted factors (Liang et al., 2014), cell-free stromal cell secretome can represent an alternative therapy for the treatment of pathologic conditions benefiting from stromal cell therapy. Secretome preparations can be standardized, generated and distributed in advance, and will not require specialized equipment/facilities currently needed for the isolation of ASC-containing stromal vascular fraction cells or storage of expanded stromal cells. In preclinical studies, we and others have demonstrated that ASC-conditioned media (ASC-CM) effectively suppresses a variety of pathologies ranging from bone loss (Li et al., 2018) and neurodegeneration (Fontanilla et al., 2015) to kidney (Bi et al., 2007) and lung injury (Lu et al., 2015). Methods of CM preparation for preclinical and early clinical studies were primarily tailored to the intended mode of administration while being influenced by somewhat fragmentary knowledge about the distribution of biological activity among various fractions. Unconcentrated CM, CM concentrates with low molecular weight (MW) cutoffs (Pawitan, 2014), and extracellular vesicle/exosome preparations (Giebel et al., 2017) were found to be effective in different preclinical and clinical studies. However, the future development of CM preparation as a therapeutic will rely on the ability to optimize the manufacturing process to balance maximizing bioactivity with the cost-efficient manufacturing, distribution, and storage of the final product. Whereas broad preclinical effects of CM preparations speak to their wide-ranging and robust therapeutic potential, the multifactorial nature of CM presents the challenge of product standardization, which necessitates elucidation of indication-relevant bioactive components in CM and the development of indication-relevant bioactivity tests.

We and others have recently shown that stromal cell CM effectively suppresses indices of lung injury *in vivo* (Ionescu et al., 2012; Lu et al., 2015). Lung injury has a complex pathology involving excessive inflammatory response, concomitant with the loss of endothelial and epithelial barrier function and subsequent

lung cell death (Thompson et al., 2017). In the present study, we used endothelial responses relevant to lung injury, namely barrier dysfunction and apoptosis, to analyze partitioning of ASC-CM biological activities based on MW. Here, we show that the protection from apoptosis and barrier dysfunction is rendered by two non-overlapping fractions of ASC-CM. We found that barrier-protective properties of ASC-CM are preserved in CM subjected to concentration with low MW cutoff filters, while apoptosis-protective properties are significantly reduced by the concentration process.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

Forty-kDa fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-dextran, NaSH, and antibody to β-actin (1/10,000 dilution used) were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Antibodies to cleaved caspase 3, phosphoand pan-p38, phospho- and pan-ERK, and phospho- and panc-Jun N-terminal kinase (pan-JNK) were from Cell Signaling (Beverly, MA) and were used at 1/1,000 dilution. CD81 and CD63 antibodies (1/1,000 dilution) and heme oxygenase 1 siRNA were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, TX). Heme oxygenase 1 antibody (1/1,000) and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) siRNA were from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA). HRPconjugated anti-rabbit and anti-mouse antibodies were from Cell Signaling and were used at 1/3,000. JNK inhibitor II and 3, 10, 50, and 100 kDa cutoff centrifugation filter inserts were from EMD Millipore (Billerica, MA). Carbon monoxide-releasing molecule 2 (CORM2) was from Tocris Bioscience (Minneapolis, MN).

Cell Culture

All procedures for collecting human adipose tissue were approved by the Indiana University School of Medicine Institutional Review Board. Human and rat ASC were isolated from subcutaneous adipose tissue samples and characterized as described in Lu et al. (2015). Human pulmonary artery endothelial cells (HPAEC) were purchased from Lonza (Walkerville, MD) and used at passages 5-8. Rat lung microvascular endothelial cells (RLEC) were kindly provided by Dr. Irina Petrache (Schweitzer et al., 2011) (Indiana University) and used up to passage 16, at which transendothelial electrical resistance (TER) levels characteristic of endothelial monolayers were consistently observed. RLEC were maintained in DMEM-high glucose supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% penicillin-streptomycin. Both ASC and HPAEC were propagated using endothelial growth media 2-microvascular (EGM2-MV) (Lonza).

ASC-CM Generation

Conditioned media from rat and human ASC were generated by incubating subconfluent ASC (250,000 cells/ml) with EGM-2MV for 48 h. To deplete ASC-CM of specific factors, 50 nM siRNA mixed with DharmaFECT 1 (Dharmacon, Lafayette, CO) was applied to 30% confluent ASC for 24 h.



of ASC-CM (green) when compared to 100 kDa flow-through of growth media (red).

ASC-CM Manipulation

To heat-inactivate media, batches of ASC-CM and EGM-2MV were subjected to 30 min in boiling water bath, followed by 10 min centrifugation at 10,000 \times g and collection of the supernatant. To deplete exosomes, batches of ASC-CM and EGM-2MV were subjected to 70 min ultracentrifugation at $100,000 \times g$ using Sorvall ultracentrifuge, and the supernatant was collected and used for analyses. The same batches of heatinactivated and exosome-depleted media were used to perform barrier dysfunction and apoptosis assays. For Western blot analysis, pellet from ultracentrifugation was dissolved in 1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) on PBS and analyzed with CD81 and CD63 antibodies. To fractionate media, ASC-CM and EGM-2MV were concentrated by centrifugation at 4,000 \times g using 3, 10, 50, and 100 kDa filter inserts; 0.4 mg/ml solution of 40 kDa FITC-dextran was subjected to similar fractionation to verify the fractionation method. Fractionation was stopped when 40% of the initial volume remained.

ELISA Analyses

Quantikine ELISA kits for human HGF and KGF were from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) content was determined using sandwich ELISA with anti-human VEGF capturing and biotinylated detecting antibody and streptavidin-horse radish peroxidase complex (R&D Systems). ASC-CM was concentrated with 3 kDa filter (KGF) or diluted (HGF, VEGF) to allow detection in the linear range.

Measurement of Transendothelial Permeability

TER was measured using Electrical Cell-Substrate Impedance Sensing (ECIS) (Applied Biophysics, Troy, NY) as described previously (Bogatcheva et al., 2009). HPAEC or RLEC plated on gold electrodes of ECIS array chambers were exposed to 1:1 mixture of EGM-2MV and test media for 48–72 h. In growth factor supplementation experiments, endothelial cells were exposed to the indicated concentration of growth factors for 48–72 h. At the end of the pre-incubation period, endothelial resistance reached 1,200–1,400 Ω for HPAEC and 1,800–2,000 Ω for RLEC, evident of monolayer confluence. Media were changed to basal media EBM-2 (Lonza) 2 h prior to the beginning of TER recording.

Western Immunoblotting

HPAEC or RLEC grown in 12-well plates were exposed to 1:1 mixture of EGM-2MV and test media for 72 h; media was changed to EBM-21 h prior to the beginning of stimulation. Cells



were stimulated with 2 ng/ml tumor necrosis factor (TNF) for the times indicated in the figure legends. ASC grown in 12-well plates were treated with siRNA as described in the figure legends. Protein extracts were prepared by lysing cells with 1% SDScontaining buffer and separated on 4–20% polyacrylamide gels followed by transfer to nitrocellulose membrane. After staining with specific antibodies, a signal was developed, imaged, and quantified with Bio-Rad imaging system.

Statistical Analysis

Repeated measures one-way ANOVA (GraphPad Prism 6) or one-way ANOVA with Tukey *post hoc* was used to analyze TER recordings. One-way ANOVA with Tukey *post hoc* or *t*-test with Welch's correction (unequal variance) was used to analyze Western blot and ELISA results. A probability value of < 0.05was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Endothelial-Protective Factors in ASC-CM Are Detected in > 50 kDa Fraction, Whereas Apoptosis-Protective Factors Are Detected in < 3 kDa Fraction

We had previously shown that preconditioning of the endothelium with ASC-secreted factors protects it from

hyperpermeability and activation of pro-apoptotic pathways; a protective effect was not detected when the endothelium was preconditioned with dermal fibroblast-secreted factors (Lu et al., 2015). To understand how the biological activity of ASC-CM is partitioned among different MW fractions, we compared the abilities of the original CM and its various flow-through fractions to attenuate H₂O₂-induced endothelial barrier dysfunction and TNFa-induced endothelial apoptosis. Figure 1A shows the typical response of the control endothelium to H_2O_2 stimulation. H₂O₂ challenge of monolayers pretreated with control media led to a dramatic decrease of TER within the first 15-30 min, followed by the period of barrier restoration. HPAEC pretreated with unmanipulated ASC-CM also manifested a decrease in TER, however, restoration of barrier function occurred faster (Figure 1A), minimizing the duration and severity of endothelial barrier leakage. Exposure of the endothelium to the ASC-CM flow-through fractions obtained with MW cutoffs of 50 kDa (Figure 1B) or less (not shown) did not result in endothelial protection from the barrier-disruptive effect of H₂O₂. Only the 100-kDa flow-through fraction of ASC-CM manifested a barrier-protective activity (Figure 1C).

Figure 2A shows the typical response of control mediapretreated HPAEC to TNF α stimulation. Challenge of control monolayers with TNF α led to a marked increase in caspase 3 cleavage, indicative of pro-apoptotic activation of endothelium. This process was attenuated in monolayers pretreated with unmanipulated ASC-CM. Exposure of the endothelium to the



ASC-CM flow-through fractions obtained with MW cutoffs of 50 kDa resulted in significant endothelial protection from the pro-apoptotic induction by TNF α (Figure 2A). Moreover, 10 (not shown) and 3 kDa flow-through fractions were similarly effective in the prevention of pro-apoptotic response to TNF α (Figure 2B).

Heat Inactivation and Depletion of Extracellular Vesicles From ASC-CM Affects Endothelial Barrier Protection but Not Apoptosis Protection

To gain more information about the nature of bioactive components in ASC-CM, we subjected ASC media to several manipulations. First, we heat-inactivated ASC-CM and assessed its ability to confer endothelial protection from barrier dysfunction and apoptosis. Comparison of responses of HPAEC monolayers pretreated with unmanipulated (**Figure 3A**) and heat-inactivated (**Figure 3B**) ASC-CM shows that heat inactivation results in a loss of ASC-CM's ability to protect the endothelium from barrier dysfunction.

Remarkably, heat inactivation of ASC-CM did not void its ability to protect the endothelium from apoptosis (**Figure 3C**), suggestive of the heat-stable nature of apoptosis-protective factors.

To further characterize the active components in ASC-CM, we subjected ASC-CM to ultracentrifugation at 100,000 \times g to deplete extracellular vesicles (EV), which have been shown to mediate many beneficial activities of stromal cells (Fujita et al., 2018). Exposure of the endothelium to the control growth media subjected to ultracentrifugation did not affect its response to H₂O₂ (data not shown). However, exposure of the endothelium to EV-depleted ASC-CM revealed that its barrier-protective potency is significantly, but not completely, attenuated as a result of ultracentrifugation (Figure 4A). To ensure that the duration of ultracentrifugation was sufficient to remove EV from ASC-CM, we subjected the supernatant from the first round of ultracentrifugation to a second, consecutive round. The pellets from both rounds were collected and analyzed for the presence of exosomal markers CD81 and CD63 (tetraspanin). CD81 and CD63 staining was positive in the pellet resultant from the first, but not the second ultracentrifugation (Figure 4B), suggesting



columns are significant *(p < 0.05) or not significant (NS).

near complete depletion of EV from ASC-CM with one round of ultracentrifugation.

When pro-apoptotic responses of HPAEC were assessed in monolayers pretreated with ASC-CM subjected to ultracentrifugation, we found that EV depletion did not decrease ASC-CM's ability to prevent activation of caspase 3 cleavage (**Figure 4C**).

Endothelial-Protective Factors in ASC-CM Are Species-Specific, While Apoptosis-Protective Factors Are Not

To gain further information about the nature of bioactive factors in ASC-CM, we assessed whether barrier protection and apoptosis protection are exerted in a species-specific manner. First, human endothelial cells were pretreated with CM from rat and human ASC and analyzed for H_2O_2 -induced hyperpermeability. Unlike CM from same-species ASC, rat ASC-CM did not confer barrier protection to human

endothelium (**Figure 5A**). Next, rat endothelial cells were pretreated with human and rat ASC-CM. While rat ASC-CM exposure attenuated RLEC response to H_2O_2 , human ASC-CM did not (**Figure 5B**).

When a similar experiment was conducted to assess the apoptosis-protective properties of xenogeneic ASC-CM, rat ASC-CM conferred protection from $TNF\alpha$ -induced apoptosis in human endothelium (**Figure 5C**).

Barrier-Protective Properties of ASC-CM Can Be Partially Attributed to the Secreted KGF and HGF

We next focused our attention on three factors which are known at certain concentrations to improve endothelial barriers: VEGF (Mirzapoiazova et al., 2006), KGF (Gillis et al., 1999), and HGF (Liu F. et al., 2002). To understand in which fraction of ASC-CM these factors would partition, we assessed the levels of KGF, HGF, and VEGF A in 30, 50, and 100 kDa flow-through fractions.



Surprisingly, detectable amounts of KGF (MW ~19 kDa) and VEGF 121 and VEGF 165 (estimated MW ~20 kDa, but may migrate as 30 kDa due to glycosylation) appeared in 100 kDa flow-through only (Figures 6A,C). HGF (estimated MW for α - and β -chains are 54 and 26 kDa, respectively) also partitioned with higher MW than expected, with only minor fraction detected in 100 kDa flow-through (Figure 6B). To ascertain that fractionation via 30 and 50 kDa cutoff filters occurred according to specified MW, we subjected 40 kDa FITC-dextran to the filtration. As expected from the product with the normal distribution of MW peaking at 40 kDa, passage of some fluorescent material was detected in 30 kDa flowthrough; fluorescence level was higher in 50 kDa flow-through (Figure 6D). Altogether, these data show that KGF, VEGF, and HGF fractionate as bigger MW complexes. Importantly, analysis of flow-through rendering barrier protection (Figures 1A-C) indicated that 50 kDa and less flow-through fractions deficient in KGF, VEGF, and HGF do not possess barrier-protective properties.

We next proceeded to test whether levels of KGF, VEGF, and HGF detected in ASC-CM would be sufficient to confer barrier protection exerted by ASC-CM. As data of literature suggest that some of the factors, such as KGF, can be associated with EV while secreted by stromal cells (Zhu et al., 2014), we first assessed whether ELISA assays employed to assess factor levels in ASC detect soluble or total levels of factors. For that, we compared the levels of VEGF, KGF, and HGF in the original ASC-CM and ASC-CM depleted by ultracentrifugation. We did not observe decreases in VEGF, HGF, and KGF levels after ultracentrifugation (data not shown), suggesting that the levels indicated in Figure 6 reflect levels of soluble factors only and not levels of factors associated with EVs. We next supplemented EGM-2MV with the concentrations of soluble VEGF, HGF, and KGF found in ASC-CM (1 ng/ml, 30 ng/ml, and 10 pg/ml, respectively) and pretreated the endothelium for 72 h. Our data indicated that preconditioning of HPAEC with VEGF did not protect the endothelium from H₂O₂-induced barrier disruption (Figure 7A). However, exposure of endothelium to KGF and HGF significantly



suppressed H₂O₂-induced decrease in TER (**Figure 7B**). In concert with these data, ASC with HGF siRNA knockdown yielded ASC-CM with attenuated barrier-protective properties (**Figure 7C**). Similar to HGF depletion, KGF neutralization with anti-KGF antibody attenuated the barrier-protective properties of ASC-CM (**Figure 7D**).

Apoptosis-Protective Properties of ASC-CM Can Be Partially Attributed to the Generated Carbon Monoxide

Since our data indicated that apoptosis protection by ASC-CM is conveyed by heat-stable, non-species-specific factors of low MW, we next assessed the ability of two stable gases with known anti-apoptotic properties, namely carbon monoxide (Liu X.M. et al., 2002; Almeida et al., 2012; Li et al., 2012) and hydrogen sulfide (Sivarajah et al., 2009; Wu et al., 2015), to protect HPAEC from TNF α -induced apoptosis. CO- and H₂Sgenerating enzymes are known to be expressed in mesenchymal stromal cells (Zarjou et al., 2011; Gambari et al., 2017). To assess whether CO and H₂S can mimic the beneficial effect of ASC-CM, we preconditioned HPAEC with CO donor CORM2 (Babu et al., 2017) and H₂S donor NaHS (Wu et al., 2015). Figure 8A shows that CORM2 exposure, but not NaHS exposure, significantly attenuated endothelial caspase 3 cleavage in response to TNF α .

To generate ASC-CM with decreased amount of carbon monoxide, we knocked down CO-generating enzyme heme oxygenase 1 (HO-1) with specific siRNA. We first assessed whether the suppression of HO-1 will be stable after the removal of siRNA for the period required to generate ASC-CM. **Figure 9A** shows that ASC demonstrated sustained changes in HO-1 expression 24 h after the removal of siRNA. These conditions were applied to generate ASC-CM free of HO-1 siRNA, which could have had direct effects on endothelial monolayers.

To assess the effect of CO depletion on ASC-CM apoptosisprotective properties, we preconditioned HPAEC with CM from ASC subjected to HO-1 knockdown. Control ASC-CM pretreatment led to the significant suppression of caspase 3 activation in HPAEC (**Figure 9B**); CM from ASC treated with HO-1 siRNA displayed attenuated potency. Altogether,

Lu et al.



FIGURE 7 | KGF and HGF protect the endothelium from H_2O_2 -induced barrier dysfunction. (**A**,**B**) HPAEC grown on gold electrodes of ECIS arrays were exposed to the original growth media (B-red), or growth media supplemented with KGF (B-orange), HGF (B-blue), KGF + HGF (B-green), or VEGF concentrations detected in ASC-CM conditioned for 48 h (see Figure 6). Media supplemented with factors were removed after 48 h of pretreatment, and HPAEC were challenged with 250 μ M H_2O_2 . For (**A**), TER values were pooled from three independent experiments, with at least two parallel recordings each, and calculated as fold decrease in TER 30 min after H_2O_2 addition. (**C**) HPAEC grown on gold electrodes of ECIS arrays were exposed to the original growth media, or ASC-CM generated by ASC treated with scrambled siRNA, or HGF siRNA. Media were removed after 48 h of pretreatment, and HPAEC were challenged with 250 μ M H_2O_2 . Inset shows the concentration of HGF in ASC-CM collected from scrambled RNA-treated and HGF siRNA-treated ASC. (**D**) HPAEC grown on gold electrodes of ECIS arrays were exposed to the original growth media, or ASC-CM periatement, and HPAEC were challenged with 250 μ M H_2O_2 . (**A**) * Differences detected with control IgG or KGF neutralizing antibody. Media were removed after 48 h of pretreatment, and HPAEC were challenged with 250 μ M H_2O_2 . (**A**) * Differences detected with one-way ANOVA with Tukey *post hoc* (p < 0.05). (**B**) Repeated measurements ANOVA detected differences between responses of HPAEC exposed to media supplemented with KGF and KGF + HGF (#). (**C**,**D**) * Repeated measurements ANOVA detected differences between responses of HPAEC exposed to unmanipulated ASC-CM or ablated ASC-CM. (**C**, inset) * Differences were detected by *t*-test (p < 0.05).

these data suggested that carbon monoxide represents one of the factors conferring ASC-CM-mediated endothelial protection from apoptosis.

Protection of Endothelium From Apoptosis Is Dependent on c-Jun N-Terminal Kinase Inactivation

To learn about which pro-apoptotic pathways are targeted by apoptosis-protective factors in ASC-CM, we first analyzed endothelial MAP kinases activated in response to TNF α . We observed that TNF α stimulation leads to robust phosphorylation of p38 and JNK (**Figure 10A**) and very limited phosphorylation of ERK. However, when the effect of ASC-CM exposure was analyzed, only JNK phosphorylation was dramatically suppressed. Activation of JNK preceded activation of caspase 3 cleavage (**Figure 10B**), suggesting that JNK activation lays upstream of the activation of pro-apoptotic caspase cascades. To check if inhibition of JNK would protect from TNF α -induced apoptosis, we pretreated HPAEC with JNK inhibitor



II. Indeed, we observed that in the presence of JNK inhibitor, cleavage of caspase 3 in response to TNF was significantly attenuated (**Figure 10C**).

To ascertain that the ASC-CM factors suppressing JNK activation are of the same nature as the factors suppressing caspase 3 activation, we first preconditioned HPAEC with a 3-kDa flow-through of ASC-CM. Figure 11A shows that 3 kDa flow-through effectively suppressed JNK phosphorylation, similar to suppression of caspase 3 cleavage shown previously (Figure 2B). We next verified whether xenogeneic ASC-CM would have an effect similar to allogeneic ASC-CM. Preconditioning of HPAEC with rat ASC-CM resulted in effective suppression of JNK phosphorylation (Figure 11B), suggesting that inhibition of the JNK pathway and inhibition of the proapoptotic pathway are rendered by a similar class of factors in ASC-CM. Finally, we preconditioned HPAEC with the CM from HO-1-depleted ASC and assessed JNK phosphorylation in response to TNF α . As was earlier shown with caspase 3 activation, CM from HO-1-depleted ASC displayed attenuated ability to suppress JNK activation (Figure 11C).

DISCUSSION

The progress of stromal cells to clinical studies testing application in multiple diseases highlighted several issues that may limit the widespread adoption for clinical use. These include issues with consistency of cell preparations for autologous treatments and logistical issues associated with cell storage, distribution, and bioactivity of cryopreserved cell preparations, whether autologous or allogeneic. Although closed system isolation devices, allowing isolation and readministration of autologous ASC-containing products at the point of care, are available for clinical use (Nordberg and Loboa, 2015), issues of patientto-patient variability and safety concerns pertinent to the risk of thromboembolism remain (Toyserkani et al., 2017). The search for cell-free alternatives with potential advantages in safety, material handling, and bioactivity control was undertaken based on the discovery that stromal cell secretome manifested a significant portion of the effects attributed to stromal cells. The therapeutic potential of factors secreted by stromal cells was noted in multiple preclinical models of diseases, including acute conditions (Parekkadan et al., 2007; Cho et al., 2012; Ionescu et al., 2012; Lu et al., 2015; Pouya et al., 2018) for which the application of the off-the-shelf biologic can be of direct benefit as the product could be administered without delay and would exert immediate bioactivity, which may be critical in acute care settings such as stroke or myocardial infarction. To develop CM formulation translatable to clinical use, understanding of the effects of the manufacturing process on the product cost, logistics of storage and handling, and bioactivity is critically important. That is why, even though preclinical (Bi et al., 2007;



Yamagata et al., 2013; Suto et al., 2016) and some clinical (Zhou et al., 2013; Dahbour et al., 2017) studies show the ability of unconcentrated CM to exert beneficial effects and limit pathological conditions, significant effort is devoted to analyze the effects of CM lyophilizates (Fukuoka et al., 2017; Katagiri et al., 2017) and EV concentrates (Kordelas et al., 2014; Nassar et al., 2016). Formulation of the particular therapeutic is likely to be optimized for specific clinical use; therefore, elucidation of the nature of bioactive factors is of utmost importance for the preservation of therapeutic potential during the manufacturing process and will be of utmost significance to gaining regulatory approval. Here, we used an unbiased approach to analyze biological activities in different fractions of the original CM, to gain information about the nature of bioactive factors and, most importantly, aid in understanding how routine procedures used in CM manufacturing, such as concentration utilizing different MW filters, can affect the biological activity of the CM product.

This study is not the first attempt to identify the fraction of stromal cell CM with specific biologic activity. As one can expect, the MW of active fraction depends on the nature of activity for which it is tested for. For example, the ability to preserve pancreatic islets was assigned to 10-30 and > 50 kDa fractions of ASC-CM (Kasahara et al., 2013). The ability to promote macrophage shift to anti-inflammatory phenotype was assigned to < 3 and 50–100 kDa fractions of CM (Ylostalo et al., 2012). On the contrary, the ability to reduce myocardial infraction was seen only in the CM fraction of > 1,000 kDa (Timmers et al., 2007). To aid in understanding endothelial-specific effects with the potential to apply this knowledge for treatment of vascular leak and endothelial damage associated with acute lung injury, we used endothelial barrier dysfunction and apoptosis as two easily quantifiable readouts. Employing human pulmonary endothelial cells as a reporting system, we assessed (1) barrier dysfunction in response to H₂O₂, mimicking endothelial response to oxidative burst, and (2) activation of pro-apoptotic pathways in response to TNFα, mimicking endothelial apoptotic response to cytokine storm. Although an early work (Petrache et al., 2003) failed to detect significant HPAEC apoptosis in response to TNFa, later studies showed consistent activation of pro-apoptotic caspase 3 (Lu et al., 2015) and dramatic increase in TUNEL-positive



HPAEC in response to TNF α (Koh et al., 2007; Bae and Rezaie, 2008). Using readouts of H₂O₂-induced barrier dysfunction and TNF α -induced caspase 3 cleavage in HPAEC treated with different fractions of ASC-CM, we showed that barrier-protective and apoptosis-protective activities of ASC-CM are carried by its two distinct fractions, > 50 and < 3 kDa, respectively.

Analysis of the potential involvement of HGF and KGF, earlier shown to be secreted by stromal cells (Cai et al., 2007; Lafosse et al., 2016) and known to affect barrier function (Gillis et al., 1999; Liu F. et al., 2002), revealed that (1) these factors fractionate with MW exceeding 100 kDa and (2) levels of factors present in ASC-CM are sufficient to confer barrier resistance to H_2O_2 upon preconditioning. Ablation of either factor with neutralizing antibody or siRNA knockdown rendered CM with attenuated ability to protect the endothelium. Although the levels of HGF and KGF determined in CM by ELISA were not affected by CM centrifugation and therefore represented the levels of soluble factors, we cannot exclude the existence of exosomeassociated factors with similar biologic activity. Consistently, the barrier-protective activity of CM can be partially attributed to extracellular vesicle/exosome fraction of CM. This fraction is also known to contain vast cargo of bioactive proteins and microRNA, whose particular analysis lies beyond the scope of this study.

Examination of the apoptosis-protecting activity of CM revealed heat-insensitive, non-species-specific, and small MW nature of these factors. Our attention was drawn to the possible role for the secreted gases; two of them, hydrogen sulfide and carbon monoxide, are known to be stable and anti-apoptotic (Almeida et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2015). Preconditioning of the endothelium with donors of H₂S and CO revealed that only CORM2, the CO donor, is able to protect the endothelium from TNF α -induced apoptosis. In the absence of direct methods to measure CO production in CM, our next step was to ablate the CO-generating enzyme, heme oxygenase 1, in ASC. Our data showed that knockdown of heme oxygenase 1 decreased the apoptosis-protective potency of ASC-CM, suggesting that carbon monoxide generation by ASC is important for the anti-apoptotic activity exhibited by ASC or ASC unmanipulated secretome.

Further examination into the apoptosis-mediating mechanisms affected by CM preconditioning revealed the causative nature of JNK phosphorylation in the endothelium. The inhibitor used in the study is known to suppress both



JNK1 and JNK2 activity. A recent study showed that only JNK1 possesses pro-apoptotic activity in the lung (Tan et al., 2020). Importantly, TNFa-induced JNK phosphorylation was suppressed by ASC-CM in the same heat-insensitive, nonspecies-specific, and low MW factor-dependent manner as TNFα-induced caspase 3 activation, prompting the examination of the role of carbon monoxide. Finally, we had shown that knockdown of heme oxygenase 1 in ASC reduced ASC-CM's ability to inhibit JNK phosphorylation. Altogether, these data helped pinpoint carbon monoxide as one of the factors contributing to ASC-CM's anti-apoptotic activity and delineate the pro-apoptotic pathways attenuated by ASC-CM in the endothelium. One of the limitations of the study is that the nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) pathway, contributing to TNF α response (Kempe et al., 2005), was not studied, whereas this pathway is known to protect cells from apoptotic death, in particular, by downregulating JNK signaling (De Smaele et al., 2001). Previously, proteomic analysis of exosomes released from serum-starved and oxygen-deprived MSC showed enrichment in NF-KB-regulating nodes; in the same study, MSC's exosome ability to induce endothelial angiogenesis was shown to be NF-KB-dependent (Anderson et al., 2016). As our study shows that protection from apoptosis is mediated by the exosomefree fraction of ASC-CM, it would be interesting to see how TNFα-induced endothelial NF-κB signaling is affected by ASC-CM manipulation.

Summarizing the impact of our data for the development of application-specific CM preparations, we have to emphasize that although the barrier-protective activity of CM will be preserved in preparations generated by the concentration with low MW cutoff filters or ultracentrifugation, a significant proportion of apoptosis-protective activity will be lost. Nonetheless, the concentration of CM is the most likely scenario to be followed by large-scale manufacturers for clinical purposes; therefore, emphasis of future studies should be on the barrier-protective and immunomodulatory activities of fractions preserved after the concentration of CM with low MW cutoff filters. In the context of our data, standardization criteria for clinical applications aiding to preserve endothelial barrier should include assessment of levels of HGF and KGF in CM preparations. Our data regarding low MW components of secretome with antiapoptotic activity, although of limited relevance to the development of CM concentrates, can be used to develop tests assessing the therapeutic potential of stromal cells intended for cellular therapy.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets presented in this study are included in the article/supplementary material.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KM, MC, and NB contributed to the conception and design of the study. HL and NB carried out the majority of the experiments and statistical analyses. SM-C and YJ contributed to the experimental work. NB wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision and read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the several funding mechanisms through Indiana Clinical and Translational Sciences Institute

REFERENCES

- Almeida, A. S., Queiroga, C. S., Sousa, M. F., Alves, P. M., and Vieira, H. L. (2012). Carbon monoxide modulates apoptosis by reinforcing oxidative metabolism in astrocytes: role of Bcl-2. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 10761–10770. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M111.306738
- Anderson, J. D., Johansson, H. J., Graham, C. S., Vesterlund, M., Pham, M. T., Bramlett, C. S., et al. (2016). Comprehensive proteomic analysis of mesenchymal stem cell exosomes reveals modulation of angiogenesis via nuclear factor-KappaB signaling. *Stem Cells* 34, 601–613. doi: 10.1002/stem. 2298
- Babu, D., Leclercq, G., Motterlini, R., and Lefebvre, R. A. (2017). Differential effects of CORM-2 and CORM-401 in murine intestinal epithelial MODE-K cells under oxidative stress. *Front. Pharmacol.* 8:31. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00031
- Bae, J. S., and Rezaie, A. R. (2008). Protease activated receptor 1 (PAR-1) activation by thrombin is protective in human pulmonary artery endothelial cells if endothelial protein C receptor is occupied by its natural ligand. *Thromb. Haemost.* 100, 101–109. doi: 10.1160/th08-02-0127
- Bateman, M. E., Strong, A. L., Gimble, J. M., and Bunnell, B. A. (2018). Concise review: using fat to fight disease: a systematic review of nonhomologous adipose-derived stromal/Stem Cell therapies. *Stem Cells* 36, 1311–1328. doi: 10.1002/stem.2847
- Bi, B., Schmitt, R., Israilova, M., Nishio, H., and Cantley, L. G. (2007). Stromal cells protect against acute tubular injury via an endocrine effect. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 18, 2486–2496. doi: 10.1681/asn.2007020140
- Bogatcheva, N. V., Zemskova, M. A., Kovalenkov, Y., Poirier, C., and Verin, A. D. (2009). Molecular mechanisms mediating protective effect of cAMP on lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced human lung microvascular endothelial cells (HLMVEC) hyperpermeability. J. Cell Physiol. 221, 750–759. doi: 10.1002/jcp. 21913
- Cai, L., Johnstone, B. H., Cook, T. G., Liang, Z., Traktuev, D., Cornetta, K., et al. (2007). Suppression of hepatocyte growth factor production impairs the ability of adipose-derived stem cells to promote ischemic tissue revascularization. *Stem Cells* 25, 3234–3243. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0388
- Cho, Y. J., Song, H. S., Bhang, S., Lee, S., Kang, B. G., Lee, J. C., et al. (2012). Therapeutic effects of human adipose stem cell-conditioned medium on stroke. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 90, 1794–1802. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23063
- Dahbour, S., Jamali, F., Alhattab, D., Al-Radaideh, A., Ababneh, O., Al-Ryalat, N., et al. (2017). Mesenchymal stem cells and conditioned media in the treatment of multiple sclerosis patients: clinical, ophthalmological and radiological assessments of safety and efficacy. CNS Neurosci. Therap. 23, 866–874. doi: 10.1111/cns.12759
- De Smaele, E., Zazzeroni, F., Papa, S., Nguyen, D. U., Jin, R., Jones, J., et al. (2001). Induction of gadd45beta by NF-kappaB downregulates pro-apoptotic JNK signalling. *Nature* 414, 308–313. doi: 10.1038/35104560
- Feisst, V., Meidinger, S., and Locke, M. B. (2015). From bench to bedside: use of human adipose-derived stem cells. *Stem Cells Clon.* 8, 149–162. doi: 10.2147/ sccaa.S64373
- Fontanilla, C. V., Gu, H., Liu, Q., Zhu, T. Z., Zhou, C., Johnstone, B. H., et al. (2015). Adipose-derived stem cell conditioned media extends survival time of

(NB), including Krannert Institute of Cardiology Endowment Fund, CECARE award, and ICBI Technology Enhancement Award (UL1TR002529). The work was conducted with the use of the facilities of the Roudebush VAMC. The publication was supported by funds from Theratome Bio, Inc.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Dr. Irina Petrache for granting access to ECIS and to Ben Lease, Jacob Saliba, and Drs. Dmitry Traktuev, Ru Yi, and Elena Kim for the technical assistance with some of the experiments.

a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Sci. Rep.* 5:16953. doi: 10.1038/ srep16953

- Fujita, Y., Kadota, T., Araya, J., Ochiya, T., and Kuwano, K. (2018). Clinical application of mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicle-based therapeutics for inflammatory lung diseases. J. Clin. Med. 7:jcm7100355. doi: 10.3390/jcm7100355
- Fukuoka, H., Narita, K., and Suga, H. (2017). Hair regeneration therapy: application of adipose-derived stem cells. *Curr. Stem Cell Res. Therapy* 12, 531–534. doi: 10.2174/1574888x12666170522114307
- Galipeau, J., and Sensebe, L. (2018). Mesenchymal stromal cells: clinical challenges and therapeutic opportunities. *Cell Stem Cell* 22, 824–833. doi: 10.1016/j.stem. 2018.05.004
- Gambari, L., Lisignoli, G., Gabusi, E., Manferdini, C., Paolella, F., Piacentini, A., et al. (2017). Distinctive expression pattern of cystathionine-beta-synthase and cystathionine-gamma-lyase identifies mesenchymal stromal cells transition to mineralizing osteoblasts. *J. Cell Physiol.* 232, 3574–3585. doi: 10.1002/jcp. 25825
- Giebel, B., Kordelas, L., and Borger, V. (2017). Clinical potential of mesenchymal stem/stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles. *Stem Cell Invest.* 4:84. doi: 10. 21037/sci.2017.09.06
- Gillis, P., Savla, U., Volpert, O. V., Jimenez, B., Waters, C. M., Panos, R. J., et al. (1999). Keratinocyte growth factor induces angiogenesis and protects endothelial barrier function. J. Cell Sci. 112(Pt 12), 2049–2057.
- Ionescu, L., Byrne, R. N., van Haaften, T., Vadivel, A., Alphonse, R. S., Rey-Parra, G. J., et al. (2012). Stem cell conditioned medium improves acute lung injury in mice: in vivo evidence for stem cell paracrine action. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 303, L967–L977. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00144.2011
- Kasahara, N., Teratani, T., Doi, J., Iijima, Y., Maeda, M., Uemoto, S., et al. (2013). Use of mesenchymal stem cell-conditioned medium to activate islets in preservation solution. *Cell Med.* 5, 75–81. doi: 10.3727/215517913x666477
- Katagiri, W., Watanabe, J., Toyama, N., Osugi, M., Sakaguchi, K., and Hibi, H. (2017). Clinical study of bone regeneration by conditioned medium from Mesenchymal stem cells after maxillary sinus floor elevation. *Implant Dentist.* 26, 607–612. doi: 10.1097/id.0000000000000618
- Kempe, S., Kestler, H., Lasar, A., and Wirth, T. (2005). NF-kappaB controls the global pro-inflammatory response in endothelial cells: evidence for the regulation of a pro-atherogenic program. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33, 5308–5319. doi: 10.1093/nar/gki836
- Koh, H., Tasaka, S., Hasegawa, N., Yamada, W., Shimizu, M., Nakamura, M., et al. (2007). Protective role of vascular endothelial growth factor in endotoxininduced acute lung injury in mice. *Respir. Res.* 8:60. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-8-60
- Kordelas, L., Rebmann, V., Ludwig, A. K., Radtke, S., Ruesing, J., Doeppner, T. R., et al. (2014). MSC-derived exosomes: a novel tool to treat therapy-refractory graft-versus-host disease. *Leukemia* 28, 970–973. doi: 10.1038/leu.2014.41
- Lafosse, A., Dufeys, C., Beauloye, C., Horman, S., and Dufrane, D. (2016). Impact of Hyperglycemia and low oxygen tension on adipose-derived stem cells compared with dermal fibroblasts and Keratinocytes: importance for wound healing in Type 2 diabetes. *PLoS One* 11:e0168058. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0168058

- Li, Y., Gao, X., and Wang, J. (2018). Human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell-conditioned media suppresses inflammatory bone loss in a lipopolysaccharide-induced murine model. *Exper. Therap. Med.* 15, 1839–1846. doi: 10.3892/etm.2017.5606
- Li, Y., Wang, H., Yang, B., Yang, J., Ruan, X., Yang, Y., et al. (2012). Influence of carbon monoxide on growth and apoptosis of human umbilical artery smooth muscle cells and vein endothelial cells. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 8, 1431–1446. doi: 10. 7150/ijbs.4664
- Liang, X., Ding, Y., Zhang, Y., Tse, H. F., and Lian, Q. (2014). Paracrine mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy: current status and perspectives. *Cell Transplant.* 23, 1045–1059. doi: 10.3727/096368913x667709
- Liu, F., Schaphorst, K. L., Verin, A. D., Jacobs, K., Birukova, A., Day, R. M., et al. (2002). Hepatocyte growth factor enhances endothelial cell barrier function and cortical cytoskeletal rearrangement: potential role of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta. FASEB J. 16, 950–962. doi: 10.1096/fj.01-0870com
- Liu, X. M., Chapman, G. B., Peyton, K. J., Schafer, A. I., and Durante, W. (2002). Carbon monoxide inhibits apoptosis in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 55, 396–405.
- Lu, H., Poirier, C., Cook, T., Traktuev, D. O., Merfeld-Clauss, S., Lease, B., et al. (2015). Conditioned media from adipose stromal cells limit lipopolysaccharideinduced lung injury, endothelial hyperpermeability and apoptosis. *J. Transl. Med.* 13:67. doi: 10.1186/s12967-015-0422-3
- Mirzapoiazova, T., Kolosova, I., Usatyuk, P. V., Natarajan, V., and Verin, A. D. (2006). Diverse effects of vascular endothelial growth factor on human pulmonary endothelial barrier and migration. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 291, L718–L724. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00014.2006
- Nassar, W., El-Ansary, M., Sabry, D., Mostafa, M. A., Fayad, T., Kotb, E., et al. (2016). Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells derived extracellular vesicles can safely ameliorate the progression of chronic kidney diseases. *Biomater. Res.* 20:21. doi: 10.1186/s40824-016-0068-0
- Nordberg, R. C., and Loboa, E. G. (2015). Our fat future: translating adipose stem cell therapy. *Stem Cells Transla. Med.* 4, 974–979. doi: 10.5966/sctm.2015-0071
- Olsen, T. R., Ng, K. S., Lock, L. T., Ahsan, T., and Rowley, J. A. (2018). Peak MSC-are we there yet? *Front. Med.* 5:178. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00178
- Parekkadan, B., van Poll, D., Suganuma, K., Carter, E. A., Berthiaume, F., Tilles, A. W., et al. (2007). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived molecules reverse fulminant hepatic failure. *PLoS One* 2:e941. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.000 0941
- Pawitan, J. A. (2014). Prospect of stem cell conditioned medium in regenerative medicine. *Biomed. Res. Intern.* 2014:965849. doi: 10.1155/2014/965849
- Petrache, I., Birukova, A., Ramirez, S. I., Garcia, J. G., and Verin, A. D. (2003). The role of the microtubules in tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced endothelial cell permeability. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 28, 574–581. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2002-0075OC
- Pouya, S., Heidari, M., Baghaei, K., Asadzadeh Aghdaei, H., Moradi, A., Namaki, S., et al. (2018). Study the effects of mesenchymal stem cell conditioned medium injection in mouse model of acute colitis. *Intern. Immunopharmacol.* 54, 86–94. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2017.11.001
- Schweitzer, K. S., Hatoum, H., Brown, M. B., Gupta, M., Justice, M. J., Beteck, B., et al. (2011). Mechanisms of lung endothelial barrier disruption induced by cigarette smoke: role of oxidative stress and ceramides. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.* 301, L836–L846. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00385. 2010
- Sivarajah, A., Collino, M., Yasin, M., Benetti, E., Gallicchio, M., Mazzon, E., et al. (2009). Anti-apoptotic and anti-inflammatory effects of hydrogen sulfide in a rat model of regional myocardial I/R. *Shock* 31, 267–274. doi: 10.1097/SHK. 0b013e318180ff89

- Suto, N., Mieda, T., Iizuka, A., Nakamura, K., and Hirai, H. (2016). Morphological and functional attenuation of degeneration of peripheral neurons by Mesenchymal stem cell-conditioned medium in Spinocerebellar ataxia Type 1-knock-in mice. CNS Neurosci. Therap. 22, 670–676. doi: 10.1111/cns.12560
- Tan, J., Gao, W., Yang, W., Zeng, X., Wang, L., and Cui, X. (2020). Isoform-specific functions of c-Jun N-terminal kinase 1 and 2 in lung ischemia-reperfusion injury through the c-Jun/activator protein-1 pathway. *J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg.* S0022-5223(20)30778-9. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2020.03.083
- Thompson, B. T., Chambers, R. C., and Liu, K. D. (2017). Acute respiratory distress syndrome. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 377, 562–572. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1608077
- Timmers, L., Lim, S. K., Arslan, F., Armstrong, J. S., Hoefer, I. E., Doevendans, P. A., et al. (2007). Reduction of myocardial infarct size by human mesenchymal stem cell conditioned medium. *Stem Cell Res.* 1, 129–137. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2008. 02.002
- Toyserkani, N. M., Jorgensen, M. G., Tabatabaeifar, S., Jensen, C. H., Sheikh, S. P., and Sorensen, J. A. (2017). Concise review: a safety assessment of adiposederived cell therapy in clinical trials: a systematic review of reported adverse events. *Stem Cells Translat. Med.* 6, 1786–1794. doi: 10.1002/sctm.17-0031
- Wu, D., Hu, Q., Liu, X., Pan, L., Xiong, Q., and Zhu, Y. Z. (2015). Hydrogen sulfide protects against apoptosis under oxidative stress through SIRT1 pathway in H9c2 cardiomyocytes. *Nitric Oxide* 46, 204–212. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2014. 11.006
- Yamagata, M., Yamamoto, A., Kako, E., Kaneko, N., Matsubara, K., Sakai, K., et al. (2013). Human dental pulp-derived stem cells protect against hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in neonatal mice. *Stroke* 44, 551–554. doi: 10.1161/strokeaha.112. 676759
- Ylostalo, J. H., Bartosh, T. J., Coble, K., and Prockop, D. J. (2012). Human mesenchymal stem/stromal cells cultured as spheroids are self-activated to produce prostaglandin E2 that directs stimulated macrophages into an antiinflammatory phenotype. *Stem Cells* 30, 2283–2296. doi: 10.1002/stem.1191
- Zarjou, A., Kim, J., Traylor, A. M., Sanders, P. W., Balla, J., Agarwal, A., et al. (2011). Paracrine effects of mesenchymal stem cells in cisplatin-induced renal injury require heme oxygenase-1. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol. 300, F254–F262. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00594.2010
- Zhou, B. R., Xu, Y., Guo, S. L., Xu, Y., Wang, Y., Zhu, F., et al. (2013). The effect of conditioned media of adipose-derived stem cells on wound healing after ablative fractional carbon dioxide laser resurfacing. *Biomed. Res. Intern.* 2013:519126. doi: 10.1155/2013/519126
- Zhu, Y. G., Feng, X. M., Abbott, J., Fang, X. H., Hao, Q., Monsel, A., et al. (2014). Human mesenchymal stem cell microvesicles for treatment of *Escherichia coli* endotoxin-induced acute lung injury in mice. *Stem Cells* 32, 116–125. doi: 10.1002/stem.1504
- Zuk, P. A., Zhu, M., Mizuno, H., Huang, J., Futrell, J. W., Katz, A. J., et al. (2001). Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. *Tissue Eng.* 7, 211–228. doi: 10.1089/107632701300062859

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that there is intellectual property granted to KM and NB for the treatment of ARDS with ASC-CM and that Theratome Bio, Inc. has a business interest in this intellectual property.

Copyright © 2020 Lu, Merfeld-Clauss, Jawed, March, Coleman and Bogatcheva. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Extracellular Vesicle-Dependent Communication Between Mesenchymal Stromal Cells and Immune Effector Cells

Riccardo Bazzoni¹, Paul Takam Kamga^{1,2}, Ilaria Tanasi¹ and Mauro Krampera^{1*}

¹ Stem Cell Research Laboratory, Section of Hematology, Department of Medicine, University of Verona, Verona, Italy, ² EA4340-BCOH, Biomarker in Cancerology and Onco-Haematology, UVSQ, Université Paris Saclay, Boulogne-Billancourt, France

Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) are multipotent cells residing in the stromal tissues of the body and capable of promoting tissue repair and attenuating inflammatory processes through their immunomodulatory properties. Preclinical and clinical observations revealed that not only direct intercellular communication mediates MSC properties; in fact, a pivotal role is also played by the release of soluble and bioactive factors, such as cytokines, growth factor and extracellular vesicles (EVs). EVs are membrane-coated vesicles containing a large variety of bioactive molecules, including lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids, such as RNA. EVs release their contents into target cells, thus influencing cell fate through the control of intracellular processes. In addition, MSC-derived EVs can mediate modulatory effects toward different effector cells belonging to both innate and adaptive immunity. In this review, we will discuss the literature data concerning MSC-derived EVs, including the current standardized methods for their isolation and characterization, the mechanisms supporting their immunoregulatory properties, and their potential clinical application as alternative to MSC-based therapy for inflammatory reactions, such as graft-versus-host disease (GvHD).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Antonio Salgado, University of Minho, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Beklem Bostancioglu, Karolinska Institute, Sweden Sina Naserian, Hôpital Paul Brousse, France

> *Correspondence: Mauro Krampera mauro.krampera@univr.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 18 August 2020 Accepted: 20 October 2020 Published: 06 November 2020

Citation:

Bazzoni R, Takam Kamga P, Tanasi I and Krampera M (2020) Extracellular Vesicle-Dependent Communication Between Mesenchymal Stromal Cells and Immune Effector Cells. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:596079. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.596079 Keywords: extracellular vesicles, exosomes, microvesicles, mesenchymal stromal cells, immune effector cells, immunomodulation

INTRODUCTION

Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) are multipotent stem cells of mesodermal origin described in bone marrow (BM) for the first time by Alexander Friedenstein in 1966 (Friedenstein et al., 1966). Over the last decades, MSCs were also identified in a large number of tissues, including fat, umbilical cord, amniotic fluid, placenta, skin, dental pulp, and many others (Riekstina et al., 2008; Marquez-Curtis et al., 2015; Camilleri et al., 2016; Ventura Ferreira et al., 2018; Caseiro et al., 2019; Fukutake et al., 2019). In 2006, the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT) established the minimal criteria to define human MSCs, i.e., (i) plastic-adherence when maintained in standard culture conditions; (ii) surface expression of CD105, CD73 and CD90 antigens while lacking CD45, CD34, CD14 or CD11b, CD79 α or CD19, and HLA-DR molecules; (iii) *in vitro* differentiation into three mesodermal lineages (osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondrocytes) (Dominici et al., 2006).

MSCs boosted a great interest in the field of regenerative medicine and tissue engineering thanks to their ability to promote tissue regeneration and to modulate immune response (de Mayo et al., 2017; Petri et al., 2017; Pokrywczynska et al., 2019). Indeed, MSCs possess broad immunomodulatory properties affecting immune effector cells of both innate and adaptive responses (Krampera, 2011). For example, MSCs are capable of stimulating cytokine release and proliferation of innate lymphoid cells (van Hoeven et al., 2018), affecting dendritic cell (DC) maturation and activation (Zhang et al., 2004), suppressing natural killer (NK) cell activity and proliferation (Spaggiari et al., 2008), supporting the expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (Yen et al., 2013), and regulating B cell proliferation and activation (Fan et al., 2016) as well as T cell activity, balance between T helper (Th)1 and Th2 lymphocytes and expansion of T regulatory (Treg) cells (Haddad and Saldanha-Araujo, 2014; Gao et al., 2016). The ability of MSCs to modulate the immune response is well documented by several preclinical and clinical studies in a wide range of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases, such as Crohn's disease (Forbes, 2017), rheumatoid arthritis (Ansboro et al., 2017), diabetes (Cho et al., 2018), graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) (Le Blanc et al., 2008), sepsis (Hall et al., 2013), cardiovascular diseases (Bagno et al., 2018), allergic airway inflammation (Takeda et al., 2018), and many others. Initially, the biological activity of MSC was ascribed to their ability to home within the injury site; however, only a small fraction of MSCs is capable of reaching the damaged tissues after systemic administration (Kraitchman et al., 2005; Yukawa et al., 2012; Scarfe et al., 2018), while the majority of them are rapidly cleared through phenomena of efferocytosis, thus polarizing macrophages toward an inhibitory phenotype (Galleu et al., 2017). In addition, MSCs may act at paracrine level through the release of bioactive factors, including transforming growth factor β (TGF- β), hepatocyte growth factor, prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), interleukin (IL)-10 and IL-6, human leukocyte antigen G (HLA-G), indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), nitric oxide (NO), and other mediators (Sato et al., 2006; Ryan et al., 2007; Németh et al., 2009; Bouffi et al., 2010; Du et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2019; Lu et al., 2019; Pittenger et al., 2019). In the last years, membrane-bound particles, known as extracellular vesicles (EVs), have been recognized as an important MSC paracrine factor in addition to soluble factors (Chen et al., 2016; Bier et al., 2018). EVs represent a very effective, physiological intercellular communication, even at low molecule concentrations at which soluble factors could be rapidly inactivated. Strong experimental evidence shows that MSC-EVs are capable of recapitulating the immunomodulation of their parental cells (Rani et al., 2015; Seo et al., 2019). Therefore, in this review we will provide an overview of the literature data supporting the MSC-EV-dependent communication between MSCs and immune effector cells (IECs).

CHARACTERIZATION OF EVs

EVs consist of a phospholipid bilayer envelope acting as molecular shuttle for various molecules, such as proteins,

different types of nucleic acids, lipids and active metabolites (Lai et al., 2016; Yuan et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2018; Shojaati et al., 2019). Historically, EVs are classified into three main groups according to their biogenesis and size: (i) exosomes, (ii) microvesicles and (iii) apoptotic bodies. Exosomes (diameter range 50-100 nm) represent the smallest EV fraction deriving from the fusion of intracellular endosomes with plasma membrane, followed by their release into the extracellular space (Stephen et al., 2016). The production of exosomes is generally constitutive, although it can increase upon cell stimulation (Fierabracci et al., 2015). Microvesicles (MVs; diameter range 100-1,000 nm) are generated by cytoplasmic membrane budding in response to several stimuli resulting in cytosolic Ca²⁺ increment and disassembly of the cytoskeleton (Ratajczak et al., 2006). Apoptotic bodies (diameter range 1-5 μ m) are characterized by irregular shapes and heterogenous sizes (Caruso and Poon, 2018). Apoptotic bodies are functionally different, as they are released during apoptosis and contain mainly cellular debris, such as micronuclei, chromatin remnants and cytosol portions (Battistelli and Falcieri, 2020). As several studies were performed with different separation approaches and cellular sources of EVs, it is still not possible to propose a specific classification of different EV subtypes as well as specific markers and biogenesis processes (Gould and Raposo, 2013; Cocucci and Meldolesi, 2015). Consequently, the Minimal Information of Studies of Extracellular Vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018) suggests to use the generic terms "small/medium/large EVs," according to their size or density, instead of the classical "exosomes," "microvesicles," and "apoptotic bodies" terms (Théry et al., 2018). According to MISEV2018, to confirm the nature of EVs and the degree of purity of EV preparation, the scientific community has encouraged to evaluate the presence of at least one of transmembrane or GPI-anchored proteins associated to plasma membrane and/or endosomes (for example tetraspanins, integrins, and MHC class I) and cytosolic proteins recovered in EVs (for example lipid or membrane protein-binding ability like ESCRT-I/II/III and ALIX or promiscuous proteins like HSP70 or cytoskeleton proteins like actin and tubulin) and major components of non-EV co-isolated structures (for example lipoproteins, protein/nucleic acid aggregates, and ribosomal proteins) (Théry et al., 2018). Additionally, for studies focused on one or more EV subtypes is recommended to assess the presence of transmembrane, lipid-bound and soluble proteins associated to other intracellular compartments than plasma membrane/endosomes, including lamin A/C, cytochrome C, calnexin, and ATG9A, whereas for the evaluation of EV functional activities, the identification of functional soluble factor in EVs like cytokines, growth factors, adhesion and extracellular matrix proteins is required (Théry et al., 2018).

The communication system based on EVs is highly conserved among the three different animal reigns, thus suggesting how EVs are crucial for intercellular communication (Deatherage and Cookson, 2012; Gill et al., 2019). EVs contribute to cell-to-cell communication via direct contact with target cells through a ligand-receptor interaction. In particular, EVs can transfer information to target cells either without delivering their content or acting like biological shuttles that release their cargo into acceptor cells. A classic example of EV contribution to intercellular communication without deliver their content resides in those vesicles that harbor MHC molecules on their surface, thus activating T cell receptors on T cells (Raposo et al., 1996; Martin et al., 2014). Concerning the delivery of EV content, EVs can be taken up by target cells through several mechanisms, including clathrin-mediated endocytosis, caveolindependent endocytosis, macropinocytosis, phagocytosis, lipid rafts, and cell surface membrane fusion (Feng et al., 2010; Montecalvo et al., 2012; Svensson et al., 2013; Tian et al., 2014; Costa Verdera et al., 2017; Rai and Johnson, 2019). Although numerous receptors/ligands are implicated into EV uptake including tetraspanins, integrins, immunoglobulins, lectins, and proteoglycans (Morelli et al., 2004; Hao et al., 2007; Barrès et al., 2010; Christianson et al., 2013), to date it is still debated whether EV uptake is a cell-type specific process or not. Indeed, some studies suggest that EVs from different sources can be taken up by every cell type (Costa Verdera et al., 2017; Horibe et al., 2018), whereas others report that only a particular combination of EV and target cells (and thus the right association between receptors and ligands) allow the EV uptake by acceptors cells (Fitzner et al., 2011; Zech et al., 2012; Chivet et al., 2014; Di Trapani et al., 2016). Finally, recent evidence suggested that nanotubes could synergistically act with EVs in intercellular communication, as microsized particles could be transferred into target cells via nanotubes (Ware et al., 2015; Nawaz and Fatima, 2017).

As EVs reflect the characteristics of their cells of origin both at molecular and functional level, EVs have emerged as a novel potential therapeutic approach due to their ability to influence various biological processes, including immune response, cell proliferation, tissue regeneration, cell invasiveness, tubule formation, angiogenesis, synapsis plasticity, and many others (Zaborowski et al., 2015; Silva et al., 2017; Prada et al., 2018; Lee et al., 2019; Mou et al., 2019).

MSC-EVs AND IMMUNOMODULATION

MSC-EVs play a pivotal role in mediating the paracrine effects of MSCs on immune system. Generally, MSC-EVs may promote an immunosuppressive response through the induction of immature DCs, the polarization of macrophages toward M2-like phenotype, the inhibition of immunoglobulin (Ig) release, the expansion of Tregs and the secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines (Budoni et al., 2013; Burrello et al., 2016; Favaro et al., 2016; Balbi et al., 2017; Du et al., 2018). However, MSC-EVs should be considered in the whole contest of MSC secretome, because in some experimental settings the immunomodulation mediated by MSC-EVs can only poorly recapitulate the immune properties of their parental cells (Conforti et al., 2014; Gouveia de Andrade et al., 2015; Ma et al., 2019). In the next sections we will try to give a comprehensive overview of the effects of MSC-EVs on the innate (macrophages, DCs and NK cells) and adaptive (B and T cells) immune system. As the studies here reported employed different EV subtypes obtained from several MSC sources (BM, umbilical cord, adipose tissue, fetal liver) of different animal species (human, mouse and rat) with several

isolation methods, we will refer to them with the generic term "MSC-EVs." The immunomodulatory effects of MSC-EVs on innate and adaptive immune system are summarized in **Figure 1**.

MSC-EVs and Innate Immune System Macrophages

Macrophages are mononuclear phagocytes with important roles in physiological conditions and in first-line immune response (Zhang and Wang, 2014). Macrophages are extremely plastic cells, with the capability of differentiating into two activated subtypes, i.e., M1 and M2. M1 macrophages are classical activated cells secreting large amount of pro-inflammatory factors, such as TNF- α , IL-1 β and reactive oxygen species. On the other hand, M2 macrophages are alternatively activated and anti-inflammatory cells producing IL-10 and trophic factors (Shapouri-Moghaddam et al., 2018). Recent data support a contribution of MSC-EVs in modulating the M1/M2 balance, although the precise mechanism remains unclear. For instance, MSC-EVs may hamper the activation of pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages in favor of pro-resolving M2 macrophages that parallel with VEGF-A, IFN- γ , IL-12, and TNF- α reduction as well as IL-10 upregulation (Balbi et al., 2017; Cosenza et al., 2017; Cao et al., 2019). The modulation of several signaling pathways mediated by MSC-EVs may be responsible for this effect. For instance, the inhibition of JAK/STAT signaling was confirmed by many studies, resulting in Arg1 increment and inflammation reduction (Zhao et al., 2018; Cao et al., 2019). The activation of S1P/SK1/S1PR1 signaling by MSC-EVs promotes M2 differentiation through the downregulation of NF-κB-p65 and TGF-β1 expression in macrophages, thus restoring cardiac activity after myocardial infarction (Deng et al., 2019). Furthermore, lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-primed MSC-EVs support M2 macrophage polarization, by interfering with LPS-dependent NF- κ B signaling, and partly activate the AKT1/AKT2 signaling pathway, by attenuating the post-infarction inflammation and cardiomyocyte apoptosis (Xu et al., 2019). An interesting mechanism by which MSC-EVs exert their anti-inflammatory function is the M2 polarization through MSC-EV-mediated mitochondrial transfer that is dependent on macrophage oxidative phosphorylation (Morrison et al., 2017). In parallel, in response to oxidative stress, MSCs outsource mitochondria depolarized by MVs, thus enhancing macrophage bioenergetics (Phinney et al., 2015) and therefore their proinflammatory features (Tavakoli et al., 2013). Moreover, MSCs-EVs may trigger the anti-inflammatory phenotype and proresolving properties of mature, human regulatory macrophages, a subclass of M2 macrophages characterized by modest IL-22 and IL-23 production and PGE2 hyper-expression, thus leading to reduction of Th17 response (Hyvärinen et al., 2018). MSC-EVs can also reduce chemokine expression (CXCL1 and CCL5) that are necessary for inflammatory response by macrophages (Zou et al., 2014; Willis et al., 2017). Interestingly, MSC-EVs express CCR2 chemokine, bind and reduce the concentration of the free pro-inflammatory CCL2 ligand, and therefore prevent the activation and recruitment of M1 macrophages (Shen et al., 2016). MSC-EVs may also trigger the



FIGURE 1 | Summary of the effects of MSC-EVs on immune effector cells. Green arrows: positive effect; red arrows: negative effect; black dashes: no effect.

anti-inflammatory phenotype in hepatic macrophages through IGF-1 (Fiore et al., 2020).

Several miRNAs are involved into MSC-EV-mediated antiinflammatory effects on M1/M2 balance. For instance, miR-223 overexpression in MSC-EVs may reprogram macrophages from M1 to M2 phenotype by targeting Sema3A and STAT3 (Wang et al., 2015; He et al., 2019). Under hypoxic condition, the enrichment of miR-223 determines the overexpression of miR-146b, miR-126 and miR-199a, which in turn upregulate the expression of Arg1 and Ym1 and promote the antiinflammatory M2 state (Lo Sicco et al., 2017). Other miRNAs involved in M2 polarization are miR-155 and miR-21, whose downregulation results in the increase of SOCS3 and M2 molecules (IL-10, CD206 and arginase) as well as M1 marker reduction (CCR7, IL-1 β , IL-6, and NO) (Henao Agudelo et al., 2017). IL-1 β -primed MSC-EVs express high levels of miR-146a promoting M2 macrophage polarization more effectively than IL-1 β -primed MSC, thus increasing survival of septic mice (Song et al., 2017). The comparative miRNA analysis of EVs isolated from either IFN- γ -primed or resting MSCs revealed that miR-150-5p, whose target genes is involved in acute-phase response and signaling in macrophages, is downregulated in IFN- γ -primed EVs. Nevertheless, no difference between primed and resting EVs has been observed in promoting macrophage differentiation toward M2 phenotype (Marinaro et al., 2019). The enrichment of miR-let7 within MSC-EVs may favor M2 polarization and suppress macrophage infiltration through miR-let7/HMGA2/NF- κ B pathway and miR-let7/IGF2BP1/PTEN

pathway, respectively (Li et al., 2019). Moreover, LPS-primed MSC-EVs regulate the M1/M2 macrophage balance more efficiently than resting EVs, thanks to the expression of miR-let-7b, which inhibits TLR4/NF-κB/STAT3/AKT signaling pathway, thus hampering inflammation and enhancing diabetic cutaneous wounds healing (Ti et al., 2015). TLR/NF-KB signaling can be targeted by other miRNAs too. In a model of burn-induced inflammation, the administration of MSC-EVs overexpressing miR-181c reduced the number of macrophages (and neutrophils) potentially inhibiting TLR4 expression and its downstream target proteins NF-KB/P65 and p-65, thus preventing inflammation (Li et al., 2016). MSC-EV fraction is characterized by the enrichment in miR-451a, miR-1202, miR-630, and miR-638 and the reduced expression of miR-125b and miR-21. This miRNA profile may be responsible for targeting MYD88-dependent inflammatory nodes to suppress TLR/NF-kB signaling pathway and macrophage activation (Phinney et al., 2015). Additionally, Zhang et al. found in vitro that MSC-EVs induce monocytes to switch toward an anti-inflammatory M2-phenotype via MYD88-dependent TLR signaling pathway, resulting in a reduction of IL-1β, IL-6, IL-12, and TNF- α levels and higher IL-10 concentration, thus polarizing activated CD4⁺ T cells toward Treg subset (Zhang et al., 2013).

MSC-EVs also prevent M1-type macrophage infiltration in injury sites by lowering MCP-1, CCL5, HMGB1, and MIP-1 α expression (Yu et al., 2016; Spinosa et al., 2018; Woo et al., 2020), probably through miR-147 expression (Spinosa et al., 2018). Interestingly, in a model of thioglycolate-induced peritonitis, treatment with MSC-EVs reduced macrophage infiltration in the peritoneal cavity by inducing a M2-like regulatory phenotype; this effect was partially associated to the upregulation of CX3CR1 in F4/80⁺/Ly6C⁺/CCR2⁺ macrophage subset (Henao Agudelo et al., 2017). Concerning the homing ability of MSC-EVs, Lankford et al. demonstrated in a model of damaged spinal cord that MSC-EVs can migrate only in the injury site and M2-type macrophage are the primary target of EVs (Lankford et al., 2018).

Finally, MSC-EVs mediate miR-17 transfer from parental cells to macrophages, thus suppressing NLRP3 inflammasome activation, and consequently caspase-1, IL-1 β , and IL-6, by targeting TXNIP (Liu et al., 2018). The suppression of NLRP3, caspase-1, IL-1 β , and IL-6 was also reported by other authors (Jiang et al., 2019). On the other hand, EVs isolated from LPS-primed periodontal ligament stem cells (characterized by MSC-like markers) may induce strong M1-type polarization in association with pro-inflammatory molecules (TNF- α and IL-6); this effect seems related to double-strand DNA on EV surface (Kang et al., 2018).

Dendritic Cells

DCs are innate professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) acting as central regulators of the adaptive immune response. DCs can be found in either resting or active state. Resting DCs are immature APCs expressing low levels of costimulatory molecules (CD38, CD40, CD80, CD83, and CD86) and immunostimulatory cytokines conferring high capacity to capture antigens. DC activation and maturation depend on different stimuli deriving from bacteria, viruses and damaged tissue. Activated DCs are potent T cell response inducers showing low antigen capture

activity and high expression of histocompatibility complex II (MHC class II), costimulatory signals, C-C chemokine receptor type 7 (CCR7) as well as immunostimulatory cytokines (Collin et al., 2013; Patente et al., 2019). EVs secreted by different types of MSCs exert immunosuppressive effects on DCs primarily by inhibiting their activation, eventually leading to the lack of T cell response triggering. For example, DCs from type 1-diabetic (T1D) patients treated with heterologous MSC-EVs acquired an immature phenotype, characterized by low expression of activation markers and higher production of IL-6, IL-10, TGFβ, and PGE2 (Favaro et al., 2016). Therefore, MSC-EV-treated DCs inhibit the inflammatory T cell response by decreasing Th17 subset and inducing Foxp3⁺ Tregs (Favaro et al., 2016). Similarly, MSC-EV treatment leads to anergic, IL-10-expressing, regulatory DCs that suppress Th1 and Th17 cell development, but without inducing Tregs (Shigemoto-Kuroda et al., 2017). Notably, MSC-EVs may enhance the release of TGF-B and IL-10 from $CD11c^+$ DCs, thus inhibiting lymphocyte proliferation, without affecting the expression of MHC class II, CD86, CD83, and CD40 (Shahir et al., 2020). Upregulation of miR-146 expression in DCs is a possible mechanism by which MSC-EVs promote DC immature phenotype, leading to the downregulation of FAS expression and IL-12 production (Wu et al., 2017). Alternatively, EVs derived from renal, mesenchymal-like cancer stem cells impair dendritic differentiation and T cell activation by upregulating the expression of the anti-inflammatory molecule HLA-G (Grange et al., 2015). MSC-EVs may also prevent immature DCs from antigen uptake by blocking their maturation (Reis et al., 2018). As a consequence, MSC-EVs lower CD38, CD80, CD83, IL-6, and IL-12 expression, increase the production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine TGF-β and reduce DC ability to migrate toward CCL21, the CCR7-ligand, although DCs can still trigger allogeneic T cell proliferation in vitro (Reis et al., 2018). These MSC-EV-treated DCs resulted enriched of four microRNAs (miR-21-5p, miR-142-3p, miR-223-3p, and miR-126-3p) mediating well-known effects on DC maturation and functions (Reis et al., 2018). On the other hand, higher expression of costimulatory factors (CD40, CD80, and CD86), but not MHC class II, can be observed on the surface of murine immature DCs following MSC-EV treatment, thus suggesting that these EVs can mediate the DC maturation required for the induction of effector T-cell (Cho et al., 2019).

Natural Killer Cells

NK cells are lymphoid cells with a central role in the innate response to viral infections and cancer cells, but recent data suggest that NK cells can also modulate the adaptive immune response involving DCs and T cells, either directly or indirectly (Moretta et al., 2008; Chiossone et al., 2018). Despite a deep search in literature, only a few papers concerning the role of MSC-EVs on NK cell modulation have been found. EVs derived from MSCs. EVs prevent proliferation and IL-2-induced activation of both CD56-dim and CD56-bright NK cells, and suppressed their cytotoxic degranulation *in vitro* (Fan et al., 2018). In a rat model of experimental autoimmune uveitis (EAU), MSC-EV administration reduces CD161⁺ NK cell migration toward eye lesions, thus ameliorating EAU symptoms

(Bai et al., 2017). The protective and anti-inflammatory effects exerted by MSC-EVs have been also observed in a rat model of renal ischemic reperfusion injury (IRI) and in a renal allografts MHC-disparate rat model, by decreasing both NK cells infiltration and chemokines associated with NK cell recruitment (TLR-2 and CX3CL1) (Koch et al., 2015; Zou et al., 2016). All these immunosuppressive effects seem to be mediated by the expression of TGF- β on the EV surface, which induces TGF- β /Smad downstream pathway (Fan et al., 2018). Other molecules contained in MSC-EVs and associated with anti-inflammatory effects on NK cells are IL-10 and HLA-G (Kordelas et al., 2014). Finally, TNF- α - and IFN- γ -primed MSC-EVs reduce NK cell proliferation more effectively than resting MSC-EVs (Di Trapani et al., 2016).

MSC-EVs and Adaptive Immune System B Cells

B cells are lymphoid cells involved in the humoral adaptive immunity through the secretion of antibodies and cytokines (Matsushita, 2019). Among the peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) subpopulations, B cells show the highest EV uptake (Di Trapani et al., 2016). MSC-EVs may induce in B cells the downregulation of 11 genes (including CCR3, CCR4, and CCL22) and the upregulation of 39 genes (including SerpinB2, PTGS2, and PGE2) involved in immune regulation (Khare et al., 2018). MSC-mediated inhibition of B cell proliferation is more evident following inflammatory priming (Di Trapani et al., 2016). Inflammatory priming induces the increase of miR-155 and miR-146 levels within MSC-EVs (Di Trapani et al., 2016). In particular, MSC-EVs induce the downregulation of PI3K/AKT signaling pathway components in B cells, inhibit B cell spreading, and reduce B cell viability via miR-155-5p (Adamo et al., 2019).

Another effect of MSC-EVs on B cells is preventing Ig secretion. MSC-EVs exert a dose-dependent inhibition of IgM, IgG, and IgA production coupled with suppression of B cell proliferation and maturation (Budoni et al., 2013). The reduction of IgG production was also observed by other authors reporting that both MSC-exosomes and microparticles may increase CD19⁺IL-10⁺ Breg-like population and inhibit plasmablast differentiation by transferring TGF-B, PEG2 and IL1RA (Cosenza et al., 2018). Moreover, MSC-EVs reduce CD27⁺CD19⁺ memory B cell maturation (Balbi et al., 2017). On the other hand, MSC-EVs may sustain, support and enhance the function of human IgG-secreting cells (Nguyen et al., 2018). Notably, MSC-EVs was not capable of significantly affect B cell activation in a strong reactive renal allotransplantation animal model; by contrast, MSC-EVs significantly increased the number of B cells infiltrating the transplanted kidney grafts (Koch et al., 2015). The partial immunomodulation of B cells by MSC soluble factors seems to be preferentially induced by the soluble protein-enriched fraction (PF) rather than by the entire EV-enriched fraction (Carreras-Planella et al., 2019).

T Cells

T cells are highly specialized lymphocytes that regulate several aspects of adaptive immunity, such as protection from pathogens, immune surveillance against tumors and alloreaction against

non-self-tissues (Kumar et al., 2018). MSCs have a great impact on T cell functions and therefore potentially on the treatment of numerous T-cell mediated reactive conditions (Duffy et al., 2011).

An efficient approach to suppress T cell-mediated immune response is preventing T cell proliferation. Several studies reported that MSC-EVs exert this effect both in vitro and in vivo in several animal models, such as those reproducing myocardium infarction, experimental allergic asthma and renal IRI (Mokarizadeh et al., 2012; Kilpinen et al., 2013; Blazquez et al., 2014; Romani et al., 2015; Teng et al., 2015; de Castro et al., 2017; Monguió-Tortajada et al., 2017; Cosenza et al., 2018; van den Akker et al., 2018; Ji et al., 2019). The inhibition of T cell proliferation is associated with the reduction or absence of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-2, IL-6, TNFα, and IFN-γ (Blazquez et al., 2014; Monguió-Tortajada et al., 2017). Nevertheless, MSC-EVs were capable of increasing T cell number in the graft of a rat renal transplant model for acute rejection associated with the reduction of TNF-a expression and no difference in IL-10 levels (Koch et al., 2015). The inhibition of T cell proliferation by human MSCs is mostly mediated by the upregulation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) (Chinnadurai et al., 2015; Wen et al., 2016); however, controversial results are found when T cells are treated with MSC-EVs. Some groups reported no significant changes in IDO expression (Del Fattore et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2016), whereas many authors found high concentrations of IDO inside MSC-EVs (Romani et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2018b; Serejo et al., 2019). Other groups reported that MSC-EVs have no effect on T cell proliferation, but rather promote T cell apoptosis (Del Fattore et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2016). Conversely, another study reported that MSC-EVs do not alter T cell viability (Monguió-Tortajada et al., 2017). These different findings suggest that a thorough characterization of MSC-EV content and a standardization of the experimental methods are necessary to foresee the biological effects.

Both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell activation was suppressed by MSC-EVs. At molecular level, the suppression of T cell activation is independent from the antigen presentation due the lack of MHC class I and II as well as other costimulatory molecules on MSC-EV surface (Blazquez et al., 2014; Farinazzo et al., 2018; Dabrowska et al., 2019; Shao et al., 2020). In particular, MSCs constitutively lacking \u03b32-microglobulin, a component of HLA-I involved in CD8⁺ T cell-mediated immune rejection, and the corresponding EVs reduce more efficiently both fibrosis and inflammation in a myocardial infarction animal model compared to the wild-type forms (Shao et al., 2020). The authors reported a greater accumulation of miR-24 in EVs from MSCs constitutively lacking β 2-microglobulin, which in turn reduces the expression of the apoptotic protein Bim (Shao et al., 2020). Additionally, MSC-EVs can block CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell differentiation toward effector and memory cells, through a mechanism mediated by TGF-β signaling, respectively (Blazquez et al., 2014; Álvarez et al., 2018).

Modulation of Treg/Th17 and Th1/Th2 balance has been used to explain the regulatory properties of MSC-EVs on T cells. MSC-EVs may promote induction and expansion of Tregsin

association with high levels of IL-10 (Mokarizadeh et al., 2012; Kilpinen et al., 2013; Favaro et al., 2014; Del Fattore et al., 2015; Romani et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2016; Nojehdehi et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018b; Guo et al., 2019; Ji et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2019), particularly CTLA-4⁺, CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ and Tr1 Treg subpopulations (Chen et al., 2016; Cosenza et al., 2018). Other groups reported no significant changes in Treg number, regardless the higher IL-10 levels after MSC-EV treatment, thus questioning the involvement of Tregs in the upregulation of IL-10 expression by MSC-EVs (Hai et al., 2018). However, the promoting effects of MSC-EVs on Tregs could be partially mediated by their content in TGF-ß signaling components (Song et al., 2020). Another possible molecular mechanism is the transfer of miR-1470 from MSC-EVs to CD4⁺ T cells, thus upregulating P27KIP1 expression through c-Jun targeting (Zhuansun et al., 2019). Other miRNAs have been described in this phenomenon, such as miR155-5p, miR-let7b, and miRlet7d. The overexpression in MSC-EVs of miR-155, which targets Sirtuin-1, increases IL-10 and Foxp3 expression in T cells, thus preventing the production of IL-17 and RORC (Zheng et al., 2019). On the other hand, the increase of miR-let7b and miRlet7d may suppress cell proliferation and promote Treg functions, avoiding immune rejection (Wen et al., 2016). Moreover, MSC-EV-mediated proliferation and function of CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ Tregs could involve APC-, but not CD4⁺ T cell-dependent pathways (Du et al., 2018). Regardless the mechanism mainly involved, other in vivo models, such as experimental type-1 autoimmune diabetes in T1D mice, clearly showed that the induction of Tregs by MSC-EVs can ameliorate histological signs, thus favoring the regeneration of tissues, i.e., pancreatic islets (Nojehdehi et al., 2018).

Concerning other T-cell subsets, there are only a few works so far. For instance, MSC-EVs may prevent Th17 cell development and IL-17 production (Favaro et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2016; Bai et al., 2017; Shigemoto-Kuroda et al., 2017; Hai et al., 2018; Ji et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2019). MSC-EVs may also inhibit Th17 cell differentiation in ulcerative colitis rat models by increasing histone H3K27me3 methylation and inhibiting its demethylation, thus suggesting that H3K27me3 may be an important target in inflammatory diseases (Chen et al., 2020). Moreover, MSC-EVs can directly prevent Th1 development by promoting Th1 shift toward Th2 cells (Chen et al., 2016; Bai et al., 2017; Shigemoto-Kuroda et al., 2017; Guo et al., 2019) as well as inhibit T follicular helper cells (Hai et al., 2018). Nevertheless, MSC-EVs can also promote autoreactive, IFN-y-secreting memory Th1 cells by functioning in NOD mice as self-antigen carrier and trigger for autoimmunity (Rahman et al., 2014). In addition, the effect of MSC-EVs on natural killer-T (NK-T) cells has been recently described in a rat model of hepatocellular carcinoma; following EV administration, higher percentages of circulating and intratumoral NK-T cells as well as tumors of smaller size and less aggressive were observed as compared to untreated rats (Ko et al., 2015).

Different mechanisms and factors have been described in the immunomodulatory effect of MSC-EVs toward T-cells. The broad and pleiomorphic activity of MSC-EVs reflects their influence on different signaling pathways of T-cells and microenvironmental cells, such as JAK/STAT or NF-kB (Guo et al., 2019). For instance, MSC-EVs can inhibit T-cell infiltration in the injury site of several diseases as well as the production of several chemokines, such as CCL2, CCL5, CCL21, CXCL1, MIP-1a, MIP-3a, and integrin-dependent chemokines) (Cruz et al., 2015; Bai et al., 2017; Shigemoto-Kuroda et al., 2017; Farinazzo et al., 2018; Hai et al., 2018; Dabrowska et al., 2019) and inflammatory molecules, such as IL-1a, IL-1β, IL-2, IL-5, IL-12, and IL-17 (Favaro et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2016; de Castro et al., 2017; Shigemoto-Kuroda et al., 2017; Hai et al., 2018; Nojehdehi et al., 2018; Dabrowska et al., 2019; Guo et al., 2019; Ji et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2019). By contrast, anti-inflammatory molecules can be induced by MSC-EVs, such as IL-10, TGF-β, and PGE2 (Mokarizadeh et al., 2012; Favaro et al., 2014; Del Fattore et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2016; Nojehdehi et al., 2018; Guo et al., 2019; Ji et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2019). Other factors, such as IL-4, IL-6, IFN- γ , and TNF- α , seem to be variably modulated by MSC-EV (Rahman et al., 2014; de Castro et al., 2017; Shigemoto-Kuroda et al., 2017; Hai et al., 2018; Nojehdehi et al., 2018).

Inflammatory priming may enhance the immunomodulatory properties of MSC-EVs. For instance, inflammatory IL-1β-priming MSC upregulates PD-L1 and TGF-β expression in EVs, leading to a Treg increment in a mouse model of autoimmune encephalomyelitis (Mokarizadeh et al., 2012). A greater accumulation of TGF- β was also reported in IFN-y-primed MSC-EVs, which also showed low levels of Galectin-1 and IDO, compared to resting MSC-EVs, leading to a suppression of Treg expansion (Serejo et al., 2019). Compared to resting MSC-EVs, TNF- α , and IFN- γ -primed MSC-EVs reduced more the TNF- α and IFN- γ secretion from splenocyte previously activated with lipopolysaccharides and concanavalin A to preferentially stimulate either myeloid cells or T cells, respectively (Harting et al., 2018). According to the authors, the best efficiency of inflammatory priming was probably due to the higher concentration of COX2 and PGE2 in primed MSC-EVs (Harting et al., 2018). Intriguingly, EVs from MSCs pretreated with a combination of anti- and pro-inflammatory cytokines (TGF- β and IFN- γ , respectively) promote Treg expansion more efficiently than MSC-EVs pretreated with TGF- β or IFN- γ only and display higher levels of IDO, IL-10, and IFN- γ (Zhang et al., 2018b). Nevertheless, the promoting effect of inflammatory priming was not confirmed by other authors (Kilpinen et al., 2013; Cosenza et al., 2018), who either found a major effect of resting MSC-EVs, or a negligible effect on T cell proliferation of both resting and primed (TNF- α and IFN- γ) MSC-EVs (Kilpinen et al., 2013; Di Trapani et al., 2016; Cosenza et al., 2018).

Altogether, these data give an idea about the complexity of the interactions and effects that can be mediated by MSC-EVs in physiological and reactive conditions, depending on microenvironmental factors, activating stimuli, effector cell subsets and cellular cross-talk. This scenery becomes even more complex when MSC-EVs are administered as cell-free therapeutic approaches in autoimmune or inflammatory conditions.

MSC-EV-Based Immunotherapy

MSC systemic administration, which must follow Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) rules, is not associated to

a significant evidence of cell engraftment even in presence of clinical benefit, due to the entrapment of MSCs in the microvasculature of filter organs, such as lungs (Moll et al., 2016; Salvadori et al., 2019). Other biology aspects can interfere with therapeutic efficacy of MSCs. For instance, the quality and the integrity of MSC preparations depends on the isolation, culture, and cryopreservation methods (Moll et al., 2016; Dufrane, 2017; Mastrolia et al., 2019). Although autologous MSCs would be the best choice for MSC therapy, they showed some limitations: patients' age as well as their genetic traits and medical conditions could reduce the proliferation rate and therapeutic features of MSCs (Pachón-Peña et al., 2016; Dufrane, 2017). Limitations have been also observed in allogeneic MSC transplantation. Indeed, despite MSC have been always considered characterized by a low immunogenic potential, recent studies demonstrated that MSCs may elicit anti-donor immune response (Ankrum et al., 2014; Lohan et al., 2017). Therefore, in order to switch toward a cell-free approach, many groups began to study the immunomodulatory effects of MSC-EVs administered in vivo. One of the first clinical setting in which employing MSC-EVs was acute GvHD, the main complication of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) (Ferrara et al., 2009; Szyska and Na, 2016; Zeiser and Blazar, 2017). Acute GvHD (aGvHD) occurs within 40 days after HSCT transplantation, as a consequence of interactions between mature donor T cells and host and donor APCs, mounting a strong immune response that eventually lead to host tissue damage (Tyndall and Dazzi, 2008; Zeiser and Blazar, 2017). On the other hand, chronic GvHD (cGvHD) can arise de novo or from aGvHD and is a more complex disease involving not only mature donor T cells, but also auto/alloreactive B cells escaping negative selection (Toubai et al., 2008; Zeiser and Blazar, 2017; Hill et al., 2018). Despite several prophylactic and therapeutic strategies have been developed, the mortality rate of refractory aGvHD is still 70-80%, mostly due to severe secondary infectious complications (Jamil and Mineishi, 2015; Hamilton, 2018).

MSCs initially represented an interesting candidate for cellular therapy to improve HSCT engraftment, prevent graft failure and treat refractory aGvHD. Despite several preclinical and clinical studies showing clinical and survival improvement in MSCtreated patients compared to controls, a significant number of clinical trials failed, especially in adults, probably due to the lack of appropriate knowledge of the mechanisms of action when MSCs are administered in vivo (Elgaz et al., 2019; Cheung et al., 2020). For this reason, several groups started to investigate the effectiveness of MSC-EVs in aGvHD in vivo models and patients. MSC-EVs may prevent aGvHD onset, attenuate symptoms, and prolong animal survival through several mechanisms. For instance, MSC-EVs is capable of reducing CD8⁺ T cell number, leading to the increase of CD4⁺/CD8⁺ T cell ratio; in addition, they block CD4⁺ T cell migration and activation inside target organs, promote Treg expansion, downregulate IL-2, CCR6, TNF- α , and IFN- γ expression while increasing IL-10, reduce Th17 cell recruitment while lowering RORyt, STAT3, IL-17, IL-21, IL-22 expression (Wang et al., 2016; Fujii et al., 2018; Lai et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2018a; Dal Collo et al., 2020). Other potential MSC-EV immunomodulatory mechanisms on

T cells involve miR-223 and the adenosine metabolism. miR-223, which is highly expressed in EVs from umbilical cord, is capable of inhibiting allogenic T cell migration and extravasation by targeting ICAM-1, thus leading to a reduction of proinflammatory factors and GvHD symptoms (Liu et al., 2020). Regarding adenosine metabolism, it has been observed in a humanized GvHD mouse model that MSC-EVs can transfer CD73 to CD39 enzyme on the surface of tissue-infiltrating Th1 cells, thus inducing a significant production of adenosine that eventually reduces CD39 expression, enhances apoptosis of adenosine A2A receptor-expressing Th1 cells, and downregulates IFN- γ and TNF- α expression, without inducing Tregs (Amarnath et al., 2015). The involvement of adenosine metabolism in T cell modulation was also confirmed by other groups (Kerkelä et al., 2016; Crain et al., 2018). Interestingly, the anti-GvHD function is restricted to MSC-EVs, as human dermal fibroblastderived EVs are devoid of these effects (Fujii et al., 2018). MSC-EV treatment was also tested in a therapy-refractory GvHD patient, who showed GvHD clinical symptoms improvement and remained stable for several months (Kordelas et al., 2014): MSC-EV preparations contained high concentrations of IL-10, TGF- β , and HLA-G that paralleled with the decrease in the number of both PBMCs releasing IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IFN- γ and stimulated NK cells releasing TNF α - or IFN- γ (Kordelas et al., 2014).

Unfortunately, not all EV preparations from MSCs are functionally equivalent (Madel et al., 2019). Therefore, it is necessary to characterize the functional activity of MSC-EV preparations and to identify predictive tests that may foresee the clinical benefit. Kordelas et al. (2019) proposed an in vitro assay to monitor the impact of different EV preparations from human donor bone marrow MSCs (BM-MSCs)-MSCs on T cell differentiation and corresponding cytokine production. Recently, a functional in vitro assay was suggested to assess the MSC-EV therapeutic dose (EV-TD) in vivo in a mouse model of aGvHD; EV-TD, associated with the improvement of mouse overall survival, corresponded to 10-fold the EV immunomodulatory functional unit (EV-IFU), i.e. the lowest concentration in vitro of resting MSC-EV-pool leading to at least threefold increase of Tregs compared to control (Dal Collo et al., 2020). Nevertheless, all these assays need to be validated in a large cohort of patients before being accepted as predictive methods of MSC-EV therapeutic efficacy.

Other clinical studies employing MSC-EVs as treatment of many diseases with inflammatory phenomena are reported on clinicaltrials.gov. According to our search, using the terms "mesenchymal extracellular vesicles" and "stromal extracellular vesicles," only three clinical studies have been registered concerning bronchopulmonary dysplasia (NCT03857841)¹, osteoarthritis (NCT04223622)², and dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa (NCT04173650)³. In particular, NCT03857841 study will employ UNEX-42, a preparation of EVs secreted from human BM-MSCs suspended in phosphate-buffered saline; NCT04223622 study will use the entire secretome or EVs derived

¹https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03857841

²https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/study/NCT04223622

³https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/study/NCT04173650

from adipogenic MSCs; and NCT04173650 study will employ AGLE-102, an allogeneic derived EV product derived from normal donor MSCs. However, all studies are currently ongoing and no clear-cut results have been reported so far.

CONCLUSION

Immunomodulatory capacity of MSCs is associated, at least in part, with the release of EVs. The ability of MSC-EVs to affect immune response, promoting immunotolerance in tissue microenvironment, opens new cues on intercellular communication through soluble factors and makes MSC-EVs a new promising therapeutic strategy for the treatment of many inflammatory disorders. Compared to cell therapy, EV treatment offers a number of advantages in terms of higher distribution in target organs, lower immunogenicity and tumorigenicity as well as easier handling and preparation procedures. Unfortunately, MSC-EVs can have variable biological effects on the same effector cell type depending on different factors, such as the quality of primary cells, MSC source, culture conditions,

REFERENCES

- Adamo, A., Brandi, J., Caligola, S., Delfino, P., Bazzoni, R., Carusone, R., et al. (2019). Extracellular vesicles mediate mesenchymal stromal cell-dependent regulation of B cell PI3K-AKT signaling pathway and actin cytoskeleton. *Front. Immunol.* 10:446. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00446
- Álvarez, V., Sánchez-Margallo, F. M., Macías-García, B., Gómez-Serrano, M., Jorge, I., Vázquez, J., et al. (2018). The immunomodulatory activity of extracellular vesicles derived from endometrial mesenchymal stem cells on CD4+ T cells is partially mediated by TGFbeta. J. Tissue Eng. Regen. Med. 12, 2088–2098. doi: 10.1002/term.2743
- Amarnath, S., Foley, J. E., Farthing, D. E., Gress, R. E., Laurence, A., Eckhaus, M. A., et al. (2015). Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells harness purinergenic signaling to tolerize human Th1 cells *in vivo. Stem Cells* 33, 1200–1212. doi: 10.1002/stem.1934
- Ankrum, J. A., Ong, J. F., and Karp, J. M. (2014). Mesenchymal stem cells: immune evasive, not immune privileged. Nat. Biotechnol. 32, 252–260. doi: 10.1038/nbt. 2816
- Ansboro, S., Roelofs, A. J., and De Bari, C. (2017). Mesenchymal stem cells for the management of rheumatoid arthritis: immune modulation, repair or both? *Curr. Opin. Rheumatol.* 29, 201–207. doi: 10.1097/BOR.00000000000 0370
- Bagno, L., Hatzistergos, K. E., Balkan, W., and Hare, J. M. (2018). Mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy for cardiovascular disease: progress and challenges. *Mol. Ther.* 26, 1610–1623. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.05.009
- Bai, L., Shao, H., Wang, H., Zhang, Z., Su, C., Dong, L., et al. (2017). Effects of mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes on experimental autoimmune uveitis. *Sci. Rep.* 7:4323. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-04559-y
- Balbi, C., Piccoli, M., Barile, L., Papait, A., Armirotti, A., Principi, E., et al. (2017). First characterization of human amniotic fluid stem cell extracellular vesicles as a powerful paracrine tool endowed with regenerative potential. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 6, 1340–1355. doi: 10.1002/sctm.16-0297
- Barrès, C., Blanc, L., Bette-Bobillo, P., André, S., Mamoun, R., Gabius, H. J., et al. (2010). Galectin-5 is bound onto the surface of rat reticulocyte exosomes and modulates vesicle uptake by macrophages. *Blood* 115, 696–705. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2009-07-231449
- Battistelli, M., and Falcieri, E. (2020). Apoptotic bodies: particular extracellular vesicles involved in intercellular communication. *Biology* 9:21. doi: 10.3390/ biology9010021
- Bier, A., Berenstein, P., Kronfeld, N., Morgoulis, D., Ziv-Av, A., Goldstein, H., et al. (2018). Placenta-derived mesenchymal stromal cells and their exosomes exert

preconditioning with inflammatory cytokines, cryopreservation methods, purification and quantification protocols, etc. (Théry et al., 2018). These premises, together with the lack of standardized approaches, specific dosing and defined quality controls for clinical use, require further investigations before transferring EV-based treatments from bench to bedside.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RB wrote the manuscript and prepared the figure. PT and IT critically revised the manuscript. MK planned and revised the final version of the manuscript. All authors approved the submitted version of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the Laboratorio Universitario di Ricerca Medica (L.U.R.M.) of University of Verona for its kindly support to our work.

therapeutic effects in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Biomaterials* 174, 67–78. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.04.055

- Blazquez, R., Sanchez-Margallo, F. M., de la Rosa, O., Dalemans, W., Alvarez, V., Tarazona, R., et al. (2014). Immunomodulatory potential of human adipose mesenchymal stem cells derived exosomes on *in vitro* stimulated T cells. *Front. Immunol.* 5:556. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00556
- Bouffi, C., Bony, C., Courties, G., Jorgensen, C., and Noël, D. (2010). IL-6-dependent PGE2 secretion by mesenchymal stem cells inhibits local inflammation in experimental arthritis. *PLoS One* 5:e14247. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0014247
- Budoni, M., Fierabracci, A., Luciano, R., Petrini, S., Di Ciommo, V., and Muraca, M. (2013). The immunosuppressive effect of mesenchymal stromal cells on B lymphocytes is mediated by membrane vesicles. *Cell Transplant.* 22, 369–379. doi: 10.3727/096368911X582769b
- Burrello, J., Monticone, S., Gai, C., Gomez, Y., Kholia, S., and Camussi, G. (2016). Stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles and immune-modulation. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 4:83. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2016.00083
- Camilleri, E. T., Gustafson, M. P., Dudakovic, A., Riester, S. M., Garces, C. G., Paradise, C. R., et al. (2016). Identification and validation of multiple cell surface markers of clinical-grade adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cells as novel release criteria for good manufacturing practicecompliant production. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 7:107. doi: 10.1186/s13287-016-0370-8
- Cao, L., Xu, H., Wang, G., Liu, M., Tian, D., and Yuan, Z. (2019). Extracellular vesicles derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells attenuate dextran sodium sulfate-induced ulcerative colitis by promoting M2 macrophage polarization. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 72, 264–274. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019. 04.020
- Carreras-Planella, L., Monguió-Tortajada, M., Borràs, F. E., and Franquesa, M. (2019). Immunomodulatory effect of MSC on B cells is independent of secreted extracellular vesicles. *Front. Immunol.* 10:1288. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01288
- Caruso, S., and Poon, I. K. H. (2018). Apoptotic cell-derived extracellular vesicles: more than just debris. *Front. Immunol.* 9:1486. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01486
- Caseiro, A. R., Santos Pedrosa, S., Ivanova, G., Vieira Branquinho, M., Almeida, A., Faria, F., et al. (2019). Mesenchymal Stem/ Stromal Cells metabolomic and bioactive factors profiles: a comparative analysis on the umbilical cord and dental pulp derived Stem/ Stromal Cells secretome. *PLoS One* 14:e0221378. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0221378
- Chen, Q., Duan, X., Xu, M., Fan, H., Dong, Y., Wu, H., et al. (2020). BMSC-EVs regulate Th17 cell differentiation in UC via H3K27me3. *Mol. Immunol.* 118, 191–200. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2019.12.019

- Chen, W., Huang, Y., Han, J., Yu, L., Li, Y., Lu, Z., et al. (2016). Immunomodulatory effects of mesenchymal stromal cells-derived exosome. *Immunol. Res.* 64, 831–840. doi: 10.1007/s12026-016-8798-6
- Cheung, T. S., Bertolino, G. M., Giacomini, C., Bornhäuser, M., Dazzi, F., and Galleu, A. (2020). Mesenchymal stromal cells for graft versus host disease: mechanism-based biomarkers. *Front. Immunol.* 11:1338. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2020.01338
- Chinnadurai, R., Copland, I. B., Ng, S., Garcia, M., Prasad, M., Arafat, D., et al. (2015). Mesenchymal stromal cells derived from Crohn's patients deploy indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-mediated immune suppression, independent of autophagy. *Mol. Ther.* 23, 1248–1261. doi: 10.1038/mt.2015.67
- Chiossone, L., Dumas, P.-Y., Vienne, M., and Vivier, E. (2018). Natural killer cells and other innate lymphoid cells in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 18, 671–688. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0061-z
- Chivet, M., Javalet, C., Laulagnier, K., Blot, B., Hemming, F. J., and Sadoul, R. (2014). Exosomes secreted by cortical neurons upon glutamatergic synapse activation specifically interact with neurons. J. Extracell. Vesicles 3:24722. doi: 10.3402/jev.v3.24722
- Cho, J., D'Antuono, M., Glicksman, M., Wang, J., and Jonklaas, J. (2018). A review of clinical trials: mesenchymal stem cell transplant therapy in type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Am. J. Stem Cells* 7, 82–93.
- Cho, K.-S., Kang, S. A., Kim, S.-D., Mun, S.-J., Yu, H. S., and Roh, H.-J. (2019). Dendritic cells and M2 macrophage play an important role in suppression of Th2-mediated inflammation by adipose stem cells-derived extracellular vesicles. *Stem Cell Res.* 39:101500. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2019.101500
- Christianson, H. C., Svensson, K. J., van Kuppevelt, T. H., Li, J. P., and Belting, M. (2013). Cancer cell exosomes depend on cell-surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans for their internalization and functional activity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 17380–17385. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1304266110
- Cocucci, E., and Meldolesi, J. (2015). Ectosomes and exosomes: shedding the confusion between extracellular vesicles. *Trends Cell Biol.* 25, 364–372. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2015.01.004
- Collin, M., McGovern, N., and Haniffa, M. (2013). Human dendritic cell subsets. *Immunology* 140, 22–30. doi: 10.1111/imm.12117
- Conforti, A., Scarsella, M., Starc, N., Giorda, E., Biagini, S., Proia, A., et al. (2014). Microvescicles derived from mesenchymal stromal cells are not as effective as their cellular counterpart in the ability to modulate immune responses *in vitro*. *Stem Cells Dev.* 23, 2591–2599. doi: 10.1089/scd.2014.0091
- Cosenza, S., Ruiz, M., Toupet, K., Jorgensen, C., and Noël, D. (2017). Mesenchymal stem cells derived exosomes and microparticles protect cartilage and bone from degradation in osteoarthritis. *Sci. Rep.* 7:16214. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-15376-8
- Cosenza, S., Toupet, K., Maumus, M., Luz-Crawford, P., Blanc-Brude, O., Jorgensen, C., et al. (2018). Mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes are more immunosuppressive than microparticles in inflammatory arthritis. *Theranostics* 8, 1399–1410. doi: 10.7150/thno.21072
- Costa Verdera, H., Gitz-Francois, J. J., Schiffelers, R. M., and Vader, P. (2017). Cellular uptake of extracellular vesicles is mediated by clathrin-independent endocytosis and macropinocytosis. J. Control. Release 266, 100–108. doi: 10. 1016/j.jconrel.2017.09.019
- Crain, S. K., Robinson, S. R., Thane, K. E., Davis, A. M., Meola, D. M., Barton, B. A., et al. (2018). Extracellular vesicles from wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells suppress CD4 expressing T cells through transforming growth factor beta and adenosine signaling in a canine model. *Stem Cells Dev.* 28, 212–226. doi: 10.1089/scd.2018.0097
- Cruz, F. F., Borg, Z. D., Goodwin, M., Sokocevic, D., Wagner, D. E., Coffey, A., et al. (2015). Systemic administration of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell extracellular vesicles ameliorates Aspergillus Hyphal extract-induced allergic airway inflammation in immunocompetent mice. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 4, 1302–1316. doi: 10.5966/sctm.2014-0280
- Dabrowska, S., Andrzejewska, A., Strzemecki, D., Muraca, M., Janowski, M., and Lukomska, B. (2019). Human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate neuroinflammation evoked by focal brain injury in rats. *J. Neuroinflammation* 16:216. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1602-5
- Dal Collo, G., Adamo, A., Gatti, A., Tamellini, E., Bazzoni, R., Takam Kamga, P., et al. (2020). Functional dosing of mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles for the prevention of acute graft-versus-host-disease. *Stem Cells* 38, 698–711. doi: 10.1002/stem.3160

- de Castro, L. L., Xisto, D. G., Kitoko, J. Z., Cruz, F. F., Olsen, P. C., Redondo, P. A. G., et al. (2017). Human adipose tissue mesenchymal stromal cells and their extracellular vesicles act differentially on lung mechanics and inflammation in experimental allergic asthma. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 8:151. doi: 10.1186/s13287-017-0600-8
- de Mayo, T., Conget, P., Becerra-Bayona, S., Sossa, C. L., Galvis, V., and Arango-Rodríguez, M. L. (2017). The role of bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cell derivatives in skin wound healing in diabetic mice. *PLoS One* 12:e0177533. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0177533
- Deatherage, B. L., and Cookson, B. T. (2012). Membrane vesicle release in bacteria, eukaryotes, and archaea: a conserved yet underappreciated aspect of microbial life. *Infect. Immun.* 80, 1948–1957. doi: 10.1128/IAI.06014-11
- Del Fattore, A., Luciano, R., Pascucci, L., Goffredo, B. M., Giorda, E., Scapaticci, M., et al. (2015). Immunoregulatory effects of mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles on T lymphocytes. *Cell Transplant.* 24, 2615–2627. doi: 10.3727/096368915X687543
- Deng, S., Zhou, X., Ge, Z., Song, Y., Wang, H., Liu, X., et al. (2019). Exosomes from adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate cardiac damage after myocardial infarction by activating S1P/SK1/S1PR1 signaling and promoting macrophage M2 polarization. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 114:105564. doi: 10. 1016/j.biocel.2019.105564
- Di Trapani, M., Bassi, G., Midolo, M., Gatti, A., Kamga, P. T., Cassaro, A., et al. (2016). Differential and transferable modulatory effects of mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles on T, B and NK cell functions. *Sci. Rep.* 6:24120. doi: 10.1038/srep24120
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 8, 315–317. doi: 10.1080/14653240600855905
- Du, W. J., Reppel, L., Leger, L., Schenowitz, C., Huselstein, C., Bensoussan, D., et al. (2016). Mesenchymal stem cells derived from human bone marrow and adipose tissue maintain their immunosuppressive properties after chondrogenic differentiation: role of HLA-G. *Stem Cells Dev.* 25, 1454–1469. doi: 10.1089/scd.2016.0022
- Du, Y. M., Zhuansun, Y. X., Chen, R., Lin, L., Lin, Y., and Li, J. G. (2018). Mesenchymal stem cell exosomes promote immunosuppression of regulatory T cells in asthma. *Exp. Cell Res.* 363, 114–120. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2017.12.021
- Duffy, M. M., Ritter, T., Ceredig, R., and Griffin, M. D. (2011). Mesenchymal stem cell effects on T-cell effector pathways. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 2:34. doi: 10.1186/scrt75
- Dufrane, D. (2017). Impact of age on human adipose stem cells for bone tissue engineering. *Cell Transplant.* 26, 1496–1504. doi: 10.1177/0963689717721203
- Elgaz, S., Kuçi, Z., Kuçi, S., Bönig, H., and Bader, P. (2019). Clinical use of mesenchymal stromal cells in the treatment of acute graft-versus-host disease. *Transfus. Med. Hemother.* 46, 27–34. doi: 10.1159/000496809
- Fan, L., Hu, C., Chen, J., Cen, P., Wang, J., and Li, L. (2016). Interaction between mesenchymal stem cells and B-cells. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 17:650. doi: 10.3390/ ijms17050650
- Fan, Y., Herr, F., Vernochet, A., Mennesson, B., Oberlin, E., and Durrbach, A. (2018). Human fetal liver mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes impair natural killer cell function. *Stem Cells Dev.* 28, 44–55. doi: 10.1089/scd.2018. 0015
- Farinazzo, A., Angiari, S., Turano, E., Bistaffa, E., Dusi, S., Ruggieri, S., et al. (2018). Nanovesicles from adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells inhibit T lymphocyte trafficking and ameliorate chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Sci. Rep.* 8:7473. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-25 676-2
- Favaro, E., Carpanetto, A., Caorsi, C., Giovarelli, M., Angelini, C., Cavallo-Perin, P., et al. (2016). Human mesenchymal stem cells and derived extracellular vesicles induce regulatory dendritic cells in type 1 diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* 59, 325–333. doi: 10.1007/s00125-015-3808-0
- Favaro, E., Carpanetto, A., Lamorte, S., Fusco, A., Caorsi, C., Deregibus, M. C., et al. (2014). Human mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles modulate T cell response to islet antigen glutamic acid decarboxylase in patients with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 57, 1664–1673. doi: 10.1007/s00125-014-3262-4
- Feng, D., Zhao, W. L., Ye, Y. Y., Bai, X. C., Liu, R. Q., Chang, L. F., et al. (2010). Cellular internalization of exosomes occurs through phagocytosis. *Traffic* 11, 675–687. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2010.01041.x

- Ferrara, J. L., Levine, J. E., Reddy, P., and Holler, E. (2009). Graft-versus-host disease. Lancet 373, 1550–1561. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(09)60237-3
- Fierabracci, A., Del Fattore, A., Luciano, R., Muraca, M., Teti, A., and Muraca, M. (2015). Recent advances in mesenchymal stem cell immunomodulation: the role of microvesicles. *Cell Transplant.* 24, 133–149. doi: 10.3727/ 096368913X675728
- Fiore, E., Domínguez, L. M., Bayo, J., Malvicini, M., Atorrasagasti, C., Rodriguez, M., et al. (2020). Human umbilical cord perivascular cells-derived extracellular vesicles mediate the transfer of IGF-I to the liver and ameliorate hepatic fibrogenesis in mice. *Gene Ther.* 27, 62–73. doi: 10.1038/s41434-019-0102-7
- Fitzner, D., Schnaars, M., van Rossum, D., Krishnamoorthy, G., Dibaj, P., Bakhti, M., et al. (2011). Selective transfer of exosomes from oligodendrocytes to microglia by macropinocytosis. *J. Cell Sci.* 124, 447–458. doi: 10.1242/jcs. 074088
- Forbes, G. M. (2017). Mesenchymal stromal cell therapy in Crohn's disease. *Dig. Dis.* 35, 115–122. doi: 10.1159/000449091
- Friedenstein, A. J., Piatetzky-Shapiro, I. I., and Petrakova, K. V. (1966). Osteogenesis in transplants of bone marrow cells. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 16, 381–390.
- Fujii, S., Miura, Y., Fujishiro, A., Shindo, T., Shimazu, Y., Hirai, H., et al. (2018). Graft-versus-host disease amelioration by human bone marrow mesenchymal stromal/stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles is associated with peripheral preservation of naive T cell populations. *Stem Cells* 36, 434–445. doi: 10.1002/ stem.2759
- Fukutake, M., Ochiai, D., Masuda, H., Abe, Y., Sato, Y., Otani, T., et al. (2019). Human amniotic fluid stem cells have a unique potential to accelerate cutaneous wound healing with reduced fibrotic scarring like a fetus. *Hum. Cell* 32, 51–63. doi: 10.1007/s13577-018-0222-1
- Galleu, A., Riffo-Vasquez, Y., Trento, C., Lomas, C., Dolcetti, L., Cheung, T. S., et al. (2017). Apoptosis in mesenchymal stromal cells induces *in vivo* recipientmediated immunomodulation. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 9:eaam7828. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.aam7828
- Gao, F., Chiu, S. M., Motan, D. A., Zhang, Z., Chen, L., Ji, H. L., et al. (2016). Mesenchymal stem cells and immunomodulation: current status and future prospects. *Cell Death Dis.* 7:e2062. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2015.327
- Gill, S., Catchpole, R., and Forterre, P. (2019). Extracellular membrane vesicles in the three domains of life and beyond. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 43, 273–303. doi: 10.1093/femsre/fuy042
- Gould, S. J., and Raposo, G. (2013). As we wait: coping with an imperfect nomenclature for extracellular vesicles. J. Extracell. Vesicles 2:20389. doi: 10. 3402/jev.v2i0.20389
- Gouveia de Andrade, A. V., Bertolino, G., Riewaldt, J., Bieback, K., Karbanová, J., Odendahl, M., et al. (2015). Extracellular vesicles secreted by bone marrow- and adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stromal cells fail to suppress lymphocyte proliferation. *Stem Cells Dev.* 24, 1374–1376. doi: 10.1089/scd.2014.0563
- Grange, C., Tapparo, M., Tritta, S., Deregibus, M. C., Battaglia, A., Gontero, P., et al. (2015). Role of HLA-G and extracellular vesicles in renal cancer stem cell-induced inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation. *BMC Cancer* 15:1009. doi: 10.1186/s12885-015-2025-z
- Guo, L., Lai, P., Wang, Y., Huang, T., Chen, X., Luo, C., et al. (2019). Extracellular vesicles from mesenchymal stem cells prevent contact hypersensitivity through the suppression of Tc1 and Th1 cells and expansion of regulatory T cells. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 74:105663. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019.05.048
- Haddad, R., and Saldanha-Araujo, F. (2014). Mechanisms of T-cell immunosuppression by mesenchymal stromal cells: what do we know so far? *Biomed Res. Int.* 2014:216806. doi: 10.1155/2014/216806
- Hai, B., Shigemoto-Kuroda, T., Zhao, Q., Lee, R. H., and Liu, F. (2018). Inhibitory Effects of iPSC-MSCs and their extracellular vesicles on the onset of sialadenitis in a mouse model of Sjögren's syndrome. *Stem Cells Int.* 2018:2092315. doi: 10.1155/2018/2092315
- Hall, S. R., Tsoyi, K., Ith, B., Padera, R. F. Jr., Lederer, J. A., Wang Z., et al. (2013). Mesenchymal stromal cells improve survival during sepsis in the absence of heme oxygenase-1: the importance of neutrophils. *Stem Cells* 31, 397–407. doi: 10.1002/stem.1270
- Hamilton, B. K. (2018). Current approaches to prevent and treat GVHD after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Hematology Am. Soc. Hematol. Educ. Program* 2018, 228–235. doi: 10.1182/asheducation-2018.1.228

- Hao, S., Bai, O., Li, F., Yuan, J., Laferte, S., and Xiang, J. (2007). Mature dendritic cells pulsed with exosomes stimulate efficient cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses and antitumour immunity. *Immunology* 120, 90–102. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567. 2006.02483.x
- Harting, M. T., Srivastava, A. K., Zhaorigetu, S., Bair, H., Prabhakara, K. S., Toledano Furman, N. E., et al. (2018). Inflammation-stimulated mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate inflammation. *Stem Cells* 36, 79–90. doi: 10.1002/stem.2730
- He, X., Dong, Z., Cao, Y., Wang, H., Liu, S., Liao, L., et al. (2019). MSC-derived exosome promotes M2 polarization and enhances cutaneous wound healing. *Stem Cells Int.* 2019;7132708. doi: 10.1155/2019/7132708
- Henao Agudelo, J. S., Braga, T. T., Amano, M. T., Cenedeze, M. A., Cavinato, R. A., Peixoto-Santos, A. R., et al. (2017). Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived microvesicles regulate an internal pro-inflammatory program in activated macrophages. *Front. Immunol.* 8:881. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00881
- Hill, L., Alousi, A., Kebriaei, P., Mehta, R., Rezvani, K., and Shpall, E. (2018). New and emerging therapies for acute and chronic graft versus host disease. *Ther. Adv. Hematol.* 9, 21–46. doi: 10.1177/2040620717741860
- Horibe, S., Tanahashi, T., Kawauchi, S., Murakami, Y., and Rikitake, Y. (2018). Mechanism of recipient cell-dependent differences in exosome uptake. *BMC Cancer* 18:47. doi: 10.1186/s12885-017-3958-1
- Hyvärinen, K., Holopainen, M., Skirdenko, V., Ruhanen, H., Lehenkari, P., Korhonen, M., et al. (2018). Mesenchymal stromal cells and their extracellular vesicles enhance the anti-inflammatory phenotype of regulatory macrophages by downregulating the production of interleukin (IL)-23 and IL-22. *Front. Immunol.* 9:771. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00771
- Jamil, M. O., and Mineishi, S. (2015). State-of-the-art acute and chronic GVHD treatment. *Int. J. Hematol.* 101, 452–466. doi: 10.1007/s12185-015-1785-1
- Ji, L., Bao, L., Gu, Z., Zhou, Q., Liang, Y., Zheng, Y., et al. (2019). Comparison of immunomodulatory properties of exosomes derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells and dental pulp stem cells. *Immunol. Res.* 67, 432–442. doi: 10.1007/s12026-019-09088-6
- Jiang, L., Zhang, S., Hu, H., Yang, J., Wang, X., Ma, Y., et al. (2019). Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells alleviate acute liver failure by reducing the activity of the NLRP3 inflammasome in macrophages. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 508, 735–741. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.11.189
- Kang, H., Lee, M.-J., Park, S. J., and Lee, M.-S. (2018). Lipopolysaccharidepreconditioned periodontal ligament stem cells induce M1 polarization of macrophages through extracellular vesicles. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:3843. doi: 10. 3390/ijms19123843
- Kerkelä, E., Laitinen, A., Räbinä, J., Valkonen, S., Takatalo, M., Larjo, A., et al. (2016). Adenosinergic immunosuppression by human mesenchymal stromal cells requires co-operation with T cells. *Stem Cells* 34, 781–790. doi: 10.1002/ stem.2280
- Khare, D., Or, R., Resnick, I., Barkatz, C., Almogi-Hazan, O., and Avni, B. (2018). Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived exosomes affect mRNA expression and function of B-Lymphocytes. *Front. Immunol.* 9:3053. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 03053
- Kilpinen, L., Impola, U., Sankkila, L., Ritamo, I., Aatonen, M., Kilpinen, S., et al. (2013). Extracellular membrane vesicles from umbilical cord blood-derived MSC protect against ischemic acute kidney injury, a feature that is lost after inflammatory conditioning. *J. Extracell. Vesicles* 2:21927. doi: 10.3402/jev.v2i0. 21927
- Ko, S.-F., Yip, H.-K., Zhen, Y.-Y., Lee, C.-C., Lee, C.-C., Huang, C.-C., et al. (2015). Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell exosomes suppress hepatocellular carcinoma growth in a rat model: apparent diffusion coefficient, Natural Killer T-Cell Responses, and Histopathological Features. *Stem Cells Int.* 2015:853506. doi: 10.1155/2015/853506
- Koch, M., Lemke, A., and Lange, C. (2015). Extracellular vesicles from MSC modulate the immune response to renal allografts in a MHC disparate rat model. *Stem Cells Int.* 2015:486141. doi: 10.1155/2015/486141
- Kordelas, L., Rebmann, V., Ludwig, A. K., Radtke, S., Ruesing, J., Doeppner, T. R., et al. (2014). MSC-derived exosomes: a novel tool to treat therapy-refractory graft-versus-host disease. *Leukemia* 28, 970–973. doi: 10.1038/leu.2014.41
- Kordelas, L., Schwich, E., Dittrich, R., Horn, P. A., Beelen, D. W., Borger, V., et al. (2019). Individual immune-modulatory capabilities of MSC-derived extracellular vesicle (EV) preparations and recipient-dependent responsiveness. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:1642. doi: 10.3390/ijms20071642

- Kraitchman, D. L., Tatsumi, M., Gilson, W. D., Ishimori, T., Kedziorek, D., Walczak, P., et al. (2005). Dynamic imaging of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells trafficking to myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 112, 1451–1461. doi: 10. 1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.537480
- Krampera, M. (2011). Mesenchymal stromal cell 'licensing': a multistep process. Leukemia 25, 1408–1414. doi: 10.1038/leu.2011.108
- Kumar, B. V., Connors, T. J., and Farber, D. L. (2018). Human T cell development, localization, and function throughout life. *Immunity* 48, 202–213. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2018.01.007
- Lai, P., Chen, X., Guo, L., Wang, Y., Liu, X., Liu, Y., et al. (2018). A potent immunomodulatory role of exosomes derived from mesenchymal stromal cells in preventing cGVHD. J. Hematol. Oncol. 11:135. doi: 10.1186/s13045-018-0680-7
- Lai, R. C., Tan, S. S., Yeo, R. W., Choo, A. B., Reiner, A. T., Su, Y., et al. (2016). MSC secretes at least 3 EV types each with a unique permutation of membrane lipid, protein and RNA. J. Extracell. Vesicles 5:29828. doi: 10.3402/jev.v5.29828
- Lankford, K. L., Arroyo, E. J., Nazimek, K., Bryniarski, K., Askenase, P. W., and Kocsis, J. D. (2018). Intravenously delivered mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes target M2-type macrophages in the injured spinal cord. *PLoS One* 13:e0190358. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0190358
- Le Blanc, K., Frassoni, F., Ball, L., Locatelli, F., Roelofs, H., Lewis, I., et al. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of steroid-resistant, severe, acute graftversus-host disease: a phase II study. *Lancet* 371, 1579–1586. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(08)60690-X
- Lee, S. S., Won, J. H., Lim, G. J., Han, J., Lee, J. Y., Cho, K. O., et al. (2019). A novel population of extracellular vesicles smaller than exosomes promotes cell proliferation. *Cell Commun. Signal.* 17:95. doi: 10.1186/s12964-019-0401-z
- Li, J., Xue, H., Li, T., Chu, X., Xin, D., Xiong, Y., et al. (2019). Exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells attenuate the progression of atherosclerosis in ApoE-/- mice via miR-let7 mediated infiltration and polarization of M2 macrophage. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 510, 565–572. doi: 10.1016/j. bbrc.2019.02.005
- Li, X., Liu, L., Yang, J., Yu, Y., Chai, J., Wang, L., et al. (2016). Exosome derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell mediates MiR-181c attenuating burn-induced excessive inflammation. *EBioMedicine* 8, 72–82. doi: 10.1016/j. ebiom.2016.04.030
- Liu, F., Qiu, H., Xue, M., Zhang, S., Zhang, X., Xu, J., et al. (2019). MSCsecreted TGF-β regulates lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophage M2-like polarization via the Akt/FoxO1 pathway. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 10:345. doi: 10. 1186/s13287-019-1447-y
- Liu, W., Zhou, N., Wang, P., Liu, Y., Zhang, W., and Li, X. (2020). MiR-223 Derived from Mesenchymal Stem Cell Exosomes Alleviates Acute Graft-Versus-Host Disease. PREPRINT (Version 1). Available online at: https://doi.org/10. 21203/rs.3.rs-28347/v1 (accessed May 19, 2020).
- Liu, Y., Lou, G., Li, A., Zhang, T., Qi, J., Ye, D., et al. (2018). AMSCderived exosomes alleviate lipopolysaccharide/d-galactosamine-induced acute liver failure by miR-17-mediated reduction of TXNIP/NLRP3 inflammasome activation in macrophages. *EBioMedicine* 36, 140–150. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom. 2018.08.054
- Lo Sicco, C., Reverberi, D., Balbi, C., Ulivi, V., Principi, E., Pascucci, L., et al. (2017). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles as mediators of anti-inflammatory effects: endorsement of macrophage polarization. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 6, 1018–1028. doi: 10.1002/sctm.16-0363
- Lohan, P., Treacy, O., Griffin, M. D., Ritter, T., and Ryan, A. E. (2017). Antidonor immune responses elicited by allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells and their extracellular vesicles: Are we still learning? *Front. Immunol.* 8:1626. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01626
- Lu, Z., Chang, W., Meng, S., Xu, X., Xie, J., Guo, F., et al. (2019). Mesenchymal stem cells induce dendritic cell immune tolerance via paracrine hepatocyte growth factor to alleviate acute lung injury. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 10:372. doi: 10.1186/s13287-019-1488-2
- Ma, D., Xu, K., Zhang, G., Liu, Y., Gao, J., Tian, M., et al. (2019). Immunomodulatory effect of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells on T lymphocytes in rheumatoid arthritis. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 74:105687. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019.105687
- Madel, R., Börger, V., Bremer, M., Horn, P., Baba, H. A., Brandau, S., et al. (2019). MSC-EVs protect mice from graft-versus-host disease pathology in a

preparation dependent manner. Cytotherapy 21(5, Suppl.):S57. doi: 10.1016/j. jcyt.2019.03.429

- Marinaro, F., Gómez-Serrano, M., Jorge, I., Silla-Castro, J. C., Vázquez, J., Sánchez-Margallo, F. M., et al. (2019). Unraveling the molecular signature of extracellular vesicles from endometrial-derived mesenchymal stem cells: potential modulatory effects and therapeutic applications. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* 7:431. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2019.00431
- Marquez-Curtis, L. A., Janowska-Wieczorek, A., McGann, L. E., and Elliott, J. A. W. (2015). Mesenchymal stromal cells derived from various tissues: biological, clinical and cryopreservation aspects. *Cryobiology* 71, 181–197. doi: 10.1016/ j.cryobiol.2015.07.003
- Martin, R. K., Brooks, K. B., Henningsson, F., Heyman, B., and Conrad, D. H. (2014). Antigen transfer from exosomes to dendritic cells as an explanation for the immune enhancement seen by IgE immune complexes. *PLoS One* 9:e110609. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0110609
- Mastrolia, I., Foppiani, E. M., Murgia, A., Candini, O., Samarelli, A. V., Grisendi, G., et al. (2019). Challenges in clinical development of mesenchymal stromal/stem cells: concise review. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 8, 1135–1148. doi: 10.1002/sctm.19-0044
- Matsushita, T. (2019). Regulatory and effector B cells: Friends or foes? J. Dermatol. Sci. 93, 2–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2018.11.008
- Mokarizadeh, A., Delirezh, N., Morshedi, A., Mosayebi, G., Farshid, A. A., and Mardani, K. (2012). Microvesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells: potent organelles for induction of tolerogenic signaling. *Immunol. Lett.* 147, 47–54. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2012.06.001
- Moll, G., Geißler, S., Catar, R., Ignatowicz, L., Hoogduijn, M. J., Strunk, D., et al. (2016). Cryopreserved or fresh mesenchymal stromal cells: Only a matter of taste or key to unleash the full clinical potential of MSC therapy? *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 951, 77–98. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-45457-3_7
- Monguió-Tortajada, M., Roura, S., Gálvez-Montón, C., Pujal, J. M., Aran, G., Sanjurjo, L., et al. (2017). Nanosized UCMSC-derived extracellular vesicles but not conditioned medium exclusively inhibit the inflammatory response of stimulated T cells: implications for nanomedicine. *Theranostics* 7, 270–284. doi: 10.7150/thno.16154
- Montecalvo, A., Larregina, A. T., Shufesky, W. J., Stolz, D. B., Sullivan, M. L. G., Karlsson, J. M., et al. (2012). Mechanism of transfer of functional microRNAs between mouse dendritic cells via exosomes. *Blood* 119, 756–766. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2011-02-338004
- Morelli, A. E., Larregina, A. T., Shufesky, W. J., Sullivan, M. L. G., Stolz, D. B., Papworth, G. D., et al. (2004). Endocytosis, intracellular sorting, and processing of exosomes by dendritic cells. *Blood* 104, 3257–3266. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-03-0824
- Moretta, A., Marcenaro, E., Parolini, S., Ferlazzo, G., and Moretta, L. (2008). NK cells at the interface between innate and adaptive immunity. *Cell Death Differ*. 15, 226–233. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4402170
- Morrison, T. J., Jackson, M. V., Cunningham, E. K., Kissenpfennig, A., McAuley, D. F., O'Kane, C. M., et al. (2017). Mesenchymal stromal cells modulate macrophages in clinically relevant lung injury models by extracellular vesicle mitochondrial transfer. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 196, 1275–1286. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201701-01700C
- Mou, S., Zhou, M., Li, Y., Wang, J., Yuan, Q., Xiao, P., et al. (2019). Extracellular vesicles from human adipose-derived stem cells for the improvement of angiogenesis and fat-grafting application. *Plast. Reconstr. Surg.* 144, 869–880. doi: 10.1097/prs.000000000006046
- Nawaz, M., and Fatima, F. (2017). Extracellular vesicles, tunneling nanotubes, and cellular interplay: synergies and missing links. *Front. Mol. Biosci.* 4:50. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2017.00050
- Németh, K., Leelahavanichkul, A., Yuen, P. S. T., Mayer, B., Parmelee, A., Doi, K., et al. (2009). Bone marrow stromal cells attenuate sepsis via prostaglandin E(2)dependent reprogramming of host macrophages to increase their interleukin-10 production. *Nat. Med.* 15, 42–49. doi: 10.1038/nm.1905
- Nguyen, D. C., Lewis, H. C., Joyner, C., Warren, V., Xiao, H., Kissick, H. T., et al. (2018). Extracellular vesicles from bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells support ex vivo survival of human antibody secreting cells. *J. Extracell. Vesicles* 7:1463778. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2018.146 3778
- Nojehdehi, S., Soudi, S., Hesampour, A., Rasouli, S., Soleimani, M., and Hashemi, S. M. (2018). Immunomodulatory effects of mesenchymal stem cell-derived

exosomes on experimental type-1 autoimmune diabetes. J. Cell. Biochem. 119:9433. doi: 10.1002/jcb.27260

- Pachón-Peña, G., Serena, C., Ejarque, M., Petriz, J., Duran, X., Oliva-Olivera, W., et al. (2016). Obesity determines the immunophenotypic profile and functional characteristics of human mesenchymal stem cells from adipose tissue. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 5, 464–475. doi: 10.5966/sctm.2015-0161
- Patente, T. A., Pinho, M. P., Oliveira, A. A., Evangelista, G. C. M., Bergami-Santos, P. C., and Barbuto, J. A. M. (2019). Human dendritic cells: their heterogeneity and clinical application potential in cancer immunotherapy. *Front. Immunol.* 9:3176. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.03176
- Petri, R. M., Hackel, A., Hahnel, K., Dumitru, C. A., Bruderek, K., Flohe, S. B., et al. (2017). Activated tissue-resident mesenchymal stromal cells regulate natural killer cell immune and tissue-regenerative function. *Stem Cell Rep.* 9, 985–998. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.06.020
- Phinney, D. G., Di Giuseppe, M., Njah, J., Sala, E., Shiva, S., St Croix, C. M., et al. (2015). Mesenchymal stem cells use extracellular vesicles to outsource mitophagy and shuttle microRNAs. *Nat. Commun.* 6:8472. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms9472
- Pittenger, M. F., Discher, D. E., Péault, B. M., Phinney, D. G., Hare, J. M., and Caplan, A. I. (2019). Mesenchymal stem cell perspective: cell biology to clinical progress. *NPJ Regen. Med.* 4:22. doi: 10.1038/s41536-019-0083-6
- Pokrywczynska, M., Rasmus, M., Jundzill, A., Balcerczyk, D., Adamowicz, J., Warda, K., et al. (2019). Mesenchymal stromal cells modulate the molecular pattern of healing process in tissue-engineered urinary bladder: the microarray data. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 10:176. doi: 10.1186/s13287-019-1266-1
- Prada, I., Gabrielli, M., Turola, E., Iorio, A., D'Arrigo, G., Parolisi, R., et al. (2018). Glia-to-neuron transfer of miRNAs via extracellular vesicles: a new mechanism underlying inflammation-induced synaptic alterations. *Acta Neuropathol.* 135, 529–550. doi: 10.1007/s00401-017-1803-x
- Rahman, M. J., Regn, D., Bashratyan, R., and Dai, Y. D. (2014). Exosomes released by islet-derived mesenchymal stem cells trigger autoimmune responses in NOD mice. *Diabetes* 63, 1008–1020. doi: 10.2337/db13-0859
- Rai, A. K., and Johnson, P. J. (2019). Trichomonas vaginalis extracellular vesicles are internalized by host cells using proteoglycans and caveolin-dependent endocytosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 116, 21354–21360. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1912356116
- Rani, S., Ryan, A. E., Griffin, M. D., and Ritter, T. (2015). Mesenchymal stem cellderived extracellular vesicles: toward cell-free therapeutic applications. *Mol. Ther.* 23, 812–823. doi: 10.1038/mt.2015.44
- Raposo, G., Nijman, H. W., Stoorvogel, W., Liejendekker, R., Harding, C. V., Melief, C. J., et al. (1996). B lymphocytes secrete antigen-presenting vesicles. *J. Exp. Med.* 183, 1161–1172. doi: 10.1084/jem.183.3.1161
- Ratajczak, J., Wysoczynski, M., Hayek, F., Janowska-Wieczorek, A., and Ratajczak, M. Z. (2006). Membrane-derived microvesicles: important and underappreciated mediators of cell-to-cell communication. *Leukemia* 20, 1487– 1495. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404296
- Reis, M., Mavin, E., Nicholson, L., Green, K., Dickinson, A. M., and Wang, X. N. (2018). Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate dendritic cell maturation and function. *Front. Immunol.* 9:2538. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2018.02538
- Riekstina, U., Muceniece, R., Cakstina, I., Muiznieks, I., and Ancans, J. (2008). Characterization of human skin-derived mesenchymal stem cell proliferation rate in different growth conditions. *Cytotechnology* 58, 153–162. doi: 10.1007/ s10616-009-9183-2
- Romani, R., Pirisinu, I., Calvitti, M., Pallotta, M. T., Gargaro, M., Bistoni, G., et al. (2015). Stem cells from human amniotic fluid exert immunoregulatory function via secreted indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase1. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 19, 1593–1605. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.12534
- Ryan, J. M., Barry, F., Murphy, J. M., and Mahon, B. P. (2007). Interferon-gamma does not break, but promotes the immunosuppressive capacity of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 149, 353–363. doi: 10.1111/j. 1365-2249.2007.03422.x
- Salvadori, M., Cesari, N., Murgia, A., Puccini, P., Riccardi, B., and Dominici, M. (2019). Dissecting the pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of MSCs to overcome limitations in their clinical translation. *Mol. Ther. Methods Clin. Dev.* 14, 1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.omtm.2019.05.004

- Sato, K., Ozaki, K., Oh, I., Meguro, A., Hatanaka, K., Nagai, T., et al. (2006). Nitric oxide plays a critical role in suppression of T-cell proliferation by mesenchymal stem cells. *Blood* 109, 228–234. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-02-002246
- Scarfe, L., Taylor, A., Sharkey, J., Harwood, R., Barrow, M., Comenge, J., et al. (2018). Non-invasive imaging reveals conditions that impact distribution and persistence of cells after *in vivo* administration. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 9:332. doi: 10.1186/s13287-018-1076-x
- Seo, Y., Kim, H.-S., and Hong, I.-S. (2019). Stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles as immunomodulatory therapeutics. *Stem Cells Int.* 2019, 5126156. doi: 10. 1155/2019/5126156
- Serejo, T. R. T., Silva-Carvalho, A. É., Braga, L. D. C. F., Neves, F. A. R., Pereira, R. W., Carvalho, J. L., et al. (2019). Assessment of the immunosuppressive potential of INF-γ licensed adipose mesenchymal stem cells, their secretome and extracellular vesicles. *Cells* 8:22. doi: 10.3390/cells8010022
- Shahir, M., Mahmoud Hashemi, S., Asadirad, A., Varahram, M., Kazempour-Dizaji, M., Folkerts, G., et al. (2020). Effect of mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes on the induction of mouse tolerogenic dendritic cells. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 235, 7043–7055. doi: 10.1002/jcp.29601
- Shao, L., Zhang, Y., Pan, X., Liu, B., Liang, C., Zhang, Y., et al. (2020). Knockout of beta-2 microglobulin enhances cardiac repair by modulating exosome imprinting and inhibiting stem cell-induced immune rejection. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 77, 937–952. doi: 10.1007/s00018-019-03220-3
- Shapouri-Moghaddam, A., Mohammadian, S., Vazini, H., Taghadosi, M., Esmaeili, S.-A., Mardani, F., et al. (2018). Macrophage plasticity, polarization, and function in health and disease. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 233, 6425–6440. doi: 10.1002/ jcp.26429
- Shen, B., Liu, J., Zhang, F., Wang, Y., Qin, Y., Zhou, Z., et al. (2016). CCR2 positive exosome released by mesenchymal stem cells suppresses macrophage functions and alleviates ischemia/reperfusion-induced renal injury. *Stem Cells Int.* 2016, 1240301. doi: 10.1155/2016/1240301
- Shigemoto-Kuroda, T., Oh, J. Y., Kim, D. K., Jeong, H. J., Park, S. Y., Lee, H. J., et al. (2017). MSC-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate immune responses in two autoimmune murine models: type 1 diabetes and uveoretinitis. *Stem Cell Rep.* 8, 1214–1225. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.04.008
- Shojaati, G., Khandaker, I., Funderburgh, M. L., Mann, M. M., Basu, R., Stolz, D. B., et al. (2019). Mesenchymal stem cells reduce corneal fibrosis and inflammation via extracellular vesicle-mediated delivery of miRNA. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 8, 1192–1201. doi: 10.1002/sctm.18-0297
- Silva, A. M., Teixeira, J. H., Almeida, M. I., Gonçalves, R. M., Barbosa, M. A., and Santos, S. G. (2017). Extracellular Vesicles: immunomodulatory messengers in the context of tissue repair/regeneration. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 98, 86–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2016.09.017
- Song, T., Eirin, A., Zhu, X., Zhao, Y., Krier James, D., Tang, H., et al. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles induce regulatory T cells to ameliorate chronic kidney injury. *Hypertension* 75, 1223–1232. doi: 10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.119.14546
- Song, Y., Dou, H., Li, X., Zhao, X., Li, Y., Liu, D., et al. (2017). Exosomal miR-146a contributes to the enhanced therapeutic efficacy of interleukin-1beta-primed mesenchymal stem cells against sepsis. *Stem Cells* 35, 1208–1221. doi: 10.1002/ stem.2564
- Spaggiari, G. M., Capobianco, A., Abdelrazik, H., Becchetti, F., Mingari, M. C., and Moretta, L. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit natural killer-cell proliferation, cytotoxicity, and cytokine production: role of indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase and prostaglandin E2. *Blood* 111, 1327–1333. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-02-074997
- Spinosa, M., Lu, G., Su, G., Bontha, S. V., Gehrau, R., Salmon, M. D., et al. (2018). Human mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate aortic aneurysm formation and macrophage activation via microRNA-147. FASEB J. 32:fj201701138RR. doi: 10.1096/fj.201701138RR
- Stephen, J., Bravo, E. L., Colligan, D., Fraser, A. R., Petrik, J., and Campbell, J. D. M. (2016). Mesenchymal stromal cells as multifunctional cellular therapeutics a potential role for extracellular vesicles. *Transfus. Apher. Sci.* 55, 62–69. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2016.07.011
- Svensson, K. J., Christianson, H. C., Wittrup, A., Bourseau-Guilmain, E., Lindqvist, E., Svensson, L. M., et al. (2013). Exosome uptake depends on ERK1/2-heat shock protein 27 signaling and lipid Raft-mediated endocytosis negatively regulated by caveolin-1. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 17713–17724. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M112.445403

- Szyska, M., and Na, I. K. (2016). Bone marrow GvHD after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Front. Immunol.* 7:118. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2016.00118
- Takeda, K., Webb, T. L., Ning, F., Shiraishi, Y., Regan, D. P., Chow, L., et al. (2018). Mesenchymal stem cells recruit CCR2(+) monocytes to suppress allergic airway inflammation. J. Immunol. 200, 1261–1269. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700562
- Tavakoli, S., Zamora, D., Ullevig, S., and Asmis, R. (2013). Bioenergetic profiles diverge during macrophage polarization: implications for the interpretation of 18F-FDG PET imaging of atherosclerosis. J. Nucl. Med. 54, 1661–1667. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.112.119099
- Teng, X., Chen, L., Chen, W., Yang, J., Yang, Z., and Shen, Z. (2015). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes improve the microenvironment of infarcted myocardium contributing to angiogenesis and anti-inflammation. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 37, 2415–2424. doi: 10.1159/000438594
- Théry, C., Witwer, K. W., Aikawa, E., Alcaraz, M. J., Anderson, J. D., Andriantsitohaina, R., et al. (2018). Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. J. Extracell. Vesicles 7:1535750. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2018.153 5750
- Ti, D., Hao, H., Tong, C., Liu, J., Dong, L., Zheng, J., et al. (2015). LPSpreconditioned mesenchymal stromal cells modify macrophage polarization for resolution of chronic inflammation via exosome-shuttled let-7b. *J. Transl. Med.* 13:308. doi: 10.1186/s12967-015-0642-6
- Tian, T., Zhu, Y. L., Zhou, Y. Y., Liang, G. F., Wang, Y. Y., Hu, F. H., et al. (2014). Exosome uptake through clathrin-mediated endocytosis and macropinocytosis and mediating miR-21 delivery. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 22258–22267. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M114.588046
- Toubai, T., Sun, Y., and Reddy, P. (2008). GVHD pathophysiology: is acute different from chronic? *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Haematol.* 21, 101–117. doi: 10. 1016/j.beha.2008.02.005
- Tyndall, A., and Dazzi, F. (2008). Chronic GVHD as an autoimmune disease. *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Haematol.* 21, 281–289. doi: 10.1016/j.beha.2008.03.003
- van den Akker, F., Vrijsen, K. R., Deddens, J. C., Buikema, J. W., Mokry, M., van Laake, L. W., et al. (2018). Suppression of T cells by mesenchymal and cardiac progenitor cells is partly mediated via extracellular vesicles. *Heliyon* 4:e00642. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2018.e00642
- van Hoeven, V., Munneke, J. M., Cornelissen, A. S., Omar, S. Z., Spruit, M. J., Kleijer, M., et al. (2018). Mesenchymal stromal cells stimulate the proliferation and IL-22 production of group 3 innate lymphoid cells. *J. Immunol.* 201, 1165–1173. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700901
- Ventura Ferreira, M. S., Bienert, M., Müller, K., Rath, B., Goecke, T., Opländer, C., et al. (2018). Comprehensive characterization of chorionic villi-derived mesenchymal stromal cells from human placenta. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 9:28. doi: 10.1186/s13287-017-0757-1
- Wang, J., Ren, H., Yuan, X., Ma, H., Shi, X., and Ding, Y. (2018). Interleukin-10 secreted by mesenchymal stem cells attenuates acute liver failure through inhibiting pyroptosis. *Hepatol. Res.* 48, E194–E202. doi: 10.1111/hepr.12969
- Wang, L., Gu, Z., Zhao, X., Yang, N., Wang, F., Deng, A., et al. (2016). Extracellular vesicles released from human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stromal cells prevent life-threatening acute graft-versus-host disease in a mouse model of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Stem Cells Dev.* 25, 1874–1883. doi: 10.1089/scd.2016.0107
- Wang, X., Gu, H., Qin, D., Yang, L., Huang, W., Essandoh, K., et al. (2015). Exosomal miR-223 contributes to mesenchymal stem cell-elicited cardioprotection in polymicrobial sepsis. *Sci. Rep.* 5:13721. doi: 10.1038/ srep13721
- Ware, M. J., Tinger, S., Colbert, K. L., Corr, S. J., Rees, P., Koshkina, N., et al. (2015). Radiofrequency treatment alters cancer cell phenotype. *Sci. Rep.* 5:12083. doi: 10.1038/srep12083
- Wen, D., Peng, Y., Liu, D., Weizmann, Y., and Mahato, R. I. (2016). Mesenchymal stem cell and derived exosome as small RNA carrier and Immunomodulator to improve islet transplantation. *J. Control. Release* 238, 166–175. doi: 10.1016/j. jconrel.2016.07.044
- Willis, G. R., Fernandez-Gonzalez, A., Anastas, J., Vitali, S. H., Liu, X., Ericsson, M., et al. (2017). Mesenchymal stromal cell exosomes ameliorate experimental bronchopulmonary dysplasia and restore lung function through macrophage immunomodulation. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 197, 104–116. doi: 10.1164/ rccm.201705-0925OC

- Woo, C. H., Kim, H. K., Jung, G. Y., Jung, Y. J., Lee, K. S., Yun, Y. E., et al. (2020). Small extracellular vesicles from human adipose-derived stem cells attenuate cartilage degeneration. *J. Extracell. Vesicles* 9:1735249. doi: 10.1080/20013078. 2020.1735249
- Wu, X.-Q., Yan, T.-Z., Wang, Z.-W., Wu, X., Cao, G.-H., and Zhang, C. (2017). BM-MSCs-derived microvesicles promote allogeneic kidney graft survival through enhancing micro-146a expression of dendritic cells. *Immunol. Lett.* 191, 55–62. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2017.09.010
- Xu, R., Zhang, F., Chai, R., Zhou, W., Hu, M., Liu, B., et al. (2019). Exosomes derived from pro-inflammatory bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells reduce inflammation and myocardial injury via mediating macrophage polarization. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 23, 7617–7631. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.14635
- Yang, Y., Hong, Y., Cho, E., Kim, G. B., and Kim, I.-S. (2018). Extracellular vesicles as a platform for membrane-associated therapeutic protein delivery. J. Extracell. Vesicles 7:1440131. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2018.1440131
- Yen, B. L., Yen, M. L., Hsu, P. J., Liu, K. J., Wang, C. J., Bai, C. H., et al. (2013). Multipotent human mesenchymal stromal cells mediate expansion of myeloidderived suppressor cells via hepatocyte growth factor/c-met and STAT3. *Stem Cell Rep.* 1, 139–151. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2013.06.006
- Yu, B., Shao, H., Su, C., Jiang, Y., Chen, X., Bai, L., et al. (2016). Exosomes derived from MSCs ameliorate retinal laser injury partially by inhibition of MCP-1. *Sci. Rep.* 6:34562. doi: 10.1038/srep34562
- Yuan, X., Li, D., Chen, X., Han, C., Xu, L., Huang, T., et al. (2017). Extracellular vesicles from human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stromal cells (hiPSC-MSCs) protect against renal ischemia/reperfusion injury via delivering specificity protein (SP1) and transcriptional activating of sphingosine kinase 1 and inhibiting necroptosis. *Cell Death Dis.* 8:3200. doi: 10.1038/s41419-017-0041-4
- Yukawa, H., Watanabe, M., Kaji, N., Okamoto, Y., Tokeshi, M., Miyamoto, Y., et al. (2012). Monitoring transplanted adipose tissue-derived stem cells combined with heparin in the liver by fluorescence imaging using quantum dots. *Biomaterials* 33, 2177–2186. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011. 12.009
- Zaborowski, M. P., Balaj, L., Breakefield, X. O., and Lai, C. P. (2015). Extracellular vesicles: composition, biological relevance, and methods of study. *Bioscience* 65, 783–797. doi: 10.1093/biosci/biv084
- Zech, D., Rana, S., Büchler, M. W., and Zöller, M. (2012). Tumor-exosomes and leukocyte activation: an ambivalent crosstalk. *Cell Commun. Signal.* 10:37. doi: 10.1186/1478-811x-10-37
- Zeiser, R., and Blazar, B. R. (2017). Acute graft-versus-host disease biologic process, prevention, and therapy. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 377, 2167–2179. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMra1609337
- Zhang, B., Yeo, R. W. Y., Lai, R. C., Sim, E. W. K., Chin, K. C., and Lim, S. K. (2018a). Mesenchymal stromal cell exosome-enhanced regulatory T-cell production through an antigen-presenting cell-mediated pathway. *Cytotherapy* 20, 687–696. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2018.02.372
- Zhang, B., Yin, Y., Lai, R. C., Tan, S. S., Choo, A. B. H., and Lim, S. K. (2013). Mesenchymal stem cells secrete immunologically active exosomes. *Stem Cells Dev.* 23, 1233–1244. doi: 10.1089/scd.2013.0479
- Zhang, L., and Wang, C. C. (2014). Inflammatory response of macrophages in infection. *Hepatobiliary Pancreat. Dis. Int.* 13, 138–152. doi: 10.1016/s1499-3872(14)60024-2
- Zhang, Q., Fu, L., Liang, Y., Guo, Z., Wang, L., Ma, C., et al. (2018b). Exosomes originating from MSCs stimulated with TGF-β and IFN-γ promote Treg differentiation. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 233, 6832–6840. doi: 10.1002/jcp.26436
- Zhang, W., Ge, W., Li, C., You, S., Liao, L., Han, Q., et al. (2004). Effects of mesenchymal stem cells on differentiation, maturation, and function of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 13, 263–271. doi: 10.1089/ 154732804323099190
- Zhao, H., Shang, Q., Pan, Z., Bai, Y., Li, Z., Zhang, H., et al. (2018). Exosomes from adipose-derived stem cells attenuate adipose inflammation and obesity through polarizing M2 macrophages and beiging in white adipose tissue. *Diabetes* 67, 235–247. doi: 10.2337/db17-0356
- Zheng, Y., Dong, C., Yang, J., Jin, Y., Zheng, W., Zhou, Q., et al. (2019). Exosomal microRNA-155-5p from PDLSCs regulated Th17/Treg balance by targeting sirtuin-1 in chronic periodontitis. J. Cell. Physiol. 234, 20662–20674. doi: 10. 1002/jcp.28671
- Zhuansun, Y., Du, Y., Huang, F., Lin, L., Chen, R., Jiang, S., et al. (2019). MSCs exosomal miR-1470 promotes the differentiation of CD4+CD25+FOXP3+

Tregs in asthmatic patients by inducing the expression of P27KIP1. Int. Immunopharmacol. 7:105981. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019.105981

- Zou, X., Gu, D., Zhang, G., Zhong, L., Cheng, Z., Liu, G., et al. (2016). NK cell regulatory property is involved in the protective role of MSC-derived extracellular vesicles in renal ischemic reperfusion injury. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 27, 926–935. doi: 10.1089/hum.20 16.057
- Zou, X., Zhang, G., Cheng, Z., Yin, D., Du, T., Ju, G., et al. (2014). Microvesicles derived from human Wharton's Jelly mesenchymal stromal cells ameliorate renal ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats by suppressing CX3CL1. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 5:40. doi: 10.1186/scrt428

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Bazzoni, Takam Kamga, Tanasi and Krampera. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Amnion-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cell Exosomes-Mediated Autophagy Promotes the Survival of Trophoblasts Under Hypoxia Through mTOR Pathway by the Downregulation of EZH2

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Antonio Salgado, University of Minho, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Daniela Palacios, Santa Lucia Foundation (IRCCS), Italy Belém Sampaio-Marques, University of Minho, Portugal

*Correspondence:

Yuxiang Huang huangyuxiang@abmd.cn Yuanhua Ye yeyuanhua8067@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 26 March 2020 Accepted: 21 October 2020 Published: 11 November 2020

Citation:

Chu Y, Chen W, Peng W, Liu Y, Xu L, Zuo J, Zhou J, Zhang Y, Zhang N, Li J, Liu L, Yao K, Gao G, Wang X, Han R, Liu C, Li Y, Zhou H, Huang Y and Ye Y (2020) Amnion-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cell Exosomes-Mediated Autophagy Promotes the Survival of Trophoblasts Under Hypoxia Through mTOR Pathway by the Downregulation of EZH2. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:545852. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.545852 Yijing Chu^{1†}, Weiping Chen^{1†}, Wei Peng¹, Yong Liu², Lin Xu¹, Jianxin Zuo¹, Jun Zhou¹, Yan Zhang¹, Ning Zhang¹, Jing Li¹, Ling Liu¹, Ke Yao¹, Guoqiang Gao¹, Xiaofei Wang¹, Rendong Han¹, Chong Liu¹, Yan Li¹, Huansheng Zhou¹, Yuxiang Huang^{3*} and Yuanhua Ye^{1*}

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, The Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University, Qingdao, China, ² Department of Anesthesiology, The Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University, Qingdao, China, ³ Allcare Biomedical Development, Qingdao, China

Human amnion-derived mesenchymal stem cells (AD-MSCs) have been reported as a promising effective treatment to repair tissue. Trophoblast dysfunction during pregnancy is significantly involved in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia (PE). To understand how AD-MSCs regulated trophoblast function, we treated trophoblasts with AD-MSCderived exosomes under hypoxic conditions. The treatment markedly enhanced the trophoblast proliferation and autophagy. Furthermore, significant decrease of EZH2 levels and inactivation of mTOR signaling were observed in AD-MSC exosomestreated trophoblasts. Consistent with these findings, overexpression of EZH2 activated the mTOR signaling in trophoblasts, and reduced the autophagy and survival of trophoblasts, even in the presence of AD-MSC-derived exosomes. In addition, EZH2 inhibition exhibited the same trophoblast autophagy-promoting effect as induced by AD-MSC-derived exosomes, also accompanied by the inactivation of mTOR signaling. Importantly, when EZH2 was overexpressed in trophoblasts treated with PQR620, a specific mTOR signaling inhibitor, the autophagy and proliferation in trophoblasts were decreased. Studies on human placental explants also confirmed our findings by showing that the expression levels of EZH2 and mTOR were decreased while the autophagy-associated protein level was increased by AD-MSC-derived exosome treatment. In summary, our results suggest that EZH2-dependent mTOR signaling inactivation mediated by AD-MSC-derived exosomes is a prerequisite for autophagy augmentation in hypoxic trophoblasts.

Keywords: chorionic villous-derived mesenchymal stem cells, trophoblasts, autophagy, EZH2, mTOR signaling

INTRODUCTION

Preeclampsia (PE) is a hypertensive disorder during pregnancy, and is associated with substantial maternal and perinatal complications (Hladunewich et al., 2007; Rana et al., 2019). It is deemed to be one of the main causes of fetal and maternal death and morbidity across the world, and is reported to have a 2-8% incidence among pregnancies, particularly in the developing countries (Tranquilli et al., 2012). Despite the considerable efforts on its study, the etiology of PE has not vet been clear. At present, uteroplacental malperfusion caused by the trophoblast invasion failure and transformation of spiral arteries is considered as an important cause for this disorder (Ridder et al., 2019). In addition, aberrant placental implantation can cause increased oxidative stress and hypoxia, which leads to inflammation and antiangiogenic protein release (Mol et al., 2016). Ischemia and hypoxia in trophoblasts are important pathological manifestations of PE.

Autophagy is a mechanism that maintains homeostasis through degradation of malfunctioned organelles, redundant molecules and invasive pathogens by lysosomes (Kang et al., 2020). Autophagy also plays important roles in intracellular signaling pathways regulating cell proliferation, differentiation, and replicative senescence (Mo et al., 2020). Under stress conditions such as malnourishment, hypoxia and starvation, autophagy would be activated to provide nutrients and energy to the cells (Mizushima and Komatsu, 2011; Ho et al., 2017). Due to the hypoxic and ischemic responses associated with PE, placental trophoblasts in individuals with PE are more reliant on autophagy for survival than normal cells (Nakashima et al., 2019a,b). Autophagy is crucial in many tissues, including that in placenta (Menikdiwela et al., 2020). It protects syncytiotrophoblasts from apoptosis, infection, and inflammation in the human placenta (Zenclussen et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2019), but many questions remain regarding the exact etiology and precise pathogenic mechanisms in the autophagic flux.

EZH2 is a bona fide histone methyltransferase, methylating histone 3 at lysine 27 (H3K27) and leading to a selective suppression of transcription by changing the chromatin conformation (Aalia Batool and Liu, 2019). Due to its histone methyltransferase activity, epigenetic mechanisms are often cited in explaining the biological consequences following its suppression or overexpression (Huang et al., 2014; Mu et al., 2017). The role of EZH2 in cancer progression and malignancy has been extensively studied in the last decade (Liu et al., 2018; Emran et al., 2019). Moreover, growing evidences demonstrate that downregulation of EZH2 was essential for inducing autophagy and apoptosis in many types of cancer cells (Xue et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2020). However, the exact role EZH2 plays in trophoblastic autophagy has not been fully elucidated.

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are versatile cells that can be differentiated into various specialized cells including osteoblasts, scleroblasts, chondrocytes, and adipocytes (Ridge et al., 2017). AD-MSCs have similar phenotypic and functional characteristics to other kinds of MSC (Umezawa et al., 2019). An extra beneficial characteristic of MSC is its capability to attenuate inflammation and tissue ischemia (Bianco et al., 2008; Mazini et al., 2020). These characteristics could be favorable for therapeutic placental villi remodeling and for promoting placental development. Many studies have suggested that AD-MSCs can promote angiogenesis through paracrine effects and potentially participate in placental pathologies in the vascular system, including PE as well as fetal growth restriction (MacDonald and Barrett, 2019). However, currently there is no information on the roles of AD-MSCs in the autophagic capacity of extravillous trophoblasts (EVTs).

In this study, the effects of AD-MSC-derived exosomes on the proliferative capacities of the trophoblast cell lines JEG-3 and HTR-8 were studied. In addition to increasing the proliferative capacities, AD-MSC-derived exosomes significantly enhanced autophagy in the trophoblasts under hypoxic conditions. The transcriptome analysis showed considerable downregulation of the enhancer of zeste 2 polycomb repressive complex 2 subunit (EZH2) and mTOR signaling pathway in trophoblasts treated with treated with AD-MSC-derived exosomes; mTOR was putatively recognized as an upstream inhibitor of autophagy under hypoxic conditions.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell Culture

Placentas were obtained from full-term births after a cesarean section (n = 3) with parental permission. Every procedure was conducted in accordance with the ethical protocols of The Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University, China. Amnions were separated from term placentas. Primary AD-MSCs were extracted from term amnion. AD-MSCs were isolated, cultured and characterized as published (Konig et al., 2012; König et al., 2015). All AD-MSCs were used at passages 3–5 in this study. The isolated cells were plated on culture plates in stem cell culture medium (SCCM), which contained Stem Cell Basic Medium (Dakewe Biotech Co., Guangzhou, China) and 5% UltraGROTM (Helios, United States). An incubator with a temperature of 37°C and 5% CO₂ was used to culture The primary cells were cultured in an incubator at 37°C in an atmosphere of 5% CO₂.

The JEG-3 and HTR-8 cells obtained from the Type Culture Collection of China Centre were subjected to culture and then used for experiments. DMEM/F12 containing 10% FBS was used to culture all three trophoblast cell lines in an incubator at 37° C and in an atmosphere of 5% CO₂. The medium was changed when the confluency reached 50%. The cells were subjected to incubation for a set of time at 37° C, and the humidified atmosphere of the incubator contained 93% N₂, 5% CO₂, and 2% O₂ (Invivo2 Hypoxia Workstation, Ruskinn Technology, Leeds, West Yorkshire, United Kingdom). For each experiment, the cells were subjected to culture in triplicate.

AD-MSC Identification

Flow cytometry (with antibodies obtained from eBioscience, San Diego, CA, United States, including CD34, CD105, CD73, CD90, CD44, CD45, IG1, and HLA-DR) was used to examine the expression of cell markers in AD-MSCs (passage 3); these markers included positive markers (CD44, CD73, CD90, and CD105) and negative markers (CD34, CD45, CD146, IG1, and HLA-DR).

Moreover, AD-MSCs from normal placentas or placentas with severe PE could differentiate into osteoblasts as well as adipocytes; therefore, we assessed their differentiation capability. AD-MSCs cultured in 6-well plates were grown to approximately 70–80% confluency. Then, the AD-MSCs were cultured in differentiation medium (osteogenic or adipogenic) (Gibco, Carlsbad, CA, United States) for 3 weeks. Alizarin red S was used to stain the AD-MSCs to verify osteoblast differentiation; for adipocyte differentiation, oil red O was selected.

Exosome Isolation

Exosomes were obtained from epidural AD-MSC supernatants by differential centrifugation. The medium was discarded when AD-MSCs reached 70% confluency. Then, the cells were cultured in serum-free DMEM/F12 for another 24 h. The supernatants were collected and then cleared by sequential centrifugation at $15,000 \times g$ for 30 min or $3,000 \times g$ for 30 min. The supernatants were ultracentrifuged at $120,000 \times g$ for 2 h after being filtrated through 0.22-mm filters (Millipore, Billerica, MA, United States). The exosomes were rinsed by sterile PBS and collected several times. The exosome concentrations were determined with a Pierce BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

Electron Microscopy

In approximately 10 min, almost 50 μ l of prepared exosomes were adsorbed and placed onto formvar carbon-coated 300mesh copper grids. Then, the adsorbed exosomes were dried at room temperature for 30 min and negatively dyed with 3% phosphotungstic acid. Later, by using a transmission electron microscope (Olympus Software Imaging Solutions) at 120.0 kV, the exosomes were examined. Moreover, a digital camera was used to capture images of the exosomes.

Antibodies and Reagents

We purchased anti-microtubule-associated protein LC3, P62, CD63, and BECN1 (beclin1, an autophagosome initiator) antibodies from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MI, United States). Cell Signaling Technology (Danvers, MA, United States) provided the following antibodies: anti-EZH2 (#5246), anti-mTOR (#2983), anti-p-mTOR (#5536), anti-S6K1 (#2708), anti-p-S6K1 (#9204), anti-TSG101 (#28405), and anti-Ki67 (#9449). GSK126 (EZH2inhibitor) (10 μ M), PQR620 (50 nM) and bafilomycin A1 (Baf A1, an autophagosome-lysosome fusion inhibitor) (100 nM) were purchased from MedChem Express (Monmouth Junction, NJ, United States). EZH2 plasmids were purchased from Shanghai Genechem Co., Ltd.

Quantitative Real-Time PCR

AD-MSC-derived exosomes (10 μ g/ml) was used to treat JEG-3, and HTR-8 cells for 24 h. Then, we isolated the total RNA from the trophoblasts with TRIzol Reagent (Takara, Japan). After that, a reverse transcription kit (Invitrogen) was used to synthesize complementary DNA. Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and Gene-specific TaqMan probes (Applied Biosystems) were used

to carry out quantitative real-time PCR (RT-PCR) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The expression of each target gene was normalized to GAPDH expression. We used TaqMan probes for EZH2 (Hs00544830_m1), mTOR (Hs00234508_m1), S6K1 (Hs00356367_m1), and GAPDH (Hs02786624_g1), and conducted three separate reactions for each marker.

RNA Interference

Short interfering RNA (siRNA) oligonucleotide duplexes targeting EZH2 used in this study were synthesized and purified by RiboBio (Ribobio Co., Guangzhou, China). The sequences are as follows: siEZH2 #1: 5'-GCUGGAAUCAAAGGAUACA-3'; siEZH2 #2: 5'-GCGTTTCTTGTATCGGGAAAT-3'. A nonsense siRNA with no homology to the known genes in human cells was used as negative control: 5'–UUC UCC GAA CGUGUC ACG UTT-3'. Transfections of siRNA in trophoblasts were performed by using Lipofectamine 2,000 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, United States) according to the manufacturer's instructions, and the knockdown efficiency was verified 48 h after transfection. All the siRNAs were used at a final concentration of 100 nM.

Construction of Vectors

To make EZH2 constructs and its mutants, the human EZH2 gene was amplified by PCR and cloned into the SgfI/MluI sites of the pCMV6-Entry vector (Life Technologies).

Cell Proliferation Analysis

We added trophoblasts to ninety-six-well plates (density: 5,000 cells per well), cultured these cells, and measured trophoblast proliferation daily via CCK-8 assays (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States). We added CCK-8 reagent to each well, and cultured the trophoblasts for another 1.5 h. Then, colorimetric assays were performed by measuring the absorbance [optical density (OD) value] of each well in a microplate reader (wavelength: 450 nm). The growth curves were ascertained in three separate experiments.

EdU Assay

According to the manufacturer's instructions (Guangzhou RiboBio, Guangzhou, China), 5-Ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine (EdU) assays were conducted by using a Cell-Light EdU *in vitro* flow cytometry kit. In brief, in a 6-well plate cells were cultured overnight, with a 20-min incubation with EdU followed. Then, they were fixed with 70% ethanol at -20° C overnight and washed twice with PBS. Later, the cells were stained with a FITC-conjugated secondary antibody at ambient temperature for 1 h and denatured in 2 N HCl for 45 min. Moreover, with 40 g/ml RNase A and 200 g/ml PI, the cells were incubated for 30 min and finally analyzed by flow cytometry.

Western Blotting

Trophoblasts were lysed on ice for 12 min with RIPA buffer (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, United States). After centrifugation at 12,000 \times *g*, the cell lysates were treated with LDS sample buffer. SDS-PAGE was used to separate the protein mixtures, which were then electro-transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF)

membrane (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, United States). Next, 5% skim milk was used to block the membrane.

Subsequently, primary rabbit monoclonal antibodies against human LC3, BECN1, P62, EZH2, mTOR, p-mTOR, S6K1, and p-S6K1 (1:1,000 dilution) or β -actin (same dilution; Proteintech, Chicago, IL, United States) were incubated with the blocked membranes. Then, secondary antibodies were incubated with the membranes (1:1,000; CST, Danvers, MA, United States). The protein-antibody complexes were detected and quantified by using a chemiluminescence detection system (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, United States).

Placental Explant Culture

All placentas were collected after operation, treated within 30 min and closely examined for any visible abnormalities. After thorough rinsing with PBS 3 times to remove the maternal blood, the placental villous tissues were chopped into 8-mm³ pieces (2 mm \times 2 mm). DMEM/F12 (4 ml per well) with 1% penicillin/streptomycin and amphotericin B (Gibco, Carlsbad, CA, United States) was used to culture the placental explants in six-well dishes (Corning) in a hypoxic incubator for 48 h at 37°C in an atmosphere of 2% oxygen. After AD-MSC-derived exosomes treatment for 24 h, PBS was used to rinse the explants; after that, they were frozen in liquid nitrogen.

Immunohistochemistry

Paraformaldehyde (4%) was used to fix the human term placental explants for 60 min. We embedded the tissues in paraffin, sliced them into 4-µm sections, and deparaffinized them. Then, the slides were boiled in 6.0 pH sodium citrate buffer (10 mM) for 7 min at 120°C for antigen retrieval. Hydrogen peroxide was used to block endogenous peroxidase for 10 min. We subsequently washed the slides three times for 5 min each with TBS (containing 0.05% Tween 20) (TBS/T; Merck; Darmstadt, Germany); later, these slides were incubated with monoclonal anti-EZH2 antibodies (1:200) for 12 h at 4°C. Diluted biotinlabeled secondary antibodies were incubated with these sections for 20 min at 37°C. We visualized the target proteins via fresh DAB solution and used hematoxylin as a tissue counterstain. Using an optical microscope (Olympus FV500, Tokyo, Japan), the expression of the target proteins was assessed by two observers independently. The staining area and intensity in five different random regions (200× magnification) were analyzed with Image-Pro Plus 5.1 to assess the protein expression levels.

Immunofluorescence

Trophoblasts were cultured with or without purified AD-MSCderived exosomes for 24 h (10 μ g/ml). Then, all the cells were gathered and separated, and later for 60 min, they were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde. The fixed cells were cut into 4- μ m sections and embedded in paraffin. Later, they were washed in PBS for three times and blocked with 10% goat serum for 1 h. After that in 0.2% Triton X-100 the sections were washed twice. Next, they were incubated with primary antibodies (anti-LC3-II and anti-tubulin were purchased from Abcam, Cambridge, MA, United States), secondary antibodies (Invitrogen) and DAPI (Guangzhou RiboBio, Guangzhou, China). Using a fluorescence microscope, images were captured.

Statistical Analysis

One-way ANOVA or two-tailed Student's *t*-test was adopted to carry out statistical analysis; the data are reported as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) from more than three experiments performed independently. If the *P* value was less than 0.05, it indicated a statically significant difference.

RESULTS

Proliferation and Autophagy Were Promoted in Trophoblasts by AD-MSCs Under Hypoxic Conditions

First, we isolated AD-MSCs from healthy placentas, and identified their multidirectional differentiation ability and surface marker expression (Supplementary Figures 1A,B). Then, we identified the exosomes isolated from AD-MSCs and observed the exosomes endocytosis in trophoblasts (Supplementary Figure 1C). Next, we used the CCK-8 assays, EdU assays, immunofluorescence and Western blotting to examine the proliferation and autophagy of trophoblasts treated with or without AD-MSC-derived exosomes under hypoxic conditions (Figures 1A-D). The AD-MSC-derived exosome-treated trophoblasts exhibited significantly higher proliferation rates than the untreated cells under hypoxic conditions (Figures 1A,B, all P < 0.001). To further verify the autophagy-promoting effect of AD-MSC-derived exosomes on trophoblasts, we examined the LC3-II/LC3-I ratio, BECN1 and P62 levels in trophoblasts treated with AD-MSC-derived exosomes by western blotting. The AD-MSC-derived exosometreated trophoblasts exhibited significantly higher levels of LC3 and BECN1 than the untreated cells (all P < 0.05), and the P62 levels of the two trophoblast cell lines was decreased after treatment with AD-MSC-derived exosomes (Figure 1C). According to the immunofluorescence assay results, AD-MSC-derived exosomes increased the staining intensity and area of punctate LC3-II in trophoblasts after 24 h of exposure to the hypoxic culture system (Figure 1D). These results indicated that the AD-MSCs promoted trophoblast proliferation and autophagy under hypoxic conditions by secreting exosomes.

The EZH2 Expression Was Underregulated in Trophoblasts by AD-MSC-Derived Exosome Treatment Under Hypoxic Conditions, Also Accompanied by the Inhibition of mTOR Pathway

To better understand the changes in trophoblasts that occurred after AD-MSC-derived exosome treatment, we compared the EZH2 levels in the two trophoblast cell



FIGURE 1 | AD-MSC-derived exosomes promote the autophagy and proliferation of trophoblasts in hypoxia condition. (A) Representative CCK-8 assay results for JEG-3 and HTR-8 cells are shown. Trophoblast cells were treated with AD-MSC exosomes under hypoxic conditions. (B) Representative EdU assay results for trophoblasts are shown. The histogram of EdU positive trophoblasts that treated with AD-MSC exosomes under hypoxic conditions was shown. (C) Whole cell lysates from trophoblast cells were subjected to western blotting to analyze and quantificate LC3, BECN1 and p62 levels. β -actin was included as a loading control. (D) Immunofluorescence analysis showed autophagosomes in the cytoplasm of trophoblast cells treated with AD-MSC exosomes under hypoxic conditions (scale bar, 25 µm). (E) Significant decreases in EZH2, mTOR and S6K1 mRNA levels were found in JEG-3 and HTR-8 cells treated with AD-MSC exosomes by qRT-PCR. (F) Whole cell lysates from trophoblast cells were subjected to western blotting to analyze EZH2, mTOR, S6K1, p-mTOR and p-S6K1 levels and quantificate EZH2 expression. β -actin was included as a loading control. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

lines cultured for 48 h with or without AD-MSC-derived exosomes under hypoxic conditions. The mRNA levels of EZH2 significantly decreased in trophoblasts treated with AD-MSC-derived exosomes (Figure 1E). Many researches have revealed that the mTOR pathway plays a vital role in intracellular metabolism regulation and could regulated by EZH2, suggesting that it is involved in regulating autophagy (Wei et al., 2016; Hu, 2019). Therefore, we examined whether the mTOR pathway could be regulated by the AD-MSCderived exosomes. Our results revealed that AD-MSC-derived exosome-treated trophoblasts (48 h treatment) exhibited lower mTOR and RPS6KB1 mRNA levels than untreated trophoblasts (Figure 1E). In consistence with the data of mRNA levels, the EZH2, p-mTOR and p-S6K1 protein levels were significantly decreased in AD-MSC-derived exosometreated trophoblasts compared to the control trophoblasts (Figure 1F and Supplementary Figure 2B). Our results suggested that the mTOR signaling pathway could be inhibited by AD-MSC-derived exosome treatment in trophoblasts under hypoxic conditions, which is also accompanied by decreased EZH2 expression.

The Downregulation of EZH2 Induced the Increase of Trophoblast Autophagy and mTOR Pathway Inhibition Under Hypoxic Conditions

After confirming that AD-MSC-derived exosomes activated autophagy and inhibited the EZH2 expression in trophoblasts, we investigated whether EZH2 could regulate the trophoblast autophagy. Trophoblasts were treated with the specific EZH2 inhibitor GSK126 and autophagy inhibitor Baf A1. The results confirmed the inhibiting effective concentration of GSK126 on the H3k27me3 levels in trophoblasts (Supplementary Figure 1D), and 10 µM GSK126 was used in further study. LC3-II/ LC3-I ratio and BECN1 levels in trophoblasts were significantly increased, P62 levels were decreased in the presence of GSK126 (10 µM), whether with or without AD-MSC-derived exosome. Meanwhile Baf A1 treatment increased LC3-II levels because of blocking autophagic flux (Figures 2A-C). In consistence with the data of LC3-II/ LC3-I ratio in Western blotting, GSK126 and ADSCs exosomes promote the LC3-II levels in trophoblasts by Immunofluorescence assays (Supplementary Figure 3A). In addition, we discovered that p-mTOR, p-RPS6KB1 and P62 protein levels decreased; and the LC3-II/LC3-I ratio and BECN1 level increased in the trophoblasts in the presence of GSK126 than in its absence. We studied the same parameters in cells treated with the EZH2 siRNA (Figures 3A-C and Supplementary Figure 3B). In addition, we examined the proliferation of trophoblasts treated with EZH2 inhibitor or transfected with EZH2 siRNA in the presence of AD-MSC-derived exosome or Baf A1, and found that the trophoblast proliferation had the same change curve as the autophagy activity (Figures 2D,E, 3D,E).

The EZH2 Overexpression in Trophoblasts Inhibited Autophagy and Activated mTOR Pathway Under Hypoxic Conditions

First, we confirmed that the overexpression plasmids of EZH2 could elevate the EZH2 mRNA levels in trophoblasts (Figure 4A). To determine whether the EZH2 plasmids present in trophoblasts were responsible for the observed effects, we examined the mTOR signaling and autophagy-related proteins in trophoblasts treated with EZH2 plasmids and AD-MSCderived exosomes using Western blotting (Figures 4B,C and Supplementary Figures 2A, 3C). The results showed that the EZH2 overexpression attenuated the AD-MSC-derived exosomeinduced inhibition of mTOR signaling and decreased autophagy in trophoblasts. In addition, we examined the proliferation of trophoblasts treated with EZH2 overexpression plasmids in the presence of AD-MSC-derived exosome or Baf A1, and found that the trophoblast proliferation had the same change curve as the autophagy activity (Figures 4D,E). Thus, it revealed that EZH2 acted as a down-regulator of AD-MSC-derived exosome-induced autophagy and that mTOR signaling may act as an downstream autophagy inhibitor regulated by EZH2 in trophoblasts.

EZH2 Regulate Trophoblast Autophagy and Proliferation Through mTOR Signaling Pathway

To assess whether EZH2 mediated trophoblasts autophagy inhibition through the mTOR signaling pathway, the trophoblasts were transfected with EZH2-overexpression plasmids and treated with PQR620, a highly potent and selective mTOR inhibitor. Then, the expression levels of EZH2, mTOR and autophagy associated proteins in trophoblasts were evaluated by Western blotting. The Western blotting results confirmed that EZH2 overexpression in trophoblasts activated mTOR signaling and inhibited the autophagy in trophoblasts, and mTOR inhibitor attenuated the EZH2mediated autophagy inhibition (Figure 5A). Moreover, the proliferation assays suggested that EZH2 overexpression and mTOR signaling activation inhibited the trophoblast autophagy and proliferation, and PQR620 treatment reversed such inhibition (Figures 5B,C). These results indicates that EZH2 in trophoblasts may regulate their autophagy through the mTOR signaling pathway.

AD-MSC-Derived Exosome-Mediated EZH2 Inhibition Increased Autophagy in Placental Explants

Next, the data from trophoblasts were compared with those from placental explant cultures, which are *in vivo* models of trophoblasts in which villous trophoblasts remain in a natural environment and under more physiologically relevant conditions than the traditional cell culture. The human placental explants were incubated in DMEM/F12 under hypoxic condition and then cultured in a medium containing AD-MSC-derived exosomes



FIGURE 2 The inhibition of EZH2 induced the increase of trophoblast autophagy and inhibition of mTOR pathway under hypoxic conditions. **(A–C)** The protein expression level of LC3, BECN1 and P62 levels were examined in JEG-3 and HTR-8 cells treated with GSK126, AD-MSC exosomes or Baf A1 for 24 h by western blot. The protein expression levels were quantified by densitometry. **(D)** Cell proliferation was evaluated by a CCK-8 assay. The trophoblast cell lines were treated with GSK126 or Baf A1 and with or without AD-MSC exosomes under hypoxic conditions. **(E)** The EdU positive percent of trophoblast cell lines were tested under hypoxic conditions by flow cytometry. **P < 0.01, *P < 0.05, ***P < 0.001.

transfected with or without EZH2 overexpression plasmids for 48 h. The Western blotting assays were used to determine the levels of EZH2 and autophagy associated proteins in the placental explants. While autophagy levels were significantly increased in the AD-MSC-derived exosomes-treated placental explants, and plasmids transfection attenuated the increase. Moreover, compared to the control explants, the EZH2 levels showed significant decrease in AD-MSC exosomes treated explants, and the plasmids transfection could elevate the EZH2 expression in explants (**Figure 6A**). Additionally, the immunohistochemical analysis showed a reduced EZH2 intensity in the villous cytotrophoblasts in AD-MSC-derived exosome-treated placental explants (**Figure 6B**).

Taken together, these data suggest that AD-MSC-derived exosomes inhibit the EZH2 expression and mTOR signaling pathway, and increase autophagic activity in cultured placental explants.

DISCUSSION

The amnion is the innermost avascular layer of the embryonic membranes and is an important source of promising cells that have therapeutic value. It has been used to improve a variety of medical conditions such as ophthalmology, skin injuries, and premature ovarian insufficiency. Its therapeutic effects are attributed to its inflammation-counteracting and immunomodulatory properties. Although the exact mechanisms are not clear yet, factors secreted by AD-MSCs are suggested to be the great contributors. In spite of the fact that the pathological mechanism of PE is illusive, dysfunction and hypoxia in trophoblasts were thought to be associated with preeclamptic placentas (Nakashima et al., 2017a,b). In this study, we provide evidences that AD-MSC-derived exosome-mediated inhibition of EZH2 expression and mTOR signaling pathway is the main mechanisms of autophagic activity regulation in human



FIGURE 3 | The knockdown of EZH2 induced the increase of trophoblast autophagy and mTOR pathway inhibition under hypoxic conditions. (A) Significant decreases in EZH2, mTOR and S6K1 mRNA levels were tested in JEG-3 and HTR-8 cells transfected with EZH2 siRNA by qRT-PCR. (B,C) The trophoblast cell lines were transfected with a EZH2 siRNA under hypoxic conditions, and BECN1, P62 and LC3 expression levels were tested by western blotting analysis. Empty vector (scramble) cells served as controls. (D,E) Cell proliferation was evaluated by a CCK-8 assay and EdU flow cytometry. The two trophoblast cell lines were transfected with EZH2 siRNA with or without AD-MSC exosomes treatment under hypoxic conditions. **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01, ****P* < 0.001.

villous trophoblasts and that it improves trophoblast survival in hypoxia conditions.

Autophagy was once deemed to occur in cytoplasm; however, recently, more and more evidences suggest that nuclear machineries (transcription factors, histone modification, microRNAs, etc.) are also involved in autophagy regulation (Boban and Foisner, 2016). Among them, epigenetic autophagy regulation has been given lots of attention. The epigenetic machinery can both modulate autophagy-related genes directly and affect some signal transduction genes that can in turn regulate autophagy, thereby influencing their transcription and autophagy subsequently (Shin et al., 2016). The methylation of DNA and modifications of histone were considered to be involved in autophagy regulation recently (Fullgrabe et al., 2014). The overexpression of EZH2 has been observed in a variety of cancers, and was correlated to cancer progression, metastasis and poor prognosis in various cancer types (Gan et al., 2018). In recent time, it is found that EZH2 might make a great contribution in autophagy (Shin et al., 2016). Particularly, downregulation of EZH2 was found as an epigenetic modulator of autophagy by regulating the mTOR pathway in the colorectal carcinoma (Wei et al., 2016). However, the mechanism involved in the epigenetic regulation of autophagy in trophoblasts is far from being fully known.

The mechanistic target of rapamycin (formerly mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin) is a serine/threonine protein kinase that is evolutionarily conserved, playing a central role in regulating the cell growth, proliferation and survival, according to the condition of nutrition, signals of stress and growth factors. It is a crucial controller of fundamental biological



FIGURE 4 | EZH2 overexpression decreased trophoblast autophagy and proliferation through mTOR signaling pathway. (A) Significant increases in EZH2, mTOR and S6K1 mRNA were found in JEG-3 and HTR-8 cells transfected with EZH2 overexpression plasmid (EZH2) compared to empty vector (Vec)-transfected cells under hypoxic conditions by qRT-PCR. (B,C) The two trophoblast cell lines were transfected with EZH2 overexpression plasmid under hypoxic conditions, and BECN1, P62 and LC3 protein levels were tested by western blotting analysis. (D,E) Cell proliferation was evaluated by a CCK-8 assay and EdU flow cytometry. The trophoblast cell lines were transfected with a EZH2 overexpression plasmid or empty vector under hypoxic conditions. **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01, ****P* < 0.001.

processes including lipid and glucose metabolism, autophagy, apoptosis, etc. Many researches have identified mTOR as a vital autophagy regulator, and deregulations of the mTOR pathway have been found to be involved in various pathological failures. On a molecular basis, autophagy regulates several signaling pathways that determines the death or continued survival of cells; nevertheless, the relationship between autophagy, EZH2 and mTOR pathways in trophoblasts is still undecided. The fate of trophoblasts, which were involved in hypertensive diseases during pregnancy, was affected by the autophagy regulation by AD-MSC-derived exosomes. In this study, the EZH2 expression was found to be reduced in trophoblasts treated with AD-MSC-derived exosomes, accompanied by the inactivation of the mTOR signaling pathway. These findings confirmed the curative effects of AD-MSC secretions and provided a novel insight into potential PE therapies.

In summary, it is revealed in our study that AD-MSCs promote the trophoblast proliferation and autophagy under hypoxic conditions *in vitro*, partially due to inactivation of mTOR signaling induced by the EZH2 downregulation. However, it









remains unclear how AD-MSCs influence other types of placenta-based cells *in vitro* or even *in vivo*; thus, further studies are needed on whether AD-MSCs affect them similarly. More studies on how EZH2 regulates autophagy will be important for a thorough understanding of the PE pathogenesis.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YC, YH, and YY conceived and designed the experiments. WC, YoL, YZ, JuZ, and HZ performed the experiments. WP, LX, JiZ, NZ, GG, and XW collected the samples. LL, JL, RH, CL, and KY analyzed the data. YC, HZ, and YaL wrote the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Clinical Medicine+X Project of The Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University. The funders had no role in the study design, in the collection, analysis, and interpretation of the data, or in writing the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Aalia Batool, C. J., and Liu, Y.-X. (2019). Role of EZH2 in cell lineage determination and relative signaling pathways. *Front. Biosci.* 24:947–960. doi: 10.2741/4760
- Bianco, P., Robey, P. G., and Simmons, P. J. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells: revisiting history, concepts, and assays. *Cell Stem Cell* 2, 313–319. doi: 10.1016/ j.stem.2008.03.002
- Boban, M., and Foisner, R. (2016). Degradation-mediated protein quality control at the inner nuclear membrane. *Nucleus* 7, 41–49. doi: 10.1080/19491034.2016. 1139273
- Emran, A. A., Chatterjee, A., Rodger, E. J., Tiffen, J. C., Gallagher, S. J., Eccles, M. R., et al. (2019). Targeting DNA methylation and EZH2 activity to overcome melanoma resistance to immunotherapy. *Trends Immunol.* 40, 328–344. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2019.02.004
- Fullgrabe, J., Klionsky, D. J., and Joseph, B. (2014). The return of the nucleus: transcriptional and epigenetic control of autophagy. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 15, 65–74. doi: 10.1038/nrm3716

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, The Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University, Qingdao, China, for providing tissue samples.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcell.2020. 545852/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | Characterization of primary AD-MSCs derived from human placental tissues. (A) Representative photomicrographs of primary human AD-MSCs before confluence at passage 3. The cells were examined for osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation. Scale bar = $20 \,\mu$ m. (B) The purity of the isolated AD-MSCs and PE-AD-MSCs was examined by flow cytometry; AD-MSCs express CD44, CD73, CD90, and CD105, but lack CD34, CD45, CD146, IG1, and HLA-DR expression. (C) AD-MSC exosomes were visualized by electron microscopy (×30,000). Western blot examined the expression of exosomes marker TSG101 and CD63 in isolated AD-MSC exosomes. Typical imagines of internalizated exosomes derived from epidural AD-MSCs by trophoblasts JEG-3 at 4 h. Fluorescence microscopy images showing the internalization of exosomes by JEG-3 cells. Blue: Nucleus stained with DAPI. Red: PKH26-labeled exosomes. Scale bar: 50 μ m. (D) The protein levels of H3K27me3, H3K4me3, H3 and EZH2 in JEG-3 cell treated with GSK126 concentration gradient for 6 h.

Supplementary Figure 2 [Effect of EZH2 siRNA, EZH2 inhibitor and overexpression plasmids on the EZH2 and mTOR pathways proteins expression of trophoblasts by western blot. **(A)** Protein expression of EZH2, mTOR, S6K1, p-mTOR, and p-S6K1 was examined in JEG-3 and HTR-8 cells treated with EZH2 siRNA, EZH2 inhibitor or overexpression plasmids by western blotting. **(B)** The levels of mTOR, S6K1, p-mTOR, and p-S6K1 in **Figure 1F** were quantified by densitometry. Data represent mean \pm SD (error bars) of three independent experiments. ***P* < 0.01, ****P* < 0.001.

Supplementary Figure 3 | Levels of LC3-II in EZH2 siRNA, inhibitor and overexpression plasmids treated trophoblasts with or without ADSCs/Baf A1 by Immunofluorescence assays. (A) Expression of LC3-II in trophoblasts treated with GSK126, ADSCs exosomes and Baf A1 was examined by Immunofluorescence assays, and typical images were shown. (B) Expression of LC3-II in EZH2 siRNA transfected trophoblasts treated with or without ADSCs exosomes/Baf A1 was examined by Immunofluorescence assays, and typical images were shown. (C) Expression of LC3-II in EZH2 overexpression plasmids transfected trophoblasts treated with or without ADSCs exosomes/Baf A1 was examined by Immunofluorescence assays, and typical images were shown. (C) Expression of LC3-II in EZH2 overexpression plasmids transfected trophoblasts treated with or without ADSCs exosomes/Baf A1 was examined by Immunofluorescence assays, and typical images were shown. (C)

- Gan, L., Yang, Y., Li, Q., Feng, Y., Liu, T., and Guo, W. (2018). Epigenetic regulation of cancer progression by EZH2: from biological insights to therapeutic potential. *Biomark. Res.* 6:10. doi: 10.1186/s40364-018-0122-2
- Hladunewich, M., Karumanchi, S. A., and Lafayette, R. (2007). Pathophysiology of the clinical manifestations of preeclampsia. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 2, 543–549. doi: 10.2215/CJN.03761106
- Ho, T. T., Warr, M. R., Adelman, E. R., Lansinger, O. M., Flach, J., Verovskaya, E. V., et al. (2017). Autophagy maintains the metabolism and function of young and old stem cells. *Nature* 543, 205–210. doi: 10.1038/nature21388
- Hu, L.-F. (2019). Epigenetic regulation of autophagy. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 1206, 221–236. doi: 10.1007/978-981-15-0602-4_11
- Huang, X.-J., Wang, X., Ma, X., Sun, S.-C., Zhou, X., Zhu, C., et al. (2014). EZH2 is essential for development of mouse preimplantation embryos. *Reprod. Fertil. Dev.* 26, 1166–1175. doi: 10.1071/rd13169
- Kang, R., Zeh, H., Lotze, M., and Tang, D. (2020). "The multifaceted effects of autophagy on the tumor microenvironment," in *Tumor Microenvironment*:

Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, ed. A. Birbrair (Cham: Springer), 99–114. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-35727-6_7

- Konig, J., Huppertz, B., Desoye, G., Parolini, O., Fröhlich, J. D., Weiss, G., et al. (2012). Amnion-derived mesenchymal stromal cells show angiogenic properties but resist differentiation into mature endothelial cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 21, 1309–1320. doi: 10.1089/scd.2011.0223
- König, J., Weiss, G., Rossi, D., Wankhammer, K., Reinisch, A., Kinzer, M., et al. (2015). Placental mesenchymal stromal cells derived from blood vessels or avascular tissues: what is the better choice to support endothelial cell function? *Stem Cells Dev.* 24, 115–131. doi: 10.1089/scd.2014. 0115
- Liu, F., Sang, M., Meng, L., Gu, L., Liu, S., Li, J., et al. (2018). miR-92b promotes autophagy and suppresses viability and invasion in breast cancer by targeting EZH2. *Int. J. Oncol.* 53, 1505–1515. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2018.4486
- Liu, Z., Yang, L., Zhong, C., and Zhou, L. (2020). EZH2 regulates H2B phosphorylation and elevates colon cancer cell autophagy. J. Cell Physiol. 235, 1494–1503. doi: 10.1002/jcp.29069
- MacDonald, E. S., and Barrett, J. G. (2019). The potential of mesenchymal stem cells to treat systemic inflammation in horses. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 6:507. doi: 10. 3389/fvets.2019.00507
- Mazini, L., Rochette, L., Admou, B., Amal, S., and Malka, G. (2020). Hopes and limits of adipose-derived stem cells (ADSCs) and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in wound healing. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21:1306. doi: 10.3390/ijms21041306
- Menikdiwela, K. R., Ramalingam, L., Rasha, F., Wang, S., Dufour, J. M., Kalupahana, N. S., et al. (2020). Autophagy in metabolic syndrome: breaking the wheel by targeting the renin-angiotensin system. *Cell Death Dis.* 11:87. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-2275-9
- Mizushima, N., and Komatsu, M. (2011). Autophagy: renovation of cells and tissues. *Cell* 147, 728–741. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.10.026
- Mo, Y., Sun, Y. Y., and Liu, K. Y. (2020). Autophagy and inflammation in ischemic stroke. *Neural Regen. Res.* 15, 1388–1396. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.274331
- Mol, B. W. J., Roberts, C. T., Thangaratinam, S., Magee, L. A., de Groot, C. J. M., and Hofmeyr, G. J. (2016). Pre-eclampsia. *Lancet* 387, 999–1011. doi: 10.1016/ s0140-6736(15)00070-7
- Mu, W., Starmer, J., Shibata, Y., Yee, D., and Magnuson, T. (2017). EZH1 in germ cells safeguards the function of PRC2 during spermatogenesis. *Dev. Biol.* 424, 198–207. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2017.02.017
- Nakashima, A., Aoki, A., Kusabiraki, T., Cheng, S.-B., Sharma, S., and Saito, S. (2017a). Autophagy regulation in preeclampsia: pros and cons. J. Reprod. Immunol. 123, 17–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2017. 08.006
- Nakashima, A., Aoki, A., Kusabiraki, T., Shima, T., Yoshino, O., Cheng, S.-B., et al. (2017b). Role of autophagy in oocytogenesis, embryogenesis, implantation, and pathophysiology of pre-eclampsia. J. Obstetr. Gynaecol. Res. 43, 633–643. doi: 10.1111/jog.13292
- Nakashima, A., Higashisaka, K., Kusabiraki, T., Aoki, A., Ushijima, A., Ono, Y., et al. (2019a). Autophagy is a new protective mechanism against the cytotoxicity of platinum nanoparticles in human trophoblasts. *Sci. Rep.* 9:5478. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-019-41927-2

- Nakashima, A., Tsuda, S., Kusabiraki, T., Aoki, A., Ushijima, A., Shima, T., et al. (2019b). Current understanding of autophagy in pregnancy. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:2342. doi: 10.3390/ijms20092342
- Rana, S., Lemoine, E., Granger, J. P., and Karumanchi, S. A. (2019). Preeclampsia: pathophysiology, challenges, and perspectives. *Circ. Res.* 124, 1094–1112. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.313276
- Ridder, A., Giorgione, V., Khalil, A., and Thilaganathan, B. (2019). Preeclampsia: the relationship between uterine artery blood flow and trophoblast function. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:3263. doi: 10.3390/ijms20133263
- Ridge, S. M., Sullivan, F. J., and Glynn, S. A. (2017). Mesenchymal stem cells: key players in cancer progression. *Mol Cancer* 16:31. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0597-8
- Shin, H. R., Kim, H., Kim, K. I., and Baek, S. H. (2016). Epigenetic and transcriptional regulation of autophagy. *Autophagy* 12, 2248–2249. doi: 10. 1080/15548627.2016.1214780
- Tranquilli, A. L., Landi, B., Giannubilo, S. R., and Sibai, B. M. (2012). Preeclampsia: no longer solely a pregnancy disease. *Pregnancy Hypertens.* 2, 350–357. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2012.05.006
- Umezawa, A., Hasegawa, A., Inoue, M., Tanuma-Takahashi, A., Kajiwara, K., Makino, H., et al. (2019). Amnion-derived cells as a reliable resource for nextgeneration regenerative medicine. *Placenta* 84, 50–56. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta. 2019.06.381
- Wei, F.-Z., Cao, Z., Wang, X., Wang, H., Cai, M.-Y., Li, T., et al. (2016). Epigenetic regulation of autophagy by the methyltransferase EZH2 through an MTORdependent pathway. *Autophagy* 11, 2309–2322. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2015. 1117734
- Xue, H., Xu, Y., Wang, S., Wu, Z.-Y., Li, X.-Y., Zhang, Y.-H., et al. (2019). Sevoflurane post-conditioning alleviates neonatal rat hypoxic-ischemic cerebral injury via Ezh2-regulated autophagy. *Drug Des. Dev. Ther.* 13, 1691–1706. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S197325
- Zenclussen, A. C., Hutabarat, M., Wibowo, N., and Huppertz, B. (2017). The trophoblast survival capacity in preeclampsia. *PLoS One* 12:e0186909. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0186909
- Zhang, J., Li, M., Li, Z., Shi, J., Zhang, Y., Deng, X., et al. (2019). Deletion of the type IV secretion system effector VceA Promotes autophagy and inhibits Apoptosis in Brucella-infected human trophoblast cells. *Curr. Microbiol.* 76, 510–519. doi: 10.1007/s00284-019-01651-6

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Chu, Chen, Peng, Liu, Xu, Zuo, Zhou, Zhang, Zhang, Li, Liu, Yao, Gao, Wang, Han, Liu, Li, Zhou, Huang and Ye. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Molecular Pathways Modulated by Mesenchymal Stromal Cells and Their Extracellular Vesicles in Experimental Models of Liver Fibrosis

Giulia Chiabotto^{1,2}, Chiara Pasquino^{1,2}, Giovanni Camussi^{1,2} and Stefania Bruno^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Medical Sciences, University of Turin, Turin, Italy, ² Molecular Biotechnology Center, University of Turin, Turin, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Louis Casteilla, Université de Toulouse, France

Reviewed by:

Joseph Isaac Shapiro, Marshall University, United States Lindolfo da Silva Meirelles, Universidade Luterana do Brazil, Brazil

> *Correspondence: Stefania Bruno stefania.bruno@unito.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 14 August 2020 Accepted: 06 November 2020 Published: 08 December 2020

Citation:

Chiabotto G, Pasquino C, Camussi G and Bruno S (2020) Molecular Pathways Modulated by Mesenchymal Stromal Cells and Their Extracellular Vesicles in Experimental Models of Liver Fibrosis. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:594794. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.594794 End-stage liver fibrosis is common to all chronic liver diseases. Since liver transplantation has several limitations, including lack of donors, immunological rejection, and high medical costs, therapeutic alternatives are needed. The administration of mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) has been proven effective in tissue regeneration after damage. However, the risk of uncontrolled side effects, such as cellular rejection and tumorigenesis, should be taken into consideration. A safer alternative to MSC transplantation is represented by the MSC secretome, which retains the same beneficial effect of the cell of origin, without showing any considerable side effect. The paracrine effect of MSCs is mainly carried out by secreted particles in the nanometer range, known as extracellular vesicles (EVs) that play a fundamental role in intercellular communication. In this review, we discuss the current literature on MSCs and MSC-EVs, focusing on their potential therapeutic action in liver fibrosis and on their molecular content (proteins and RNA), which contributes in reverting fibrosis and prompting tissue regeneration.

Keywords: mesenchymal stem cell, collagen, α -SMA, hepatic stellate cell, fibrosis, inflammation, microvesicles, exosomes

Abbreviations: CLD, chronic liver disease; ECM, extracellular matrix; DAMPs, damage-associated molecular patterns; HSC, hepatic stellate cell; α-SMA, alpha-smooth muscle actin; EMT, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition; PDGF, plateletderived growth factor; TGF-β, transforming growth factor beta; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor alpha; IL, interleukin; CCL2, chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2; STAT, signal transducer and activator of transcription; PI3K, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase; MMP, metalloproteinase; TIMP, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase; SMAD, small mother against decapentaplegic; NASH, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis; MSC, mesenchymal stromal cell; EV, extracellular vesicle; HpSCs, hepatic stem/progenitor cells; CCl₄, carbon tetrachloride; BM-MSC, bone marrow-derived MSC; IFN-γ, interferon gamma; TAA, thioacetamide; PGE2, prostaglandin E2; IDO, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase; NO, nitric oxide; HFD, high fat diet; MCDD, methionine- and cholinedeficient diet; α-FP, alpha-fetoprotein; CK-18, cytokeratin-18; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; APAP, acetaminophen; hMSC-HC, human MSC differentiated into hepatocyte-like cell in vitro; hDPSC, human deciduous pulp stem cell; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; HGF, hepatocyte growth factor; UC-MSC, umbilical cord-derived MSC; MFGE8, milk factor globule EGF; AMSC, amniotic fluid-derived MSC; MVBs, multivesicular bodies; ESCRT, endosomal sorting complex required for transport; ALIX, apoptosis-linked gene-2 interacting protein X; ARRDC1, arrestin domain-containing protein-1; TSG101, tumor susceptibility gene 101; ROCK, Rho-associated protein kinase; ARF6, ADP-ribosylation factor 6; UC-PVC, umbilical cord-derived perivascular cell; IGF-1, insulin growth factor 1; iNOS, inducible nitric oxide synthase; CP-MSC, chorionic plate-derived MSC; ESC, embryonic stem cell; ADSCs, adipose tissue-derived MSC; CCNG1, cyclin G1; IGF1R, insulin-like growth factor receptor 1; P4HA1, prolyl-4-hydroxylase a1; PPAR, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor; HLSC, human liver stem cell; Ltbp1, latent-transforming growth factor beta-binding protein 1.

INTRODUCTION

Chronic liver disease (CLD) may be caused by different types of injury (viral infection, alcohol abuse, NASH, ischemic injury, chemical compounds, autoimmune and genetic diseases, etc.), and it is one of the major global health problems that causes about 2 million deaths per year worldwide (Asrani et al., 2019; Roehlen et al., 2020). Fibrosis is the main characteristic of CLD and is due to an excessive ECM accumulation, which compromises the normal morphology and function of the liver. Excessive ECM deposition is due to a persistent activation of myofibroblasts that proliferate and produce different matrix components (type I and III collagen, fibronectin, laminin, and proteoglycans) (Roehlen et al., 2020).

Hepatocytes are proliferative cells that support the physiological renewal of liver parenchyma. In case of injury, proliferation is due to the activation of resident HpSCs, which are quiescent during physiological turnover of the organ (Ibrahim et al., 2018). Different studies have observed only a marginal contribution of these resident progenitor cells in ameliorating the damage in several models of hepatocellular injury. In particular, the HpSCs are not able to totally regenerate the hepatocytes damaged in CLD, especially in the presence of a massive destruction of the liver tissue (Español-Suñer et al., 2012). For this reason, an exogenous treatment that supports the regeneration of the altered tissue is demanded.

A possible therapeutic option is the use of MSCs that can be isolated from various adult tissues, such as bone marrow (BM), adipose tissue, muscle, periosteum, umbilical cord, blood, and liver (Puglisi et al., 2011). MSCs were originally described as a rare population of cells in the BM with fibroblast-like morphology (Friedenstein et al., 1974) and a characteristic pattern of cellsurface antigens (Pittenger et al., 1999). Besides their selfreplicating ability, MSCs can differentiate in mesenchymal (osteoblasts, chondrocytes, adipocytes, and myocytes) and nonmesenchymal cells (cardiac, neural, renal, and hepatic cells) (Krause, 2002; Alhadlaq and Mao, 2004). These peculiar properties combined with the immunoregulatory activity of MSCs make these cells ideal candidates for regenerative therapy of various diseases, including liver fibrosis (Eom et al., 2015; Han et al., 2019).

In this review, we summarize recent findings in the field of MSCs application as anti-fibrotic strategy and on molecular pathways modulated by MSCs and their secretome, in particular by EVs.

CELLS AND MOLECULAR PATHWAYS INVOLVED IN HEPATIC FIBROSIS

Different types of hepatic cells contribute to fibrosis development. Hepatocyte death is the initial event in liver diseases that conducts to damage progression. Dead hepatocytes release different molecules (intracellular proteins, ATP, nucleic acids, mitochondrial or nucleic compounds) collectively named DAMPs (Mihm, 2018). These intracellular compounds negatively influence the neighboring cells, such as HSCs and Kupffer cells, favoring cell activation and fibrosis development. Moreover, a pro-fibrogenic signal can be triggered by apoptosis of hepatocytes by the activation of Fas death receptor (Feldstein et al., 2003) and by the release of apoptotic bodies. These can be absorbed by Kupffer cells and by HSCs to activate pro-fibrogenic signals (Canbay et al., 2003; Zhan et al., 2006).

Hepatic stellate cells are the key players in hepatic fibrosis development, since they represent the major source of myofibroblast precursors. In physiological conditions, HSCs are perisinusoidal non-proliferating cells characterized by numerous lipid droplets containing vitamin A in the cytoplasm. Different types of injury may induce HSC activation. In this case, HSCs start to proliferate, acquire a contractile myofibroblast phenotype, express α-SMA, and produce ECM components and pro-inflammatory cytokines (Mederacke et al., 2013). Other important sources of myofibroblasts may be portal fibroblasts (Wells et al., 2004), BM-derived cells (Forbes et al., 2004), and cells derived from hepatocytes or cholangiocytes by EMT (Zeisberg et al., 2007). In addition, the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines induces the recruitment and the activation of other important cells in fibrosis development, such as platelets, endothelial cells, and infiltrating immune cells that may amplify the pro-fibrogenic environment and contribute to support HSC and myofibroblast activation state. Hepatic macrophages, which can be liver resident (Kupffer cells) or monocyte-derived (Krenkel and Tacke, 2017), play a central role in this fibrosis development. Macrophages may be classified into pro-inflammatory macrophages (M1) and immunoregulatory macrophages (M2). Hepatic macrophages may shift from M1 to M2 phenotypes in response to different stimuli, and different macrophage subpopulations may coexist and contribute to different phases of fibrosis (Sun et al., 2017).

A complex network of cytokines and pathways is responsible for HSC activation and for induction of fibrogenic alterations. The most important growth factors and pathways involved in fibrogenesis are the PDGF, the TGF-B, the inflammasome NLRP3-caspase-1, and the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway (Dewidar et al., 2019; Roehlen et al., 2020). Moreover, resident immune cells produce under stimulation the TNF- α , the interleukins (IL-6 and IL-1a), and the CCL2, that trigger the activation of Kupffer cells and the recruitment of monocytederived macrophages from blood (Roehlen et al., 2020). In physiological conditions, PDGF is produced by platelets. Different types of liver injury induce the production of PDGF also by Kupffer cells, endothelial cells, and activated HSCs, and PDGF receptor is expressed by HSCs (Campbell et al., 2005; Hayes et al., 2014). The binding of PDGF to its receptor triggers the activation of several signaling pathways, including the PI3K/Akt, the JAK/STAT, and the Ras/Raf system. These different pathways regulate downstream the expression levels of the key pro-fibrotic genes, such as type I collagen α1 chain, MMPs, tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs), and also apoptosis regulators (Bcl-2) that favor the survival and proliferation of myofibroblasts (Ying et al., 2017). Endothelial cells, macrophages, and hepatocytes can synthesize TGF- β , as a latent precursor. The inactive form of TGF-β, bound to the latency-associated protein, is stored in the ECM. TGF- β becomes active when cleaved by a

specific protease. The active form binds to TGF- β receptor type II, which recruits the TGF- β receptor type I, with downstream activation of SMAD proteins. In particular, the activation of SMAD3 by phosphorylation at its C-terminus is considered the main fibrogenic pathway (Liu et al., 2006; Fabregat et al., 2016). Furthermore, the activation of the SMAD3-dependent TGF- β signaling pathway in hepatocytes contributes to fibrosis development, especially in NASH, by inducing hepatocyte death and lipid accumulation. SMAD6 and SMAD7, which negatively regulate TGF- β signaling, are considered as anti-fibrotic factors (Yang et al., 2014).

Another important pathway involved in hepatic fibrosis development is the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling. β -Catenin is an adhesion molecule that can also act as a transcription factor. After activation, Wnt binds the receptor Frizzled and forms a complex, which inhibits β -catenin degradation causing its translocation to the nucleus that activates target genes transcription by recruiting cyclic AMP-response element binding (CREB) protein (Nishikawa et al., 2018). In hepatic damage, the Wnt signaling pathway is activated in the HSCs and may contribute to fibrosis development by upregulating α -SMA and collagen expression (Berg et al., 2010).

Despite the increasing number of studies deeply investigating the molecular mechanisms of liver fibrosis development, an approved drug to counteract liver fibrosis is still missing. Antifibrotic therapies have to focus on different mechanisms of action: hepatocyte protection, the inhibition of HSC activation, the consequent deposition of fibrotic molecules, and the modulation of inflammation.

MSC TREATMENT COUNTERACTS LIVER FIBROSIS DEVELOPMENT

Several studies demonstrated that the injection of MSCs improved liver fibrosis and enhanced liver functionality by reducing hepatocyte apoptosis, prompting hepatocyte regeneration, and regulating inflammatory responses in different animal models of CLD (**Table 1**). In particular, numerous published results demonstrated the reduction of TGF- β 1 and α -SMA gene expression in liver tissue after treatment with MSCs (Rabani et al., 2010; Jang et al., 2014; Winkler et al., 2014; Idriss et al., 2018; Fathy et al., 2020; Sun et al., 2020).

In the CCl₄-induced CLD model, the administration of murine BM-derived-MSCs reduced fibrosis, ameliorated the hypoxic liver microenvironment, and improved liver function. These beneficial effects were correlated with a modulation of the TGF- β 1/SMADs signaling pathway in liver cells. In particular, BM-MSCs reduced TGF- β 1 and SMAD3 expression and increased SMAD7 expression (Zhang et al., 2015, 2019). SMAD7 can be regulated by different stimuli, including TGF- β , IFN- γ , and TNF- α . The downregulation of SMAD7 expression is associated with both tissue fibrosis and inflammatory disease; instead, its over-expression antagonizes TGF- β -mediated fibrosis and inflammation (Yan et al., 2009).

Another aspect that characterizes in a distinctive manner liver fibrosis is the induction of collagen deposition, with a

consequent complete remodeling of the ECM. The interstitial ECM is mainly composed of structural fibrils of type I and type III collagen and in a minor quantity of type V collagen (Karsdal et al., 2020). The analysis of gene expression profile of ECM in MSC-treated fibrotic animals indicated the reduction of the deposition of collagen in the area of injury. The procollagen gene expression significantly decreased when MSCs were administrated in liver fibrosis models generated by the injection of CCl4 and of TAA chemical drugs (Jang et al., 2014; Farouk et al., 2018), especially when the transplantation of cells occurred via the portal vein rather than by the tail vein (Truong et al., 2016). Besides, IL-6 stimulates the activation of STAT3 and increases collagen mRNA expression in HSCs; the phosphorylation of STAT3 activates the TGF-β cascade through SMAD3 activation (O'Reilly et al., 2014). In this framework, Zhang et al. (2019) demonstrated that BM-MSCs reduced fibrosis by modulating the TGF-β1/SMADs signaling. Yuan et al. (2019) showed that the low amount of collagen deposition was related to low IL-6 mRNA levels and the reduction was evident especially for type III collagen α 1. Several studies reported the involvement of IL-17A in liver fibrosis (Zepeda-Morales et al., 2016), since the IL-17 receptor complex IL-17RA/IL-17RC induced in HSC the activation of STAT3, which led to increased collagen mRNA expression. After MSC transplantation, the expression of fibrogenic type I collagen $\alpha 1$ mRNA decreased in liver tissue. Moreover, a gradual reduction of the mRNA expression of IL-17a, IL-17f, and IL-17ra and IL-17rc receptors was observed in the BM-MSC-treated group (Farouk et al., 2018).

The reduction in pro-collagen gene expression often correlates with increased secretion of collagen-degrading MMPs (Rengasamy et al., 2017; Du et al., 2018). In fact, the administration of MSCs induces the reduction of fibrosis by increasing the expression of MMP-9, which degrades the ECM (Tanimoto et al., 2013) and modulates genes involved in matrix remodeling, such as MMP-2 and TIMP-1 (Zhao et al., 2012; Rengasamy et al., 2017; Du et al., 2018; Khalifa et al., 2019; Iwanaka et al., 2020).

Mesenchymal stromal cells can influence the fibrosis development indirectly through the reduction of the hepatic inflammatory state. In fact, MSCs display an immunoregulatory activity by preventing the maturation of immune cells. In particular, they inhibit the proliferation of dendritic, T helper-1, and natural killer cells and induce the activation of M2 macrophages through the production of PGE2, IDO, and NO and secretion of anti-inflammatory ILs, such as IL-10 (Aggarwal and Pittenger, 2005). Anti-inflammatory effects of MSCs in liver tissue were evaluated by measuring the expression levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in different animal models of CLD, such as HFD, MCDD, CCl₄ infusion, and TAA administration (Zhao et al., 2012; Nasir et al., 2013; Idriss et al., 2018; Bruno et al., 2019). These studies demonstrated that TNF-a, IL-6, and other pro-inflammatory cytokines [IL-1β, TGF-β1, INF-γ, and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1)] were downregulated in the liver of treated mice (Zhao et al., 2012; Nasir et al., 2013; Idriss et al., 2018; Bruno et al., 2019; Choi et al., 2019; Kojima et al., 2019).

TABLE 1 | Anti-fibrotic effect of MSCs from different sources in chronic liver injury.

Type of cells	Source	Liver fibrosis model	Mechanism of action	References
Murine MSCs	BM mononuclear cell fraction selected by plastic adherence	Intraperitoneal (i.p.) administration of a Reduction of collagen deposition by downreg 1.0 ml/kg dose of CCl4 twice a week α-SMA and TIMP-1 gene expression for 4 weeks α		Rabani et al., 2010
Murine hepatocyte- differentiated BM-MSCs (in the presence of HGF, FGF4, and EGF)	Tibia and femur of Sprague–Dawley (SD) rats	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$		Zhao et al., 2012
Human BM-MSCs and human MSCs	Purchased from Lonza	CCl4 dissolved in corn oil (1:3) twice a week for 6 weeks for the last 4 weeks	Fibrosis reduction by improvement of MMP-9, which degrades the ECM, and downregulation of α SMA, TNF α , and TGF- β , markers of activated HSCs	Tanimoto et al., 2013
Murine MSCs and hepatocytes	Tibia and femur of 2-month-old C57BL/6 mice	<i>In vitro</i> : hepatocytes were seeded on a 6-well collagen-coated plate (1×104) cells/cm ²) and were subjected to injury with 3 mM and 5 mM CCl4. <i>In vivo</i> : increased levels of anti-apoptotic markers Bcl-xl. <i>In vivo</i> : increased expression of Bcl-xl and reduction of expression levels of apoptotic markers Bax, caspase-3, NF- κ B, and TNF- α .		Nasir et al., 2013
Human BM-MSCs	Posterior iliac crest of healthy donors	i.p. injections of TAA (300 mg/kg body weight) twice a week for 12 weeks in SD rats	Recovery from TAA induced fibrosis by decreasing TGF- β 1, type I collagen, and α -SMA expression and modulating the TGF- β 1/SMAD signaling pathway	Jang et al., 2014
Human hepatocyte- differentiated BM-MSCs	Knee or hip joint of human donors	Immunodeficient male Pfp/Rag2–/– mice that underwent 1/3 partial hepatectomy after 42 days of MCDD	Presence of human hepatocyte-like cells in the mouse liver parenchyma attenuating inflammation markers (ΤΝFα). Reduction of the expression of α-SMA and type I collagen mRNA	Winkler et al., 2014
Human BM-MSCs	BM of human healthy donors	<i>In vitro</i> model: co-culture of BM-MSCs with HSCs in transwell condition for 24, 48, and 72 h	Inhibitory effect of BM-MSCs on HSC proliferation and induction of the apoptosis through the inhibition of the TGF- β 1/SMAD pathway in HSCs	Zhang et al., 2015
Murine BM-MSCs	Femur of healthy Swiss mice	Male Swiss mice treated by 1.0 ml/kg CCl4 via oral administration 3 times/week (every 2 days) for 11 weeks	Inhibition of fibrogenesis with the reduction of integrin, TGF- β 1, and pro-collagen expression	Truong et al., 2016
Adult human BM-MSCs and neonatal human Wharton's jelly (WJ)-MSCs	BM mononuclear cells from three independent donor aspirations (BM-MSCs) and fresh umbilical cords collected from full-term births (WJ-MSCs)	SD rats i.p. injected with CCl4 at a dose of 2 ml/kg (CCl4:olive oil = 1:1) twice a week for the first 2 weeks, followed by 1 ml/twice a week for the next 6 weeks	Reduction of liver collagen content and improvement of liver architecture, by secreting fibrinolytic metalloproteases, such as MMP-1 and MMP-2	Rengasamy et al., 2017
Rat BM-MSCs	Tibia and fibula of white albino rats	0.2 ml/100 g of CCl4 liquefied in castor oil (40 ml/L) subcutaneously injected twice weekly for 6 weeks in male 6-week-old white albino rats	Recovery of liver function and improved liver fibrosis with prolonged presence of transplanted BM-MSCs in the liver: reduction in the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, and IFN- γ) and of pro-fibrogenic factors (TGF- β 1, α -SMA, and CTGF) and increase in the expression of anti-fibrogenic factors (CK-18 and HGF)	ldriss et al., 2018
Rat BM-MSCs transfected with human MMP-1	BM of SD rats	CCI4 administration in rats at a dose of 1 ml/kg twice/week for 8 weeks Degradation of hepatic collagen due to significant increased MMP-1 level and suppression of TIMP-1		Du et al., 2018
Rat BM-MSCs	Tibia and femur of rats	Rats i.p. injected with CCl4 (1 ml/kg) Significant downregulation of Col1a1, AFP, and dissolved in paraffin oil, twice a week, for 6 weeks (12 doses) STAT3 and STAT5 gene, whereas significant		Farouk et al., 2018
Human BM-MSCs cultured under hypoxic (5% O ₂ ; hypoMSCs) and normoxic (21% O ₂ ; norMSCs) conditions	Normo: Poietics human MSCs (passage 2) purchased from Lonza. Hypo: StemPro BM-MSCs from Thermo Fisher Scientific	In vitro: induced BM-derived co-cultured with MSCs in Transwell 6-well plates for 72 h. In vivo: 8-week-old C57BL/6 male mice injected with CCl4 i.p. twice weekly over a 12-week period	eed BM-derived Induction of anti-inflammatory markers CD206 and with MSCs in Transwell Ym-1 in hypoMSC-treated macrophages. for 72 h. Downregulation of the pro-inflammatory markers ek-old C57BL/6 male mice TNFα and MCP-1 CCl4 i.p. twice weekly Induction of anti-inflammatory markers	

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Type of cells	Source	Liver fibrosis model	Mechanism of action	References
BM-MSCs labeled with super-paramagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles	Femur of male SD albino rats	SD albino rats i.p. injected with CCl4 for 8 weeks	ECM degradation by increased MMP-1 and decreased TIMP-1	Khalifa et al., 2019
Murine BM-MSCs	Tibia and femur of mice C57BL/6	C57BL/6 mice injected with CCl4 (40% in olive oil) at a dose of 1 ml/kg twice/week for 12 weeks	Amelioration of the hypoxic liver microenvironment, improvement of the liver function, and reduction of fibrosis by modulating the TGF-β1/SMADs signaling pathway: reduction of TGF-β1 and SMAD3 expression and increased SMAD7 expression	Zhang et al., 2019
Human ADSCs	Human adipose tissue-derived stromal vascular fraction	e-derived stromal (NOD.CB17-Prkdcscid/J strain) i.p. fibrosis and inflammation with downregulation of		Choi et al., 2019
Rat BM-MSCs + VEGF	Tibia and femur of 2-week-old SD rats	8-week-old rats i.p. injected with 40% CCl4 at 0.3 ml/100, twice per week, for 12 weeks. VEGF group and the BMSC + VEGF group i.v. injected with VEGF over-expressing adenovirus at 3 × 109 ifu (0.5 ml), once a week for 4 weeks		Yuan et al., 2019
HLSCs	Liver fragment processed in Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) procedure	NASH induced by MCDD	Significant improvement of liver function and morphology, at histological and molecular levels, by persistence of undifferentiated HLSCs in the liver that induce reduction of α -SMA, type I collagen, and TGF- β expression	Bruno et al., 2019
hDPSCs	Deciduous teeth of healthy pediatric donors	C57BL/6J male, 8-week-old mice i.p. injected with 0.5 mg/kg of CCl4 in olive oil twice a week for 4 weeks	Liver regeneration induced by the <i>in situ</i> transformation of the transplanted hDPSCs, with reduced expression of ACTA2, Col1a1, and liver fibrosis-related genes and proteins: MMP-2, MMP-3, TIMP-1, TIMP-2, and TGF-β	lwanaka et al., 2020
BM-MSCs with recombinant adeno-associated virus expression vector encoding human HGF genome sequence (rAAV-HGF)	Stem Cell Bank of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (CAS)	SD rats fed with 5% ethanol and subcutaneously injected with 40% CCl4 diluted 1:1 (v/v) in olive oil (0.5 ml/kg) 3 times/week for 9 weeks		Sun et al., 2020
Rat ADSCs incubated with eugenol in olive oil (10 mg/ml)	Adipose tissue of 2-month-old male rats	SD-1 rats i.p. injected with 1 ml/kg of CCl4 diluted in olive oil 1:1 (v/v) twice a week for 6 weeks	Amelioration of liver function, reduction of fibrotic markers (type III collagen, hyaluronic acid, hydroxyproline) and inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6), by decreasing the mRNA levels of type 1 collagen, α -SMA, and TGF- β genes	Fathy et al., 2020

Moreover, treatment with MSCs increased the production of the anti-inflammatory IL-10 that may modulate the expression of α -SMA, collagen I, and TGF- β in target cells both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Rabani et al., 2010; Idriss et al., 2018; Choi et al., 2019).

Although MSC transplantation has shown beneficial effects in liver fibrosis, several issues must be carefully considered, including the injected cell dose and the timing of treatment. The anti-fibrotic effect of MSCs seems to be dose-dependent: in fact, compared with lower doses, higher cell doses showed a significant reduction in collagen release (Hong et al., 2014). Furthermore, the anti-fibrotic effect of MSCs in the liver is more evident when MSCs are administered in the earlier stages of injury (Zhao et al., 2005), whereas no beneficial effects are observed when MSCs are injected after long-term injury (Popp et al., 2007; Carvalho et al., 2008).

MSC ENGRAFTMENT AND DIFFERENTIATION INTO LIVER TISSUE

A few studies support the idea of the engraftment and differentiation of MSCs in the damaged tissue (di Bonzo et al., 2008; Stock et al., 2014; Iwanaka et al., 2020). In a model of intoxication of the liver caused by a sub-lethal dose of acetaminophen (APAP) and treated with human MSCs differentiated into hepatocyte-like cells *in vitro* (hMSC-HCs), the engrafted cells were detected in liver section after long-term transplantation (7 weeks after treatment). In particular, hMSC-HCs were localized in the periportal areas of the liver damaged by APAP, expressing both human albumin and HepPar1, a mitochondrial antigen of hepatocytes, indicating an *in situ* differentiation of hMSC-HCs did not cause an increment in the

collagen content with respect to untreated APAP animals (Stock et al., 2014). Recently, also in CCl₄-injured liver, it was reported that the hepatic regeneration is due to *in situ* differentiation of the transplanted hDPSCs. The regenerative effect was correlated with the reduced gene expression of α -SMA, collagen 1, and other fibrosis-related genes and proteins, such as MMP-2, MMP-3, TIMP-1, TIMP-2, and TGF- β (Iwanaka et al., 2020).

In contrast, some authors have reported that, after in vivo injection, BM-MSCs can differentiate into myofibroblasts, thus contributing to the progression of liver fibrosis (di Bonzo et al., 2008; Baertschiger et al., 2009). di Bonzo et al. (2008) demonstrated that human BM-MSCs were able not only to engraft around the portal tract of both normal and CCl4injured liver of NOD/SCID mice but also to differentiate into hepatic cells in the in vivo acute liver injury model (di Bonzo et al., 2008). In the chronic liver injury model, the percentage of cells expressing the human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-I was significantly higher than in the acute setting; however, a significant number of human cells co-expressed markers of myofibroblast-like cells (a-SMA or glial fibrillary acidic protein) and were located around fibrotic areas, indicating a pro-fibrotic effect of MSCs. These evidences correlated in part with the results obtained by Baertschiger et al. (2009) in a murine model of partial hepatectomy associated with the inhibition of endogenous liver regeneration by retrorsine treatment. Following intrasplenic injection of BM-MSCs, the engraftment of these cells was not achieved in the liver. However, after intrahepatic injection, BM-MSCs permanently engrafted into the liver and might contribute to fibrosis by differentiating into myofibroblasts (Baertschiger et al., 2009). Besides, by comparing the in vivo effect of adult BM-MSCs with the effect of pediatric BM-MSCs, no difference in MSC engraftment and no evidence of MSC differentiation into hepatocytes were observed (Baertschiger et al., 2009). Whether the transplanted MSCs have a positive or negative effect on resident liver cell populations (HSCs, immune cells, hepatocytes) is an important aspect that needs to be considered (Kallis and Forbes, 2009). Further studies are required to better understand those mechanisms that could induce MSCs or resident liver cells to produce scar or ECMdegrading substances.

ANTI-FIBROTIC AND ANTI-INFLAMMATORY EFFECTS OF MSC SECRETOME

In addition to direct differentiation of MSCs into liver cells, MSCs exert pro-regenerative and anti-fibrotic effects in liver tissue by inducing the proliferation of resident mature hepatocytes or of progenitor cells through the secretion of paracrine factors. Analysis of gene expression of different sources of MSC revealed that MSCs produce several molecules that can inhibit the activation of HSCs *in vitro*, such as IL-10, VEGF-A, and HGF (Aggarwal and Pittenger, 2005). In particular, HGF promotes hepatic regeneration and exerts anti-fibrotic effects by enhancing hepatocyte proliferation and inhibiting apoptosis (Lee et al., 2018). It has been demonstrated that the stable expression of HGF

in BM-MSCs improved cell homing capacity and differentiation into liver cells, thus alleviating CCl₄-induced liver fibrosis in rats (Sun et al., 2020). Therefore, the release of HGF in the parenchyma of damaged livers could be associated with the ability of MSCs to reverse the progression of liver fibrosis.

The MSC secretome has been proven to be safer and equally effective in liver regeneration (Driscoll and Patel, 2019). In fact, the secretome obtained by UC-MSCs, either undifferentiated or committed into hepatocyte-like cells, improved hepatic fibrosis both in vivo and in vitro. In particular, the UC-MSC secretome was enriched in the milk factor globule EGF 8 (MFGE8), an anti-fibrotic protein, which expression is reduced in fibrotic or cirrhotic livers. The MFGE8-containing secretome reduced the ECM deposition and suppressed the activation of HSCs by downregulating α-SMA expression and the TGF-β signaling pathway (An et al., 2017). A similar anti-fibrotic effect was also observed in vitro on TGF-Bactivated HSCs, using conditioned medium derived from AMSCs (Fu et al., 2018) and from BM-MSCs (Huang et al., 2016). Interestingly, in a CCl₄-induced fibrosis murine model, the BM-MSC secretome also showed immunosuppressive properties, by reducing inflammatory infiltration, and pro-regenerative effects, by enhancing hepatocyte proliferation and promoting HSC apoptosis (Huang et al., 2016). Taken together, these findings suggest that the anti-fibrogenic effect of MSCs can be mediated through the release of paracrine factors, which include soluble factors and EVs.

Extracellular vesicles are small membrane particles delimited by a lipid bilayer membrane that are secreted by virtually all cells into the extracellular microenvironment and can be isolated from all biological fluids. EVs display great heterogeneity in size and molecular cargo, and since specific markers to distinguish one vesicle subpopulation from another are still lacking, EVs are currently classified based on their size and biogenesis in exosomes, ectosomes, and apoptotic bodies (Meldolesi, 2018; Bruno et al., 2020a).

Exosomes (30-120 nm) are small EVs that arise from the inward invagination of the membrane of endosomal structures, known as MVBs. Exosomes are released into the extracellular space upon fusion between MVBs and the plasma membrane. This process, called exocytosis, is principally coordinated by the ESCRT machinery (Meldolesi, 2018) and by other ESCRT-associated proteins, such as ALIX that contributes to cargo packaging into vesicles and triggers exosome formation (Baietti et al., 2012; Hurley and Odorizzi, 2012). Besides, an ESCRT-independent mechanism has been described in exosome formation and secretion (Stuffers et al., 2009). Among the proteins participating in this process, the tetraspanins CD63, CD81, and CD9 coordinate the specific sorting of cargo into exosomes (Chairoungdua et al., 2010; Nazarenko et al., 2010; van Niel et al., 2011; Perez-Hernandez et al., 2013), whereas the Rab GTPases Rab11, 27a, 27b, and 35 are involved in vesicle budding, transport along the cytoskeleton, and fusion with the plasma membrane (Savina et al., 2005; Stenmark, 2009; Hsu et al., 2010; Ostrowski et al., 2010; Bobrie et al., 2012; Zhen and Stenmark, 2015). Furthermore, exosome release can be controlled by calcium signaling (Savina et al., 2003), cytoskeleton rearrangements (Granger et al., 2014), and ceramide synthesis (Trajkovic et al., 2008).

Extracellular vesicles generated by the direct outward budding of the plasma membrane are defined as ectosomes or microvesicles (100-1,000 nm). The modifications in the plasma membrane curvature result from changes in protein interactions, which involve the ARRDC1 and the late endosomal protein TSG101 (Nabhan et al., 2012), and from the calciumdependent activation of enzymes, such as flippases, floppases, scramblases, and calpain, which alter the lipidic composition of the plasma membrane (van Niel et al., 2018). As for exosomes, the process of ectosomes vesiculation and release also relies on cytoskeleton rearrangements, controlled by the ROCK (Li et al., 2012) and the signaling cascade of Ras-related GTPase ARF6 (Muralidharan-Chari et al., 2009). Lastly, fragments of dead cells that are released through the plasma membrane blebbing of apoptotic cells are defined as apoptotic bodies (1,000-5,000 nm) (Hristov et al., 2004).

At present, EVs are considered as important mediators of intercellular communication (Lee et al., 2011; Lawson et al., 2017). In fact, the EV cargo includes proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids that can be transferred between cells protected from degradation, thus eliciting their intracellular uptake by endocytosis. The specific molecular content of EVs usually depends on the tissue of origin, but it can also be genetically modified to allow EVs to carry the desired therapeutic molecules (Varderidou-Minasian and Lorenowicz, 2020). Once internalized by target cells, EVs can modulate a number of physiological and pathophysiological processes, including metabolism, immune responses, tumor progression, and metastasis (Lou et al., 2017a).

MSC-EV EFFECTS IN LIVER FIBROSIS

Recently, the role of EVs in tissue repair and regeneration has been extensively studied. In particular, MSC-derived EVs have shown a pro-regenerative effect in several tissues, including heart, lung, bone, skin, brain, kidney, and liver (Fiore et al., 2018; Varderidou-Minasian and Lorenowicz, 2020). As reported for MSCs, also MSC-EVs exhibit therapeutic effects in several preclinical models of hepatic fibrosis (**Table 2**). In a context of liver fibrosis, MSC-EVs act by modulating different molecular pathways into hepatocytes, activated HSCs and immune cells (**Figure 1**).

The first evidence that MSC-EVs were able to alleviate liver fibrosis came from Li et al. (2013). In a mouse model of CCl₄-induced liver fibrosis, they showed that EVs derived from UC-MSCs ameliorated hepatic inflammation and collagen deposition. Moreover, *in vitro* UC-MSC-EV administration suppressed both the EMT and the TGF- β /SMAD signaling pathway through the inhibition of SMAD2 phosphorylation and the reduction of type I and III collagen and TGF- β transcripts expression in hepatocytes. The therapeutic effect of UC-MSC-EVs has been also demonstrated in schistosomiasis, a parasitic disease that leads to serious chronic liver inflammation (Dong et al., 2020). *In vivo* administration of UC-MSC-EVs in *Schistosoma japonicum*-infected mice alleviated hepatic fibrosis by downregulating the expression of α-SMA and types I and III collagen. The consequent inhibition of HSC activation was also confirmed in vitro on HSCs. In addition, UC-MSC-EVs reduced the mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IFN-gamma in schistosome-infected liver tissue. Also, EVs obtained from UC-PVCs can effectively reduce both fibrosis and inflammation in a TAA-induced model of chronic liver injury (Fiore et al., 2020). Interestingly, EVs derived from UC-PVCs that were transduced by an adenovirus vector to produce human IGF-1 exhibited a stronger anti-fibrotic effect with respect to their green fluorescent protein (GFP)transfected counterpart. In vitro experiments demonstrated that treatment with IGF-1-containing UC-PVC-EVs reduced the activation of HSCs by downregulating the expression of type I collagen, α -SMA, and TGF- β 1. Furthermore, IGF-1-containing UC-PVC-EVs converted pro-fibrogenic hepatic macrophages into anti-inflammatory phagocytes by increasing arginase-1 and downregulating iNOS, TNF- α , and IL-6 expression levels.

Another embryonic-derived source of MSCs is the amnion. In two different models of CLD, Ohara et al. (2018) have demonstrated the anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic effects of EVs obtained from AMSCs. In a rat model of NASH, induced by a HFD, AMSC-EVs downregulated the expression of proinflammatory cytokines TNF-a, IL-1β, and IL-6 and reduced the activation of pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages (Kupffer cells) in liver tissue. In CCl₄-induced hepatic fibrosis, treatment with AMSCs attenuated fibrosis by reducing the expression of α -SMA and the number of Kupffer cells. In vitro, AMSCs treatment reduced the expression of TNF-a in both HSCs and Kupffer cells activated by LPS and reduced the NF-kB transcriptional activity induced by LPS, through the inhibition of the phosphorylation of IkB-α and p65. Since AMSC-EVs did not affect NF-kB transcriptional activity induced by TRAF, one could speculate that AMSC-EVs might suppress the earlier steps of the LPS/TLR4 signaling pathway. Interestingly, another research study on a rat model of CCl₄-induced liver fibrosis demonstrated that EVs released by CP-MSCs were able to transfer miR-125b between MSCs and HSCs. The inhibition of miR-125b targets smo, resulting in the suppression of Hedgehog signaling with consequent amelioration of hepatic fibrosis (Hyun et al., 2015).

Recently, ESCs have been identified as an alternative source of MSCs. In a rat model of TAA-induced chronic liver injury, (Mardpour et al., 2018) reported the hepatoprotective effect of EVs obtained from human ESC-derived MSCs. In TAA animals, the ESC-MSC-EVs improved hepatocyte viability and reduced both apoptosis and the expression of pro-fibrotic molecules, such as collagen, α-SMA, and TIMP-1, while increasing the expression of collagenases, such as matrix metalloproteinase MMP-9 and -13. In addition, ESC-MSC-EVs exhibited immunomodulatory properties by reducing immune cell infiltration and modulating the expression of inflammatory cytokines, with a decrease in TNF- α and IL-2 levels and an increase in TGF- β and IL-10 levels. Interestingly, the anti-inflammatory effect of the ESC-MSC-EVs resulted to be stronger than the one of other somatic tissue-derived MSC secretome, such as BM-MSCs and ADSCs (Mardpour et al., 2018). However, the efficiency of EV treatments might

TABLE 2 | Anti-fibrotic effect of MSC-EVs in different models of chronic liver injury.

Source	Isolation method	Liver fibrosis model	Mechanism of action	References
Human UC-MSCs	Differential U.C. Concentration (100 kDa) Density gradient U.C. Filtration (0.22 µm)	CCl4 mouse model. HL7702 human epithelioid liver cell line activated by TGF-β1	Downregulation of fibrotic genes (COL1 and COL3), inactivation of the TGF- β /SMAD pathway (TGF- β 1, SMAD2) and of EMT in hepatocytes (E-cadherin, N-cadherin, vimentin)	Li et al., 2013
Human UC-MSCs	Filtration (0.1 μm). Concentration (100 kDa) Density gradient U.C. Filtration (0.22 μm)	Schistosomiasis mouse model. LX2 activated by TGF-β1	Increased mice survival, improvement of liver function by downregulating pro-fibrotic genes (COL1, COL3, and α -SMA) and pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IFN-gamma)	Dong et al., 2020
Human UC-PVCs engineered to produce IGF-1	Differential U.C.	TAA mouse model	Downregulation of pro-fibrotic genes (COL1A2, $\alpha\text{-SMA},$ and TGF-B)	Fiore et al., 2020
Human AMSCs	Differential U.C. Filtration (0.22 µm)	CCl4 rat model. NASH (HFD) rat model. Rat HSC and Kupffer cells activated by LPS	Reduction of Kupffer cell number and HSC activation, by downregulating pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6) and pro-fibrotic genes (TGF- β 1, α -SMA, and TIMP-1) and by inactivating the LPS/TLR4 signaling pathway (p65 and IkB- α phosphorylation) in HSCs and in Kupffer cells	Ohara et al., 2018
Human CP-MSCs	Differential U.C.	CCl4 mouse model. FBS-activated LX-2	Reduction in the expression of miR-125b target gene Smo resulted in the downregulation of the Gli family (downstream signaling molecules of Smo) and of the hedgehog signaling pathway in HSC	Hyun et al., 2015
Human ESC-MSCs	Differential U.C.	TAA rat model. Primary hepatocytes	Reduction of fibrosis and immune cell infiltration by upregulating collagenases (MMP-9 and MMP-13) and anti-inflammatory (TGF- β and IL-10) and anti-apoptotic (BCL-2) genes and by downregulating pro-fibrotic (COL1- α , α -SMA, and TIMP-1), pro-apoptotic (caspase-3, BAX), and pro-inflammatory genes (TNF- α and IL-2)	Mardpour et al., 2018
Human ESC-MSCs	Differential U.C.	TAA rat model	Reduction of necrosis, inflammation, and fibrosis by upregulating collagenases (MMP-9 and MMP-13) and anti-inflammatory (IL-10) genes and by downregulating pro-fibrotic (COL1- α , α -SMA, and TIMP-1), pro-apoptotic (cleaved caspase-3, BAX), and pro-inflammatory genes (TNF- α and IL-2)	Mardpour et al., 2019
miR-122-modified murine ADSCs	ExoQuick-TC kit	<i>In vitro</i> culture-induced LX-2 activation	Reduction of HSC proliferation and inhibition of the expression of COL1A1 and of miR-122 target genes: CCNG1, IGF1R, and P4HA1	Lou et al., 2017b
miR-181-5p- modified murine BM-MSCs	ExoQuick-TC kit	CCl4 mouse model. HST-T6 cells activated by TGF-β1	Amelioration of liver function, activation of autophagy by upregulating P62 and Beclin1, attenuation of fibrosis and inflammation by downregulating fibrotic genes COL1, COL3 vimentin, α-SMA fibronectin, of miR-181-5p targets Stat3 and Bcl-2, and pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF-α, IL-6, and IL-17)	Qu et al., 2017
Murine BM-MSCs engineered with miR-223	Differential U.C.	Autoimmune hepatitis mouse model. Murine hepatocytes (AML12) treated with LPS and ATP	Improvement of liver structure and function, reduction of lymphocyte infiltration, with downregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-17A) and of pro-apoptotic proteins NLRP3 and caspase-1	Chen et al., 2018
Human BM-MSCs	Differential U.C.	CCl4 rat model. Activated HSCs	Improvement of liver function and reduction of fibrosis, inflammation and HSC activation through the inhibition of fibrosis-related proteins (COL1, α -SMA) and of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway (PPAR-gamma, β -catenin, Wnt3a, Wnt10b, WISP1, cyclin D1)	0 ,
HLSCs	Differential U.C. Filtration (0.22 µm)	NASH (MCDD) mouse model	Improvement of liver function and reduction of fibrosis and inflammation by increasing the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and by downregulating fibrosis-associated genes (α -SMA, COL1- α 1, TGF- β 1, and Ltbp1), genes involved in tissue remodeling and in inflammation, such as TIMP-1; MMP-1a, -13, -14, and -8; IFN- γ ; TNF- α ; and IL-1 β	Bruno et al., 2020b

be reduced by a rapid clearance of EVs from the target organ. To extend the bioavailability of the EVs in the liver, the use of ESC-MSC-EVs encapsulated in polyethylene glycol macromeres has been proven to be effective in a TAA rat model of hepatic fibrosis. Once injected into the peritoneum cavity, the hydrogel-released EVs were gradually swollen upon biodegradation and progressively released over 1 month, resulting in liver accumulation. Histological and molecular analysis have pointed out that, compared with freely injected EVs, the hydrogel-released EVs had stronger anti-fibrotic, antiapoptotic, and anti-inflammatory effects in fibrotic liver tissue (Mathieu et al., 2019).

Adipose tissue-derived MSC have also shown therapeutic effects in hepatic fibrosis (Lou et al., 2017b; Qu et al., 2017). Qu et al. (2017) demonstrated that the transient over-expression of miR-181-5p in ADSCs increased their therapeutic potential in a



fibrogenesis, and hepatocyte apoptosis and EMT.

CCl₄-induced fibrosis model. In addition, the miR-181-5p overexpressing ADSC-EVs induced autophagy in HSCs by inhibiting the STAT3/Bcl-2/Beclin pathway and suppressed HSC activation induced by TGF- β through the reduction of fibrosis-related genes, such as fibronectin and type I and III collagen (Qu et al., 2017). Another study showed that the engineering of ADSCs with a miR-122 over-expressing lentiviral vector made the ADSC-EVs more effective against liver fibrosis than their non-transfected counterpart. In fact, ADSC-EVs efficiently transfer miR-122 to HSCs, inhibiting cell cycle progression and suppressing miR-122-target genes CCNG1, IGF1R, and P4HA1, which regulate proliferation and collagen maturation in HSCs (Lou et al., 2017b).

Extracellular vesicle engineering has been proven effective against liver fibrosis also for MSC-EVs derived from other sources, such as the bone marrow. In a murine model of autoimmune hepatitis, EVs derived from BM-MSCs improved liver function by downregulating the expression of inflammasome and apoptosis-related genes NLRP3 and caspase-1. The lentivirus-driven upregulation of miR-223 in BM-MSCs improved the anti-inflammatory and cytoprotective properties of BM-MSC-EVs, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, whereas the specific inhibition of miR-223 completely abrogated the therapeutic effect of BM-MSC-EVs (Chen et al., 2018). Besides, the administration of BM-MSC-EVs in CCl₄-induced liver fibrosis suppressed the Wnt signaling pathway in activated HSCs by downregulating the expression of β -catenin, Wnt3a, Wnt10b, and PPAR-gamma (Rong et al., 2019).

Recently, our group has investigated the therapeutic effect of EVs released by HLSCs in CLD (Bruno et al., 2020b). HLSCs are stem cell populations resident in human adult liver that have MSC-like features (phenotype, gene expression profile, multilineage differentiation, and immunoregulatory capacities). Moreover, HLSCs showed commitment toward hepatic lineage and contributed to tissue regeneration in different experimental animal models of liver injury (Herrera et al., 2006; Bruno et al., 2019). In a murine model of liver fibrosis, HLSC-EVs improved liver function and morphology through the reduction of fibrosis and inflammation. Molecular analyses revealed that HLSC-EV administration downregulated most of the fibrosis-associated genes, such as type I collagen, α -SMA, TGF- β , and the gene latent-TGF-β-binding protein 1 (Ltbp1), which expression was increased by MCDD. The HLSC-EVs treatment also reverted the expression of genes involved in tissue remodeling (MMP-1a, -8, -13, and -14 and TIMP-1) and in inflammation (IFN-gamma, IL-1 β , and TNF- α). Furthermore, the increase of IL-10 expression levels and the reduction of inflammatory infiltrations in the liver confirmed the anti-inflammatory potential of HLSC-EVs. Interestingly, proteomic analyses of HLSC-EV cargo revealed a number of anti-inflammatory proteins that might contribute to the improvement of liver fibrosis.

CONCLUSION

Mesenchymal stromal cells treatment can reduce fibrosis by downregulating gene expression levels of different transcripts fundamental for fibrosis development, such as α -SMA, TGF- β , and collagens. In liver, the regression of fibrosis could be also attributed to the enhanced levels of MMPs secreted by MSCs that degrade and remodel the fibrotic matrix. Immunomodulatory capacities of MSCs could also be implicated in anti-fibrotic effects by coordinating the recruitment and the polarization of inflammatory cells and the production of cytokines, thus regulating the pro-fibrotic environment. However, it is still debated whether MSCs could engraft into the liver and whether, once engrafted, MSCs could differentiate into hepatocytes, thus participating in liver regeneration, or into pro-fibrotic cells, thus getting worse both liver function and morphology. To avoid the differentiation of MSCs into pro-fibrotic cells, the use of the MSC secretome would be preferable over the MSC treatment. Several research articles indicated that secretome could mimic the effects of cell injection and exert similar anti-fibrotic effects. Among the paracrine factors produced by MSCs, EVs emerge as a valid and alternative tool to cell treatment. Compared with cell-based approach, the EV treatment shows some benefits, such as the possibility of avoiding cell misdifferentiation and the consequent aggravation of liver fibrosis. In fact, to our knowledge, no evidence of fibrogenic potential of MSC-EVs has been reported. In addition, the use of MSC-EVs has a higher efficacy profile than MSC therapy since, once injected in vivo, the EVs pass through the biological barriers and shuttle different molecules (proteins, RNAs, and lipids) to target cells and tissues. Interestingly, in the context of CLD, MSC-EVs have been proven to regulate different molecular pathways in liver cells, such as the TGF-^β/SMAD, the LPS/TLR4, the STAT3/Bcl-2/Beclin, and the Wnt signaling pathway.

Despite the promising results obtained in CLD preclinical studies with MSC-EVs, many problems need to be solved prior to clinical EV applications. Currently, EV purification is a challenging topic: several protocols have been proposed for EV isolation, and most of them can be combined to achieve higher purity of the EV sample by removing cell debris, protein aggregates, and vesicles of non-endosomal origin, such as lipoproteins (Mathieu et al., 2019). Differential ultracentrifugation represents the "gold standard" for EV

REFERENCES

- Aggarwal, S., and Pittenger, M. F. (2005). Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate allogeneic immune cell responses. *Blood* 105, 1815–1822. doi: 10. 1182/blood-2004-04-1559
- Alhadlaq, A., and Mao, J. J. (2004). Mesenchymal stem cells: isolation and therapeutics. *Stem Cells Dev.* 13, 436–448. doi: 10.1089/scd.2004.13.436
- An, S. Y., Jang, Y. J., Lim, H.-J., Han, J., Lee, J., Lee, G., et al. (2017). Milk fat globule-EGF Factor 8, secreted by mesenchymal stem cells, protects against liver fibrosis in mice. *Gastroenterology* 152, 1174–1186. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016. 12.003
- Asrani, S. K., Devarbhavi, H., Eaton, J., and Kamath, P. S. (2019). Burden of liver diseases in the world. J. Hepatol. 70, 151–171. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.09.014

purification (Théry et al., 2006), but long times, possible EV damage and contamination by non-EV particles hamper the clinical application of this technology. An alternative approach to isolate distinct EV subtypes is density gradient centrifugation, which consists in an iodixanol gradient able to separate different EV populations based on their density (Iwai et al., 2016). Moreover, the density gradient ultracentrifugation may be combined with floating to separate vesicles from contaminant proteins (Kowal et al., 2016). Immunoaffinity capture technology takes advantage of EV-associated molecules, such as tetraspanins and ESCRT proteins, but the lack of specific EV subpopulation markers makes it difficult to distinguish one type of vesicle from another (Lozano-Andrés et al., 2019). The majority of these techniques are suitable for research but limited to application for scalable production of EVs for therapeutic purposes. Membrane filtration is potentially applicable to large volumes of conditioned medium. This technique has been proven to be effective in separating EV subpopulations based on their density and hydrodynamic properties (Heinemann et al., 2014). Tangential flow filtration has been also proposed for scalable production of EVs from large volumes of conditioned medium (Busatto et al., 2018). Similarly, size exclusion chromatography has revealed one of the most rapid EV isolation techniques, particularly indicated for exosome purification (Blans et al., 2017). Even if EVs appeared more stable and resistant for longterm storage than MSCs, further studies on pharmacological and pharmacodynamic properties are needed to clarify whether the use of MSC-EVs is suitable for clinical application.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SB, GCh, and CP performed the research of the pertinent literature and designed and drafted the manuscript. GCa revised and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant from "Terapie Avanzate per Processi Fibrotici Cronici" (Progetto EV-ER, codice domanda 320-40, Regione Piemonte).

- Baertschiger, R. M., Serre-Beinier, V., Morel, P., Bosco, D., Peyrou, M., Clément, S., et al. (2009). Fibrogenic potential of human multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells in injured liver. *PLoS One* 4:e6657. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0006657
- Baietti, M. F., Zhang, Z., Mortier, E., Melchior, A., Degeest, G., Geeraerts, A., et al. (2012). Syndecan-syntenin-ALIX regulates the biogenesis of exosomes. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 14, 677–685. doi: 10.1038/ncb2502
- Berg, T., DeLanghe, S., Al Alam, D., Utley, S., Estrada, J., and Wang, K. S. (2010). β-catenin regulates mesenchymal progenitor cell differentiation during hepatogenesis. J. Surg. Res. 164, 276–285. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2009.10.033
- Blans, K., Hansen, M. S., Sørensen, L. V., Hvam, M. L., Howard, K. A., Möller, A., et al. (2017). Pellet-free isolation of human and bovine milk extracellular vesicles by size-exclusion chromatography. *J. Extracell. Vesicles* 6:1294340. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2017.1294340

- Bobrie, A., Krumeich, S., Reyal, F., Recchi, C., Moita, L. F., Seabra, M. C., et al. (2012). Rab27a supports exosome-dependent and -independent mechanisms that modify the tumor microenvironment and can promote tumor progression. *Cancer Res.* 72, 4920–4930. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0925
- Bruno, S., Chiabotto, G., and Camussi, G. (2020a). Extracellular vesicles: a therapeutic option for liver fibrosis. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21:4255. doi: 10.3390/ ijms21124255
- Bruno, S., Herrera Sanchez, M. B., Pasquino, C., Tapparo, M., Cedrino, M., Tetta, C., et al. (2019). Human liver-derived stem cells improve fibrosis and inflammation associated with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Stem Cells Int.* 2019:6351091. doi: 10.1155/2019/6351091
- Bruno, S., Pasquino, C., Herrera Sanchez, M. B., Tapparo, M., Figliolini, F., Grange, C., et al. (2020b). HLSC-derived extracellular vesicles attenuate liver fibrosis and inflammation in a murine model of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Mol. Ther.* 28, 479–489. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2019.10.016
- Busatto, S., Vilanilam, G., Ticer, T., Lin, W.-L., Dickson, D. W., Shapiro, S., et al. (2018). Tangential flow filtration for highly efficient concentration of extracellular vesicles from large volumes of fluid. *Cells* 7:273. doi: 10.3390/ cells7120273
- Campbell, J. S., Hughes, S. D., Gilbertson, D. G., Palmer, T. E., Holdren, M. S., Haran, A. C., et al. (2005). Platelet-derived growth factor C induces liver fibrosis, steatosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 3389–3394. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0409722102
- Canbay, A., Feldstein, A. E., Higuchi, H., Werneburg, N., Grambihler, A., Bronk, S. F., et al. (2003). Kupffer cell engulfment of apoptotic bodies stimulates death ligand and cytokine expression. *Hepatology* 38, 1188–1198. doi: 10.1053/jhep. 2003.50472
- Carvalho, A. B., Quintanilha, L. F., Dias, J. V., Paredes, B. D., Mannheimer, E. G., Carvalho, F. G., et al. (2008). Bone marrow multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells do not reduce fibrosis or improve function in a rat model of severe chronic liver injury. *Stem Cells* 26, 1307–1314. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0941
- Chairoungdua, A., Smith, D. L., Pochard, P., Hull, M., and Caplan, M. J. (2010). Exosome release of β -catenin: a novel mechanism that antagonizes Wnt signaling. *J. Cell Biol.* 190, 1079–1091. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201002049
- Chen, L., Lu, F.-B., Chen, D.-Z., Wu, J.-L., Hu, E., Xu, L.-M., et al. (2018). BMSCs-derived miR-223-containing exosomes contribute to liver protection in experimental autoimmune hepatitis. *Mol. Immunol.* 93, 38–46. doi: 10.1016/j. molimm.2017.11.008
- Choi, J. S., Chae, D.-S., Ryu, H. A., and Kim, S.-W. (2019). Transplantation of human adipose tissue derived-SVF enhance liver function through high anti-inflammatory property. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell. Biol. Lipids* 1864:158526. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2019.158526
- Dewidar, B., Meyer, C., Dooley, S., and Meindl-Beinker, A. N. (2019). TGF- β in hepatic stellate cell activation and liver fibrogenesis-updated 2019. *Cells* 8:1419. doi: 10.3390/cells8111419
- di Bonzo, L. V., Ferrero, I., Cravanzola, C., Mareschi, K., Rustichell, D., Novo, E., et al. (2008). Human mesenchymal stem cells as a two-edged sword in hepatic regenerative medicine: engraftment and hepatocyte differentiation versus profibrogenic potential. *Gut* 57, 223–231. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.111617
- Dong, L., Pu, Y., Chen, X., Qi, X., Zhang, L., Xu, L., et al. (2020). hUCMSCextracellular vesicles downregulated hepatic stellate cell activation and reduced liver injury in *S. japonicum*-infected mice. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 11:21. doi: 10.1186/s13287-019-1539-8
- Driscoll, J., and Patel, T. (2019). The mesenchymal stem cell secretome as an acellular regenerative therapy for liver disease. *J. Gastroenterol.* 54, 763–773. doi: 10.1007/s00535-019-01599-1
- Du, C., Jiang, M., Wei, X., Qin, J., Xu, H., Wang, Y., et al. (2018). Transplantation of human matrix metalloproteinase-1 gene-modified bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell attenuates CCL4-induced liver fibrosis in rats. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 41, 3175–3184. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2018.3516
- Eom, Y. W., Shim, K. Y., and Baik, S. K. (2015). Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for liver fibrosis. *Korean J. Intern. Med.* 30, 580–589. doi: 10.3904/kjim.2015.30. 5.580
- Español-Suñer, R., Carpentier, R., Van Hul, N., Legry, V., Achouri, Y., Cordi, S., et al. (2012). Liver progenitor cells yield functional hepatocytes in response to chronic liver injury in mice. *Gastroenterology* 143, 1564.e7–1575.e7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.08.024

- Fabregat, I., Moreno-Càceres, J., Sánchez, A., Dooley, S., Dewidar, B., Giannelli, G., et al. (2016). TGF- β signaling and liver disease. *FEBS J.* 283, 2219–2232. doi: 10.1111/febs.13665
- Farouk, S., Sabet, S., Abu Zahra, F. A., and El-Ghor, A. A. (2018). Bone marrow derived-mesenchymal stem cells downregulate IL17A dependent IL6/STAT3 signaling pathway in CCl4-induced rat liver fibrosis. *PLoS One* 13:e0206130. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0206130
- Fathy, M., Okabe, M., Saad Eldien, H. M., and Yoshida, T. (2020). AT-MSCs antifibrotic activity is improved by eugenol through modulation of tgf-β/smad signaling pathway in rats. *Molecules* 25:348. doi: 10.3390/molecules25020348
- Feldstein, A. E., Canbay, A., Angulo, P., Taniai, M., Burgart, L. J., Lindor, K. D., et al. (2003). Hepatocyte apoptosis and fas expression are prominent features of human nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Gastroenterology* 125, 437–443. doi: 10.1016/s0016-5085(03)00907-7
- Fiore, E., Domínguez, L. M., Bayo, J., Malvicini, M., Atorrasagasti, C., Rodriguez, M., et al. (2020). Human umbilical cord perivascular cells-derived extracellular vesicles mediate the transfer of IGF-I to the liver and ameliorate hepatic fibrogenesis in mice. *Gene Ther.* 27, 62–73. doi: 10.1038/s41434-019-0102-7
- Fiore, E. J., Domínguez, L. M., Bayo, J., García, M. G., and Mazzolini, G. D. (2018). Taking advantage of the potential of mesenchymal stromal cells in liver regeneration: cells and extracellular vesicles as therapeutic strategies. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 24, 2427–2440. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i23.2427
- Forbes, S. J., Russo, F. P., Rey, V., Burra, P., Rugge, M., Wright, N. A., et al. (2004). A significant proportion of myofibroblasts are of bone marrow origin in human liver fibrosis. *Gastroenterology* 126, 955–963. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2004.02.025
- Friedenstein, A. J., Deriglasova, U. F., Kulagina, N. N., Panasuk, A. F., Rudakowa, S. F., Luriá, E. A., et al. (1974). Precursors for fibroblasts in different populations of hematopoietic cells as detected by the in vitro colony assay method. *Exp. Hematol.* 2, 83–92.
- Fu, Q., Ohnishi, S., and Sakamoto, N. (2018). Conditioned medium from human amnion-derived mesenchymal stem cells regulates activation of primary hepatic stellate cells. *Stem Cells Int.* 2018:4898152. doi: 10.1155/2018/4898152
- Granger, E., McNee, G., Allan, V., and Woodman, P. (2014). The role of the cytoskeleton and molecular motors in endosomal dynamics. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 31, 20–29. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2014.04.011
- Han, Y., Li, X., Zhang, Y., Han, Y., Chang, F., and Ding, J. (2019). Mesenchymal stem cells for regenerative medicine. *Cells* 8:886. doi: 10.3390/cells8080886
- Hayes, B. J., Riehle, K. J., Shimizu-Albergine, M., Bauer, R. L., Hudkins, K. L., Johansson, F., et al. (2014). Activation of platelet-derived growth factor receptor alpha contributes to liver fibrosis. *PLoS One* 9:e92925. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0092925
- Heinemann, M. L., Ilmer, M., Silva, L. P., Hawke, D. H., Recio, A., Vorontsova, M. A., et al. (2014). Benchtop isolation and characterization of functional exosomes by sequential filtration. *J. Chromatogr. A* 1371, 125–135. doi: 10.1016/ j.chroma.2014.10.026
- Herrera, M. B., Bruno, S., Buttiglieri, S., Tetta, C., Gatti, S., Deregibus, M. C., et al. (2006). Isolation and characterization of a stem cell population from adult human liver. *Stem Cells* 24, 2840–2850. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2006-0114
- Hong, J., Jin, H., Han, J., Hu, H., Liu, J., Li, L., et al. (2014). Infusion of human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells effectively relieves liver cirrhosis in DEN-induced rats. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 9, 1103–1111. doi: 10.3892/mmr. 2014.1927
- Hristov, M., Erl, W., Linder, S., and Weber, P. C. (2004). Apoptotic bodies from endothelial cells enhance the number and initiate the differentiation of human endothelial progenitor cells in vitro. *Blood* 104, 2761–2766. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-10-3614
- Hsu, C., Morohashi, Y., Yoshimura, S.-I., Manrique-Hoyos, N., Jung, S., Lauterbach, M. A., et al. (2010). Regulation of exosome secretion by Rab35 and its GTPase-activating proteins TBC1D10A-C. J. Cell Biol. 189, 223–232. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200911018
- Huang, B., Cheng, X., Wang, H., Huang, W., la Ga Hu, Z., Wang, D., et al. (2016). Mesenchymal stem cells and their secreted molecules predominantly ameliorate fulminant hepatic failure and chronic liver fibrosis in mice respectively. *J. Transl. Med.* 14:45. doi: 10.1186/s12967-016-0792-1
- Hurley, J. H., and Odorizzi, G. (2012). Get on the exosome bus with ALIX. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 14, 654–655. doi: 10.1038/ncb2530

- Hyun, J., Wang, S., Kim, J., Kim, G. J., and Jung, Y. (2015). MicroRNA125bmediated Hedgehog signaling influences liver regeneration by chorionic platederived mesenchymal stem cells. *Sci. Rep.* 5:14135. doi: 10.1038/srep14135
- Ibrahim, S. H., Hirsova, P., and Gores, G. J. (2018). Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis pathogenesis: sublethal hepatocyte injury as a driver of liver inflammation. *Gut* 67, 963–972. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-315691
- Idriss, N. K., Sayyed, H. G., Osama, A., and Sabry, D. (2018). Treatment efficiency of different routes of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell injection in rat liver fibrosis model. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 48, 2161–2171. doi: 10.1159/ 000492558
- Iwai, K., Minamisawa, T., Suga, K., Yajima, Y., and Shiba, K. (2016). Isolation of human salivary extracellular vesicles by iodixanol density gradient ultracentrifugation and their characterizations. J. Extracell. Vesicles 5:30829. doi: 10.3402/jev.v5.30829
- Iwanaka, T., Yamaza, T., Sonoda, S., Yoshimaru, K., Matsuura, T., Yamaza, H., et al. (2020). A model study for the manufacture and validation of clinical-grade deciduous dental pulp stem cells for chronic liver fibrosis treatment. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 11:134. doi: 10.1186/s13287-020-01630-w
- Jang, Y. O., Kim, M. Y., Cho, M. Y., Baik, S. K., Cho, Y. Z., and Kwon, S. O. (2014). Effect of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells on hepatic fibrosis in a thioacetamide-induced cirrhotic rat model. *BMC Gastroenterol.* 14:198. doi: 10.1186/s12876-014-0198-6
- Kallis, Y. N., and Forbes, S. J. (2009). The bone marrow and liver fibrosis: friend or foe? *Gastroenterology* 137, 1218–1221. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.08.026
- Karsdal, M. A., Daniels, S. J., Holm Nielsen, S., Bager, C., Rasmussen, D. G. K., Loomba, R., et al. (2020). Collagen biology and non-invasive biomarkers of liver fibrosis. *Liver Int*. 40, 736–750. doi: 10.1111/liv.14390
- Khalifa, Y. H., Mourad, G. M., Stephanos, W. M., Omar, S. A., and Mehanna, R. A. (2019). Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell potential regression of dysplasia associating experimental liver fibrosis in albino rats. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2019:5376165. doi: 10.1155/2019/5376165
- Kojima, Y., Tsuchiya, A., Ogawa, M., Nojiri, S., Takeuchi, S., Watanabe, T., et al. (2019). Mesenchymal stem cells cultured under hypoxic conditions had a greater therapeutic effect on mice with liver cirrhosis compared to those cultured under normal oxygen conditions. *Regen. Ther.* 11, 269–281. doi: 10. 1016/j.reth.2019.08.005
- Kowal, J., Arras, G., Colombo, M., Jouve, M., Morath, J. P., Primdal-Bengtson, B., et al. (2016). Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, E968–E977. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1521230113
- Krause, D. S. (2002). Plasticity of marrow-derived stem cells. Gene Ther. 9, 754–758. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3301760
- Krenkel, O., and Tacke, F. (2017). Liver macrophages in tissue homeostasis and disease. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 17, 306–321. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.11
- Lawson, C., Kovacs, D., Finding, E., Ulfelder, E., and Luis-Fuentes, V. (2017). Extracellular vesicles: evolutionarily conserved mediators of intercellular communication. *Yale J. Biol. Med.* 90, 481–491.
- Lee, E. J., Hwang, I., Lee, J. Y., Park, J. N., Kim, K. C., Kim, G.-H., et al. (2018). Hepatocyte growth factor improves the therapeutic efficacy of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells via RAD51. *Mol. Ther.* 26, 845–859. doi: 10. 1016/j.ymthe.2017.12.015
- Lee, T. H., D'Asti, E., Magnus, N., Al-Nedawi, K., Meehan, B., and Rak, J. (2011). Microvesicles as mediators of intercellular communication in cancerthe emerging science of cellular "debris.". *Semin. Immunopathol.* 33, 455–467. doi: 10.1007/s00281-011-0250-3
- Li, B., Antonyak, M. A., Zhang, J., and Cerione, R. A. (2012). RhoA triggers a specific signaling pathway that generates transforming microvesicles in cancer cells. *Oncogene* 31, 4740–4749. doi: 10.1038/onc.2011.636
- Li, T., Yan, Y., Wang, B., Qian, H., Zhang, X., Shen, L., et al. (2013). Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells alleviate liver fibrosis. *Stem Cells Dev.* 22, 845–854. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0395
- Liu, X., Wang, W., Hu, H., Tang, N., Zhang, C., Liang, W., et al. (2006). Smad3 specific inhibitor, naringenin, decreases the expression of extracellular matrix induced by TGF-beta1 in cultured rat hepatic stellate cells. *Pharm. Res.* 23, 82–89. doi: 10.1007/s11095-005-9043-5
- Lou, G., Chen, Z., Zheng, M., and Liu, Y. (2017a). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes as a new therapeutic strategy for liver diseases. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 49:e346. doi: 10.1038/emm.2017.63

- Lou, G., Yang, Y., Liu, F., Ye, B., Chen, Z., Zheng, M., et al. (2017b). MiR-122 modification enhances the therapeutic efficacy of adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells against liver fibrosis. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 21, 2963–2973. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.13208
- Lozano-Andrés, E., Libregts, S. F., Toribio, V., Royo, F., Morales, S., López-Martín, S., et al. (2019). Tetraspanin-decorated extracellular vesicle-mimetics as a novel adaptable reference material. *J. Extracell. Vesicles* 8:1573052. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2019.1573052
- Mardpour, S., Ghanian, M. H., Sadeghi-Abandansari, H., Mardpour, S., Nazari, A., Shekari, F., et al. (2019). Hydrogel-mediated sustained systemic delivery of mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles improves hepatic regeneration in chronic liver failure. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 11, 37421– 37433. doi: 10.1021/acsami.9b10126
- Mardpour, S., Hassani, S.-N., Mardpour, S., Sayahpour, F., Vosough, M., Ai, J., et al. (2018). Extracellular vesicles derived from human embryonic stem cell-MSCs ameliorate cirrhosis in thioacetamide-induced chronic liver injury. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 233, 9330–9344. doi: 10.1002/jcp.26413
- Mathieu, M., Martin-Jaular, L., Lavieu, G., and Théry, C. (2019). Specificities of secretion and uptake of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles for cell-to-cell communication. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 21, 9–17. doi: 10.1038/s41556-018-0250-9
- Mederacke, I., Hsu, C. C., Troeger, J. S., Huebener, P., Mu, X., Dapito, D. H., et al. (2013). Fate tracing reveals hepatic stellate cells as dominant contributors to liver fibrosis independent of its aetiology. *Nat. Commun.* 4:2823. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms3823
- Meldolesi, J. (2018). Exosomes and ectosomes in intercellular communication. *Curr. Biol.* 28, R435–R444. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2018.01.059
- Mihm, S. (2018). Danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs): molecular triggers for sterile inflammation in the liver. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:3104. doi: 10.3390/ijms19103104
- Muralidharan-Chari, V., Clancy, J., Plou, C., Romao, M., Chavrier, P., Raposo, G., et al. (2009). ARF6-regulated shedding of tumor cell-derived plasma membrane microvesicles. *Curr. Biol.* 19, 1875–1885. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2009.09.059
- Nabhan, J. F., Hu, R., Oh, R. S., Cohen, S. N., and Lu, Q. (2012). Formation and release of arrestin domain-containing protein 1-mediated microvesicles (ARMMs) at plasma membrane by recruitment of TSG101 protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 109, 4146–4151. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1200448109
- Nasir, G. A., Mohsin, S., Khan, M., Shams, S., Ali, G., Khan, S. N., et al. (2013). Mesenchymal stem cells and Interleukin-6 attenuate liver fibrosis in mice. *J. Transl. Med.* 11:78. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-11-78
- Nazarenko, I., Rana, S., Baumann, A., McAlear, J., Hellwig, A., Trendelenburg, M., et al. (2010). Cell surface tetraspanin Tspan8 contributes to molecular pathways of exosome-induced endothelial cell activation. *Cancer Res.* 70, 1668–1678. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2470
- Nishikawa, K., Osawa, Y., and Kimura, K. (2018). Wnt/β-catenin signaling as a potential target for the treatment of liver cirrhosis using antifibrotic drugs. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:3103. doi: 10.3390/ijms19103103
- Ohara, M., Ohnishi, S., Hosono, H., Yamamoto, K., Yuyama, K., Nakamura, H., et al. (2018). Extracellular vesicles from amnion-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate hepatic inflammation and fibrosis in rats. *Stem Cells Int.* 2018:3212643. doi: 10.1155/2018/3212643
- O'Reilly, S., Ciechomska, M., Cant, R., and van Laar, J. M. (2014). Interleukin-6 (IL-6) trans signaling drives a STAT3-dependent pathway that leads to hyperactive transforming growth factor-β (TGF-β) signaling promoting SMAD3 activation and fibrosis via Gremlin protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 9952–9960. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M113.545822
- Ostrowski, M., Carmo, N. B., Krumeich, S., Fanget, I., Raposo, G., Savina, A., et al. (2010). Rab27a and Rab27b control different steps of the exosome secretion pathway. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 19–30. doi: 10.1038/ncb2000
- Perez-Hernandez, D., Gutiérrez-Vázquez, C., Jorge, I., López-Martín, S., Ursa, A., Sánchez-Madrid, F., et al. (2013). The intracellular interactome of tetraspaninenriched microdomains reveals their function as sorting machineries toward exosomes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 11649–11661. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.44 5304
- Pittenger, M. F., Mackay, A. M., Beck, S. C., Jaiswal, R. K., Douglas, R., Mosca, J. D., et al. (1999). Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science* 284, 143–147. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5411.143
- Popp, F. C., Slowik, P., Eggenhofer, E., Renner, P., Lang, S. A., Stoeltzing, O., et al. (2007). No contribution of multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells to liver

regeneration in a rat model of prolonged hepatic injury. *Stem Cells* 25, 639–645. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2006-0515

- Puglisi, M. A., Tesori, V., Lattanzi, W., Piscaglia, A. C., Gasbarrini, G. B., D'Ugo, D. M., et al. (2011). Therapeutic implications of mesenchymal stem cells in liver injury. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2011:860578. doi: 10.1155/2011/860578
- Qu, Y., Zhang, Q., Cai, X., Li, F., Ma, Z., Xu, M., et al. (2017). Exosomes derived from miR-181-5p-modified adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells prevent liver fibrosis via autophagy activation. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 21, 2491–2502. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.13170
- Rabani, V., Shahsavani, M., Gharavi, M., Piryaei, A., Azhdari, Z., and Baharvand, H. (2010). Mesenchymal stem cell infusion therapy in a carbon tetrachlorideinduced liver fibrosis model affects matrix metalloproteinase expression. *Cell Biol. Int.* 34, 601–605. doi: 10.1042/CBI20090386
- Rengasamy, M., Singh, G., Fakharuzi, N. A., Siddikuzzaman, Balasubramanian, S., Swamynathan, P., et al. (2017). Transplantation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells reduces liver fibrosis more effectively than Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stromal cells. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 8:143. doi: 10.1186/s13287-017-0595-1
- Roehlen, N., Crouchet, E., and Baumert, T. F. (2020). Liver fibrosis: mechanistic concepts and therapeutic perspectives. *Cells* 9:875. doi: 10.3390/cells9040875
- Rong, X., Liu, J., Yao, X., Jiang, T., Wang, Y., and Xie, F. (2019). Human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes alleviate liver fibrosis through the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 10:98. doi: 10.1186/ s13287-019-1204-2
- Savina, A., Fader, C. M., Damiani, M. T., and Colombo, M. I. (2005). Rab11 promotes docking and fusion of multivesicular bodies in a calcium-dependent manner. *Traffic* 6, 131–143. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2004.00257.x
- Savina, A., Furlán, M., Vidal, M., and Colombo, M. I. (2003). Exosome release is regulated by a calcium-dependent mechanism in K562 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 20083–20090. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M301642200
- Stenmark, H. (2009). Rab GTPases as coordinators of vesicle traffic. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 10, 513–525. doi: 10.1038/nrm2728
- Stock, P., Brückner, S., Winkler, S., Dollinger, M. M., and Christ, B. (2014). Human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived hepatocytes improve the mouse liver after acute acetaminophen intoxication by preventing progress of injury. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 15, 7004–7028. doi: 10.3390/ijms15047004
- Stuffers, S., Sem Wegner, C., Stenmark, H., and Brech, A. (2009). Multivesicular endosome biogenesis in the absence of ESCRTs. *Traffic* 10, 925–937. doi: 10. 1111/j.1600-0854.2009.00920.x
- Sun, T., Li, H., Bai, Y., Bai, M., Gao, F., Yu, J., et al. (2020). Ultrasound-targeted microbubble destruction optimized HGF-overexpressing bone marrow stem cells to repair fibrotic liver in rats. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 11:145. doi: 10.1186/ s13287-020-01655-1
- Sun, Y.-Y., Li, X.-F., Meng, X.-M., Huang, C., Zhang, L., and Li, J. (2017). Macrophage Phenotype in Liver Injury and Repair. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 85, 166–174. doi: 10.1111/sji.12468
- Tanimoto, H., Terai, S., Taro, T., Murata, Y., Fujisawa, K., Yamamoto, N., et al. (2013). Improvement of liver fibrosis by infusion of cultured cells derived from human bone marrow. *Cell Tissue Res.* 354, 717–728. doi: 10.1007/s00441-013-1727-2
- Théry, C., Amigorena, S., Raposo, G., and Clayton, A. (2006). Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids. *Curr. Protoc. Cell Biol.* 30, 3.22.1–3.22.29. doi: 10.1002/0471143030. cb0322s30
- Trajkovic, K., Hsu, C., Chiantia, S., Rajendran, L., Wenzel, D., Wieland, F., et al. (2008). Ceramide triggers budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular endosomes. *Science* 319, 1244–1247. doi: 10.1126/science.1153124
- Truong, N. H., Nguyen, N. H., Le, T. V., Vu, N. B., Huynh, N., Nguyen, T. V., et al. (2016). Comparison of the treatment efficiency of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell transplantation via tail and portal veins in CCl4-induced mouse liver fibrosis. *Stem Cells Int.* 2016:5720413. doi: 10.1155/2016/5720413
- van Niel, G., Charrin, S., Simoes, S., Romao, M., Rochin, L., Saftig, P., et al. (2011). The tetraspanin CD63 regulates ESCRT-independent and -dependent endosomal sorting during melanogenesis. *Dev. Cell* 21, 708–721. doi: 10.1016/j. devcel.2011.08.019
- van Niel, G., D'Angelo, G., and Raposo, G. (2018). Shedding light on the cell biology of extracellular vesicles. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 19, 213–228. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2017.125

- Varderidou-Minasian, S., and Lorenowicz, M. J. (2020). Mesenchymal stromal/stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles in tissue repair: challenges and opportunities. *Theranostics* 10, 5979–5997. doi: 10.7150/thno.40122
- Wells, R. G., Kruglov, E., and Dranoff, J. A. (2004). Autocrine release of TGFbeta by portal fibroblasts regulates cell growth. *FEBS Lett.* 559, 107–110. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(04)00037-7
- Winkler, S., Borkham-Kamphorst, E., Stock, P., Brückner, S., Dollinger, M., Weiskirchen, R., et al. (2014). Human mesenchymal stem cells towards nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in an immunodeficient mouse model. *Exp. Cell Res.* 326, 230–239. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.04.017
- Yan, X., Liu, Z., and Chen, Y. (2009). Regulation of TGF-beta signaling by Smad7. Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. 41, 263–272. doi: 10.1093/abbs/gmp018
- Yang, L., Roh, Y. S., Song, J., Zhang, B., Liu, C., Loomba, R., et al. (2014). Transforming growth factor beta signaling in hepatocytes participates in steatohepatitis through regulation of cell death and lipid metabolism in mice. *Hepatology* 59, 483–495. doi: 10.1002/hep.26698
- Ying, H.-Z., Chen, Q., Zhang, W.-Y., Zhang, H.-H., Ma, Y., Zhang, S.-Z., et al. (2017). PDGF signaling pathway in hepatic fibrosis pathogenesis and therapeutics (Review). *Mol. Med. Rep.* 16, 7879–7889. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2017. 7641
- Yuan, K., Lai, C., Wei, L., Feng, T., Yang, Q., Zhang, T., et al. (2019). The effect of vascular endothelial growth factor on bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell engraftment in rat fibrotic liver upon transplantation. *Stem Cells Int.* 2019:5310202. doi: 10.1155/2019/5310202
- Zeisberg, M., Yang, C., Martino, M., Duncan, M. B., Rieder, F., Tanjore, H., et al. (2007). Fibroblasts derive from hepatocytes in liver fibrosis via epithelial to mesenchymal transition. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 23337–23347. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M700194200
- Zepeda-Morales, A. S. M., Del Toro-Arreola, S., García-Benavides, L., Bastidas-Ramírez, B. E., Fafutis-Morris, M., Pereira-Suárez, A. L., et al. (2016). Liver fibrosis in bile duct-ligated rats correlates with increased hepatic IL-17 and TGF-β2 expression. *Ann. Hepatol.* 15, 418–426. doi: 10.5604/16652681.119 8820
- Zhan, S.-S., Jiang, J. X., Wu, J., Halsted, C., Friedman, S. L., Zern, M. A., et al. (2006). Phagocytosis of apoptotic bodies by hepatic stellate cells induces NADPH oxidase and is associated with liver fibrosis in vivo. *Hepatology* 43, 435–443. doi: 10.1002/hep.21093
- Zhang, L., Zhou, D., Li, J., Yan, X., Zhu, J., Xiao, P., et al. (2019). Effects of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells on hypoxia and the transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGFβ-1) and SMADs pathway in a mouse model of cirrhosis. *Med. Sci. Monit.* 25, 7182–7190. doi: 10.12659/MSM.916428
- Zhang, L.-T., Fang, X.-Q., Chen, Q.-F., Chen, H., Xiao, P., Peng, X.-B., et al. (2015). Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells inhibit the proliferation of hepatic stellate cells by inhibiting the transforming growth factor β pathway. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 12, 7227–7232. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2015.4362
- Zhao, D.-C., Lei, J.-X., Chen, R., Yu, W.-H., Zhang, X.-M., Li, S.-N., et al. (2005). Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells protect against experimental liver fibrosis in rats. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 11, 3431–3440. doi: 10.3748/wjg. v11.i22.3431
- Zhao, W., Li, J.-J., Cao, D.-Y., Li, X., Zhang, L.-Y., He, Y., et al. (2012). Intravenous injection of mesenchymal stem cells is effective in treating liver fibrosis. World J. Gastroenterol. 18, 1048–1058. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i10.1048
- Zhen, Y., and Stenmark, H. (2015). Cellular functions of Rab GTPases at a glance. J. Cell. Sci. 128, 3171–3176. doi: 10.1242/jcs.166074

Conflict of Interest: GCa is a component of Scientific Advisory Board of Unicyte AG.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Chiabotto, Pasquino, Camussi and Bruno. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Molecular Crosstalk Between Macrophages and Mesenchymal Stromal Cells

Hazel Y. Stevens¹, Annie C. Bowles¹, Carolyn Yeago^{1,2} and Krishnendu Roy^{1,2,3,4*}

¹ Marcus Center for Therapeutic Cell Characterization and Manufacturing, Parker H. Petit Institute for Bioengineering and Bioscience, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, United States, ² NSF Engineering Research Center (ERC) for Cell Manufacturing Technologies (CMaT), Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, United States, ³ The Wallace H. Coulter Department of Biomedical Engineering, Georgia Institute of Technology, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, United States, ⁴ Center for ImmunoEngineering, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Antonio Salgado, University of Minho, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Gianandrea Pasquinelli, University of Bologna, Italy Ludmila Buravkova, Institute of Biomedical Problems, Russian Academy of Sciences, Russia Charles Samuel Cox, The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States

> *Correspondence: Krishnendu Roy krish.roy@gatech.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 28 August 2020 Accepted: 05 November 2020 Published: 09 December 2020

Citation:

Stevens HY, Bowles AC, Yeago C and Roy K (2020) Molecular Crosstalk Between Macrophages and Mesenchymal Stromal Cells. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:600160. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.600160

Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) have been widely investigated for regenerative medicine applications, from treating various inflammatory diseases as a cell therapy to generating engineered tissue constructs. Numerous studies have evaluated the potential effects of MSCs following therapeutic administration. By responding to their surrounding microenvironment, MSCs may mediate immunomodulatory effects through various mechanisms that directly (i.e., contact-dependent) or indirectly (i.e., paracrine activity) alter the physiology of endogenous cells in various disease pathologies. More specifically, a pivotal crosstalk between MSCs and tissue-resident macrophages and monocytes (TM φ) has been elucidated using *in vitro* and *in vivo* preclinical studies. An improved understanding of this crosstalk could help elucidate potential mechanisms of action (MOAs) of therapeutically administered MSCs. $TM\varphi$, by nature of their remarkable functional plasticity and prevalence within the body, are uniquely positioned as critical modulators of the immune system - not only in maintaining homeostasis but also during pathogenesis. This has prompted further exploration into the cellular and molecular alterations to TM mediated by MSCs. In vitro assays and in vivo preclinical trials have identified key interactions mediated by MSCs that polarize the responses of TM p from a pro-inflammatory (i.e., classical activation) to a more antiinflammatory/reparative (i.e., alternative activation) phenotype and function. In this review, we describe physiological and pathological TM φ functions in response to various stimuli and discuss the evidence that suggest specific mechanisms through which MSCs may modulate TM φ phenotypes and functions, including paracrine interactions (e.g., secretome and extracellular vesicles), nanotube-mediated intercellular exchange, bioenergetics, and engulfment by macrophages. Continued efforts to elucidate this pivotal crosstalk may offer an improved understanding of the immunomodulatory capacity of MSCs and inform the development and testing of potential MOAs to support the therapeutic use of MSCs and MSC-derived products in various diseases.

Keywords: macrophages (M1/M2), mechanism of action (MOA), immunomodulation, cell therapy, mesenchymal stromal (or stem) cells

INTRODUCTION

Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs), also referred to as Mesenchymal Stem Cells or Medicinal Signaling Cells, have garnered attention as cell therapies against various diseases, including graft versus host disease (GvHD) (Ball et al., 2013), neurological disorders (Riordan et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2020), and cardiovascular disease (Hare et al., 2009). For decades, MSCs have been investigated for their immunomodulatory, anti-inflammatory, and regenerative functions revealing several potential modalities for mediating therapeutic effects. A large body of literature has demonstrated that MSCs are highly responsive to environmental cues and elicit their effects through direct [i.e., cell-cell contact (Quaedackers et al., 2009; Galipeau and Sensebe, 2018)] and indirect (i.e., paracrine signaling (Caplan and Correa, 2011; Salgado and Gimble, 2013; Serejo et al., 2019)] interactions resulting in suppression of pathogenic cells (Ren et al., 2008; Quaedackers et al., 2009), induction of regulatory cells (Luz-Crawford et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2017), cytoprotection (Block et al., 2009), trophic support (Zhang et al., 2007), and tissue repair (Wu et al., 2007). Thus, the therapeutic capacity of exogenously administered MSCs relies on their innate ability to respond to surrounding pathophysiological cues and orchestrate cellular and molecular changes to restore local and systemic homeostasis.

Although MSCs hold promise for clinical use, our knowledge of MSCs has been gained primarily through *in vitro* assays and pre-clinical animal studies, leaving gaps in translation and an inability to demonstrate definitive efficacy in human clinical trials (Galipeau and Sensebe, 2018). How we characterize MSCs and test their therapeutic "potencies" *ex vivo* may be the reason for these disparities that are observed between preclinical and clinical trial results. Further elucidations into cellular and molecular interactions mediated by MSCs will better inform future investigations of key endogenous cellular targets and, ultimately, bridge the gaps to advance clinical use of MSCs by understanding how, when, and where to deliver therapeutic MSCs.

MSCs have been isolated from various tissues of the body including bone marrow, adipose, and umbilical cord tissue. By harnessing the plastic-adherence property of MSCs and with the addition of a tailored media formulation for sustaining their growth, the residual tissue-resident cells can be eliminated and MSCs can be obtained for investigational use (Secunda et al., 2015; Palumbo et al., 2018). Culture systems enable expansion of MSCs for acquiring the necessary cell numbers (i.e., yield) for therapeutic dosages in humans or animal studies. Regardless of the tissue source, plastic-adherent MSCs are further characterized by a specific set of criteria such as their expression profile of positive (e.g., CD73, CD90, and CD105) and negative (e.g., CD11b, CD14, CD19, CD34, CD45, CD79a, and HLA-DR) surface markers and in vitro multi-lineage differentiation capacity (i.e., induced osteogenesis, adipogenesis, and chondrogenesis) (Dominici et al., 2006). The caveat, however, is that ex vivo manipulation to isolate, expand, and interrogate MSCs may introduce transcriptional, epigenetic, metabolomic, and proteomic changes - and these characteristics of cultured

MSCs likely do not parallel those of endogenous stromal cells (Caplan, 2008). Moreover, delivery of therapeutic MSCs back to an *in vivo* environment makes it additionally challenging to anticipate outcomes and demonstrate reproducible results. For these reasons, we will primarily focus on MSCs infused as therapy and the consequential effects on endogenous cells.

Autologous or allogeneic MSCs delivered as therapy may exert multiple effects to mitigate local and systemic pathologies. These potential therapeutic modalities are a result of the dynamic ability of MSCs to respond to various stimuli (Caplan and Correa, 2011). The caveat, however, is that these multimodal effects of MSCs make it challenging to identify specific mechanisms of action (MOA) that, if realized, can then be exploited in developed testing platforms. In fact, there is a strong need to develop and test a multivariate set of assays to evaluate mechanistic outcomes of MSCs using co-cultures with immune cells. Not only would understanding biological variation, evaluating manufacturing processes, and evaluating tissue sources be improved, these assays would help predict in vivo "therapeutic potencies" of infused MSCs, ultimately facilitating the translation and standardization necessary to advance cell manufacturing and regulatory approval for clinical use (Bianco et al., 2008; Chinnadurai et al., 2018). In vitro and in vivo preclinical studies have, thus far, provided compelling evidence for key interactions, referred to as molecular crosstalk, between MSCs and immune cells, most notably monocytes, macrophages, and T lymphocytes (Bianco et al., 2008; Chinnadurai et al., 2018; Antebi et al., 2019). These vital immune cells are at the crux of immune system functions, transmitting information in the form of molecular signals from a site of pathology to the rest of the body. Here, we take a more indepth look into evidence that suggests an integral crosstalk between MSCs and specifically monocytes and tissue-resident macrophages (TM ϕ) to get us one step closer to identifying potential MOAs by MSCs.

CHANGING DOGMA DELINEATE MONOCYTE AND MACROPHAGE POPULATIONS

First, understanding the physiological roles of TM during steady-state (i.e., homeostasis) and pathology is necessary to realize the alterations mediated by MSCs, and vice versa. Monocytes and macrophages, as well as dendritic cells, comprise the mononuclear phagocytic system (MPS). More in-depth physiological roles will be further described herein, but the most simplified term that captures the functions of MPS cells is "SHIP" - Sample, Heal, Inhibit, and Present (antigen) (Mills et al., 2014). Together, MPS cells are essential cells of the innate immune system that acquire information from their surroundings (e.g., by phagocytosis) and communicate the information (e.g., by antigen-presentation) to the adaptive immune system for a coordinated resolution of pathology. Thus, physiological plasticity (i.e., functional heterogeneity) is the underlying propensity of these cells to regulate tissue microenvironments (Wynn et al., 2013). With the dynamic nature of both MSCs and $TM\phi$, determining the mechanistic effects resulting from this integral crosstalk continues to be an ongoing exploration.

The literature depicting the physiology of macrophages often pays homage to the pioneering work of Ilya Metchnikoff, a Russian zoologist turned immunologist and Nobel Prize laureate. He not only described these "large devouring cells" in the late 19th century but, more importantly, suggested the role of these cells as part of the host's defenses, the first implications of the innate immune system, deeming him the father of cellular immunity (Hoeffel and Ginhoux, 2015). Discoveries after that showed commonalities in cellular responses and phagocytic functions between bone marrowderived monocytes and tissue-resident macrophages that led many to believe that monocytes were the predecessors of macrophages. Although these physiological similarities are still appreciated, fate mapping and lineage tracing technologies have more recently delineated their ontogenies. Hematopoiesis in the bone marrow generates myeloid precursors that differentiate into monocytes upon emigration to the bloodstream. TM ϕ can develop from circulating monocytes that have infiltrated into tissues. However, most of them originate from either yolk sac-derived erythro-myeloid or fetal liver progenitors during embryogenesis, i.e., hematopoietic stem cell-independent precursors (Dey et al., 2014; Hoeffel and Ginhoux, 2015). Further delineation of monocytes and macrophages describes differentiation into subsets and transitional phenotypes, respectively, with distinct functions influenced by spatiotemporal cues.

Monocytes are generally categorized into subsets corresponding to surface markers and functional activities, some of which are shared with $TM\phi$. Interestingly, the frequency of each monocyte subset is inversely related to their lifespan during a steady state. Classical monocytes (CD14^{high}CD16⁻) make up about 85% of the circulating monocytes, and 15% consist of both intermediate (CD14^{high}CD16⁺) and nonclassical monocytes (CD14^{low}CD16^{high}) (Patel et al., 2017; Ong et al., 2019). Classical monocytes are considered less mature and emerge from the bone marrow, where they enter the circulatory system with a propensity for phagocytosis of debris or foreign invaders, with the shortest lifespan of 1 day. The majority of these cells die or extravasate into tissues, whereas a small portion transition into intermediate monocytes. Intermediate monocytes are generated in response to an initial stimulus and function to propagate inflammatory signaling over a lifespan of a little over 4 days. Intermediate monocytes then transition to non-classical monocytes, with have an extended lifespan of approximately 7.5 days, allowing them to patrol the vasculature and potentially infiltrate affected tissues to resolve the inflammatory stimulus (Thomas et al., 2015; Patel et al., 2017). Thus, intermediate and non-classical monocytes are considered the mature "inflammatory" subsets as their frequency is elevated in the blood during inflammation or pathogenesis (Hamilton and Tak, 2009; Thomas et al., 2015). Although circulating monocytes have been observed to extravasate into tissues, especially during pathological activities, the majority provide short-term surveillance as a host's first line

of defense and are then replenished by continued hematopoiesis (van Furth and Cohn, 1968).

In contrast, tissue-resident macrophages possess dynamic phenotypes and functions, some of which exhibit tissue-specific functions. Here, $TM\phi$ self-renew and persist for months to even years in steady-state. Upon activation by inflammation or other pathological stimuli, naïve macrophages (M0) differentiate into classical or alternative activation macrophages, formerly M1 or M2 phenotypes, respectively, according to their surrounding microenvironment. Initially, the M1 or M2 phenotypes denoted a pro- or anti-inflammatory function, respectively, and this paradigm was synonymous with the polarized responses of tolllike receptor (TLR) signaling observed with T lymphocyte subset (i.e., type 1 or 2 helper T cells) (Mills et al., 2000). Although this macrophage nomenclature is still used, emergent evidence now suggests a spectrum of spatiotemporal identifiers, ultimately relinquishing these finite conventions (Nahrendorf and Swirski, 2016). The dynamic phenotypes of the classical or alternative activation macrophage subsets have been identified to capture physiological functions closely correlated to metabolic programs (Mills et al., 2000; Vasandan et al., 2016). A burgeoning research area endeavors to ascertain their spatiotemporal role, however, this review will collectively consider macrophages regardless of the nomenclatures describing subsets, phenotypes, and tissuespecific names to describe their crosstalk with MSCs (Table 1).

FUNCTIONAL HETEROGENEITY OF MACROPHAGES

 $TM\phi$ are vital cells of the body that are integral to the development and homeostatic maintenance of all tissues (Figure 1). These professional phagocytes have shared roles and responses across tissues, including clearance of dead cells and debris, presenting antigen, remodeling of tissue, and metabolic regulation but also functions that serve tissue-specific demands related to each organ. Interestingly, some physiological functions enable others. For instance, one of the primary $TM\phi$ of the bone, osteoclasts, are responsible for bone resorption which is fundamental to bone remodeling during development; thus, osteoclasts sculpt the bone cavity, enabling hematopoiesis to ensue. Consequently, the generation of monocytes and subsequently immune system functions rely on these bone resident TMq. Throughout the body, these shared roles act specifically to maintain steady state functions of resident cells and organ system functions.

During erythropoiesis, macrophages surround maturing erythroblasts, ingest extruding nuclei and essentially permit formation of erythrocytes, or red blood cells. The depletion of erythrocytes for natural turnover is also a steady state function of splenic and hepatic TM φ . The liver, pancreas, and adipose tissue are organs that maintain metabolic homeostasis. TM φ of the liver, called Kupffer cells, facilitate the metabolism of hepatocytes during caloric intake, regulating the uptake, synthesis, and oxidation of fatty acids. Similarly, TM φ support β -cell function in the pancreas, although their precise role during steady state remains to be determined since discoveries so far appear to be a

Nomenclature	Phenotypic markers	Function	Citation
Classical monocytes (Naïve)	HLA-DR ⁺ , CD11b ⁺ , CD14 ^{high} , CD16 ⁻ , CCR2 ^{high} , CXC3R1 ^{low}	Phagocytosis	Ong et al., 2019; Thomas et al., 2015
Intermediate monocytes (activated)	HLA-DR ⁺ , CD11b ⁺ , CD14 ^{high} , CD16 ⁺ , CCR2 ⁺ , CXC3R1 ^{high} CCR5 ⁺	Pro-inflammatory	Thomas et al., 2015; Ong et al., 2019
Non-classical monocytes (activated)	HLA-DR ⁺ , CD11b ⁺ , CD14 ^{low} CD16 ^{high} , CCR2 ^{low} , CX3CR1 ^{high}	Patrolling	Thomas et al., 2015; Ong et al., 2019
Classical activation (M1) TM ϕ	HLA-DR ⁺ , CD68 ⁺ , CD80 ^{high} , CD206 ^{low} CD40 ⁺ , CCR7 ⁺ , CXCL9 ⁺ , IL-10 ^{low} , IL-12 ^{high}	Pro-inflammatory, microbicidal, Th1 differentiation, tumor resistance	Martinez et al., 2008; Raggi et al., 2017; Shapouri-Moghaddam et al., 2018
Alternative activation (M2) TM φ	HLA-DR ⁺ , CD68 ⁺ , CD86 ⁺ , CD80 ^{low} , CD206 ^{high} , CD36 ⁺	Anti-inflammatory, reparative	Martinez et al., 2008; Raggi et al., 2017; Shapouri-Moghaddam et al., 2018
M2a subset	CD206+, IL-1R ⁺ , CCL17 ⁺	Anti-inflammatory, promote cell growth, wound healing	Martinez et al., 2008; Shapouri-Moghaddam et al., 2018
M2b subset	CD86 ⁺ , CCL1 ⁺ , IL-10R ⁺ , IL-12R ⁺ , IL-6R ⁺ , IL-10 ^{high} , IL-12 ^{low}	Immunoregulation, promote tumor progression, Th2 differentiation, microbial infections	Martinez et al., 2008; Shapouri-Moghaddam et al., 2018
M2c subset	CD206 ⁺ , CD163 ⁺ , CXCL13 ⁺ , TLR-1 ⁺ , TLR-8 ⁺	Immunosuppression, phagocytosis, tissue remodeling	Martinez et al., 2008; Shapouri-Moghaddam et al., 2018
M2d subset	IL-10R, IL-12R, IL-10 ^{high} , IL-12 ^{low} , TNF α^{low}	Angiogenesis, tumor progression	Martinez et al., 2008; Shapouri-Moghaddam et al., 2018

TABLE 1 | Nomenclature used to denote monocyte and macrophage subsets with associated phenotypic markers and functions found in humans.

Alternative activation (M2) TM ϕ are further delineated into four subsets (a–d) with specific markers and functions.

consequence of pancreatic dysfunction, such as insulin resistance. Insulin and other hormone sensitivities are maintained by $TM\phi$ in adipose tissue for systemic metabolic regulation and thermogenic control of the body (Hamilton and Tak, 2009; Wynn et al., 2013).

Microglia are the main brain-resident TM φ responsible for neuronal patterning, survival, and function while other TM φ in the brain are localized to key areas for maintaining fluid balance and the integrity of the blood-brain barrier (Chen et al., 2015). Understandably, TM φ are fundamental constituents of the heart, lungs, and other organ systems, playing key roles during development and throughout adulthood; however, it is mostly through inflammatory and pathological conditions that their roles are elucidated. It is of no surprise that TM φ are involved in almost every disease and crosstalk with neighboring stromal cells serves as a vital connection to restore homeostasis of tissues.

CELLULAR CROSSTALK WITH MSCs

Several of the proposed MOAs that have been implicated as the underlying therapeutic effects of administered MSCs directly or indirectly acts on TM ϕ (**Figure 2**). Initial pathogenesis or physical insult mount a "SOS" response, recruiting cells (e.g., TM ϕ) that are proximal and distal to the site of pathology by chemotactic and tropic factors. MSCs, too, have demonstrated an ability to home to sites of pathology once infused as therapy (Shi et al., 2007). However, the most common route of delivery for MSCs is currently by intravenous infusion, rendering MSCs lodged in the capillaries of the lungs soon after and no evidence of engraftment to date (Giri and Galipeau, 2020). This evidence has markedly shaped approaches to investigate and exploit alternative mechanisms that may be employed by MSCs to mediate therapeutic effects. We now recognize that the effects of MSCs following infusion could be largely paracrine mediated, and not by direct cell-cell contact (Caplan and Dennis, 2006; Caplan and Correa, 2011).

Soluble mediators may play more than one role in resolving tissue damage or pathology. These signals can be released directly into extracellular spaces to incite local responses or packaged in extracellular vesicles, e.g., exosomes, which travel to distal sites for systemic responses. The constituents of this cellular crosstalk described here are, in many cases, likely produced by MSCs that then directly influence the metabolic program and, in turn, the physiological function of TM φ . Alterations in macrophages are detected as skewed phenotypes as a result of metabolic reprogramming, although the duration of these temporal changes, downstream targets, and overall *in vivo* effects during pathology remain to be fully elucidated locally and systemically.

COX/PGE2/EP4 Axis

One of the most well-known soluble mediators that has been attributed to the therapeutic effects of MSCs is prostaglandin E2 (PGE2). PGE2 is a homeostatic factor derived from the metabolism of arachidonic acid by prostaglandin synthases and cyclooxygenases (constitutively active COX1 and inducible COX2) in both myeloid and stromal cells (Kalinski, 2012). Both human and mouse MSCs constitutively produce PGE2, and upon pro-inflammatory challenge with interferon- γ (IFN γ), tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α) or interleukin (IL)-1 β , induced elevation of PGE2 has been demonstrated (Noronha et al., 2019). PGE2 promotes the production of interleukin-10 (IL-10) from TM ϕ and has a synergistic effect with indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) to elicit MSC-induced



FIGURE 1 Schematic of the potential mechanisms of action mediated by MSCs on TM ϕ . The range of mechanisms important in MSC effects on macrophages (a–f) and the resulting effector molecules/effects seen in macrophages (g–m). miRNA, microRNA; AhR, aryl hydrocarbon receptor; PGE2, prostaglandin E2; TGF β , transforming growth factor beta; TSG-6, TNF alpha-stimulated gene 6; IDO-1, indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase; LL-37, antimicrobial peptide; AREG, amphiregulin; Tregs, regulatory T cells; IL-10, interleukin-10; CCR2, monocyte chemotactic protein –1 receptor; CXCL8, chemokine C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 8; SDF-1, stromal cell derived factor 1; Runx2, Runt-related transcription factor 2; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; TNF α , tumor necrosis factor alpha; ROS, reactive oxygen species; HSP, heat shock protein; STC1, stanniocalcin-1; Image created with BioRender.

immunosuppression on various immune cells in vitro (Spaggiari et al., 2008; Nemeth et al., 2009). An MSC-dependent PGE2 has been demonstrated to alter monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation, promoting the survival of monocytes activated by macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF), by transactivation of the M-CSF receptor (Digiacomo et al., 2015) and, more importantly, polarized to an alternative activation (M2-like) phenotype (increased CD163 and CD206 and reduced MHCII/HLA-DR expressions) of TM ϕ (Figure 3F). Alternative activation macrophages upregulated secretion of amphiregulin (AREG) (Ko et al., 2020), showed bolstered functions of scavenging and phagocytic activities and enhanced production of immunomodulatory cytokines IL-10 and transforming growth factor-\$ (TGF\$) in vitro (Chiossone et al., 2016). MSCs from multiple tissues have reproducibly polarized macrophages of various sources by this PGE2-dependent mechanism resulting in the suppression of pro-inflammatory factors, e.g., tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), IL-12p70, and IL-17, while promoting anti-inflammatory IL-10, ultimately inhibiting perpetuation

of immune responses by antigen presentation (Melief et al., 2013; Deng et al., 2016; Manferdini et al., 2017). PGE2 binding to EP4 activates adenylate cyclase and intracellular cAMP levels are elevated. This in turn activates PKA and this has been shown to phosphorylate CREB (cyclic AMP-responsive element binding). Phosphorylated CREB leads to transcription of C/EBP- β which promotes anti-inflammatory gene expression (Na et al., 2015). Of all the PGE2 receptors, only EP4 was found to facilitate the production of IL-10 and suppression of TNF α (Yasui et al., 2015). Furthermore, the secreted molecules released by the M2-like macrophages induced regulatory T cells (Tregs), a T cell subset essential for immune tolerance (Schmidt et al., 2016).

Tregs and AREG

MSCs skew TM φ phenotype via the secretome, with the resulting pro-regenerative macrophages demonstrating heightened release of IL10 and TGF β (Francois et al., 2012; Mittal et al., 2016; Vasandan et al., 2016). However, MSC-conditioned macrophages



are known to influence T cell activation *in vitro*, by inducing the differentiation of FoxP3⁺ Tregs from CD4+ helper T cells (Schmidt et al., 2016). Tregs are mediators of selftolerance, essential to prevention of autoimmunity, and are immunosuppressive of inflammatory and allergic responses to infection. Tregs are recognized as significant contributors to immunomodulatory responses mediated by MSCs and in-depth descriptions of these interactions are described by Burr et al. (2013) and English (2013). MSC-primed macrophages, utilize TGF β , IL-10 and other immunomodulatory factors that alter the differentiation of T cell subsets, dendritic cells and B cells *in vitro* as well as new *in vitro* and *in vivo* evidence points to epidermal growth factor receptor ligand AREG as another signaling moiety (Ko et al., 2020).

AREG has been implicated in the resolution of inflammation, regeneration of tissues, and restoration of homeostasis after injury. There are several ways that MSCs can promote the secretion of AREG from macrophages. These include the uptake of mitochondria from MSCs and the use of the COX-2/PGE2/EP4 signaling axis (Ko et al., 2020). In a mouse model of retinal inflammation, AREG suppressed immune responses by upregulating Tregs and downregulating Th1 cells. Recombinant AREG, administered alongside MSCs in macrophage depleted mice, showed some level of recovery of retinal pathology (Ko et al., 2020).

Metabolic Reprogramming of TM ϕ by MSCs

The metabolic profile of the macrophage could be a key determinant of phenotype and function. Steady state macrophages exhibit a metabolism that utilizes glucose and oxygen for mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation to generate energy in the form of ATP. Stimulation toward the classical activation phenotype in vitro demonstrated that a metabolic switch to glycolysis facilitated pro-inflammatory functions in vitro (El Kasmi and Stenmark, 2015). Classical activation (M1-like) macrophages stimulated by lipopolysaccharide treatment in vitro, indicated an upregulation of 31 metabolic enzyme/transporter-related genes which confirmed increased glycolysis, the citric acid cycle intermediate succinate, and release of pro-inflammatory IL-1β. Succinate was inferred as a key metabolite that enhances pro-inflammatory signaling during inflammation (Tannahill et al., 2013). This switch can be mitigated by the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (El Kasmi and Stenmark, 2015), suggesting multiple ways that MSCs modulate macrophage metabolism and thus phenotypic function. The reliance of M1 macrophages on glycolysis and the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) appears to be related to two interruptions in the tricarboxylic acid (TCA)/Krebs cycle, which cause accumulation and exit of itaconate, succinate and citrate from the cycle. These metabolites are released



FIGURE 3 [Schematic of a selection of the proposed signaling pathways which result from MSC or MSC derived factors interacting with macrophages. (A) The signaling of extracellular vesicles (EV) via negative regulation of the TLR4 (toll-like receptor 4) (Abdi et al., 2018); (B) metabolite signaling via the TCA cycle (Viola et al., 2019); (C) CD200-CD200R1 interaction (Manich et al., 2019); (D) TSG-6 via negative regulation of TLR2 (Choi et al., 2011); (E) AhR via TLR4 signaling (Hinden et al., 2015; Zhu et al., 2018); and (F) PGE2 (Na et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2017). miRNA, microRNA; TLR4, toll-like receptor 4; EV, extracellular vesicle; MyD88, myeloid differentiation primary response 88; IRAK, interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase; TAK, TGF- β activated kinase; TRAF, TNF receptor-associated factor; p65, NF- $\kappa\beta$ p65 subunit; p50, NF- $\kappa\beta$ p50 subunit; $|\kappa\beta\rangle$, NF_K β inhibitor; NF_K β , nuclear factor kappa light chain enhancer of activated B cells; IL1 β , interleukin-1 β ; IL-8, interleukin-8; CCL-2, C-C motif chemokine ligand 2; TNF α , turnor necrois factor α ; IL-6, interleukin-6; MSC, mesenchymal stromal cell; HIIF1 α , hypoxia-inducible factor 1- α ; TCA, tricarboxylic acid cycle; ETC, electron transport chain; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; CD200, cluster of differentiation 200; CD200R1, CD200 receptor 1; Crkl, Crk-like protein; Erk, extracellular signal regulated kinase; PI3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; TSG-6, TNF α -stimulated gene 6; CD44, cluster of differentiation 44; TLR2, toll-like receptor 2; IKK, inhibitor of nuclear factor NF- $\kappa\beta$ kinase, LPS, lipopolysaccharide; AhR, aryl hydrocarbon receptor; Src, proto-oncogene c-Src; Src-P, phosphorylated Src; STAT3, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3; LIF, leukemia inhibitory factor; IL-10, interleukin-10; M-CSF, macrophage colony-stimulating factor; COX-2, cyclooxygenase 2; PGE2, prostaglandin E₂; EP4, E-type prostanoid receptor 4; AC, adenylate cyclase; Akt, protein kinase B; cAMP, cyclic adenosine monophosphate; PKA, protein kina

from mitochondria, which both limits coupling of TCA to the electron transport chain (ETC) and also renders them capable of regulating cell metabolism. Succinate can stabilize HIF1 α (Figure 3B) and thereby activate transcription of glycolytic genes, such that glycolysis is favored. Conversely, M2 macrophages appear to have an intact TCA cycle and so ROS are kept low and metabolites are not released to the cytoplasm (Viola et al., 2019). Upon receiving mitochondria from MSCs, M1-like (classical activation) macrophages polarized to M2-like (alternative activation) which resulted in a switch from glycolysis to oxidative phosphorylation. Therefore the exposure of MSCs to macrophages, and subsequent polarization to M2, is concomitant with a lower bioenergetic state with emphasis on catabolic pathways *in vitro* (El Kasmi and Stenmark, 2015; Vasandan et al., 2016). These catabolic pathways, involving β -oxidation of fatty acids, enhanced activity of 5' AMP-activated kinase and reduced mTOR phosphorylation, are thought to rescue the macrophage from low tryptophan levels but have the obvious advantage of switching to energy conservation as well as a pro-regenerative TM φ state *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Phinney et al., 2015; Vasandan et al., 2016). During pathology, neural stem cells scavenge extracellular succinate, thwarting its utility by macrophages, in order to reduce infiltration of mononuclear phagocytes in neuroinflammation (Peruzzotti-Jametti et al., 2018). MSCs releasing insulin-like growth factor-2 under hypoxic conditions reprogram maturing macrophages to OXPHOS metabolism

to improve neuroinflammation in a mouse model of Multiple Sclerosis (Du et al., 2019). These studies allude to targeting the metabolic programs of macrophages to regulate or restore the homeostatic balance of the milieu as potential therapeutic approaches.

Macrophages are in large part responsible for the development of atherosclerotic plaques since their activation by IFNy produces foam cells, which will proceed to form unstable lesions in the intima of arteries. The elevated expression of scavenger receptors and CD36 on foam cells allows for increased uptake of low density lipoprotein (LDL) (Murray and Wynn, 2011) and release of cytokines locally that influence atherosclerosis pathology in vivo (Tedgui and Mallat, 2006). Other macrophage phenotypes have been identified in the plaque and can be atheroprotective (i.e., Mhem) (Boyle et al., 2009), pro-atherogenic (i.e., Mox) (Kadl et al., 2010) or both (i.e., M4) (Erbel et al., 2015). In an atherosclerotic mouse model, the use of skin-derived or human amnion-derived MSCs decreased plaque size in the arteries in vivo (Li et al., 2015; Wei et al., 2019). MSCs are implicated in reducing the aggregation of $TM\phi$ in the arterial intima (Shoji et al., 2011), inhibiting the formation of foam cells by elevating the number and function of Tregs in vivo (Wang et al., 2015) and by decreasing TNF α release (Li et al., 2015). All of these steps require regulation of $TM\phi$ polarization and modulation of the phenotypes in the plaque (Yang et al., 2020). In this way, MSCs sense the inflammatory environment and attempt to mitigate $TM\phi$ inflammatory responses.

Oxidative Stress

MSCs counter oxidative insult by expressing antioxidant enzymes and heat shock proteins and upregulating redox-sensitive factors, such that lipid peroxidation and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and superoxide (O_2^{-}) radical species are decreased in vitro (Oh et al., 2014). If free radical quenching, antioxidant production, switching of TM bioenergetics and mitochondrial transfer is all viewed as management of oxidative stress then this constitutes a significant feature of the interaction of MSCs with TM ϕ at sites of inflammation. Stanniocalcin-1, secreted by MSCs, decreases reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation, including mitochondrial ROS and suppresses the activation of the nucleotide-binding domain and leucine-rich repeat pyrin 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome in vitro (Oh et al., 2014). The NLRP3 inflammasome in activated macrophages senses damageassociated molecular patterns (DAMPS) and generates IL- 1β to initiate the inflammatory cascade. Its activity can be quenched by co-culture with umbilical cord blood MSCs (Shin et al., 2016). Furthermore, when these MSCs were incubated with recombinant human IL-1β, their COX-2 expression was upregulated, and this suggests the idea of a feedback loop between the IL-1 β from the inflammasome and MSC immunosuppression. In this case direct COX-2/PGE2 signaling is responsible for immunosuppressive effects on the inflammasome, in the absence of NO and IDO effects (Shin et al., 2016).

Reactive oxygen species also play a role in macrophage polarization in the heart. Resident cardiac $TM\phi$ are thought to be lost with age or after myocardial infarction (MI) and replacement may be inferior, due to lack of resident cells to engage in

proliferation or the pro-inflammatory activity of monocytes recruited from the bone marrow (Weinberger and Schulz, 2015). In an MI study in mice, less apoptotic cardiomyocytes were observed in the infarct zone, after MSC infusion, and although both M2 and M1 macrophage levels were decreased, M2 was proportionately increased in the heart but not bone marrow in vivo (Dayan et al., 2011). Rat and mouse models of MI, with MSC administration, observed increases in alternative activation (M2-like) TM φ at the transplant site in vivo (Ben-Mordechai et al., 2013; Ishikane et al., 2013). CD146⁺ MSCs performed better than MSCs alone in a model of myocardial regeneration and this was attributed to a reduction in reactive oxygen species by the expression of CD146, an integral perivascular marker (Zhang et al., 2019a). In a follow up study, the total number of macrophages in the hearts of the mice did not vary after MSC transplantation but the ratio of M2:M1 increased (Zhang et al., 2019b). Injection of TNFa alongside the MSC transplantation abrogated the reparative effects of the MSCs in vivo. Although much is still unknown about macrophage subsets in the heart, MSCs appear to drive regeneration by reprogramming $TM\phi$ phenotypes.

Message in a Bottle – MSC-Derived Extracellular Vesicles

The paracrine-mediated immunomodulatory factors secreted by MSCs are not solely attributed to the release of soluble molecules that act directly on cells in the local environment but also by uptake of those packaged in extracellular vesicles (EVs). MSC-derived EVs (MSC-EVs) are implicated as a cell-free product with, in some cases, comparable effects to infused MSCs, thus rendering MSC-EVs attractive candidates as therapy. Cultured MSCs secrete EVs that can be collected and subsequently isolated from the conditioned media (CM), enabling studies to perform comparisons using MSC-EVs. Together, the ability to harness the therapeutic effects of MSCs without the need to deliver the cells make MSC-EVs attractive treatment alternatives under growing investigations in pre-clinical and clinical trials (Harrell et al., 2019a).

Apoptotic bodies (>1,000 nm in diameter) are the largest of the EVs which bud from MSCs during apoptosis. Microvesicles (MVs) are typically 100-1,000 nm in diameter and bud from the plasma membrane, and exosomes are the smallest EVs with diameters measuring 30–200 nm and result from budding of the late endosome membranes (Harrell et al., 2019b). The cargo packaged into MSC-EVs include many of the soluble cytokines and molecules discussed herein as well as other proteins, enzymes, organelles, lipids, metabolites, nucleic acids, and noncoding RNAs, all of which are comprehensively discussed in the context of inflammatory disease by Harrell et al. (2019b). The cargo that relays the "messages" to distant sites is still elusive yet is suggested to be highly specific (Baek et al., 2019).

MSC-derived exosomes are capable of inducing macrophage polarization to the alternative activation phenotype by several proposed mechanisms. MSC-derived exosomes have been attributed to macrophage polarization to the alternative activation phenotype with increased production and secretion of AREG by the described PGE2-dependent mechanism *in vitro* (Ko et al., 2020), suppression of the infiltration of classical activation macrophages and associated pro-inflammatory signaling (Mao et al., 2017; Willis et al., 2018a), and improved histoarchitecture by TM φ remodeling *in vivo* (Willis et al., 2018a) demonstrating alternative immunomodulatory delivery modalities that too can be supplied by MSCs (**Figure 3A**). Although the MSC-derived exosome-mediated effects are the result of the comprehensive mediators contained, depicting specific microRNA (miRNA) (Essandoh et al., 2018b) of which the EVs are comprised, may serve to identify other targeted therapeutics.

MSC-derived exosomes have been widely investigated in a number of pre-clinical studies of inflammatory diseases. TMq induced to a classical activation phenotype and pro-inflammatory function that perpetuates inflammatory signaling were altered by MSC-derived exosomes to the alternative activation phenotype, resulting in attenuation of pathological severity in lung injury (Morrison et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2020), colitis (Mao et al., 2017), cardiomyopathy (Sun et al., 2018), retinal damage (Yu et al., 2016a), musculoskeletal conditions (Zhang et al., 2016; Cosenza et al., 2017), chronic wounds (Lo Sicco et al., 2017) and spinal cord injury (Lankford et al., 2018). MSCderived exosomes not only mediated cellular improvements through TM φ , but also promoted the survival (Sun et al., 2018) and cytoprotection (Cosenza et al., 2017) of other vital tissue-specific cells in vivo. The mechanisms of action for MSC-derived exosomes remain to be fully elucidated, as multiple mediators are involved, and thus presumably more than one mechanistic effect, exerting comprehensive benefits during pathology.

Organelle Donation and Bioenergetics

Organelles such as mitochondria too can be shuttled from MSCs to TM ϕ to support higher demands of macrophage physiological functions. For example, stimulation of TM phagocytosis in acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) was elicited via nanotube transfer of MSC mitochondria to macrophages in vivo (Jackson et al., 2016). In addition, MSCs under intracellular oxidative stress in vitro will shuttle damaged mitochondria (containing an excess of oxidized and nitrosylated proteins) into microvesicles for extrusion to improve their bioenergetics in vitro. Simultaneous de-sensitization via miRNA-containing exosomes from the MSCs mitigates the activation of TMq, which permits phagocytosis and re-use of the donated mitochondria by $TM\varphi$, a mechanism that promotes the survival of MSCs by outsourcing mitophagy (Phinney et al., 2015). Macrophages co-cultured with MSCs have shown enhanced phagocytic activity and this may be orchestrated by nanotube/EV-mediated mitochondrial transfer from MSCs (Ibrahim et al., 2014; Phinney et al., 2015; Ko et al., 2020). Although more evidence is necessary to determine the advantage of using MSC-EVs over MSCs, alternative strategies to elicit the comprehensive effects from MSC-macrophage crosstalk are promising.

CONTACT-DEPENDENT COMMUNICATION

The complexities of the intercommunication between MSCs and TM φ may never be completely teased apart, and therefore we should expect possibilities of both indirect and direct mechanisms working in tandem to promote improvements to a pathological milieu. Moreover, the spatiotemporal microenvironment will continue to be altered to resolve inflammation and restore homeostasis, necessitating multiple functions of both the macrophages and MSCs. The dynamic heterogeneity of functions of both cell types are no coincidence; the integral crosstalk is the forefront to not only resolving pathology but improving our understanding of prophylactic measures to prevent disease. The observations of a number of *in vivo* investigations are presented in **Table 2**.

Phagocytosis of Dead/Apoptotic Cells

Mechanisms involved in recognition of apoptotic cells and the consequential removal by phagocytosis, involve receptors classed as C-type lectin, vitronectin (with assistance from CD36 and thrombospondin on apoptotic cells), phosphatidylserine, scavenger proteins (bind apoptotic, necrotic cells, opsonized pathogens and cell debris), TLRs and macrophage antigens. Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells has been shown to inhibit macrophage production of a range of cytokines, except TGF^{β1}, PGE2 and platelet activating factor (PAF) in vitro (Fadok et al., 1998). In general, the result of phagocytosis appears to be immunosuppression. Recently, a novel cell contact-dependent mechanism demonstrated a lipoprotein receptor protein mediated uptake of MSC-derived cytoplasmic components, or processing bodies, by monocytes and macrophages resulted in reprogramming to an anti-inflammatory function. Reprogrammed monocytes and macrophages were able to significantly suppress activated helper T cells proliferation in vitro and mitigate inflammation in a small animal model of LPSinduced lung inflammation (Min et al., 2020). In a pre-clinical model of asthma, polarization of alveolar $TM\phi$ was accompanied by phagocytosis of PKH26 + MSC and upregulation of TGFβ and IL-10 mRNA (Braza et al., 2016) and M2 markers ex vivo were only expressed on macrophages which had ingested MSCs.

Indeed the daily clearance of fetal apoptotic stromal cells by maternal resident lung macrophages, stimulating IL-10 release and IL-1 β suppression, facilitates immunotolerance *in vivo* (Abumaree et al., 2006; Galipeau and Sensebe, 2018). Efferocytosis, a term originally coined in 2003, is the targeted removal of apoptotic cells, as well as cells dying through the many other forms of cell death (Henson, 2017). Phagocytosing macrophages clear apoptotic MSCs, and this process precipitates intracellular signaling in macrophages to downregulate TNF α and NO production, in favor of TGF β 1 and IL-10 *in vitro* (Braza et al., 2016; de Witte et al., 2018). Therefore, MSCs may take part in immunoregulation and macrophage polarization even after becoming apoptotic.

These studies allude to the state of MSCs when delivered *in vivo*. Freshly thawed cells, in general, have a higher metabolic

TABLE 2 | A selection of in vivo studies using therapeutic MSCs with described pathology, source of MSCs, delivery route and outcomes.

Pathology	MSC source	Delivery route	Results/mediators observed	Citation
Acute lung injury	mBM-MSC	Intratracheal	↓neutrophils, NOS2, ↑Ym1, Arg1	lonescu et al., 2012
Allergan-induced inflammation	mBM-MSC	IV	↓total cell count, IL-4, IL-13,IL-17 in BAL, ↓eosinophils, neutrophils in	Xu et al., 2015
Asthma	mBM-MSC	IV	airway, ↑MSC in lungs ↑MSC in airways, <i>ex vivo ↓IL-6,</i> <i>IL-1β, NOS2</i>	Cui et al., 2020
Atherosclerosis	mBM-MSC	IV	∱Tregs, TGFβ, IL-10	Wang et al., 2015
Cardiomyopathy	mMSC-Exos	IV	↓apoptosis cardiomyocytes ↓M1, IL-1, IL-6, TNFα	Sun et al., 2018
Colitis	hUC MSC-Exos	IV	↓TNFα, IL-1β, IL-6, ↑IL-10	Mao et al., 2017
Colitis	canine ADMSCs	IP	∱TSG-6, IL-10, M2 ↓TNFα, IL-6,	Song et al., 2018
Collagen-induced arthritis	mBM-MSC	IV	↓serum TNFα, IL-1β	Luz-Crawford et al., 2016
Corneal allotransplantation	hBM-MSC	Peritransplant IV	↓IL-6, IL-1β, IL-12, ↓actn APCs, ↑TSG-6	Oh et al., 2012
Corneal injury	mBM-MSC	IV	\downarrow IL-1 β , inflam cell infiltration	Amouzegar et al., 2017
Cutaneous wound	hUC-MSC-Exo	Injected into wound	↓inflam cell infiltration, TLR4, p-P65, M1	Ti et al., 2015
Dermal injury	mBM-MSC	IV	↑transdifferentiation to skin cells	Sasaki et al., 2008
Dust mite asthma	mBM-MSC	IV	∱M2, IL-10, TGFβ1, ↓IL-6, MSCs only in M2s.	Braza et al., 2016
E. coli pneumonia	hBM-MSC	IV/intranasal	↓MIP-1α, MIP-1β, IL-27, IL-6, TNFα, ↑phagocytosis	Jackson et al., 2016
Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis	hUCMSC	IV	↓IL-1β, IFNγ, IL-17, ↑PD-L1, IGF-2	Du et al., 2019
GvHD	hBM-MSC	IP	↓GvHD effector T cells	Galleu et al., 2017
Intracerebral hemorrhage	rBM-MSC	IV	↓apoptosis, TMΦ, neutrophils, iNOS, MMP-9	Chen et al., 2015
Ischemia-reperfusion injury	Cardiac MSC	Intracardiac injection	↑CCR2+, CXCR1 + TM Φ ,	Vagnozzi et al., 2020
Kidney schemia-reperfusion	mBM-MSC	IV	↑MCP-1, ΜΙΡ1α, IL-1β, 1L-10, TGFβ	Luk et al., 2016
LPS-induced abortion	mBM-MSC	IP	↓TNFα, IFNγ, IL-1β, IL-27, IL-6, ↑TSG-6	Li et al., 2019
Lung injury	mBM-MSC	IV	↓TNFα, IL1-RA	Ortiz et al., 2007
Lung injury	hBM-MSC	IV	↓neutrophils, ↑IL10, KGF	Devaney et al., 2015
Lung injury	hADMSC-Exo	IV, intratracheal	↓neutrophils in BAL, NFκβ, ↑IL-10, Arg1, miR-27a-3p in alveolar TMΦ	Wang et al., 2020
Myocardial infarction	hBM-MSC/hUC-MSC	IV	↓IL-1β, IL-6, apop cardiomyocytes, ↑IL-10, CD206+	Dayan et al., 2011
Osteoarthritis	hBM-MSC-CM	Intra-articular	↓MMP-13/TIMP-1, ↑autophagy chondrocytes	Chen et al., 2019
Retinal inflammation	hBM-MSC	IV	↓CD3+ cells ↑Treg	Ko et al., 2020
Retinal injury	mADMSC-Exos	Intravitreal	\downarrow apoptosis, MCP-1, M Ψ infiltration	Yu et al., 2016a
Sepsis	mBM-MSC	IV	↓TNFα, IL-6, ↑IL-10	Nemeth et al., 2009
Sepsis	Apoptotic rADMSC	IP	↓ΤΝΓα, ΜΜΡ-9, ΝΓκβ	Chang et al., 2012
Spinal cord injury	rMSC-Exos	IV	Exos in CD206 + M ψ only	Lankford et al., 2018
Spinal cord injury	hBM-MSC	Injected into injury	∱IL-4, IL-13, M2 TMΦ, ↓TNFα, IL-6, M1 TMΦ	Nakajima et al., 2012
Spinal cord injury	Dental pulp MSC-CM	Injected into injury	↑TGFβ, VEGF, CD206+, MCP-1, ED-Siglec 9,	Matsubara et al., 2015
Traumatic brain injury	hBM-MSC	IV	↑TIMP-3, ↓VEGF-A, blood brain barrier permeability	Menge et al., 2012

activity, greater percentage of apoptotic cells and a higher necrotic fraction than culture rescued cells (Antebi et al., 2019). MSCs used within 24 h of thawing, show compromised T cell suppression, increased susceptibility to lysis by complement or immune cells and shortened persistence in vivo with intravenous (IV) administration (Moll et al., 2016). It has also been shown that roughly 50% of IV transfused mouse MSCs become trapped in the lung and are ultimately phagocytosed by lung resident macrophages (Nemeth et al., 2009). In an ischemia-reperfusion injury model in mice, cardiac MSC injection improved heart function, not by production of new cardiomyocytes but by induction of CCR2⁺ and CX3CR1⁺ TM ϕ . Changes in the local extracellular matrix content of the peri-infarct border zone in vivo occurred whether the MSCs were live or freeze-thawed (non-viable) and could be substituted by a chemical inducer of the innate immune response (zymosan) (Vagnozzi et al., 2020). Therefore, this may be an indirect effect of the MSCs and not paracrine-mediated, but nevertheless, MSCs whether viable, intact or even apoptotic, cell signaling still produces a beneficial effect on the resulting macrophage functional output.

It is therefore possible that MSCs can be apoptotic, metabolically inactivated or fragmented even (membrane particles) and still exert immunomodulation (Luk et al., 2016; Goncalves et al., 2017). Apoptotic adipose-derived MSCs were able to improve survival of rats in a model of sepsis by decreasing TNFα levels in circulations as well as the frequencies of systemic and splenic helper and cytotoxic T cells (Chang et al., 2012). Evidence supports that apoptotic cells were more potent than viable cells in lung, kidney injury and ischemia-reperfusion models (Sung et al., 2013). Furthermore, the deliberate perforinmediated induction of apoptosis of MSCs by cytotoxic cells in a murine model of GvHD, appeared necessary for the success of the MSC infusion (Galleu et al., 2017). Induction of caspase 8 and apoptosis was necessary for immunosuppression in vivo and patients with high cytoxicity were more likely to respond to MSCs, indicating a bifurcation of patient responses. Intraperitoneally (IP)-delivered MSCs were sequestered in the phagocytes in lymph nodes and IV-delivered MSCs homed to the lungs. These apoptotic MSCs only improved GvHD outcomes when delivered IP, and not IV, and no IDO was induced by IV-administered MSCs. Regulation of pro-inflammatory Th1 and Th17 cells by MSC-derived PGE2 only occurred in the presence of CD14⁺ cells in PBMC cultures, therefore indicating a reliance on myeloid cells for immunoregulatory mechanisms (Rozenberg et al., 2016).

The heat inactivation (HI) protocol of Luk et al. (2016) introduced in 2016 incubated MSCs for 30 min at 50°C (HI MSCs) and this resulted in the lack of a secretory profile, no proliferative or metabolic activity and a disintegration of the cell without heat shock protein release. HI MSCs did not inhibit T cell proliferation but were able to reduce TNF α release by monocytes challenged with LPS *in vitro* (Luk et al., 2016). This points to a non-specific immunosuppression, i.e., independent of cell viability, by the reticuloendothelial system of the host (Poon et al., 2014). Indeed, studies in our laboratory, using MSC suppression of TNF α release by THP-1 macrophages, have found both freshly thawed and cultured MSCs able to exert immunosuppressive

effects and yet the culture-rescued cells generally have few apoptotic and necrotic cells post harvest, as mentioned earlier (Pradhan P et al. BioRxiv doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.09.12. 294850).

Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor on MSCs

Aside from the secretome and engulfment of MSCs, a proposed mechanism mediated by MSCs resulting in macrophage polarization, or macrophage phenotype "plasticity," is by the activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR). This MSC receptor responds to environmental stimuli and contributes to both physiological cell development and immune regulation (Abney and Galipeau, 2020). The AhR, when bound by ligands of environmental pollutants, translocates from the cytoplasm to the nucleus and facilitates AhR-related transcription of genes, which typically elicit immunotoxicological effects. For example, MSCs upregulate cytochrome P450 isoforms, cyp1a1 and cyp1b2 genes in response to cockroach allergen in vitro (Xu et al., 2015). This AhR receptor activation is kynurenine-mediated and results in immunosuppressive alterations [decreased IL-6 expression and enhanced leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) ex vivo (Hinden et al., 2015)] (Figure 3E). This suggests an immunomodulatory potential of MSC directly regulated by AhR.

In mice treated with MSCs prior to intratracheal cockroach extract (CRE) challenge, there was a significant decrease in bronchial inflammation and goblet cell hyperplasia. Isolated lung TM φ showed a significant increase in alternative activation (M2-like) marker expressions (e.g., Arg1, FIZZ1, and Ym1) relative to CRE treatment alone, suggesting treatment with MSCs polarized macrophages to an alternative activation phenotype under allergen-induced pulmonary inflammation *in vivo* (Cui et al., 2020). The IDO inhibitor 1-methyl tryptophan can activate AhR in MSCs *in vitro* (Lewis et al., 2017) and the AhR-Src-STAT3-IL10 signaling pathway has been pivotal to controlling inflammatory macrophages *in vitro* (Zhu et al., 2018). The correlation between this signaling pathway and immunomodulatory mechanisms by MSCs may be a key axis for targeted approaches.

CD200, TSG-6, and Hormone Receptors

Another contact-dependent interaction implicated in macrophage polarization is the CD200/CD200R1 receptor complex. CD200 (OX-2) is a transmembrane glycoprotein and its counterpart, CD200-R1, is found on myeloid cells and T cells. Interestingly, the role of CD200 cannot be fully extricated from soluble tumor necrosis factor stimulated gene-6 (TSG-6) signaling. In an LPS-induced abortion mouse model, TSG-6-silenced or CD200-silenced MSCs exhibited a higher embryo resorption rate and both had higher levels of TNFa, IFNy, and induced nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in the decidua than non-silenced control MSCs supporting the CD200- (cell-mediated) and TSG-6dependent (i.e., paracrine-mediated) mechanism (Li et al., 2019) (Figure 3C). This evidence gives credence to the idea that MSCs exert immune tolerance by both cell-contact as well as paracrine-mediated mechanisms.
The ability of bone marrow MSCs to suppress TNFa release by IFNy-primed THP-1 macrophages appeared correlated to the levels of CD200 (Pietila et al., 2012). High expression of CD200 on umbilical cord derived MSCs was associated with improved immunomodulatory effects in vitro and lack of CD200 expression was correlated to poor suppressive capacity of the MSCs, suggesting a link between CD200 expression on MSCs and suppression of pro-inflammatory macrophage signaling (Pietila et al., 2012). TSG-6 released by MSCs is a signaling molecule that has been the focus of several pathological conditions. TSG-6 deletion in MSCs abrogated the ability to repair corneal damage, myocardial infarct and aid in corneal allograft survival (Oh et al., 2012). The role of TSG-6 signaling has been explored in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), where canine adipose tissue-derived MSCs induced polarization of $TM\phi$ in murine IBD, resulting in more M2 $TM\phi$ released into the colon and improvements in disease activity index (Song et al., 2018). TSG-6, released by the MSCs, prevented blood brain barrier (BBB) disruption in intracerebral hemorrhage in rats and reduced the density of microglia/macrophages at the hemorrhage site (Chen et al., 2015). TSG-6 has a known interaction with the CD44 receptor on TM ϕ , which blocks TLR2-mediated translocation of nuclear factor kappa κβ (NFκβ) to the nucleus alleviating inflammatory signaling *in vitro* (Choi et al., 2011).

In pathological conditions, MSCs have been shown to block the translocation of NF $\kappa\beta$ to the nucleus, indicative of the TSG6/TLR2/NF $\kappa\beta$ pathway. LPS and IFN γ trigger intracellular signaling pathways, via degradation of IkB, which frees NFkB to translocate to the nucleus to bind promoters of proinflammatory mediators (Figure 3D). LPS-induced lung injury was lessened by treatment with MSCs or MSC-CM, with alveolar macrophages showing heightened Ym1 and decreased iNOS (NOS2) compared to untreated controls ex vivo (Ionescu et al., 2012). However, the signaling pathways of activated resident macrophages are complex and difficult to study in vivo, with considerable heterogeneity of response to different stimuli. The transcriptome of activated macrophages revealed nine distinct activation programs, a spectrum of activation much more advanced than the M1/M2 classification conventions (Xue et al., 2014).

Apart from modulation of $TM\phi$ phenotypes, MSCs also play a role in blocking the differentiation of steady state myeloid progenitors under inflammatory conditions and the subsequent infiltration of inflammatory effector cells at the site of inflammation. Under homeostatic conditions, bone marrow-derived MSCs support hematopoiesis, maintaining hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) in an undifferentiated state via trophic factor release. Under inflammatory conditions (i.e., high levels of IFN γ , IL1 β , and TNF α), however, HSCs undergo myelopoiesis, resulting in their differentiation to macrophages and neutrophils. CD200 expressed on MSCs is proposed to be responsible for the suppression of inflammation and the maintenance of myeloid progenitors in an undifferentiated state in vitro and in vivo (Amouzegar et al., 2017). In a mouse model of corneal injury, systemically administered control MSCs showed a fivefold induction

of myeloid progenitors in the cornea and a concomitant reduction in inflammatory cells and IL-1 β , compared to mice injected with (silenced) CD200-shRNA-treated MSCs (Amouzegar et al., 2017).

Besides PGE2-EP4, TSG-6-CD44, and CD200-CD200R1, signaling between progesterone receptors (PR) and glucocorticoid receptors (GR) on microglia, the macrophages of the CNS, has been implicated in the triggering of microglial polarization in vivo (Xu et al., 2017). Progesterone has been shown to be neuroprotective in pre-clinical models of traumatic brain injury, by inhibition of microglial activation and prevention of inflammatory cytokine release (Lopez-Rodriguez et al., 2015). Inhibition of PR and GR by mifepristone partly blocked human placental MSCdriven polarization of macrophages. In this study, the basal release of soluble factors by MSCs suggested TGFB as a key mediator of the resulting immunomodulation (Abumaree et al., 2013).

MSC-macrophage interactions in bone (re)modeling appear to be paracrine- and contact-mediated via CD200/CD200R in vitro (Varin et al., 2013). Osteoclasts (bone resorbing cells) can differentiate from hematopoietic precursor cells or other macrophage lineage cells. Activated $TM\phi$, which release pro-inflammatory cytokines, can disrupt the balance of osteoclast-mediated bone resorption and osteoblastmediated bone formation, resulting in bone loss (Yang and Yang, 2019). However, depletion of TM during intramembranous bone deposition in fracture repair led to impaired healing (Alexander et al., 2011). Soluble CD200 can inhibit differentiation of osteoclast precursors and inhibit receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-β ligand (RANKL) signaling. MSCs expressing CD200 can block osteoclast formation and resorption pit activity in vitro (Varin et al., 2013) and CD200R inhibition can result in hyperactivation of macrophages and increased susceptibility to autoimmune diseases (Wright et al., 2003). Future research should unravel the reliance on contact dependent vs. soluble mediators for bone regulation and pathology.

MSCs ALTERED BY MACROPHAGES

Macrophage conditioned media, as well as co-culture with MSCs, can influence MSCs viability and secretome (Freytes et al., 2013). M2 macrophages are reported to produce more osteoactivin/gpnmb and thereby activate the ERK/JNK signaling pathway to assist MSC survival, proliferation and migration (Yu et al., 2016b; Xu et al., 2017). LPS-induced TNF α release by macrophages can stimulate MSCs to secrete growth factors that promote tissue repair (Crisostomo et al., 2008) and drive MSCs to release inflammatory cytokines (Abumaree et al., 2013).

It is notable that M1 macrophage-MSC co-cultures demonstrated markedly higher upregulated genes compared to than equivalent M2 macrophage-MSC co-cultures (Espagnolle et al., 2017), verifying that the macrophage program can specify gene expression and cell-mediated immune responses. Upregulated genes in M1-MSCs cultures included *IDO*, *COX2* (immunosuppressive genes), *PDL-1*, *CD54* (MSC and T lymphocytes), *CXCL9* and CXCL10 (involved in T cell trafficking). M1-primed MSCs showed stronger inhibition of T cell proliferation, likely through a homotypic CD54 synapse between M1 macrophage and MSC (Espagnolle et al., 2017).

Other evidence of the effects of macrophage-primed MSCs can be found in orthopedic research, and relate to the multitissue compartment of the joint. M2 macrophages, co-cultured with MSCs, drive the expression of alkaline phosphatase, osteogenic markers and bone mineralization to regenerate bone (Champagne et al., 2002) and the expression of chondrogenic and clonogenic genes, to aid cartilage formation (Sesia et al., 2015). Similarly, exosomes isolated from LPS-treated monocytes increased gene expression of Runx2 and BMP-2 in human MSCs upon exposure in vitro (Ekstrom et al., 2013). Synovial M1 macrophages promote upregulation of proteolytic enzymes in osteoarthritis and negatively impact MSC chondrogenic effects on chondroprogenitors (Fahy et al., 2014). These key investigations shed light on the potential MOAs of MSCs in musculoskeletal indications, however, the dark side of the molecular crosstalk between MSCs and TM ϕ reveals how these potential MOAs can be exploited during carcinogenesis.

Although this review is intended to focus on MSCs administered as therapy, several studies have also reported a central crosstalk between MSCs and TM φ in the context of cancer. Given that MSCs are defined as a cultured cell type and their *in vivo* identity prior to isolation still remains unclear [i.e., pericyte-like (Caplan, 2008)], explorations to reveal the influences of MSCs within the tumor microenvironment are limited. Often, culture expanded MSCs are co-cultured with cancer cells and TAMs isolated from tumors or injected directly into the *in vivo* tumor microenvironment to investigate the influences of MSCs. Furthermore, it is challenging to elucidate the phenotypes, functions, and crosstalk attributed to the various cells within the *in vivo* tumor microenvironment that may, collectively, promote or mitigate cancer progression.

Like TM ϕ , the paradigm of polarized responses resulting from TLR signaling has also been described for MSCs (i.e., MSC1 and MSC2), suggesting pro- or anti-inflammatory effects (Tomchuck et al., 2008; Waterman et al., 2010). Waterman et al. (2012) suggested that MSC1 attenuated tumor growth in vitro and in vivo, whereas MSC2 had the opposite effect of promoting tumor growth and metastasis, linking the secretory profiles of MSCs directly to alterations to cancer cells. The changing tumor microenvironment likely alters, "educates," or even "hijacks" (Quail and Joyce, 2013) MSCs as well as tumorassociated macrophages (TAMs). For example, key findings have linked inflammation and cancer progression by elucidating the roles of polarized TAMs and their activation of MSCs. Antitumor effects have been attributed to M1-like TAMs and, in contrast, multiple aspects of tumor progression are correlated with the suppressive program of M2-like TAMs. Inflammation in the tumor microenvironment produced an M1 phenotype of TAMS which, in turn, induced an immunosuppressive profile of MSCs, expressing high levels of iNOS and MCP1. Further recruitment of TAMs mediated by MCP1 secreted from MSCs along with IL-6 led to polarization into an

M2-like phenotype which promoted tumor growth (Jia et al., 2016). Our contextual understanding regarding the crosstalk between TAMs and endogenous cells during carcinogenesis is far from being fully understood. A greater appreciation of the crosstalk between MSCs and TAMs as well as the development of cancer stem cells in cancer research can be found in more focused reviews by Papaccio et al. (2017) and Ridge et al. (2017).

CONCLUSION

Scientific understanding is continually enriched and reshaped by technological advancements, research methodologies and new discoveries. As our understanding of monocytes and macrophages has evolved recently, so has our viewpoint about MSCs. There is now broad agreement that MSCs are not in fact stem cells and likely do not exhibit multipotency when delivered *in vivo*; rather, they are potent signaling cells with great plasticity, that interact dynamically with their microenvironment, e.g., with TM φ , to modulate and control immune homeostasis and produce, or help produce, various pro-regenerative signals.

As with current assays that evaluate in vitro functional or therapeutic potencies of MSCs, a developed assay based on an identified MOA needs to account for many considerations that may obscure the reproducibility of results - highlighting the importance of standardization of all processes from harvest to delivery of MSCs. One must consider the biological variation of each donor and alterations imparted by different manufacturing processes including, how the cells were isolated, stored, shipped, cultured, expanded, and delivered (e.g., route, timing, and dose). A major realization is that MSCs are mainly administered by intravenous infusion, destined for entrapment in the lungs a tissue that may be far from the site of pathology. Thus, the applicability of a given MOA with respect to the route of delivery and site of pathology for treatment must be considered, although the predominant therapeutic effects of MSCs could be via paracrine activities (Giri and Galipeau, 2020). Furthermore, we refer to therapeutic MSCs as a culture-based cell type confined by an identity characterized ex vivo that are then re-introduced to an *in vivo* milieu that is highly variable from patient to patient. This alludes to the difficulty in developing in vitro assays that are predictive of *in vivo* outcomes. The complexity of identifying and validating potential MOAs mediated by therapeutic MSCs bolster the need for deep and broad characterization of the cells especially using multi-omic analyses, better understanding of the critical process parameters that can help produce cells with consistent and reproducible quality, identification of the critical quality attributes that are predictive of the product quality and patient outcomes, standardization of processes and analytical methods, pertinent in vitro potency and safety assays, appropriate animal models for in vivo pre-clinical validation, and welldesigned randomized controlled trials to evaluate clinical efficacy.

The evidences from pre-clinical studies, to date, suggest that MSC-macrophage crosstalk may play a critical role in their *in vivo* function and can be a potential MOA. These interactions are largely a result of the MSC secretome, including soluble factors,

mitochondrial donation, mediating complex pathological milieus characterized by pro-inflammatory, metabolic, proliferative, differentiative, hypoxic, REDOX mediators, along with some cell contact-dependent mechanisms. Together, these studies shed light on the various modes in which MSCs alter macrophage phenotype and, in so doing, can modulate local and systemic immunopathology to promote repair and restore homeostasis.

As mentioned earlier, the majority of mechanisms by which macrophages and MSCs interact have been discovered *in vitro* and much more *in vivo* studies are needed to tie in these *ex vivo* observations to those occurring in the body upon administration. Through correlation of *in vitro* functional assays to qualitative and quantitative *in vivo* effects, we should be able to identify potency assays which are more representative of *in vivo* performance and employ these to inform the manufacturing of MSCs for mainstream clinical therapy. The potential for MSC therapeutics lies in the ability to improve our understanding of how we can best harness their key communication mechanisms with other cells, and reproducibly promote the beneficial effects, ultimately translating benchtop discoveries to bedside MOAs to advance these promising therapies into clinic and the industry.

REFERENCES

- Abdi, J., Rashedi, I., and Keating, A. (2018). Concise review: TLR pathway-miRNA interplay in mesenchymal stromal cells: regulatory roles and therapeutic directions. *Stem Cells* 36, 1655–1662. doi: 10.1002/stem.2902
- Abney, K. K., and Galipeau, J. (2020). Aryl hydrocarbon receptor in mesenchymal stromal cells: new frontiers in AhR biology. FEBS J. doi: 10.1111/febs.15599
- Abumaree, M. H., Al Jumah, M. A., Kalionis, B., Jawdat, D., Al Khaldi, A., Abomaray, F. M., et al. (2013). Human placental mesenchymal stem cells (pMSCs) play a role as immune suppressive cells by shifting macrophage differentiation from inflammatory M1 to anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages. *Stem Cell Rev. Rep.* 9, 620–641. doi: 10.1007/s12015-013-9455-2
- Abumaree, M. H., Stone, P. R., and Chamley, L. W. (2006). The effects of apoptotic, deported human placental trophoblast on macrophages: possible consequences for pregnancy. J. Reprod. Immunol. 72, 33–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2006.03.001
- Alexander, K. A., Chang, M. K., Maylin, E. R., Kohler, T., Muller, R., Wu, A. C., et al. (2011). Osteal macrophages promote in vivo intramembranous bone healing in a mouse tibial injury model. *J. Bone. Miner. Res.* 26, 1517–1532. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.354
- Amouzegar, A., Mittal, S. K., Sahu, A., Sahu, S. K., and Chauhan, S. K. (2017). Mesenchymal stem cells modulate differentiation of myeloid progenitor cells during inflammation. *Stem Cells.* 35, 1532–1541. doi: 10.1002/stem.2611
- Antebi, B., Asher, A. M., Rodriguez, L. A. II, Moore, R. K., Mohammadipoor, A., and Cancio, L. C. (2019). Cryopreserved mesenchymal stem cells regain functional potency following a 24-h acclimation period. *J Transl Med.* 17:297. doi: 10.1186/s12967-019-2038-5
- Baek, G., Choi, H., Kim, Y., Lee, H. C., and Choi, C. (2019). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles as therapeutics and as a drug delivery platform. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 8, 880–886. doi: 10.1002/sctm.18-0226
- Ball, L. M., Bernardo, M. E., Roelofs, H., van Tol, M. J., Contoli, B., Zwaginga, J. J., et al. (2013). Multiple infusions of mesenchymal stromal cells induce sustained remission in children with steroid-refractory, grade III-IV acute graft-versus-host disease. Br. J. Haematol. 163, 501–509. doi: 10.1111/bjh.12545
- Ben-Mordechai, T., Holbova, R., Landa-Rouben, N., Harel-Adar, T., Feinberg, M. S., Abd Elrahman, I., et al. (2013). Macrophage subpopulations are essential for infarct repair with and without stem cell therapy. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 62, 1890–1901. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.07.057
- Bianco, P., Robey, P. G., and Simmons, P. J. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells: revisiting history, concepts, and assays. *Cell Stem Cell* 2, 313–319. doi: 10.1016/ j.stem.2008.03.002

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HS and AB contributed to the preparation, writing, and review of the manuscript. CY and KR contributed to the writing and review of the manuscript. All authors approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by The Marcus Foundation, Georgia Research Alliance, and the National Science Foundation Engineering Research Center for Cell Manufacturing Technologies (NSF EEC 1648035).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank supporters of The Marcus Center for Therapeutic Cell Characterization and Manufacturing and funding entities for allowing us to extend their reach in advancing cell therapies.

- Block, G. J., Ohkouchi, S., Fung, F., Frenkel, J., Gregory, C., Pochampally, R., et al. (2009). Multipotent stromal cells are activated to reduce apoptosis in part by upregulation and secretion of stanniocalcin-1. *Stem Cells* 27, 670–681. doi: 10.1002/stem.20080742
- Boyle, J. J., Harrington, H. A., Piper, E., Elderfield, K., Stark, J., Landis, R. C., et al. (2009). Coronary intraplaque hemorrhage evokes a novel atheroprotective macrophage phenotype. *Am. J. Pathol.* 174, 1097–1108. doi: 10.2353/ajpath. 2009.080431
- Braza, F., Dirou, S., Forest, V., Sauzeau, V., Hassoun, D., Chesne, J., et al. (2016). Mesenchymal stem cells induce suppressive macrophages through phagocytosis in a mouse model of Asthma. *Stem Cells* 34, 1836–1845. doi: 10.1002/stem.2344
- Burr, S. P., Dazzi, F., and Garden, O. A. (2013). Mesenchymal stromal cells and regulatory T cells: the Yin and Yang of peripheral tolerance? *Immunol Cell Biol.* 91, 12–18. doi: 10.1038/icb.2012.60
- Caplan, A. I. (2008). All MSCs are pericytes? Cell Stem Cell 3, 229-230. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2008.08.008
- Caplan, A. I., and Correa, D. (2011). The MSC: an injury drugstore. *Cell Stem Cell.* 9, 11–15. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2011.06.008
- Caplan, A. I., and Dennis, J. E. (2006). Mesenchymal stem cells as trophic mediators. J. Cell. Biochem. 98, 1076–1084. doi: 10.1002/jcb.20886
- Champagne, C. M., Takebe, J., Offenbacher, S., and Cooper, L. F. (2002). Macrophage cell lines produce osteoinductive signals that include bone morphogenetic protein-2. *Bone* 30, 26–31. doi: 10.1016/S8756-3282(01)00638-X
- Chang, C. L., Leu, S., Sung, H. C., Zhen, Y. Y., Cho, C. L., Chen, A., et al. (2012). Impact of apoptotic adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells on attenuating organ damage and reducing mortality in rat sepsis syndrome induced by cecal puncture and ligation. *J Transl Med.* 10:244. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-10-244
- Chen, M., Li, X., Zhang, X., He, X., Lai, L., Liu, Y., et al. (2015). The inhibitory effect of mesenchymal stem cell on blood-brain barrier disruption following intracerebral hemorrhage in rats: contribution of TSG-6. *J. Neuroinflammation* 12:61. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0284-x
- Chen, W., Sun, Y., Gu, X., Hao, Y., Liu, X., Lin, J., et al. (2019). Conditioned medium of mesenchymal stem cells delays osteoarthritis progression in a rat model by protecting subchondral bone, maintaining matrix homeostasis, and enhancing autophagy. J. Tissue Eng. Regen. Med. 13, 1618–1628. doi: 10.1002/ term.2916
- Chinnadurai, R., Rajan, D., Qayed, M., Arafat, D., Garcia, M., Liu, Y., et al. (2018). Potency analysis of mesenchymal stromal cells using a combinatorial assay matrix approach. *Cell Rep.* 22, 2504–2517. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.02.013

- Chiossone, L., Conte, R., Spaggiari, G. M., Serra, M., Romei, C., Bellora, F., et al. (2016). Mesenchymal stromal cells induce peculiar alternatively activated macrophages capable of dampening both innate and adaptive immune responses. *Stem Cells* 34, 1909–1921. doi: 10.1002/stem.2369
- Choi, H., Lee, R. H., Bazhanov, N., Oh, J. Y., and Prockop, D. J. (2011). Antiinflammatory protein TSG-6 secreted by activated MSCs attenuates zymosaninduced mouse peritonitis by decreasing TLR2/NF-kappaB signaling in resident macrophages. *Blood* 118, 330–338. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-12-327353
- Cosenza, S., Ruiz, M., Toupet, K., Jorgensen, C., and Noel, D. (2017). Mesenchymal stem cells derived exosomes and microparticles protect cartilage and bone from degradation in osteoarthritis. *Sci Rep.* 7:16214. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-15376-8
- Crisostomo, P. R., Wang, Y., Markel, T. A., Wang, M., Lahm, T., and Meldrum, D. R. (2008). Human mesenchymal stem cells stimulated by TNF-alpha, LPS, or hypoxia produce growth factors by an NF kappa B- but not JNK-dependent mechanism. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 294, C675–C682. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell. 00437.2007
- Cui, Z., Feng, Y., Li, D., Li, T., Gao, P., and Xu, T. (2020). Activation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) in mesenchymal stem cells modulates macrophage polarization in asthma. *J Immunotoxicol.* 17, 21–30. doi: 10.1080/1547691X. 2019.1706671
- Dayan, V., Yannarelli, G., Billia, F., Filomeno, P., Wang, X. H., Davies, J. E., et al. (2011). Mesenchymal stromal cells mediate a switch to alternatively activated monocytes/macrophages after acute myocardial infarction. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 106, 1299–1310. doi: 10.1007/s00395-011-0221-9
- de Witte, S. F. H., Luk, F., Sierra Parraga, J. M., Gargesha, M., Merino, A., Korevaar, S. S., et al. (2018). Immunomodulation by therapeutic mesenchymal stromal Cells (MSC) is triggered through phagocytosis of MSC by monocytic cells. *Stem Cells*. 36, 602–615. doi: 10.1002/stem.2779
- Deng, Y., Zhang, Y., Ye, L., Zhang, T., Cheng, J., Chen, G., et al. (2016). umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells instruct monocytes towards an IL10producing phenotype by secreting IL6 and HGF. Sci Rep. 6:37566. doi: 10.1038/ srep37566
- Devaney, J., Horie, S., Masterson, C., Elliman, S., Barry, F., O'Brien, T., et al. (2015). Human mesenchymal stromal cells decrease the severity of acute lung injury induced by *E. coli* in the rat. *Thorax* 70, 625–635. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-206813
- Dey, A., Allen, J., and Hankey-Giblin, P. A. (2014). Ontogeny and polarization of macrophages in inflammation: blood monocytes versus tissue macrophages. *Front. Immunol.* 5:683. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00683
- Digiacomo, G., Ziche, M., Dello Sbarba, P., Donnini, S., and Rovida, E. (2015). Prostaglandin E2 transactivates the colony-stimulating factor-1 receptor and synergizes with colony-stimulating factor-1 in the induction of macrophage migration via the mitogen-activated protein kinase ERK1/2. FASEB J. 29, 2545–2554. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-258939
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The international society for cellular therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 8, 315–317. doi: 10.1080/14653240600855905
- Du, L., Lin, L., Li, Q., Liu, K., Huang, Y., Wang, X., et al. (2019). IGF-2 Preprograms maturing macrophages to acquire oxidative phosphorylation-dependent antiinflammatory properties. *Cell Metab.* 29, 1363.e8–1375.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet. 2019.01.006
- Ekstrom, K., Omar, O., Graneli, C., Wang, X., Vazirisani, F., and Thomsen, P. (2013). Monocyte exosomes stimulate the osteogenic gene expression of mesenchymal stem cells. *PLoS One* 8:e75227. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0075227
- El Kasmi, K. C., and Stenmark, K. R. (2015). Contribution of metabolic reprogramming to macrophage plasticity and function. *Semin. Immunol.* 27, 267–275. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2015.09.001
- English, K. (2013). Mechanisms of mesenchymal stromal cell immunomodulation. Immunol. Cell Biol. 91, 19–26. doi: 10.1038/icb.2012.56
- Erbel, C., Wolf, A., Lasitschka, F., Linden, F., Domschke, G., Akhavanpoor, M., et al. (2015). Prevalence of M4 macrophages within human coronary atherosclerotic plaques is associated with features of plaque instability. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 186, 219–225. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.03.151
- Espagnolle, N., Balguerie, A., Arnaud, E., Sensebe, L., and Varin, A. (2017). CD54-Mediated interaction with pro-inflammatory macrophages increases the

immunosuppressive function of human mesenchymal stromal cells. Stem Cell Rep. 8, 961–976. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.02.008

- Essandoh, K., Li, Y., Huo, J., and Fan, G. C. (2016). MiRNA-mediated macrophage polarization and its potential role in the regulation of inflammatory response. *Shock* 46, 122–131. doi: 10.1097/SHK.000000000000604
- Fadok, V. A., Bratton, D. L., Konowal, A., Freed, P. W., Westcott, J. Y., and Henson, P. M. (1998). Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells in vitro inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 890–898. doi: 10.1172/JCI1112
- Fahy, N., de Vries-van Melle, M. L., Lehmann, J., Wei, W., Grotenhuis, N., Farrell, E., et al. (2014). Human osteoarthritic synovium impacts chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells via macrophage polarisation state. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 22, 1167–1175. doi: 10.1016/j.joca.2014.05.021
- Francois, M., Romieu-Mourez, R., Li, M., and Galipeau, J. (2012). Human MSC suppression correlates with cytokine induction of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and bystander M2 macrophage differentiation. *Mol. Ther.* 20, 187–195. doi: 10.1038/mt.2011.189
- Freytes, D. O., Kang, J. W., Marcos-Campos, I., and Vunjak-Novakovic, G. (2013). Macrophages modulate the viability and growth of human mesenchymal stem cells. J. Cell. Biochem. 114, 220–229. doi: 10.1002/jcb.24357
- Galipeau, J., and Sensebe, L. (2018). Mesenchymal stromal cells: clinical challenges and therapeutic opportunities. *Cell Stem Cell*. 22, 824–833. doi: 10.1016/j.stem. 2018.05.004
- Galleu, A., Riffo-Vasquez, Y., Trento, C., Lomas, C., Dolcetti, L., Cheung, T. S., et al. (2017). Apoptosis in mesenchymal stromal cells induces in vivo recipientmediated immunomodulation. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 9:eaam7828. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.aam7828
- Giri, J., and Galipeau, J. (2020). Mesenchymal stromal cell therapeutic potency is dependent upon viability, route of delivery, and immune match. *Blood Adv.* 4, 1987–1997. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020001711
- Goncalves, F. D. C., Luk, F., Korevaar, S. S., Bouzid, R., Paz, A. H., Lopez-Iglesias, C., et al. (2017). Membrane particles generated from mesenchymal stromal cells modulate immune responses by selective targeting of pro-inflammatory monocytes. *Sci Rep.* 7:12100. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-12121-z
- Hamilton, J. A., and Tak, P. P. (2009). The dynamics of macrophage lineage populations in inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. *Arthritis Rheum*. 60, 1210–1221. doi: 10.1002/art.24505
- Hare, J. M., Traverse, J. H., Henry, T. D., Dib, N., Strumpf, R. K., Schulman, S. P., et al. (2009). A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalation study of intravenous adult human mesenchymal stem cells (prochymal) after acute myocardial infarction. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 54, 2277–2286. doi: 10.1016/ j.jacc.2009.06.055
- Harrell, C. R., Fellabaum, C., Jovicic, N., Djonov, V., Arsenijevic, N., and Volarevic, V. (2019a). Molecular mechanisms responsible for therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cell-derived secretome. *Cells* 8:467. doi: 10. 3390/cells8050467
- Harrell, C. R., Jovicic, N., Djonov, V., Arsenijevic, N., and Volarevic, V. (2019b). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes and other extracellular vesicles as new remedies in the therapy of inflammatory diseases. *Cells* 8:1605. doi: 10. 3390/cells8121605
- Henson, P. M. (2017). Cell removal: efferocytosis. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 33, 127–144. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-111315-125315
- Hinden, L., Shainer, R., Almogi-Hazan, O., and Or, R. (2015). Ex vivo induced regulatory human/murine mesenchymal stem cells as immune modulators. *Stem Cells.* 33, 2256–2267. doi: 10.1002/stem.2026
- Hoeffel, G., and Ginhoux, F. (2015). Ontogeny of tissue-resident macrophages. Front. Immunol. 6:486. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00486
- Ibrahim, A. G., Cheng, K., and Marban, E. (2014). Exosomes as critical agents of cardiac regeneration triggered by cell therapy. *Stem Cell Rep.* 2, 606–619. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.04.006
- Ionescu, L., Byrne, R. N., van Haaften, T., Vadivel, A., Alphonse, R. S., Rey-Parra, G. J., et al. (2012). Stem cell conditioned medium improves acute lung injury in mice: in vivo evidence for stem cell paracrine action. Am. J. Physiol. Lung. Cell Mol. Physiol. 303, L967–L977. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00144.2011
- Ishikane, S., Hosoda, H., Yamahara, K., Akitake, Y., Kyoungsook, J., Mishima, K., et al. (2013). Allogeneic transplantation of fetal membrane-derived mesenchymal stem cell sheets increases neovascularization and improves

cardiac function after myocardial infarction in rats. *Transplantation* 96, 697–706. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e31829f753d

- Jackson, M. V., Morrison, T. J., Doherty, D. F., McAuley, D. F., Matthay, M. A., Kissenpfennig, A., et al. (2016). Mitochondrial transfer via tunneling nanotubes is an important mechanism by which mesenchymal stem cells enhance macrophage phagocytosis in the in vitro and in vivo models of ARDS. *Stem Cells* 34, 2210–2223. doi: 10.1002/stem.2372
- Jia, X. H., Feng, G. W., Wang, Z. L., Du, Y., Shen, C., Hui, H., et al. (2016). Activation of mesenchymal stem cells by macrophages promotes tumor progression through immune suppressive effects. *Oncotarget* 7, 20934–20944. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.8064
- Kadl, A., Meher, A. K., Sharma, P. R., Lee, M. Y., Doran, A. C., Johnstone, S. R., et al. (2010). Identification of a novel macrophage phenotype that develops in response to atherogenic phospholipids via Nrf2. *Circ. Res.* 107, 737–746. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.109.215715
- Kalinski, P. (2012). Regulation of immune responses by prostaglandin E2. J. Immunol. 188, 21–28. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101029
- Ko, J. H., Kim, H. J., Jeong, H. J., Lee, H. J., and Oh, J. Y. (2020). Mesenchymal stem and stromal cells harness macrophage-derived amphiregulin to maintain tissue homeostasis. *Cell Rep.* 30, 3806.e6–3820.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.02.062
- Lankford, K. L., Arroyo, E. J., Nazimek, K., Bryniarski, K., Askenase, P. W., and Kocsis, J. D. (2018). Intravenously delivered mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes target M2-type macrophages in the injured spinal cord. *PLoS One* 13:e0190358. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0190358
- Lee, H. J., Kim, S. N., Jeon, M. S., Yi, T., and Song, S. U. (2017). ICOSL expression in human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells promotes induction of regulatory T cells. *Sci Rep.* 7:44486. doi: 10.1038/srep44486
- Lewis, H. C., Chinnadurai, R., Bosinger, S. E., and Galipeau, J. (2017). The IDO inhibitor 1-methyl tryptophan activates the aryl hydrocarbon receptor response in mesenchymal stromal cells. *Oncotarget* 8, 91914–91927. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.20166
- Li, Q., Sun, W., Wang, X., Zhang, K., Xi, W., and Gao, P. (2015). Skinderived mesenchymal stem cells alleviate atherosclerosis via modulating macrophage function. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 4, 1294–1301. doi: 10.5966/sctm. 2015-0020
- Li, Y., Zhang, D., Xu, L., Dong, L., Zheng, J., Lin, Y., et al. (2019). Cell-cell contact with proinflammatory macrophages enhances the immunotherapeutic effect of mesenchymal stem cells in two abortion models. *Cell Mol. Immunol.* 16, 908–920. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0204-6
- Lo Sicco, C., Reverberi, D., Balbi, C., Ulivi, V., Principi, E., Pascucci, L., et al. (2017). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles as mediators of anti-inflammatory effects: endorsement of macrophage polarization. *Stem Cells Transl Med.* 6, 1018–1028. doi: 10.1002/sctm.16-0363
- Lopez-Rodriguez, A. B., Acaz-Fonseca, E., Giatti, S., Caruso, D., Viveros, M. P., Melcangi, R. C., et al. (2015). Correlation of brain levels of progesterone and dehydroepiandrosterone with neurological recovery after traumatic brain injury in female mice. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 56, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j. psyneuen.2015.02.018
- Luk, F., de Witte, S. F., Korevaar, S. S., Roemeling-van Rhijn, M., Franquesa, M., Strini, T., et al. (2016). Inactivated mesenchymal stem cells maintain immunomodulatory capacity. *Stem Cells Dev.* 25, 1342–1354. doi: 10.1089/scd. 2016.0068
- Luz-Crawford, P., Djouad, F., Toupet, K., Bony, C., Franquesa, M., Hoogduijn, M. J., et al. (2016). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived interleukin 1 receptor antagonist promotes macrophage polarization and inhibits B cell differentiation. *Stem Cells* 34, 483–492. doi: 10.1002/stem.2254
- Luz-Crawford, P., Kurte, M., Bravo-Alegria, J., Contreras, R., Nova-Lamperti, E., Tejedor, G., et al. (2013). Mesenchymal stem cells generate a CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cell population during the differentiation process of Th1 and Th17 cells. *Stem Cell Res Ther.* 4:65. doi: 10.1186/scrt216
- Manferdini, C., Paolella, F., Gabusi, E., Gambari, L., Piacentini, A., Filardo, G., et al. (2017). Adipose stromal cells mediated switching of the pro-inflammatory profile of M1-like macrophages is facilitated by PGE2: in vitro evaluation. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 25, 1161–1171. doi: 10.1016/j.joca.2017.01.011
- Manich, G., Recasens, M., Valente, T., Almolda, B., Gonzalez, B., and Castellano, B. (2019). Role of the CD200-CD200R axis during homeostasis and neuroinflammation. *Neuroscience* 405, 118–136. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience. 2018.10.030

- Mao, F., Wu, Y., Tang, X., Kang, J., Zhang, B., Yan, Y., et al. (2017). Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells relieve inflammatory bowel disease in mice. *Biomed Res Int.* 2017:5356760. doi: 10. 1155/2017/5356760
- Martinez, F. O., Sica, A., Mantovani, A., and Locati, M. (2008). Macrophage activation and polarization. *Front. Biosci.* 13:453–461. doi: 10.2741/2692
- Matsubara, K., Matsushita, Y., Sakai, K., Kano, F., Kondo, M., Noda, M., et al. (2015). Secreted ectodomain of sialic acid-binding Ig-like lectin-9 and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 promote recovery after rat spinal cord injury by altering macrophage polarity. *J. Neurosci.* 35, 2452–2464. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.4088-14.2015
- Melief, S. M., Geutskens, S. B., Fibbe, W. E., and Roelofs, H. (2013). Multipotent stromal cells skew monocytes towards an anti-inflammatory interleukin-10producing phenotype by production of interleukin-6. *Haematologica* 98, 888– 895. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2012.078055
- Menge, T., Zhao, Y., Zhao, J., Wataha, K., Gerber, M., Zhang, J., et al. (2012). Mesenchymal stem cells regulate blood-brain barrier integrity through TIMP3 release after traumatic brain injury. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 4:161ra50. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.3004660
- Mills, C. D., Kincaid, K., Alt, J. M., Heilman, M. J., and Hill, A. M. (2000). M-1/M-2 macrophages and the Th1/Th2 paradigm. *J. Immunol.* 164, 6166–6173. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.164.12.6166
- Mills, C. D., Thomas, A. C., Lenz, L. L., and Munder, M. (2014). Macrophage: SHIP of immunity. Front Immunol. 5:620. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00620
- Min, H., Xu, L., Parrott, R., Overall, C. C., Lillich, M., Rabjohns, E. M., et al. (2020). Mesenchymal stromal cells reprogram monocytes and macrophages with processing bodies. *Stem Cells J.* doi: 10.1002/stem.3292
- Mittal, M., Tiruppathi, C., Nepal, S., Zhao, Y. Y., Grzych, D., Soni, D., et al. (2016). TNFalpha-stimulated gene-6 (TSG6) activates macrophage phenotype transition to prevent inflammatory lung injury. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, E8151–E8158. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1614935113
- Moll, G., Geissler, S., Catar, R., Ignatowicz, L., Hoogduijn, M. J., Strunk, D., et al. (2016). Cryopreserved or fresh mesenchymal stromal cells: only a matter of taste or key to unleash the full clinical potential of MSC therapy? *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 951, 77–98. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-45457-3_7
- Morrison, T. J., Jackson, M. V., Cunningham, E. K., Kissenpfennig, A., McAuley, D. F., O'Kane, C. M., et al. (2017). Mesenchymal stromal cells modulate macrophages in clinically relevant lung injury models by extracellular vesicle mitochondrial transfer. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 196, 1275–1286. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201701-01700C
- Murray, P. J., and Wynn, T. A. (2011). Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 11, 723–737. doi: 10.1038/nri3073
- Na, Y. R., Jung, D., Yoon, B. R., Lee, W. W., and Seok, S. H. (2015). Endogenous prostaglandin E2 potentiates anti-inflammatory phenotype of macrophage through the CREB-C/EBP-beta cascade. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 45, 2661–2671. doi: 10.1002/eji.201545471
- Nahrendorf, M., and Swirski, F. K. (2016). Abandoning M1/M2 for a network model of macrophage function. *Circ. Res.* 119, 414–417. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.116.309194
- Nakajima, H., Uchida, K., Guerrero, A. R., Watanabe, S., Sugita, D., Takeura, N., et al. (2012). Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells promotes an alternative pathway of macrophage activation and functional recovery after spinal cord injury. J. Neurotrauma 29, 1614–1625. doi: 10.1089/neu.2011.2109
- Nemeth, K., Leelahavanichkul, A., Yuen, P. S., Mayer, B., Parmelee, A., Doi, K., et al. (2009). Bone marrow stromal cells attenuate sepsis via prostaglandin E(2)-dependent reprogramming of host macrophages to increase their interleukin-10 production. *Nat Med.* 15, 42–49. doi: 10.1038/nm. 1905
- Noronha, N. C., Mizukami, A., Caliari-Oliveira, C., Cominal, J. G., Rocha, J. L. M., Covas, D. T., et al. (2019). Priming approaches to improve the efficacy of mesenchymal stromal cell-based therapies. *Stem Cell Res Ther.* 10:131. doi: 10.1186/s13287-019-1259-0
- Oh, J. Y., Ko, J. H., Lee, H. J., Yu, J. M., Choi, H., Kim, M. K., et al. (2014). Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells inhibit the NLRP3 inflammasome by decreasing mitochondrial reactive oxygen species. *Stem Cells.* 32, 1553–1563. doi: 10.1002/stem.1608
- Oh, J. Y., Lee, R. H., Yu, J. M., Ko, J. H., Lee, H. J., Ko, A. Y., et al. (2012). Intravenous mesenchymal stem cells prevented rejection of allogeneic corneal

transplants by aborting the early inflammatory response. Mol. Ther. 20, 2143–2152. doi: 10.1038/mt.2012.165

- Ong, S. M., Teng, K., Newell, E., Chen, H., Chen, J., Loy, T., et al. (2019). A novel, five-marker alternative to CD16-CD14 gating to identify the three human monocyte subsets. *Front. Immunol.* 10:1761. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019. 01761
- Ortiz, L. A., Dutreil, M., Fattman, C., Pandey, A. C., Torres, G., Go, K., et al. (2007). Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist mediates the antiinflammatory and antifibrotic effect of mesenchymal stem cells during lung injury. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 11002–11007. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0704421104
- Palumbo, P., Lombardi, F., Siragusa, G., Cifone, M. G., Cinque, B., and Giuliani, M. (2018). Methods of isolation, characterization and expansion of human adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs): an overview. *Int J Mol Sci.* 19:1897. doi: 10.3390/ijms19071897
- Papaccio, F., Paino, F., Regad, T., Papaccio, G., Desiderio, V., and Tirino, V. (2017). Concise review: cancer cells, cancer stem cells, and mesenchymal stem cells: influence in cancer development. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 6, 2115–2125. doi: 10.1002/sctm.17-0138
- Patel, A. A., Zhang, Y., Fullerton, J. N., Boelen, L., Rongvaux, A., Maini, A. A., et al. (2017). The fate and lifespan of human monocyte subsets in steady state and systemic inflammation. *J Exp Med.* 214, 1913–1923. doi: 10.1084/jem.20170355
- Peruzzotti-Jametti, L., Bernstock, J. D., Vicario, N., Costa, A. S. H., Kwok, C. K., Leonardi, T., et al. (2018). Macrophage-derived extracellular succinate licenses neural stem cells to suppress chronic neuroinflammation. *Cell Stem Cell* 22, 355.e13–368.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.01.020
- Phinney, D. G., Di Giuseppe, M., Njah, J., Sala, E., Shiva, S., St Croix, C. M., et al. (2015). Mesenchymal stem cells use extracellular vesicles to outsource mitophagy and shuttle microRNAs. *Nat. Commun.* 6:8472. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms9472
- Pietila, M., Lehtonen, S., Tuovinen, E., Lahteenmaki, K., Laitinen, S., Leskela, H. V., et al. (2012). CD200 positive human mesenchymal stem cells suppress TNFalpha secretion from CD200 receptor positive macrophage-like cells. *PLoS One* 7:e31671. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031671
- Poon, I. K., Lucas, C. D., Rossi, A. G., and Ravichandran, K. S. (2014). Apoptotic cell clearance: basic biology and therapeutic potential. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 14, 166–180. doi: 10.1038/nri3607
- Quaedackers, M. E., Baan, C. C., Weimar, W., and Hoogduijn, M. J. (2009). Cell contact interaction between adipose-derived stromal cells and allo-activated T lymphocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 39, 3436–3446. doi: 10.1002/eji.200939584
- Quail, D. F., and Joyce, J. A. (2013). Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. *Nat. Med.* 19, 1423–1437. doi: 10.1038/ nm.3394
- Raggi, F., Pelassa, S., Pierobon, D., Penco, F., Gattorno, M., Novelli, F., et al. (2017). Regulation of human macrophage M1-M2 polarization balance by hypoxia and the triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-1. *Front Immunol.* 8:1097. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01097
- Ren, G., Zhang, L., Zhao, X., Xu, G., Zhang, Y., Roberts, A. I., et al. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated immunosuppression occurs via concerted action of chemokines and nitric oxide. *Cell Stem Cell* 2, 141–150. doi: 10.1016/ j.stem.2007.11.014
- Ridge, S. M., Sullivan, F. J., and Glynn, S. A. (2017). Mesenchymal stem cells: key players in cancer progression. *Mol. Cancer* 16:31. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0597-8
- Riordan, N. H., Hincapie, M. L., Morales, I., Fernandez, G., Allen, N., Leu, C., et al. (2019). Allogeneic human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of autism spectrum disorder in children: safety profile and effect on cytokine levels. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 8, 1008–1016. doi: 10.1002/sctm.19-0010
- Rozenberg, A., Rezk, A., Boivin, M. N., Darlington, P. J., Nyirenda, M., Li, R., et al. (2016). Human mesenchymal stem cells impact th17 and th1 responses through a prostaglandin e2 and myeloid-dependent mechanism. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 5, 1506–1514. doi: 10.5966/sctm.2015-0243
- Salgado, A. J., and Gimble, J. M. (2013). Secretome of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells in regenerative medicine. *Biochimie* 95:2195. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2013. 10.013
- Sasaki, M., Abe, R., Fujita, Y., Ando, S., Inokuma, D., and Shimizu, H. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells are recruited into wounded skin and contribute to

wound repair by transdifferentiation into multiple skin cell type. J. Immunol. 180, 2581–2587. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.4.2581

- Schmidt, A., Zhang, X. M., Joshi, R. N., Iqbal, S., Wahlund, C., Gabrielsson, S., et al. (2016). Human macrophages induce CD4(+)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells via binding and re-release of TGF-beta. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 94, 747–762. doi: 10.1038/icb.2016.34
- Secunda, R., Vennila, R., Mohanashankar, A. M., Rajasundari, M., Jeswanth, S., and Surendran, R. (2015). Isolation, expansion and characterisation of mesenchymal stem cells from human bone marrow, adipose tissue, umbilical cord blood and matrix: a comparative study. *Cytotechnology* 67, 793–807. doi: 10.1007/s10616-014-9718-z
- Serejo, T. R. T., Silva-Carvalho, A. E., Braga, L., Neves, F. A. R., Pereira, R. W., Carvalho, J. L., et al. (2019). Assessment of the immunosuppressive potential of INF-gamma licensed adipose mesenchymal stem cells, their secretome and extracellular vesicles. *Cells* 8:22. doi: 10.3390/cells8010022
- Sesia, S. B., Duhr, R., Medeiros da Cunha, C., Todorov, A., Schaeren, S., Padovan, E., et al. (2015). Anti-inflammatory/tissue repair macrophages enhance the cartilage-forming capacity of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 230, 1258–1269. doi: 10.1002/jcp.24861
- Shapouri-Moghaddam, A., Mohammadian, S., Vazini, H., Taghadosi, M., Esmaeili, S. A., Mardani, F., et al. (2018). Macrophage plasticity, polarization, and function in health and disease. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 233, 6425–6440. doi: 10.1002/ jcp.26429
- Shi, M., Li, J., Liao, L., Chen, B., Li, B., Chen, L., et al. (2007). Regulation of CXCR4 expression in human mesenchymal stem cells by cytokine treatment: role in homing efficiency in NOD/SCID mice. *Haematologica* 92, 897–904. doi: 10.3324/haematol.10669
- Shin, T. H., Kim, H. S., Kang, T. W., Lee, B. C., Lee, H. Y., Kim, Y. J., et al. (2016). Human umbilical cord blood-stem cells direct macrophage polarization and block inflammasome activation to alleviate rheumatoid arthritis. *Cell Death Dis.* 7:e2524. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2016.442
- Shoji, M., Oskowitz, A., Malone, C. D., Prockop, D. J., and Pochampally, R. (2011). Human mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) reduce neointimal hyperplasia in a mouse model of flow-restriction by transient suppression of anti-inflammatory cytokines. J. Atheroscler. Thromb. 18, 464–474. doi: 10.5551/jat.6213
- Song, W. J., Li, Q., Ryu, M. O., Ahn, J. O., Bhang, D. H., Jung, Y. C., et al. (2018). TSG-6 released from intraperitoneally injected canine adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate inflammatory bowel disease by inducing M2 macrophage switch in mice. *Stem Cell Res Ther.* 9:91. doi: 10.1186/s13287-018-0841-1
- Spaggiari, G. M., Capobianco, A., Abdelrazik, H., Becchetti, F., Mingari, M. C., and Moretta, L. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit natural killer-cell proliferation, cytotoxicity, and cytokine production: role of indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase and prostaglandin E2. *Blood* 111, 1327–1333. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-02-074997
- Sun, J. M., Dawson, G., Franz, L., Howard, J., McLaughlin, C., Kistler, B., et al. (2020). Infusion of human umbilical cord tissue mesenchymal stromal cells in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 9, 1137–1146. doi: 10.1002/sctm.19-0434
- Sun, X., Shan, A., Wei, Z., and Xu, B. (2018). Intravenous mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes ameliorate myocardial inflammation in the dilated cardiomyopathy. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 503, 2611–2618. doi: 10. 1016/j.bbrc.2018.08.012
- Sung, P. H., Chang, C. L., Tsai, T. H., Chang, L. T., Leu, S., Chen, Y. L., et al. (2013). Apoptotic adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell therapy protects against lung and kidney injury in sepsis syndrome caused by cecal ligation puncture in rats. *Stem Cell Res Ther.* 4:155. doi: 10.1186/scrt385
- Tannahill, G. M., Curtis, A. M., Adamik, J., Palsson-McDermott, E. M., McGettrick, A. F., Goel, G., et al. (2013). Succinate is an inflammatory signal that induces IL-1beta through HIF-1alpha. *Nature* 496, 238–242. doi: 10.1038/nature11986
- Tedgui, A., and Mallat, Z. (2006). Cytokines in atherosclerosis: pathogenic and regulatory pathways. *Physiol. Rev.* 86, 515–581. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00024. 2005
- Thomas, G., Tacke, R., Hedrick, C. C., and Hanna, R. N. (2015). Nonclassical patrolling monocyte function in the vasculature. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 35, 1306–1316. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304650
- Ti, D., Hao, H., Tong, C., Liu, J., Dong, L., Zheng, J., et al. (2015). LPSpreconditioned mesenchymal stromal cells modify macrophage polarization for

resolution of chronic inflammation via exosome-shuttled let-7b. J. Transl. Med. 13:308. doi: 10.1186/s12967-015-0642-6

- Tomchuck, S. L., Zwezdaryk, K. J., Coffelt, S. B., Waterman, R. S., Danka, E. S., and Scandurro, A. B. (2008). Toll-like receptors on human mesenchymal stem cells drive their migration and immunomodulating responses. *Stem Cells.* 26, 99–107. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0563
- Vagnozzi, R. J., Maillet, M., Sargent, M. A., Khalil, H., Johansen, A. K. Z., Schwanekamp, J. A., et al. (2020). An acute immune response underlies the benefit of cardiac stem cell therapy. *Nature* 577, 405–409. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1802-2
- van Furth, R., and Cohn, Z. A. (1968). The origin and kinetics of mononuclear phagocytes. J. Exp. Med. 128, 415-435. doi: 10.1084/jem.128.3.415
- Varin, A., Pontikoglou, C., Labat, E., Deschaseaux, F., and Sensebe, L. (2013). CD200R/CD200 inhibits osteoclastogenesis: new mechanism of osteoclast control by mesenchymal stem cells in human. *PLoS One* 8:e72831. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0072831
- Vasandan, A. B., Jahnavi, S., Shashank, C., Prasad, P., Kumar, A., and Prasanna, S. J. (2016). Human mesenchymal stem cells program macrophage plasticity by altering their metabolic status via a PGE2-dependent mechanism. *Sci Rep.* 6:38308. doi: 10.1038/srep38308
- Viola, A., Munari, F., Sanchez-Rodriguez, R., Scolaro, T., and Castegna, A. (2019). The metabolic signature of macrophage responses. *Front Immunol.* 10:1462. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01462
- Wang, J., Huang, R., Xu, Q., Zheng, G., Qiu, G., Ge, M., et al. (2020). Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles alleviate acute lung injury via transfer of miR-27a-3p. *Crit. Care Med.* 48, e599–e610. doi: 10.1097/CCM. 000000000004315
- Wang, Z. X., Wang, C. Q., Li, X. Y., Feng, G. K., Zhu, H. L., Ding, Y., et al. (2015). Mesenchymal stem cells alleviate atherosclerosis by elevating number and function of CD4(+)CD25 (+)FOXP3 (+) regulatory T-cells and inhibiting macrophage foam cell formation. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 400, 163–172. doi: 10. 1007/s11010-014-2272-3
- Waterman, R. S., Henkle, S. L., and Betancourt, A. M. (2012). Mesenchymal stem cell 1 (MSC1)-based therapy attenuates tumor growth whereas MSC2treatment promotes tumor growth and metastasis. *PLoS One* 7:e45590. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0045590
- Waterman, R. S., Tomchuck, S. L., Henkle, S. L., and Betancourt, A. M. (2010). A new mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) paradigm: polarization into a proinflammatory MSC1 or an Immunosuppressive MSC2 phenotype. *PLoS One* 5:e10088. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010088
- Wei, X., Sun, G., Zhao, X., Wu, Q., Chen, L., Xu, Y., et al. (2019). Human amnion mesenchymal stem cells attenuate atherosclerosis by modulating macrophage function to reduce immune response. *Int. J. Mo.l Med.* 44, 1425–1435. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2019.4286
- Weinberger, T., and Schulz, C. (2015). Myocardial infarction: a critical role of macrophages in cardiac remodeling. *Front Physiol.* 6:107. doi: 10.3389/fphys. 2015.00107
- Willis, G. R., Fernandez-Gonzalez, A., Anastas, J., Vitali, S. H., Liu, X., Ericsson, M., et al. (2018a). Mesenchymal stromal cell exosomes ameliorate experimental bronchopulmonary dysplasia and restore lung function through macrophage immunomodulation. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 197, 104–116. doi: 10.1164/ rccm.201705-0925OC
- Willis, G. R., Fernandez-Gonzalez, A., Reis, M., Mitsialis, S. A., and Kourembanas, S. (2018b). Macrophage immunomodulation: the gatekeeper for mesenchymal stem cell derived-exosomes in pulmonary arterial hypertension?. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:2534. doi: 10.3390/ijms19092534
- Wright, G. J., Cherwinski, H., Foster-Cuevas, M., Brooke, G., Puklavec, M. J., Bigler, M., et al. (2003). Characterization of the CD200 receptor family in mice and humans and their interactions with CD200. *J. Immunol.* 171, 3034–3046. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.6.3034
- Wu, Y., Chen, L., Scott, P. G., and Tredget, E. E. (2007). Mesenchymal stem cells enhance wound healing through differentiation and angiogenesis. *Stem Cells* 25, 2648–2659. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0226

- Wynn, T. A., Chawla, A., and Pollard, J. W. (2013). Macrophage biology in development, homeostasis and disease. *Nature* 496, 445–455. doi: 10.1038/ nature12034
- Xu, C., Fu, F., Li, X., and Zhang, S. (2017). Mesenchymal stem cells maintain the microenvironment of central nervous system by regulating the polarization of macrophages/microglia after traumatic brain injury. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 127, 1124–1135. doi: 10.1080/00207454.2017.1325884
- Xu, T., Zhou, Y., Qiu, L., Do, D. C., Zhao, Y., Cui, Z., et al. (2015). Aryl hydrocarbon receptor protects lungs from cockroach allergen-induced inflammation by modulating mesenchymal stem cells. J. Immunol. 195, 5539–5550. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1501198
- Xue, J., Schmidt, S. V., Sander, J., Draffehn, A., Krebs, W., Quester, I., et al. (2014). Transcriptome-based network analysis reveals a spectrum model of human macrophage activation. *Immunity* 40, 274–288. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014. 01.006
- Yang, D. H., and Yang, M. Y. (2019). The role of macrophage in the pathogenesis of osteoporosis. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:2093. doi: 10.3390/ijms200 92093
- Yang, S., Yuan, H. Q., Hao, Y. M., Ren, Z., Qu, S. L., Liu, L. S., et al. (2020). Macrophage polarization in atherosclerosis. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 501, 142–146. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2019.10.034
- Yasui, M., Tamura, Y., Minami, M., Higuchi, S., Fujikawa, R., Ikedo, T., et al. (2015). The prostaglandin E2 receptor EP4 regulates obesity-related inflammation and insulin sensitivity. *PLoS One* 10:e0136304. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.013 6304
- Yu, B., Shao, H., Su, C., Jiang, Y., Chen, X., Bai, L., et al. (2016a). Exosomes derived from MSCs ameliorate retinal laser injury partially by inhibition of MCP-1. *Sci. Rep.* 6:34562. doi: 10.1038/srep34562
- Yu, B., Sondag, G. R., Malcuit, C., Kim, M. H., and Safadi, F. F. (2016b). Macrophage-associated Osteoactivin/GPNMB mediates mesenchymal stem cell survival, proliferation, and migration Via a CD44-dependent mechanism. J. Cell. Biochem. 117, 1511–1521. doi: 10.1002/jcb. 25394
- Zhang, B., Zhang, J., Zhu, D., and Kong, Y. (2019a). Mesenchymal stem cells rejuvenate cardiac muscle after ischemic injury. *Aging* 11, 63–72. doi: 10.18632/ aging.101718
- Zhang, B., Zhao, N., Zhang, J., Liu, Y., Zhu, D., and Kong, Y. (2019b). Mesenchymal stem cells rejuvenate cardiac muscle through regulating macrophage polarization. *Aging* 11, 3900–3908. doi: 10.18632/aging.10 2009
- Zhang, M., Mal, N., Kiedrowski, M., Chacko, M., Askari, A. T., Popovic, Z. B., et al. (2007). SDF-1 expression by mesenchymal stem cells results in trophic support of cardiac myocytes after myocardial infarction. *FASEB J.* 21, 3197–3207. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-6558com
- Zhang, S., Chu, W. C., Lai, R. C., Lim, S. K., Hui, J. H., and Toh, W. S. (2016). Exosomes derived from human embryonic mesenchymal stem cells promote osteochondral regeneration. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 24, 2135–2140. doi: 10. 1016/j.joca.2016.06.022
- Zhu, J., Luo, L., Tian, L., Yin, S., Ma, X., Cheng, S., et al. (2018). Aryl hydrocarbon receptor promotes IL-10 expression in inflammatory macrophages through Src-STAT3 signaling pathway. *Front. Immunol.* 9:2033. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 02033

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Stevens, Bowles, Yeago and Roy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Notch and Wnt Signaling in MSC Communication in Normal and Leukemic Bone Marrow Niche

Paul Takam Kamga^{1,2*}, Riccardo Bazzoni¹, Giada Dal Collo³, Adriana Cassaro^{4,5}, Ilaria Tanasi¹, Anna Russignan¹, Cristina Tecchio¹ and Mauro Krampera^{1*}

¹ Stem Cell Research Laboratory, Section of Hematology, Department of Medicine, University of Verona, Verona, Italy, ² EA4340-BCOH, Biomarker in Cancerology and Onco-Haematology, UVSQ, Université Paris Saclay, Boulogne-Billancourt, France, ³ Department of Immunology, Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ⁴ Hematology Unit, Department of Oncology, Niguarda Hospital, Milan, Italy, ⁵ Department of Health Sciences, University of Milan, Milan, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Antonio Salgado, University of Minho, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Borhane Guezguez, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Germany Gianandrea Pasquinelli, University of Bologna, Italy

*Correspondence:

Paul Takam Kamga takam.paul@gmail.com; Kamga@ac-versailles.fr Mauro Krampera mauro.krampera@univr.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 26 August 2020 Accepted: 02 December 2020 Published: 08 January 2021

Citation:

Takam Kamga P, Bazzoni R, Dal Collo G, Cassaro A, Tanasi I, Russignan A, Tecchio C and Krampera M (2021) The Role of Notch and Wnt Signaling in MSC Communication in Normal and Leukemic Bone Marrow Niche. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:599276. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.599276 Notch and Wnt signaling are highly conserved intercellular communication pathways involved in developmental processes, such as hematopoiesis. Even though data from literature support a role for these two pathways in both physiological hematopoiesis and leukemia, there are still many controversies concerning the nature of their contribution. Early studies, strengthened by findings from T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (T-ALL), have focused their investigation on the mutations in genes encoding for components of the pathways, with limited results except for B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL); in because in other leukemia the two pathways could be hyper-expressed without genetic abnormalities. As normal and malignant hematopoiesis require close and complex interactions between hematopoietic cells and specialized bone marrow (BM) niche cells, recent studies have focused on the role of Notch and Wnt signaling in the context of normal crosstalk between hematopoietic/leukemia cells and stromal components. Amongst the latter, mesenchymal stromal/stem cells (MSCs) play a pivotal role as multipotent non-hematopoietic cells capable of giving rise to most of the BM niche stromal cells, including fibroblasts, adipocytes, and osteocytes. Indeed, MSCs express and secrete a broad pattern of bioactive molecules, including Notch and Wnt molecules, that support all the phases of the hematopoiesis, including self-renewal, proliferation and differentiation. Herein, we provide an overview on recent advances on the contribution of MSC-derived Notch and Wnt signaling to hematopoiesis and leukemia development.

Keywords: Mesenchymal stromal cells, Notch, Wnt, leukemia, bone marrow niche

INTRODUCTION

Bone marrow microenvironment (BMME) supports normal and clonal hematopoiesis, but also affects leukemia initiation, progression, and chemoresistance. Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) reside in a specialized BMME, where HSCs are tightly regulated (Cordeiro-Spinetti et al., 2015), functionally subdivided in two main compartments, i.e., the vascular niche that is close to the marrow vasculature, and the endosteal niche that is close to endosteum; however, the specific nature and functions of each niche still remain unclear (Morrison and Scadden, 2014;

Calvi, 2020). Within BM niches, HSCs interact with cellular components, including endothelial cells (ECs), mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs), megakaryocytes (MKs), osteoblasts (OBs), specialized macrophages, and nerve fibers (Calvi et al., 2003; Wilson et al., 2007). The redundant and complex activity shared by these cellular components has made difficult the assessment of the precise role of each cell type. However, these cells are dynamically involved in the regulation of hematopoiesis, through soluble or membrane-bound molecules (receptors and ligands) (Morrison and Scadden, 2014). MSCs include adult stem cells with multilineage differentiation capacity, that give rise to many other stromal cell types, including osteoblasts, adipocytes, chondrocytes, and endothelial cells (Dominici et al., 2006). As observed, both in vitro and in animal models, MSCs are capable of reconstituting a functional hematopoietic microenvironment, expressing/producing cytokines, and growth factors necessary for the regulation of hematopoiesis (Muguruma et al., 2006; Pontikoglou et al., 2011). Consequently, MSCs are largely used in 2D and 3D in vitro or ex vivo co-culture systems as a surrogate of the BMME, thus representing a suitable model for evaluating the role of BMME on HSCs and leukemic cells (Jakubikova et al., 2016). MSCs, by either producing cytokines and chemokines or entering in direct contact with leukemia cells, activate cell transduction signals that tightly regulate normal and malignant hematopoietic cell survival, thus driving the chemoresistance-promoting effect of the BMME (Jacamo et al., 2014). Our and other groups have demonstrated that Notch and Wnt signaling pathways represent a major crosstalk used by MSCs to interact with BMME (Kamdje et al., 2011, 2012; Zhang et al., 2013; Takam Kamga et al., 2016a). Indeed, these two pathways are well documented for their pivotal functions during normal and malignant hematopoiesis. Even though their deep role is well known in some leukemia subtypes, such as T-ALL, they can play opposite functions, being either oncogenic or tumor suppressor. However, all studies eventually unravel a conserved and supportive role for MSC-derived Notch and Wnt pathways in leukemia.

MSCs

Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) are multipotent nonhematopoietic cells with multilineage differentiation capacity. According to ISCT (International Society for Cellular and Gene Therapy, MSCs could be defined according to three criteria; (i) spindle shaped and plastic-adherent cells in standard tissue culture plates; (ii) expression of mesenchymal markers (CD105+, CD73+, CD90+) and lack of hematopoietic markers (CD45-, CD34, CD14- or CD11b-, CD79a or CD19, and HLA-DR), and (iii) in vitro multipotent capability of differentiating into osteocytes, adipocytes, and chondrocytes (Dominici et al., 2006). There are several sources of MSCs including BM, cord blood, adipose tissue, and others (Krampera et al., 2007; Di Trapani et al., 2013; Petrenko et al., 2020). MSCs have become widely studied over the past 30 years for their potential clinical application in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine for bone and cartilage reconstruction and wound healing. Actually,

in vitro and *in vivo* data support the evidence that one of the most important biological properties of MSCs is the immunoregulatory effect toward innate and adaptive immune effectors cells, such as T-, B-, and NK-cells, monocytes and dendritic cells in different inflammatory conditions, such as graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) (Collo et al., 2020). Indeed, migration, secretion, tissue regeneration, and immune regulatory properties of MSCs are synergistic and frequently rely on common signaling pathways, such as bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP) (Kong et al., 2013), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), Wnt, and Notch, especially inside BMME. Leukemia cells can interfere with the modulation of these pathways to improve biological function of MSCs toward a pro-leukemia supportive effect (Wang et al., 2015, 2016).

NOTCH SIGNALING IN MSCs

Notch Signaling: Structure and Activation

Notch signaling is a master and evolutionary pathway conserved from flies to human (Ntziachristos et al., 2014). The term Notch is related to the notched wing phenotype observed in flies carrying notch gene haploinsufficiency, as Notch is involved in tissue patterning (Morgan, 1917). Mammal Notch system involved 4 receptors of Lin/Notch family (Notch 1, Notch 2, Notch 3, and Notch 4) and 5 ligands of the Delta/Serrate/lag-2 (DSL) [Delta-like ligands (DLL-1, 3-4), Jagged1 and Jagged2] (Figure 1; Gordon et al., 2008; Ables et al., 2011). Notch receptors are single-pass transmembrane receptors, containing three domains: an extracellular domain, a transmembrane domain and an intracellular domain, the latter known as Notch intracellular domain (NICD). The extracellular unit consists of an epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like repeat domain, which participates to the ligand binding. There are 36 EGF-repeats domains in Notch1 and Notch 2, and 34 and 29 repeats for Notch3 and Notch 4, respectively. EGF-like repeats are followed by a Lin12/Notch/repeats (LNR) structure acting as a negative regulatory region (NNR), by preventing the ligand-independent cleavage of the receptor. The NICD presents the RBP-J-associated molecule (RAM) domain, six ankyrin repeats (ANK), nuclear localization sequences (NLS), a transactivation domain (TAD) required for activating transcription, and a proline-, glutamate-, serine-, and threonine-rich (PEST) domain which regulates NOTCH degradation. Initially, Notch receptors are transcribed and translated as 210-300 kDa large precursor molecules. A series of post-translational modifications are required for the precursors to acquire their active form. The intact precursor molecules are first glycosylated in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) by O-fucosyletransferase (Pofut-1 in mammals), which adds fucose to serine or threonine sites on specific EGF-like repeats. The glycosylated precursors are then cleaved in the trans-Golgi network into two subunits by furin-like convertases (S1-cleavage). This cleavage converts the precursor molecule into the non-covalently linked Notch extracellular domain (NECD) and transmembrane-Notch intracellular domain (TM-NICD) complex. This is then further glycosylated by enzymes of the



Master-mind like-1 (MALM1), Recombining binding protein suppressor of hairless/Core Binding Factor-1, Suppressor of Hairless, Lag-2 (RBP-jk/CSL). This transcription complex promotes the expression of genes of the helix basic family, including HES1, HEY1, and many other genes such as NF-κB, MYC and CCNDD.

Fringe family and addressed at cell membrane, where it is then non-covalently associated as a single heterodimer, i.e., the Cterm corresponding to the PEST domain and the Nterm corresponding to the extracellular region. Interaction between ligand and receptor expressed on adjacent cells induces two proteolytic events S2 and S3, catalyzed by ADAM-like metalloprotease and gamma-secretase complex, respectively. These two proteolytic events lead to the release of the intracellular active form of the receptor, i.e., NICD (van Tetering and Vooijs, 2011). NICD enters into the nucleus and forms a transactivation complex in association with partners, such as Master-mind like-1 (MALM1), Recombining binding protein suppressor of hairless/Core Binding Factor-1, Suppressor of Hairless, Lag-2 (RBP-jk/CSL). This transcription complex promotes the expression of genes of the helix basic family, including Hes1, Hey1, and many other genes, such as NF-KB, Myc, and cyclin D, thus controlling cell proliferation, apoptosis, adhesion, invasion, and migration during development, organ patterning and developmental diseases (Figure 1; Gordon et al., 2008).

Notch Signaling in MSCs

As stemness signaling mediators, Notch components are expected to be present in MSCs (Moriyama et al., 2018). A comprehensive review of the literature reveals the presence of the transcript of all the four Notch receptors and ligands in MSCs (Zhang et al., 2019). Protein analysis through western

immunobloting and flow cytometry supports the membrane expression of the four receptors. Western blot analysis showed that the proteins can be expressed as full length (220-280 kDa) transmembrane domains (90-110 kDa) (Takam Kamga et al., 2016a). Concerning ligands, most studies addressed the presence of Jagged1, while the expression of the other ligands are studydependent. In general, DLL1, DLL-4, and Jagged 2 in less extend are reported, while a few studies support the expression of DLL-3. We observed that the expression of Notch ligands become readily detectable after 3 days of MSC culture (Kamdje et al., 2011), supporting the critical contribution of the physiologic state of MSCs when they are analyzed for Notch. In addition, MSCs in culture lose their stem cell-like properties after several subsequent passages; as Notch expression is negatively related to MSC senescence, cell passage should be considered when analyzing Notch expression (Mutyaba et al., 2014). Overall, MSCs express both Notch receptors and ligands, supporting the autocrine activation of Notch signaling. Nevertheless, mRNAs but not the related proteins of Notch target genes of the helix basic family, including Hes1, Hey, and He5 are represented in MSCs (Song et al., 2015). This observation is strengthened by the absence of cleaved form of Notch receptors in MSCs from healthy donors. Accordingly, MSC viability and differentiation are not affected by Notch pharmacological inhibitors, except for higher dose. It is unclear why the pathway is not active, regardless the presence of receptors, and ligands, but it is possibly

due to postrancriptional repression mechanisms. Lessons from developmental biology may shed some light. During tissue development, Notch signaling on adjacent cells is involved in a phenomenon of *trans/cis*-activation/inhibition called lateral inhibition/activation. This model supports the idea that during tissue specification, the activation/inhibition of the signaling occurs among adjacent cells with opposite fate, while the involvement of the pathway is poor among similar cells (Sato and Yasugi, 2020). Notch signaling is activated either as paracrine signal to mediate communication between two different cell types or as molecular event involving stem cells differentiation. The first involvement will be discussed in another section. Concerning Notch involvement in stem cell differentiation, osteoblast switch is the paradigm. Cao et al. observed that the Notch inhibitor DAPT or a specific Notch1 antagonist may reduce alkaline phosphatase (ALP) activity in MSCs undergoing BMP9-dependent osteoblast induction, thus leading to reduced osteogenic differentiation in vitro and in vivo. On the other hand, MSC treatment with DLL-1 enhances ALP, osteopontin (OPN) and osteocalcin (OCN) expression (Cao et al., 2017). Using lentiviral tools, Semenova et al. (2020) proposed that Notchpromoting osteogenesis is dose-dependent, because the pathway activation is required for the formation of osteoblasts, but higher activity of Notch leads to apoptosis. The involvement of Notch for osteoblast differentiation has been confirmed by many other studies. Cao et al. (2017) has stressed the specific involvement of Notch1 and DLL-1, but other receptors or ligands could participate to Notch activation during osteogenesis. Song et al. (2015) observed that adipocyte differentiation is associated with reduced expression of Notch signaling components, suggesting that Notch involvement during MSC differentiation is lineagedependent, i.e., down-regulated for adipogenic differentiation and activated for osteogenic differentiation. This could be related to the tight crosstalk between Notch and BMP/Smad/runx2 signaling. Similarly, the involvement of Notch signaling in other MSC properties are mainly related to the crosstalk with specific signals. For example, through the stabilization of hypoxiainducible factor 1 alpha (HIF-1 α), hypoxia improves several MSC functions, including cell adhesion, migration, and proliferation. Ciria et al. (2017) observed that hypoxia upregulates the expression and activation of Notch signaling, while the absence of Notch signaling impairs HIF1α-induced MSC adhesion, migration, and proliferation. Lessons from hypoxia models have been very useful to understand that Notch can modulate almost all the MSC functions. Considering that Notch signaling is required for all these hypoxia-mediated events, we can therefore propose a model where the pathway itself is a pivotal signal required for all MSC features.

WNT SIGNALING IN MSCS

Wnt Signaling Structure and Activation

Wnt signaling is also an ancient and evolutionarily preserved pathway. Wnt proteins are secreted glycoprotein ligands that bind Frizzled transmembrane receptors located at cell membrane level. There are more than 19 Wnt proteins and 12 Frizzled receptors. There are two types of Wnt signaling pathway, the canonical Wnt/β-catenin cascade, and the non-canonical or β-catenin-independent signaling cascade (Kusserow et al., 2005). Initially, the ligands were classified as canonical (Wnt-1, -2, -3, -8a, -8b, -10a, and -10b) or non-canonical (Wnt-4, -5a, -5b, -6, 7a, -7b, and -11), according to the kind of signal activated upon their binding to the receptors (Siar et al., 2012). Some ligands indeed are more related to the type of activation (canonical or not), while some others can trigger Wnt signaling in a β -catenin-dependent or independent manner, according to the pathophysiological context. Wnt5a, for example, was early classified as non-canonical signal, but it can both activate and repress Wnt/β-catenin signaling during embryonic development and cancer development (Sato et al., 2010; van Amerongen et al., 2012). Studies on Wnt5a highlighted two important key points: i. the two cascades are not activated together, and ii. the co-receptors involved are different, i.e., ROR1/2 for the non-canonical signaling and the low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein family (LRP5/6) for the β-catenin-related signal (Sato et al., 2010; van Amerongen et al., 2012). Indeed, Frizzled receptors are coupled to coreceptors, such as LRP5/6, ROR2, NRH1, Ryk, and PTK7. LRP5/6 is involved in the canonical signaling, where β -catenin is sequestrated by a destruction complex made of the Axin scaffold protein associated with APC (adenomatous polyposis coli), GSK-3β (glycogen synthase kinase 3β), and CK1 (casein kinase). CK1 and GSK-3 β sequentially phosphorylate β -catenin at serines 45, 33, 37 or threonine 41 (Yost et al., 1996; Amit et al., 2002). This cascade of phosphorylation triggers ubiquitylation of β -catenin by β TrCP (an E3 ligase) and its subsequent proteasomal degradation. When the ligand binds to the frizzled receptors, its coreceptors LRP5/6 recruits the Disheveled (Dvl) protein, which in turn binds to Axin and GSK-3 proteins, leading to the disassembling of the destruction complex, the release of β -catenin and its nuclear localization (Salic et al., 2000). In the nucleus, β-catenin interacts with LEF/TCF transcription factors and other transcriptional activators to trigger activation of Wnt target genes (Figure 2). The canonical Wnt signaling can be modulated at different levels: (i) Inhibitors or antagonists of the ligand/receptors, such as Dickkopf (Dkk) proteins, secreted frizzled-related proteins (sFRPs), and WNT inhibitory factor 1 (WIF1); (ii) negative feedback through phosphorylation of Axins proteins (Axin 1 and Axin 2) by GSK-3β. There are several β-catenin-independent Wnt signaling pathways all related to a specific co-receptor or other key elements. One of them is the planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway that is mainly active in epithelial and mesenchymal cells, being involved in tissue polarization. The spatio-temporal organization of the pathway is not so clear; there are at least two complexes involved in Wnt-PCP located on adjacent cells, on the distal and the proximal membrane, respectively. Core components on the distal membrane consist in Frizzled and the scaffold partners Dvl, Diego and Flamingo. The counterpart on the proximal membrane involved Van Gogh, Prickle, and Flamingo scaffolds (Vladar and Königshoff, 2020). Although the two complexes are interconnected, a simple presentation of the signal transduction after ligand binding on Frizzled receptors shows the recruitment



coreceptors LRP5/6, which recruits the Disheveled (DVI) protein, which in turn binds to Axin and GSK-3 proteins, leading to the disassembling of the β -catenin destruction complex, the subsequent release of β -catenin and its nuclear localization In the nucleus, β -catenin interacts with LEF/TCF transcription factors and other transcriptional activators to trigger activation of Wnt target genes. (ii) The Wnt planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway, the ligand binding on Frizzled receptors shows the recruitment of DVI, the scaffold proteins Diego and Flamingo and the formation of a protein platform triggering the activity of Rho family GTPase proteins to regulate actin organization and cytoskeleton dynamics. (iii) the Wnt/Ca²⁺ which controls the levels of intracellular Ca²⁺. Upon ligand binding, DVI is recruited and a G-coupled protein is also recruited, which subsequently activate the phospholipase C, whose role consists in the cleavage of phosphatidylinositol-4, 5-bisphosphate (PIP2) into inositol-1, 4, 5-trisphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG). The IP3 diffuses in the cytoplasm to induce Ca²⁺ release by cytoplasmic organelles. Ca²⁺ increase activates the Ca²⁺ -dependent kinases.

of Dvl, Diego and Flamingo and the formation of a protein platform triggering the activity of Rho family GTPase proteins to regulate actin organization and cytoskeleton dynamics (Figure 2; Siar et al., 2012; Vladar and Königshoff, 2020). Another wellknown β -catenin-independent pathway is the Wnt/Ca²⁺, which controls the levels of intracellular Ca^{2+} (Figure 2). Like the two afore mentioned cascades; Dvl is also recruited after ligand biding, but in the meantime a G-coupled protein is also recruited, which subsequently activate the phospholipase C, whose role consists in the cleavage of phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) into inositol-1, 4, 5-trisphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG). The IP3 diffuses in the cytoplasm to induce Ca²⁺ release by cytoplasmic organelles. Ca²⁺ increase activates the Ca²⁺ -dependent kinases, such as protein kinase C (PKC), Calcium-calmodulin dependent kinase II (CamKII), and Calcium/calcineurin (CaCN). DAG also participates to the direct activation of PKC (Kusserow et al., 2005; Baksh et al., 2007; Jeong et al., 2020; Vladar and Königshoff, 2020).

The Wnt Signaling in MSCs

The role of Wnt signaling in the control of MSC biology is well documented. Transcriptomic and proteomic approaches, such as flow cytometry, ELISA, Western immunobloting, and mass spectrometry, showed in MSCs the enrichment in both canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathway components (Kuljanin et al., 2017). Using phosphospecific antibodies, we observed that Ser33/37/Thr41-phospho β-catenin (inactive) is totally absent in MSC cell lysate, thus suggesting that the Wnt/β-catenin is fully active in MSCs (Takam Kamga et al., 2016b; Wang et al., 2019). The requirement of a functional β -catenin-independent Wnt signaling, such as Wnt/Ca²⁺, Wn/Jnk, Wnt/Ryk, Wnt/Ror2, was also described in MSCs (Qiu et al., 2011; Qu et al., 2013; Jeong et al., 2020). Overall, the activation of the pathway plays a critical role in cell fate decisions, notably for MSC proliferation, self-renewal and differentiation. In particular, Wnt signaling modulation in MSCs is widely investigated to fully exploit regenerative properties of MSCs in different research fields, such as bone, lung, and heart biology (Volleman et al., 2020). The canonical Wnt/β-catenin pathway sustains proliferation and renewal of MSCs; therefore, the use of pharmacological modulators of the pathway has brought several informations. The activation of the canonical Wnt/β-catenin pathway with lithium chloride or exogenous ligands, such as Wnt1 and Wnt3a, promotes MSC expansion by maintaining their clonogenic properties, but inhibits osteogenic, and adipogenic commitment (Liu et al., 2009, 2011; Jothimani et al., 2020).

One key mechanism of the suppressive role of Wnt/β-catenin on adipogenesis is the reduced expression of adipogenic transcription factors CCAAT/enhancer binding protein alpha (C/EBPalpha) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) (Ross et al., 2000; Yuan et al., 2016). However, the use of Wnt/β -catenin inhibitors, such as Quercitin, reduce MSC proliferation and multipotency by favoring their osteogenic commitment and inhibiting both the chondrogenic and the adipogenic differentiation (Qu et al., 2013; Narcisi et al., 2015; Jothimani et al., 2020; Volleman et al., 2020). This model failed to explain the positive contribution of canonical Wnt in bone homeostasis in vivo (Wagner et al., 2020). Liu et al. suggested a role for Wnt/β-catenin activation levels; in fact, they observed a promoting effect with low concentrations of Wnt3a during osteogenic differentiation, through the regulation of key transcription factors such as RUNX2 and Osterix (Osx), while higher concentrations suppressed both osteogenesis and adipogenesis (Gaur et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2009). As for quercitin-mediating promotion of osteogenesis, increased Ca²⁺ signaling was also observed upon quercitin treatment, suggesting that osteogenic switch could be modulated by the balance between canonical and non-canonical signaling. In fact, a tight crosstalk between canonical and non-canonical Wnt leads to functional antagonism during osteogenic differentiation (Baksh et al., 2007), and osteogenic suppression induced by Wnt1 and Wnt3a is correlated with reduced Ror2/JNK levels (Gaur et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2009). Therefore, these studies proposed a binary view where the activation of Wnt/β-catenin through exogenous ligands, such as Wnt3a, may suppress both osteoblastic gene expression and MSC osteogenic differentiation with decreased matrix mineralization, while the activation of the non-canonical pathway has an opposite effects (Boland et al., 2004; Jothimani et al., 2020). Moreover, the activation of canonical pathway suppresses the non-canonical pathway and vice versa. Therefore, higher concentrations of Wnt3a suppresses osteogenesis by competing with non-canonical ligands. For instance, Wnt5a stimulates osteogenesis through the Wnt/ROR2/JNK signaling by competing with Wnt3a-mediated Wnt/β-catenin. Consequently, quercitin switches the balance toward non-canonical signaling, while Wnt3a or Wnt1 switch it toward Wnt/β-catenin cascade (Baksh et al., 2007). A role for canonical and non-canonical Wnt was also observed during motility and migration processes. Some authors used lentiviral constructs to enforce the expression of β -catenin or ROR2 in MSCs. They observed that β -catenin or ROR2 upregulation induces either nuclear β -catenin accumulation or the activation of Wnt5a/JNK and Wnt5a/PKC pathways, belonging to the canonical Wnt and non-canonical Wnt5a/ROR2 pathways, respectively (Liu et al., 2009; Cai et al., 2014).

MSC-DERIVED NOTCH AND WNT SIGNALING PATHWAYS IN HEMATOPOIESIS

Hematopoiesis is the process of blood cell formation through the proliferation and differentiation of HSCs and progenitor cells into specialized cells belonging to lymphoid and myeloid lineages (Orkin and Zon, 2008). Activation of Notch and Wnt signaling pathways is essential for the maintenance of HSCs (Bigas et al., 2010). Pharmacological and loss- or gain-offunction approaches have been useful strategies to investigate the role of Notch and Wnt signaling pathways in hematopoiesis. The retroviral expression in HSC/progenitors cell-enriched populations of active forms of Notch receptors, Notch target genes or β -catenin increases the pool of cells with repopulating capacities, such as Lin- cord blood cells, CD34+ CD38- and mouse KLS (c-Kit⁺ Sca1⁺ Lin-) cells (Varnum-Finney et al., 2000; Kunisato et al., 2003; Reya et al., 2003; Vercauteren and Sutherland, 2004). Accordingly, the addition of exogenous ligands of the two pathways, such as Jagged-1 or DLL-1 (Notch signaling), and Wnt3a (canonical Wnt signaling), to cultures of purified primitive human blood progenitors induces selfrenewal, survival and expansion of stem cells provided with pluripotent repopulating capacity in mouse models (Karanu et al., 2000; Willert et al., 2003; Delaney, 2005). Our and other groups have thoroughly described the expression of Notch and Wnt signaling in MSCs (Kamdje et al., 2011; Kamdje et al., 2012; Takam Kamga et al., 2016b), but other MSC-derived stromal components, including osteoblasts, and endothelial cells, can be the source of paracrine Wnt and Notch signaling in the BM (Nemeth et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2016). Moreover, MSCs can reconstitute the complete human BMME in irradiated mice (Muguruma et al., 2006) and therefore improve HSC engraftment following transplantation (Zhao et al., 2019). MSCs, expressing Notch and Wnt components, represent a major source of exogenous Notch or Wnt ligands that are involved in HSC fate. Using both co-culture and repopulation assay in SCID mice, Kadekar et al. observed that MSCs supported HSC expansion by preventing the apoptosis of primitive HSCs through a higher expression of β -catenin, DLL-1, Jagged1, Hes1, Notch1, and cleaved Notch1 (NICD1) (Kadekar et al., 2015). Similarly, several works have clearly showed the enhanced expression of Notch and Wnt signaling in both co-cultured MSCs and hematopoietic progenitors leading to proliferation and maintenance of HSCs on MSC feeder layer (Kim et al., 2009, 2015a, 2018; Kikuchi et al., 2011). Interestingly, increased levels of Notch components in MSCs resulted from the activation of β-catenin pathways. Growing evidence supports a model where HSC-MSC co-culture leads to higher level of β -catenin in MSCs, whose gene transactivation may lead to Jagged1 expression, which in turn acts as paracrine ligand to trigger activation of Notch signaling in HSCs. Wnt/β-catenin signals in MSCs enhance HSC self-renewal by inducing the crosstalk of Wnt-Notch signals in the HSC niche (Kim et al., 2009; Oh, 2010; Kadekar et al., 2015). Therefore, the canonical Wnt signaling is significantly required by stromal cells (Jeong et al., 2020). Excess of canonical Wnt signaling in HSCs impairs the function of HSCs and their multilineage progenitors (Scheller et al., 2006); as previously mentioned, this could be explained by the competition between canonical and non-canonical Wnt cascades. Higher levels of canonical signaling suppress the non-canonical one. Activation of the non-canonical Wnt, with Wnt5a and the co-receptor Ryk, leads to HSC quiescence, whereas Wnt3a,

the canonical ligand, supports HSC proliferation (Liu et al., 2011; Jeong et al., 2020). The involvement of the non-canonical cascade may explain why Notch and Wnt pathways are also involved in mediating adhesion and migration of HSCs. The aforementioned work by Kadekar et al. showed enhanced levels of Wnt/Notch components as well as migration and adhesive properties in HSCs cultured on MSCs (Kadekar et al., 2015). The crosstalk of Notch or Wnt pathways with stromal cellderived factor-1 (SDF-1)/CXCR4 axis is well described and may be responsible for their influence on HSCs migration and adhesion (Tamura et al., 2011; Kadekar et al., 2015). Duryagina et al. (2013) observed that Jagged1 expression by MSCs induces the release of SDF-1, thus supporting proliferation, migration, and adhesion of CD34⁺ progenitors, resulting in the increase of cobblestone area-forming cells and long-term culture-initiating cells (LTC-ICs). Notch and Wnt signaling are involved not only in the maintenance of HSCs, but also in T-cell differentiation. Delaney et al. observed that the treatment of CD34⁺ CD38⁻ cord blood progenitors with low density of DLL1 enhanced generation of NOD/SCID repopulating cells, while high density of DLL1 induced a switch toward lymphoid rather than myeloid lineage (Delaney, 2005). However, higher levels of Notch pathway preferentially support T cell differentiation by stimulating the common lymphoid progenitor toward T-cell rather than B-cell lineage. Precursor cells engineered to express NICD1 and engrafted in immunodeficient mice give rise to T-cell populations only. Conversely, silencing Notch activity leads to the onset of B-cell progeny (Wilson et al., 2001). Similarly, MSCs may support T-cell differentiation of co-cultured precursor cells when forced to express Notch receptors (Notch1 and Notch2) and ligands (Jagged1 and DLL1) (Felli et al., 1999; Aster, 2005; Vacca et al., 2006). During this process, the type of the ligands expressed by stromal cell is crucial. Some MSC cell lines, such as OP9, expressing different Notch ligands, showed that MSC-derived DLL4 supports both $\alpha\beta$ - and γδ-lineage differentiation, while MSC-derived Jagged1 supports TCR-αβ, but not TCR-γδ development and MSC-derived Jagged2 mainly supports $\gamma\delta$ T cell differentiation at the expense of $\alpha\beta$ T cells (Van de Walle et al., 2013). Assays with OP9 cell line were also useful to understand the contribution of stromal cellderived Wnt signaling to T-cell development. Famili et al. (2015) engineered OP9 cells to conditionally express either Wnt3a or Wnt5a. They observed that low density of the canonical Wnt ligands accelerates T-cell proliferation and maturation, while higher levels of the signal blocks T-cell development and favors alternative lineages. In parallel, in vitro experiments showed no effect of the non-canonical Wnt ligand (Wnt5a). During the T-cell switch, thymic stromal cell-derived Wnt signaling influence T-cell expansion and maturation by controlling the activation of transcription factors of the T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancing factor (Tcf/Lef) family (Schilham et al., 1998; Staal et al., 2001; van Loosdregt et al., 2013). This is associated with defective final differentiation and reduced thymocyte number in mice, either expressing the inhibitor of β-catenin and Tcf (ICAT) or resulting deficient for canonical Wnt ligand, such as Wnt1 (Mulroy et al., 2002; Pongracz et al., 2006). Famili et al. (2015) observed that in the co-co-culture setting with OP9

cell line or in mouse models, low levels of β -catenin signaling supports T-cell development, whereas higher activity of canonical and non-canonical Wnt preferentially favors myeloid and B-cell developments. Notably, the regulation of hematopoiesis by canonical Wnt requires the physical contact between MSCs and hematopoetic cells (Ichii et al., 2012; Famili et al., 2015). MSCs and stromal cell mediated Wnt signaling is therefore required at all steps of the hematopoiesis, being a decisional factor for lymphoid and myeloid switch. Concerning myeloid lineage, the role of Notch and Wnt pathways is not well-defined compare to the lymphoid counterpart. For example, myelopoiesis has been associated with low levels of Notch signaling (de Pooter et al., 2006; De Obaldia et al., 2013). However, this view may underestimate the complexity of Notch contribution to myeloid lineage development. Notch involvement in myeloid differentiation is certainly lower, as compared to lymphopoiesis (De Obaldia et al., 2013); nevertheless, the fine tuning of Notch levels is fundamental for myeloid cell development. The role of Notch could be phase-dependent during myeloid cell generation (Fehon et al., 1991). For instance, constitutive Notch activation in 32 myeloid progenitor cells led to selfrenewal of myeloid precursors and inhibition of granulocytic differentiation (Milner et al., 1996). The same results were also achieved in HL-60 cell line, which failed to undergo ATRAmediated differentiation when genetically enforced to express NICD1 (Carlesso et al., 1999). Conversely, Jagged1 may inhibit proliferation of macrophage progenitors (Masuya et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2009; Kadekar et al., 2015) and Notch pathway seems to be involved in the differentiation of mature myeloid cells (Fehon et al., 1991). The complexity of Notch contribution to myeloid lineage could arise from the level of the pathway activation. Using ex vivo systems for the expansion of cord blood CD34 + CD38- HSC progenitors, DLL-1 at lower density was capable of enhancing the generation of CD34⁺ cells as well as CD14⁺ and CD7⁺ cells, consistently with early myeloid and T-cell differentiation, respectively. However, culture with higher amounts of DLL-1 induced apoptosis of CD34⁺ precursors, thus resulting in decreased cell numbers, without any effects on the generation of CD7⁺ cells (Delaney, 2005). A minimal activity of Notch could be necessary for the maintenance of myeloid progenitors, while higher activation could induce cell differentiation. Again, the source of paracrine ligands that trigger Notch activation in myeloid progenitors might be stromal cells. Indeed, primitive (CD34⁺ CD38⁻ Lin⁻), and intermediate (CD34⁺ CD38⁺ Lin⁻) HSCs cultured on MSCs expressing Jagged1 or DLL-1 showed enhanced self-renewal properties associated with increased expression and activation of Notch1. This suggests that in the BM niches MSCs provide exogenous Notch ligands necessary for the maintenance of myeloid progenitor pool and Jagged1 expression is the consequence of Wnt/β-catenin activation, thus suggesting a role for Wnt-Notch cross-talk in myelopoiesis (Fernández-Sánchez et al., 2011). In parallel, thanks to in vitro colony-replating assays, Nteliopoulos et al. observed that canonical and non-canonical Wnt-3 can stimulate proliferation of myeloid progenitors and impair IL-3induced differentiation into myeloid populations (Nteliopoulos et al., 2009). As MSCs are a source of Wnt ligands, we can hypothesize that stromal cells may support the self-renewal of myeloid progenitors through the release of Wnt ligands (Toni et al., 2006). However, there are a few studies addressing the role of MSC-derived Wnt signaling in myeloid counterpart. Most data arise from studies on myeloid malignancies and will be discussed in the next section.

MSC-DERIVED NOTCH AND WNT SIGNALING IN LEUKEMIA

Notch in Leukemia

Several studies have addressed the role of Notch in leukemic diseases (Table 1). Early association between Notch and hematopoietic malignancies was shown in T-ALL, where more than 50% of patients have activating mutations of Notch signaling, thus representing the first gene aberration in T-ALL (Weng et al., 2004). Notch mutations in T-ALL mainly target the HD or the PEST domains. By sequencing the heterodimerization domain of NOTCH1 in mouse models of T-ALL, O'Neil (2006) found that more than 74% of the tumors harbored activating mutations in Notch1. Mutations in HD domain induce a constitutive, ligand-free activity of the receptors. The second hotspot of mutations is the PEST domain targeting NICD to ubiquitination-mediated proteolysis. The mutation in the PEST domain determines the lack of degradation of the active form of the receptors, thus leading to a constitutive activity of the pathway (Weng et al., 2004). In nude mouse models of T-ALL, tumor establishment correlated with Notch1 mutation (Lin, 2006). The importance of Notch activation for T-ALL cell survival has raised the use of gamma-secretase inhibitors (GSIs). T-ALL cells are highly sensitive to different GSIs (Grosveld, 2009; Real and Ferrando, 2009; Baratta, 2019) as well as to other Notch inhibitors, such as Notch transcription factor inhibitors (Moellering et al., 2009) and Notch blocking antibodies (Wu et al., 2010). Besides Notch1, higher levels of Notch3 were found in T-ALL cells, and its genetic inhibition through siRNA led to growth inhibition and apoptosis (Masiero et al., 2011). Constitutive activation of Notch is also a hallmark of B-cell CLL. Notch activating mutations occur essentially in the PEST domain of Notch receptors and are associated with a shorter overall survival (Willander et al., 2013). Rosati et al. (2013) found high expression of Notch1, Notch2, Jagged1, and Jagged2 in CLL correlated with higher activation of the pathway. This activation is further increased in CLL cells that are resistant to spontaneous apoptosis in ex vivo culture. Accordingly, our group demonstrated that Notch inhibition, through GSIs or blocking antibodies, induces CLL apoptosis, and sensitizes leukemia cells to treatment with chemotherapeutic agents (Kamdje et al., 2012). Except in T-ALL, Notch mutations are very rare in other leukemia types, where its role is either well defined or quite controversial (Liu et al., 2013). In B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL), Notch1 mutation was not observed, but a tumor suppressor role of the pathway was suggested (Morimura et al., 2000; Zweidler-McKay et al., 2005). Notch seems to be epigenetically silenced in B-ALL, since Notch3, Jagged1, Hes2, Hes4, and Hes5 are frequently hypermethylated in leukemia

B-cell lines and primary B-ALL cells. Restoration of Hes5 expression by lentiviral transduction resulted in growth arrest and apoptosis in Hes5-negative B-ALL cells (Kuang et al., 2013). Activation of the pathway induces growth arrest and apoptosis in B-ALL cells (Morimura et al., 2000; Zweidler-McKay et al., 2005; Kuang et al., 2013). Putting in the context of anti-leukemic treatment, epigenetic analysis of blast cells collected from B-ALL patients along the course of the disease revealed that the methylation pattern of Notch receptors' genes changes according to the disease step. It was observed that Notch genes receptors are highly methylated at diagnosis, less methylated upon drug treatment and became hypermethylated in relapsed patients (Takam Kamga et al., 2019a). These observations suggested that the methylation status of Notch genes might be relevant for drug response. This is strengthened by the results obtained in non-leukemic systems where evidence of epigenetic modulation of Notch genes in cancer cells treated with chemotherapeutic agents like 5-fluorouracil and cisplatin was demonstrated (Maeda et al., 2014). Collectively these data support further research to unravel the role of epigenetic silencing of Notch in leukemia disease. Studies in solid cancers have also reported that Notch genes are the targets of several miRNA (or vice-versa) involved in drug resistance including miR-1, miR-200, miR-34 etc. (Ji et al., 2009; Li et al., 2009). Consistently recent studies have provided the evidence that the BM-microenvironment transfer miRNA in leukemia cells, supporting cell survival (Liu et al., 2015; Ganesan et al., 2019).

Our group has recently shown that human BM MSCs, through Notch activation, protect B-ALL cells from apoptosis induced by chemotherapeutic agents; in fact, Notch signaling inhibition abrogates the protective role of human BM MSCs toward B-ALL cells (Kamdje et al., 2011), thus highlighting the contribution of the BMME in Notch signaling. In myeloid malignancies, the role of Notch is still matter of investigation. In chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), Notch emerges as tumor suppressor gene rather than oncogene, although still poorly investigated. Yin et al. (2009) observed that overexpression of Notch1 active form in the CML cell line K562 significantly inhibits cell proliferation, while knocking-down the pathway through the expression of a dominant negative of RBP-jk promotes colony-forming activity. In acute myeloid leukemia (AML), the role of Notch remains controversial: Kannan et al. (2013) described Notch expression and activation in ex vivo AML cell samples and AML cell lines, but weak activation of the pathway, as demonstrated by the low expression level of the Notch target genes. Similarly, Lobry et al. (2013) described epigenetic silencing of Notch target genes in AML; consistently, they demonstrated that the reactivation of Notch signaling induced apoptosis and differentiation of leukemia blast cells into mature cells. These results are consistent with the anti-leukemic role of demethylating/hypomethylating agents azacytidine or decitabine in AML (DiNardo et al., 2018; Leung et al., 2019). However, our and other groups found that Notch activation is not homogenous within AML samples and cell lines (Tohda and Nara, 2001; Sliwa et al., 2014; Czemerska et al., 2015). In the study by Tohda and Nara (2001) 6 cell lines out of 8 and 40% of AML fresh samples showed active forms of Notch1

TABLE 1 | Roles of Notch and Wnt signaling pathways in leukemia.

		Leukemia cell-derived Notch/Wnt signaling	MSC-derived Notch/Wnt signaling
AML	Biomarkers	 Higher expression and activation of Notch signaling components is associated to poorer prognosis in AML (Xu et al., 2011; Sliwa et al., 2014; Takam Kamga et al., 2019a). High activation of Wnt/β-catenin is associated to shorter survival (Khan and Bendall, 2006; Griffiths et al., 2010). 	 Overexpression of Notch1 and Jagged1 in AML-MSCs (Takam Kamga et al., 2016a). Overexpression of Wnt molecules in AML-MSCs (Takam Kamga et al., 2016b).
	Oncogene	 Notch/Jagged1 expression and activation in acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) supports leukemia cell growth (Grieselhuber et al., 2013). Activation of Wnt/β-catenin/TCF/LEF pathway supports growth of leukemia cells (Khan and Bendall, 2006). Epigenetic modification of Wnt inhibitors in AML (Griffiths et al., 2010). 	 Notch signaling is required for β-catenin-mediated oncogenesis in mouse models of AML (Kode et al., 2014). MSC-derived Notch signaling supports growth and survival of leukemic cells (Takam Kamga et al., 2016b). MSC-derived Notch signaling supports growth and survival of leukemic cells (Takam Kamga et al., 2016a).
	Tumor suppressor	 Enforced expression of Notch receptors in AML inhibits leukemia cell growth and survival (Kannan et al., 2013; Lobry et al., 2013) 	
	Mediator of drug resistance		 MSC-derived Notch signaling reduces apoptosis in AML treated with chemotherapeutic agents (Takam Kamga et al. 2016a). Stromal cell-derived Wnt signaling reduces apoptosis in AML treated with chemotherapeutic agents (Takam Kamga et al., 2016b)
B-ALL	Biomarkers	 Higher expression and activation of Notch signaling is observed in refractory patients (Kamdje et al., 2011; Takam Kamga et al., 2019b). Wnt ligands and receptors are overexpressed in B-ALL cells (Khan et al., 2007). Overexpression of LEF1 predicts poor outcomes (Kühnl et al., 2011) 	
	Oncogene	 – Epigenetic inactivation of Notch in B-ALL (Kuang et al., 2013). – Stimulation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling supports growth and survival of B-ALL cells (Khan et al., 2007). 	 MSC-derived Notch signaling supports growth and survival of leukemic cells (Kamdje et al., 2011). MSC-derived Wnt signaling supports growth and survival o leukemic cells (Yang et al., 2013).
	Tumor suppressor	 Activation of Notch signaling induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis (Morimura et al., 2000; Zweidler-McKay et al., 2005; Kuang et al., 2013). 	
	Mediator of drug resistance	 Notch inhibitors sensitize B-ALL cells to chemotherapy (Takam Kamga et al., 2019b). Wnt inhibition sensitizes B-ALL to chemotherapy (Fu et al., 2019). 	 MSC-derived Notch signaling reduces apoptosis in B-ALL treated with chemotherapeutic agents (Kamdje et al., 2011) MSC-derived Wnt signaling reduces apoptosis in B-ALL treated with chemotherapeutic agents (Yang et al., 2013).
CLL	Biomarkers	 Notch activating mutation are observed in CLL patients (Willander et al., 2013). Notch1 mutation is found in intermediate-risk patients, predicting poorer survival (Willander et al., 2013). Higher expression and activation of Notch signaling is observed in refractory patients (Rosati et al., 2013). Wht5 is enriched in CLL patients (Janovska et al., 2016). Low WNT3 expression is a signature of patient with short therapy-free survival (Janovská and Bryja, 2017). 	
	Oncogene	 Activation of Notch signaling supports growth and survival of CLL cells (Kamdje et al., 2012; Rosati et al., 2013). Lef1 is a prosurvival factor s (Willander et al., 2013). Wnt/PCP controls migration of CLL cells (Janovska et al., 2016). 	 MSC-derived Notch signaling supports growth and survival of leukemic cells (Kamdje et al., 2012). MSC-induced accumulation of β-catenin in CLL cell supports growth and survival of leukemia cells (Mangolini et al., 2018).
	Tumor suppressor		
	Mediator of drug resistance	- Notch inhibitors sensitize CLL cells to chemotherapy (El-Gamal et al., 2014).	 MSC-derived Notch signaling reduces apoptosis in CLL cells treated with chemotherapeutic agents (Kamdje et al., 2012; Mangolini et al., 2018). MSC-induced accumulation of β-catenin in CLL cells, supports drug resistance of leukemia cells (Mangolini et al., 2018).

TABLE 1 | Continued

		Leukemia cell-derived Notch/Wnt signaling	MSC-derived Notch/Wnt signaling
CML	Biomarkers		
	Oncogene	 β-catenin is a target of BCR-ABL (Zhao et al., 2007; Tomasello et al., 2020) Wnt1 signaling supports growth and survival of CML cells (Majeti et al., 2009). 	
	Tumor suppressor	 Notch1 suppresses growth and survival of K562 cell line (Yin et al., 2009). 	
	Mediator of drug resistance	 Inhibition of Wnt/β-catenin sensitizes cells to TKI (Zhang et al., 2013). 	 MSC-derived Notch signaling reduced apoptosis in CML treated with chemotherapeutic agent. MSC-derived Wht signaling reduced apoptosis in CML cells treated with TKI (Han et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013).
T-ALL	Biomarkers		
	Oncogene	 Notch1 is mutated in more than 50% of patients (Weng et al., 2004). Notch signaling drives oncogenesis and supports growth and survival of T-ALL cells (Weng et al., 2004; O'Neil, 2006). Notch 3 supports survival of T-ALL cells (Masiero et al., 2011). 	
	Tumor suppressor		
	Mediator of drug resistance	- Notch inhibition sensitizes cells to drug treatment (Grosveld, 2009; Real and Ferrando, 2009).	 MSC-derived Notch/Jagged1 signaling reduces apoptosis in Jurkat cell line treated with chemotherapeutic agents (Yuan et al., 2013). MSC-derived Wht signaling reduces apoptosis in ALL cel treated with chemotherapeutic agents (Yang et al., 2013).

receptors. Some observations suggest that Notch expression and activation levels in AML could be correlated with the molecular background of each samples or the FAB subgroup (Tohda and Nara, 2001; Salat et al., 2008; Grieselhuber et al., 2013; Sliwa et al., 2014; Czemerska et al., 2015; Takam Kamga et al., 2019a). For example, ETO in association with RBP-jk inhibits the expression of Notch target genes, while the leukemogenic fusion protein AML1/ETO is devoid of this repressive activity (Salat et al., 2008). Grieselhuber et al. (2013) identified Notch expression and activation in acute promyelocytic leukemia presenting the PML-RARα rearrangement. However, Notch pathway activation has been observed mostly in more immature AML subtypes and was associated with bad prognosis, as patients with hyperexpression of Notch1 displayed poorer overall survival (Xu et al., 2011; Sliwa et al., 2014; Takam Kamga et al., 2019a). Notably, in a recent study we found that less mature AML subtypes (M0-M1) expressed high levels of all the four receptors (Notch1-4) and some ligands (Jagged2, DLL-3), whereas adverse cytogenetic risk groups overexpressed Notch3, Notch4, and Jagged2 as compared to good cytogenetic risk patients. Accordingly, univariate and multivariate analysis confirmed a longer overall survival for patients presenting low expression of Notch4, Jagged2, and DLL3 on leukemia cells at diagnosis (Takam Kamga et al., 2019a).

Wnt Signaling in Leukemia

Wnt pathway deregulation is a common feature of leukemia. In lymphoid malignancies, such as ALL, CLL non-canonical and canonical Wnt pathway-related genes and proteins are over-expressed in lymphoid tumor cells, thus resulting prone to apoptosis upon interference with the pathway including β-catenin inhibition (Rosenwald et al., 2001; Lu et al., 2004; Janovská and Bryja, 2017). Consistently, over-expression of LEF-1 mRNA is a hallmark in ALL and CLL patients with poor prognostic. The constitutive activation of the pathway deregulation can result from gene mutation (Tomasello et al., 2020), but also from epigenetic modifications. In CLL for example, Next generation sequencing of samples from patients confirmed that 40% of patients harbors somatic mutations in Wnt pathway components (WNT1, WNT10A, DKK2, RSPO4, FZD5, RYK) (Wang et al., 2014). Studies have indicated a crosstalk between molecular aberrations and epigenetic activation of the pathway, acting in a concerted manner to interfere with Wnt inhibitors while promoting Wnt agonists or activators. Consistently the promoter of genes coding for Wnt pathway inhibitors including WIF1, DKK3, APC, SFRP1, SFRP2, SFRP4, and SFRP5 are frequently hypermethylated and consequently downregulated in samples from CLL and ALL (Roman-Gomez et al., 2004; Martin et al., 2008; Rahmatpanah et al., 2009). It is worthy to mention that the tumor suppressor gene APC could also be the target of epigenetic modification. In T-ALL, the promoter of APC is methylated in about 50% of cases and correlates with β-catenin over-expression (Matsushita et al., 2006). In B-ALL cell lines and primary B-ALL cells, the Wnt pathway is activated by over-expression of Wnt proteins and receptors (Wnt-2b, Wnt-5a; Wnt-10b, Wnt-16b; FZD7; FZD8) and their stimulation with Wnt-3a increases the survival and proliferation of these cells (Khan et al., 2007). Similarly to what is observed in CLL, the hyperactivation of the pathway is due at least in part to the hypermethylation of the Wnt inhibitors (Kong et al., 2018). Concerning myeloid malignancies, Zhao et al. found that β -catenin deletion causes a reduction in the ability of mice to develop BCR-ABLinduced CML (Zhao et al., 2007). Indeed, stabilization and nuclear localization of β-catenin is a direct consequence of the BCR-ABL (Tomasello et al., 2020). As a consequence, the treatment of CML stem/progenitor cells with β-catenin inhibitor ICG001 reduces cell survival and proliferation by sensitizing cells to tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI). Interestingly, the addition of purified Wnt1 activates β-catenin and protects CML cells from TKI treatment, thus confirming the important role of Wnt pathway in maintaining CML stem cells (Zhang et al., 2013). In AML, our and other groups have observed an enrichment in Wnt components in AML primary cells compared to normal hematopoietic progenitors, although the expression of the Wnt components was not homogenous across samples (Majeti et al., 2009). Interestingly, β-catenin was enriched in high-risk patients; subsequently, we observed that patients presenting higher activation of the pathway had shorter progression free survival (Takam Kamga et al., 2020). The pivotal role for Wnt pathway in AML pathogenesis is also supported by studies in which cells transfected with AMLassociated translocation products (PLZF-RARA and AML1-ETO) display activation of pakoglobin, a homolog of β -catenin. This induction is followed by the transactivation of TCF/LEF transcription factors and the increase in the proliferation and survival of murine hematopoietic progenitor cells (Khan and Bendall, 2006; Griffiths et al., 2010). In fact, the constitutive activation of Wnt signaling in AML may not result from β-catenin mutation, but from Flt3 hyperexpression leading to Akt-mediated phosphorylation and GSK-3ß inactivation, with β-catenin stabilization (Brandts et al., 2005; Román-Gómez et al., 2007; Valencia et al., 2009). In accordance with the pro-oncogenic role of Wnt in AML, β-catenin down-regulation in AML cell lines and ex vivo cells through shRNA or pharmacological inhibitors, such as quercitin IWP-2, Niclosamide and PNU-74654, decreases their proliferation rate in vitro and homing as well as their engraftment after xenotransplantation (Toni et al., 2006; Gandillet et al., 2011; Takam Kamga et al., 2020). Interestingly, the Wnt inhibitors quercetin induced pronounced apoptosis in AML, in vivo and in vitro in part by its demethylating activity (Maso et al., 2014; Alvarez et al., 2018). In fact, in AML, the use of demethylating agents such as Decitabine decreased methylation status of Wnt antagonist including SFRP1, HDPR1, and DKK3, providing evidence that activation of the pathway resulted from an epigenic silencing (Li et al., 2014). Similarly to CLL, in AML the promoter of genes coding for Wnt antagonists (sFRP1, sFRP2, sFRP4, sFRP5, DKK1, and DKK3 etc.) are frequently methylated predicting poor outcome in patients (Jost et al., 2008; Valencia et al., 2009).

The Role of MSCs in Leukemia

As previously discussed, several studies have reported a supportive and protumorigenic role for MSCs toward different leukemia subtypes, including AML, B-ALL, CLL, CML, and T-ALL (Lee et al., 2019). A comparison of MSCs isolated from myeloid and lymphoid leukemia environment compared to MSCs isolated from healthy donors revealed that stromal cells

are the sites of deep molecular changes involving modulation of the expression and/or secretion of cytokines, chemokines, adhesion molecules, and extracellular matrix molecules such as SDF-1/CXCR4, CD44. These modifications are thought to improve MSCs-mediated survival and growth of leukemic cells and mainly leukemia stem/progenitors cells (Ge et al., 2011; Yu et al., 2019; Azadniv et al., 2020). MSCs have the double ability to keep leukemic stem cells in a quiescent state while promoting proliferation and growth of leukemia cells. Coculture experiments showed that MSCs supports the culture of primary leukemia cells and promote the long term survival of leukemia stem cells (Ito et al., 2015). Evidence from studies support a bidirectional crosstalk between MSCs and leukemia stem/progenitor cells. In the study of the Yu et al. (2019), they observed that MSCs co-cultured with B-ALL leukemia stem cells showed downregulation of lumican increased expression of CD44 and diverse chemokine including IL-3, IL-7, IL-10, and G-CSF. These educated MSCs were more potent to protect leukemic cells against VP-16. Similarly, in AML, CXCR4, CD44, integrins like VCAM1 or VLA-4 are activated upon the contact between AML cells and MSCs to promote resistance of leukemia cells. A treatment of AML cells with the specific CXCR4-SDF inhibitor, AMD3100 or antibodies against CD44, VCAM1, significantly sensitizes AML stem cells to treatment with chemotherapeutics, thus abrogating MSCs mediated chemoresistance and persistence of the minimal residual disease (Matsunaga et al., 2003; Tabe et al., 2007; Nervi et al., 2009; Jacamo et al., 2014). This mechanism can be translated in other leukemia as demonstrated by several studies (Konopleva et al., 2009).

Putting Together the Contribution of MSC-Derived Notch and Wnt Signaling Pathways in Leukemia

Stromal BMME promotes the survival of leukemia cells through the activation of many pathways, including Notch and Wnt signaling (Vianello et al., 2010; Kamdje et al., 2011, 2012; Tabe and Konopleva, 2015; Cai et al., 2016; Takam Kamga et al., 2016a). On the other hand, Notch and Wnt signaling are the targets of persistent modifications occurring often in parallel in the BM niche during leukemogenesis (Kode et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2015b). Therefore, analyzing MSCs isolated from leukemia samples can provide an overview of these persistent modifications involving both pathways, which eventually can be considered as a unique microenvironmental communication system, the so called Wntch pathway (Sengupta et al., 2007; Hayward et al., 2008; Takam Kamga et al., 2016a; Azadniv et al., 2020). Studies revealed that, increasing activity of Notch signaling results from an aberrant β -catenin signaling in the same stromal compartment and vice versa (Kode et al., 2014). In normal hematopoiesis, stromal β-catenin signaling induces expression of Jagged1; consequently, stromal Jagged1, and Wnt ligands induce in HSCs Notch and Wnt signaling, respectively, and support their self-renewal in a cell-to-cell contact-dependent manner (Ichii et al., 2012; Kadekar et al., 2015). The same phenomenon occurs in leukemia cells and stem cells, where studies reported higher levels of stromal Notch parallel with higher activation of the Wnt signaling



(Figure 3) (Yang et al., 2013; Takam Kamga et al., 2016a,b). Therefore, Notch signaling is required for leukemic role of the canonical Wnt (Kode et al., 2014). The functional outcome of this Wnt/Notch crosstalk between MSCs and B-ALL or AML cells is the induction of leukemia cell proliferation, survival and chemoresistance. Consequently, Wnt and/or Notch inhibition through pharmacological modulators, including small molecules inhibitors (PNU-74654, Niclosamide, GSIs) and Notch blocking antibodies, may sensitize leukemia cells to drug treatment, thus abrogating the protective role of MSC monolayer (Kamdje et al., 2011; Takam Kamga et al., 2016a, 2020; Fu et al., 2019). This antileukemic role requires the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the modulation of prosurvival proteins, such as mTor, NF-KB, STAT-3, and Erk (Kamdje et al., 2011; Takam Kamga et al., 2016a,b). This role observed in ex vivo co-culture systems was validated in mouse models

of AML and B-ALL (Toni et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2013; Takam Kamga et al., 2019a,b).

The Notch-dependent role of Wnt/ β -catenin was also described in CLL; in this disease, the non-canonical Wnt/PCP/ROR1 is the main activated Wnt signaling and is involved in migration of leukemic cells (Janovska et al., 2016). Constitutive activation of β -catenin is low, but this does not exclude its involvement in the pathogenesis of CLL (Lu et al., 2004; El-Gamal et al., 2014; Mangolini et al., 2018). In fact, CLL cells constitutively express Notch receptors and ligands, whereas MSCs from CLL patients show upregulated Notch receptors and ligands (Kamdje et al., 2012). Culture of primary CLL cells on primary MSCs or EL08-1D2 stromal cell line leads to Notch 2 activation in MSCs, which in turn induces activation of Wnt/ β -catenin in co-cultured CLL cells. On the other hand, conditional deletion of Notch2 in MSCs prevents

 β -catenin accumulation in CLL cells (Kamdje et al., 2012; Mangolini et al., 2018). Again, the use of Notch inhibitors (GSIs or Notch blocking antibodies) chemosensitizes CLL cells cultured on MSCs monolayer (Kamdje et al., 2012). N-cadherin, a crucial molecule regulating migration and homing of normal hematopoietic cells, is required for the stabilization of β -catenin in co-cultured CLL cells as well as CML cells (Kamdje et al., 2012; Han et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013; Mangolini et al., 2018). Consequently, it represents a central mechanism involved in the crosstalk between β -catenin and adhesion molecules to mediate chemoresistance (Toni et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2013).

In T-ALL, the role of Notch as tumor-driven mechanism has been thoroughly studied, but the influence of stromaderived Notch signaling is necessary for leukemia cell survival (Ntziachristos et al., 2014) as well as for chemoresistance toward dexamethasone and asparaginase (Iwamoto et al., 2007; Yuan et al., 2013; Cai et al., 2016). Contact with MSCs enhances Notch1, Jagged1, and CD28 expression on T-ALL cells (Yuan et al., 2013) and promotes leukemia cell homing into BM niche in xenotransplantation models; on the other hand, IL-6, SCF, HIF-1a, VEGFa, and Notch ligand Jagged1 is overexpressed in stromal cells (Wang et al., 2016). This aberrant stromal Notch activation negatively regulates CXLC12 in stromal cells, thus hampering their supportive functions toward HSCs and promoting preferentially T-ALL cell development. By contrast, Notch blockade reverts leukemia-associated abnormal blood lineage distribution, thrombocytopenia, and osteoblast functions (Wang et al., 2016). In co-culture, Jagged1 expression on MSCs induces drug resistance in the T-ALL cell line Jurkat, which is prevented by anti-Jagged1 neutralizing antibodies (Yuan et al., 2013). Similarly, the specific β -catenin inhibitor XAV939 may suppress T-ALL cell resistance to cytarabine, thus suggesting that Wnt/Notch cross-talk can be involved in T-ALL and deserves additional investigation (Yang et al., 2013). Overall, the use of

TABLE 2 | Notch and Wnt inhibitors.

Notch or Wnt inhibitors in coculture experiments, impeded increased activity of Notch and Wnt signaling both in leukemia and stromal cells, thus suppress enhancing leukemia survival and drug resistance. The challenge consists in the availability of efficient and safe Notch and Wnt inhibitors.

Pharmacological Strategies to Interfere With Wnt/Notch Signaling in Cancer

Given the importance of Wnt and Notch pathways in cancer development and chemoresistance, numerous pharmacological inhibitors have been developed both as research tools but also as future anticancer drugs (Rizzo et al., 2008; Ntziachristos et al., 2014; Takebe et al., 2015). Inhibitors are designed to target specific steps of the signaling cascade such as ligandreceptors interaction, receptors processing, cytoplasmic effectors, and the formation of transcription complexes (Table 2). In the Wnt cascade, inhibitors of ligand-rectors interaction have been developed with regards to natural antagonists of the pathways. Notably, recombinant DKK (DKK-1-4) and SFRP (SFRP1-4) proteins have been developed and used in preclinical experiments to inhibits Wnt signaling in AML, multiple myeloma, and other hematological malignancies (Toni et al., 2006; Chim et al., 2007). Recombinant antibodies directed against Frizzled have also been successfully developed (Pavlovic et al., 2018). Quercetin (a polyphenol) and Niclosamide (an anthelminthic) are both capable to kill leukemia cells and stem cells at least in part by interfering with LRP5/6 (Lu et al., 2011; Maso et al., 2014; Alvarez et al., 2018; Takam Kamga et al., 2020). The posttranlational addition of porcupine on Wnt ligand is required for the secretion of Wnt proteins. This has served as the basis for the development of Wnt-porcupine inhibitors as WNT974, IWP-2, ETC-159 etc. (Lazzaroni et al., 2016; Kalantary-Charvadeh et al., 2020). Interestingly many inhibitors of this family

Inhibitors	Cellular target	References
Secreted Frizzled proteins (sFRPs): sFRP1-5	Ligands (Wnt proteins)	Toni et al., 2006
Dickkopf (DKK) proteins: DKK1-4	Receptors (Frizzled)	Chim et al., 2007
Niclosamide	Co-receptors (LRP5/6)	Lu et al., 2011; Takam Kamga et al., 2020
Quercetin	Wnt antagonist promoters/Co-receptors (LRP5/6)	Maso et al., 2014; Alvarez et al., 2018
WNT974	Porcupine	Lazzaroni et al., 2016
IWP-2	Porcupine	Kalantary-Charvadeh et al., 2020; Takam Kamga et al., 202
ETC-159	Porcupine	Kalantary-Charvadeh et al., 2020
PKF118-310	β-catenin/TCF/LEF	Leow et al., 2010
PNU-74654	β-catenin/TCF/LEF	Takam Kamga et al., 2020
ICAT	β-catenin/TCF/LEFAPC-Axin interaction	Pongracz et al., 2006
XAV939	Tankyrase	Yang et al., 2013
Anti-Notch1-4, Anti-Jagged1/2	Receptors	Kamdje et al., 2011; Kamdje et al., 2012
Anti-Jagged1/2, Anti-DLL-1/3-4	Ligands	Kamdje et al., 2011; Kamdje et al., 2012
Gamma secretase-I (GSI-I)	Gamma secretase	Baratta, 2019
GSI-IX (DAPT)	Gamma secretase	Grieselhuber et al., 2013; Takam Kamga et al., 2019b
GSI-XII	Gamma secretase	Takam Kamga et al., 2019a
Others GSI-Is	Gamma secretase	Ran et al., 2017; Baratta, 2019
SHAM1	MALM/RBP-jK	Moellering et al., 2009

such as Novartis LGK974 are tested in clinical trials for patients with advanced metastatic solid cancers (Novartis Pharmaceuticals, 2020). Another level of the pathway inhibition is the use of disruptor of the β -catenin/TCF/LEF complexes such as PNU-74654 and PKF118-310 and XAV939. The use of PNU-74654 in association with Ara-C or Idarubicin, abrogate bone marrow protection of AML cells. Similarly, XAV939 suppress T-ALL cell resistance to cytarabine (Leow et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2013; Takam Kamga et al., 2020).

Concerning Notch cascade, ligands, and receptors could be targeted by using Notch receptors/Ligand blocking proteins (Kamdje et al., 2011; Kamdje et al., 2012). Several Notch blocking antibodies are used in clinical trials including OMP-52M51 (anti-Notch1), OMP-21M18 (anti-DLL4), OMP-59R5 (anti Notch2/Notch3) (Andersson and Lendahl, 2014; OncoMed Pharmaceuticals, Inc, 2020). Decoy receptors were also developed to interfere with ligand receptors binding (Funahashi et al., 2008). However, the family of gamma secretase inhibitors (GSIs) has been the main source of the development of Notch inhibitors. They present the unique characteristics to inhibits the activity of all receptors. It is indeed an advantage to exclude redundant activity, but it becomes an inconvenient when only one or two receptors are involved in the cancer process (Ran et al., 2017; Baratta, 2019). Ultimately a transcriptional inhibitor of Notch signaling was synthesized, SAHM1. We provided evidence that SAHM1 could interfere with MSC-induced Notch signaling in AML, abrogating drug resistance (Takam Kamga et al., 2016a).

CONCLUSION

Stromal microenvironment is the major regulator of drug resistance in leukemia, therefore many studies have tried to dissect the molecular mechanisms supporting the pro-survival role of BMME (Agarwal and Bhatia, 2015). The crosstalk between Notch and Wnt signaling acts as a conserved mechanism

REFERENCES

- Ables, J. L., Breunig, J. J., Eisch, A. J., and Rakic, P. (2011). Not(ch) just development: notch signalling in the adult brain. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 12, 269–283. doi: 10.1038/nrn3024
- Agarwal, P., and Bhatia, R. (2015). Influence of bone marrow microenvironment on leukemic stem cells: breaking up an intimate relationship. *Adv. Cancer Res.* 127, 227–252. doi: 10.1016/bs.acr.2015.04.007
- Alvarez, M. C., Maso, V., Torello, C. O., Ferro, K. P., and Saad, S. T. O. (2018). The polyphenol quercetin induces cell death in leukemia by targeting epigenetic regulators of pro-apoptotic genes. *Clin. Epigenet.* 10:139. doi: 10.1186/s13148-018-0563-3
- Amit, S., Hatzubai, A., Birman, Y., Andersen, J. S., Ben-Shushan, E., Mann, M., et al. (2002). Axin-mediated CKI phosphorylation of beta-catenin at Ser 45: a molecular switch for the Wnt pathway. *Genes Dev.* 16, 1066–1076. doi: 10.1101/ gad.230302
- Andersson, E. R., and Lendahl, U. (2014). Therapeutic modulation of Notch signalling — are we there yet? *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 13, 357–378. doi: 10.1038/ nrd4252
- Aster, J. C. (2005). Deregulated NOTCH signaling in acute T-cell lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma: new insights, questions, and opportunities. *Int. J. Hematol.* 82, 295–301. doi: 10.1532/IJH97.05096
- Azadniv, M., Myers, J. R., McMurray, H. R., Guo, N., Rock, P., Coppage, M. L., et al. (2020). Bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells from acute myelogenous

to promote the BMME-induced chemoresistance of leukemia cells, regardless the leukemia subtype (Sengupta et al., 2007). These pathways can be targeted at different levels of their cascade through several inhibitors, some of them already used in clinical trials, with different results in terms of outcome and toxicity. Thus, Wnt and Notch inhibitors represent potential therapeutic strategies to target leukemia BMME, regardless the underlying molecular signature, thus minimizing the risk of leukemia subclone selection due to the use of inhibitors of specific molecular aberrations (Rizzo et al., 2008; Ntziachristos et al., 2014; Takebe et al., 2015). Most data supporting this view emerge from co-culture studies between leukemia cells and MSCs. Indeed, MSC-based 2D co-culture cannot address cellular heterogeneity and mechanical constrain observed in a 3D BM (Marino et al., 2019). Nevertheless, all the results were successfully translated into different mouse models, thus confirming that ex vivo MSC-leukemia cell coculture can be an effective surrogate to investigate BMME interactions in vitro and to pave the way toward the identification of new therapeutical approaches capable of overcoming chemoresistance.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PTK designed and wrote the manuscript. RB, GDC, IT, AR, and CT edited the manuscript. AC wrote and edited the manuscript. MK wrote, edited and validated the final version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by Fondazione CARIVERONA and the Interdepartmental Laboratory of Medical Research (LURM) at the University of Verona, Verona, Italy.

leukemia patients demonstrate adipogenic differentiation propensity with implications for leukemia cell support. *Leukemia* 34, 391–403. doi: 10.1038/ s41375-019-0568-8

- Baksh, D., Boland, G. M., and Tuan, R. S. (2007). Cross-talk between Wnt signaling pathways in human mesenchymal stem cells leads to functional antagonism during osteogenic differentiation. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 101, 1109–1124. doi: 10. 1002/jcb.21097
- Baratta, M. G. (2019). Adjusting the focus on $\gamma\text{-secretase}$ inhibition. Nat. Rev. Cancer 19, 419–419. doi: 10.1038/s41568-019-0174-0
- Bigas, A., Robert-Moreno, L., and Espinosa, L. (2010). The Notch pathway in the developing hematopoietic system. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 54, 1175–1188. doi: 10.1387/ijdb.093049ab
- Boland, G. M., Perkins, G., Hall, D. J., and Tuan, R. S. (2004). Wnt 3a promotes proliferation and suppresses osteogenic differentiation of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. J. Cell. Biochem. 93, 1210–1230. doi: 10.1002/ jcb.20284
- Brandts, C. H., Sargin, B., Rode, M., Biermann, C., Lindtner, B., Schwäble, J., et al. (2005). Constitutive activation of Akt by Flt3 internal tandem duplications is necessary for increased survival, proliferation, and myeloid transformation. *Cancer Res.* 65, 9643–9650. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0422
- Cai, J., Wang, J., Huang, Y., Wu, H., Xia, T., Xiao, J., et al. (2016). ERK/Drp1dependent mitochondrial fission is involved in the MSC-induced drug resistance of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Cell Death Dis.* 7:e2459. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2016.370

- Cai, S.-X., Liu, A.-R., He, H.-L., Chen, Q.-H., Yang, Y., Guo, F.-M., et al. (2014). Stable genetic alterations of β -catenin and ROR2 regulate the Wnt pathway, affect the fate of MSCs. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 229, 791–800. doi: 10.1002/jcp.24500
- Calvi, L. M. (2020). "Chapter 3 Bone marrow and the hematopoietic stem cell niche," in *Principles of Bone Biology (Fourth Edition)*, eds J. P. Bilezikian, T. J. Martin, T. L. Clemens, and C. J. Rosen (Cambridge, MA: Academic Press), 73–87.
- Calvi, L. M., Adams, G. B., Weibrecht, K. W., Weber, J. M., Olson, D. P., Knight, M. C., et al. (2003). Osteoblastic cells regulate the haematopoietic stem cell niche. *Nature* 425, 841–846. doi: 10.1038/nature02040
- Cao, J., Wei, Y., Lian, J., Yang, L., Zhang, X., Xie, J., et al. (2017). Notch signaling pathway promotes osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells by enhancing BMP9/Smad signaling. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 40, 378–388. doi: 10.3892/ ijmm.2017.3037
- Carlesso, N., Aster, J. C., Sklar, J., and Scadden, D. T. (1999). Notch1-induced delay of human hematopoietic progenitor cell differentiation is associated with altered cell cycle kinetics. *Blood* 93, 838–848.
- Chim, C. S., Pang, R., Fung, T. K., Choi, C. L., and Liang, R. (2007). Epigenetic dysregulation of Wnt signaling pathway in multiple myeloma. *Leukemia* 21, 2527–2536. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404939
- Ciria, M., García, N. A., Ontoria-Oviedo, I., González-King, H., Carrero, R., De La Pompa, J. L., et al. (2017). Mesenchymal stem cell migration and proliferation are mediated by hypoxia-inducible factor-1α upstream of notch and SUMO pathways. *Stem Cells Dev.* 26, 973–985. doi: 10.1089/scd.2016.0331
- Collo, G. D., Adamo, A., Gatti, A., Tamellini, E., Bazzoni, R., Kamga, P. T., et al. (2020). Functional dosing of mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles for the prevention of acute graft-versus-host-disease. *Stem Cells* 38, 698–711. doi: 10.1002/stem.3160
- Cordeiro-Spinetti, E., Taichman, R. S., and Balduino, A. (2015). The bone marrow endosteal niche: how far from the surface? *J. Cell. Biochem.* 116, 6–11. doi: 10.1002/jcb.24952
- Czemerska, M., Pluta, A., Szmigielska-Kaplon, A., Wawrzyniak, E., Cebula-Obrzut, B., Medra, A., et al. (2015). Jagged-1: a new promising factor associated with favorable prognosis in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Leuk. Lymphoma* 56, 401–406. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2014.917638
- De Obaldia, M. E., Bell, J. J., Wang, X., Harly, C., Yashiro-Ohtani, Y., DeLong, J. H., et al. (2013). T cell development requires constraint of the myeloid regulator C/EBP-α by the Notch target and transcriptional repressor Hes1. *Nat. Immunol.* 14, 1277–1284. doi: 10.1038/ni.2760
- de Pooter, R. F., Schmitt, T. M., de la Pompa, J. L., Fujiwara, Y., Orkin, S. H., and Zúñiga-Pflücker, J. C. (2006). Notch signaling requires GATA-2 to inhibit myelopoiesis from embryonic stem cells and primary hemopoietic progenitors. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md.* 1950 176, 5267–5275.
- Delaney, C. (2005). Dose-dependent effects of the Notch ligand Delta1 on ex vivo differentiation and in vivo marrow repopulating ability of cord blood cells. *Blood* 106, 2693–2699. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-03-1131
- Di Trapani, M., Bassi, G., Ricciardi, M., Fontana, E., Bifari, F., Pacelli, L., et al. (2013). Comparative study of immune regulatory properties of stem cells derived from different tissues. *Stem Cells Dev.* 22, 2990–3002. doi: 10.1089/scd. 2013.0204
- DiNardo, C. D., Pratz, K. W., Letai, A., Jonas, B. A., Wei, A. H., Thirman, M., et al. (2018). Safety and preliminary efficacy of venetoclax with decitabine or azacitidine in elderly patients with previously untreated acute myeloid leukaemia: a non-randomised, open-label, phase 1b study. *Lancet Oncol.* 19, 216–228. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30010-X
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 8, 315–317. doi: 10.1080/14653240600855905
- Duryagina, R., Thieme, S., Anastassiadis, K., Werner, C., Schneider, S., Wobus, M., et al. (2013). Overexpression of Jagged-1 and its intracellular domain in human mesenchymal stromal cells differentially affect the interaction with hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 22, 2736–2750. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0638
- El-Gamal, D., Williams, K., LaFollette, T. D., Cannon, M., Blachly, J. S., Zhong, Y., et al. (2014). PKC-β as a therapeutic target in CLL: PKC inhibitor AEB071 demonstrates preclinical activity in CLL. *Blood* 124, 1481–1491. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2014-05-574830

- Famili, F., Naber, B. A. E., Vloemans, S., de Haas, E. F. E., Tiemessen, M. M., and Staal, F. J. T. (2015). Discrete roles of canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling in hematopoiesis and lymphopoiesis. *Cell Death Dis.* 6:e1981. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2015.326
- Fehon, R. G., Johansen, K., Rebay, I., and Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. (1991). Complex cellular and subcellular regulation of notch expression during embryonic and imaginal development of Drosophila: implications for notch function. J. Cell Biol. 113, 657–669.
- Felli, M. P., Maroder, M., Mitsiadis, T. A., Campese, A. F., Bellavia, D., Vacca, A., et al. (1999). Expression pattern of notch1, 2 and 3 and Jagged1 and 2 in lymphoid and stromal thymus components: distinct ligand-receptor interactions in intrathymic T cell development. *Int. Immunol.* 11, 1017–1025. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11.7.1017
- Fernández-Sánchez, V., Pelayo, R., Flores-Guzmán, P., Flores-Figueroa, E., Villanueva-Toledo, J., Garrido, E., et al. (2011). In vitro effects of stromal cells expressing different levels of Jagged-1 and Delta-1 on the growth of primitive and intermediate CD34(+) cell subsets from human cord blood. *Blood Cells. Mol. Dis.* 47, 205–213. doi: 10.1016/j.bcmd.2011.08.003
- Fu, J., Si, L., Zhuang, Y., Zhang, A., Sun, N., Li, D., et al. (2019). Wnt/β-catenin inhibition reverses multidrug resistance in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Oncol. Rep. 41, 1387–1394. doi: 10.3892/or.2018.6902
- Funahashi, Y., Hernandez, S. L., Das, I., Ahn, A., Huang, J., Vorontchikhina, M., et al. (2008). A Notch1 Ectodomain construct inhibits endothelial notch signaling, tumor growth, and angiogenesis. *Cancer Res.* 68, 4727–4735. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6499
- Gandillet, A., Park, S., Lassailly, F., Griessinger, E., Vargaftig, J., Filby, A., et al. (2011). Heterogeneous sensitivity of human acute myeloid leukemia to βcatenin down-modulation. *Leukemia* 25, 770–780. doi: 10.1038/leu.2011.17
- Ganesan, S., Palani, H. K., Lakshmanan, V., Balasundaram, N., Alex, A. A., David, S., et al. (2019). Stromal cells downregulate miR-23a-5p to activate protective autophagy in acute myeloid leukemia. *Cell Death Dis.* 10, 1–14. doi: 10.1038/ s41419-019-1964-8
- Gaur, T., Lengner, C. J., Hovhannisyan, H., Bhat, R. A., Bodine, P. V. N., Komm, B. S., et al. (2005). Canonical WNT signaling promotes osteogenesis by directly stimulating Runx2 gene expression. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 33132–33140. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.M500608200
- Ge, J., Hou, R., Liu, Q., Zhu, R., and Liu, K. (2011). Stromal-derived factor-1 deficiency in the bone marrow of acute myeloid leukemia. *Int. J. Hematol.* 93, 750–759. doi: 10.1007/s12185-011-0869-9
- Gordon, W. R., Arnett, K. L., and Blacklow, S. C. (2008). The molecular logic of Notch signaling - a structural and biochemical perspective. J. Cell Sci. 121, 3109–3119. doi: 10.1242/jcs.035683
- Grieselhuber, N. R., Klco, J. M., Verdoni, A. M., Lamprecht, T., Sarkaria, S. M., Wartman, L. D., et al. (2013). Notch signaling in acute promyelocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* 27, 1548–1557. doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.68
- Griffiths, E. A., Gore, S. D., Hooker, C., McDevitt, M. A., Karp, J. E., Smith, B. D., et al. (2010). Acute myeloid leukemia is characterized by Wnt pathway inhibitor promoter hypermethylation. *Leuk. Lymphoma* 51, 1711–1719. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2010.496505
- Grosveld, G. C. (2009). γ-secretase inhibitors: notch so bad. *Nat. Med.* 15, 20–21. doi: 10.1038/nm0109-20
- Han, Y., Wang, Y., Xu, Z., Li, J., Yang, J., Li, Y., et al. (2013). Effect of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells from blastic phase chronic myelogenous leukemia on the growth and apoptosis of leukemia cells. Oncol. Rep. 30, 1007–1013. doi: 10.3892/or.2013.2518
- Hayward, P., Kalmar, T., and Arias, A. M. (2008). Wnt/Notch signalling and information processing during development. *Development* 135, 411–424. doi: 10.1242/dev.000505
- Ichii, M., Frank, M. B., Iozzo, R. V., and Kincade, P. W. (2012). The canonical Wnt pathway shapes niches supportive of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. *Blood* 119, 1683–1692. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-07-369199
- Ito, S., Barrett, A. J., Dutra, A., Pak, E., Miner, S., Keyvanfar, K., et al. (2015). Long term maintenance of myeloid leukemic stem cells cultured with unrelated human mesenchymal stromal cells. *Stem Cell Res.* 14, 95–104. doi: 10.1016/j.scr. 2014.11.007
- Iwamoto, S., Mihara, K., Downing, J. R., Pui, C.-H., and Campana, D. (2007). Mesenchymal cells regulate the response of acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells to asparaginase. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 1049–1057. doi: 10.1172/JCI30235

- Jacamo, R., Chen, Y., Wang, Z., Ma, W., Zhang, M., Spaeth, E. L., et al. (2014). Reciprocal leukemia-stroma VCAM-1/VLA-4-dependent activation of NF-κB mediates chemoresistance. *Blood* 123, 2691–2702. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-06-511527
- Jakubikova, J., Cholujova, D., Hideshima, T., Gronesova, P., Soltysova, A., Harada, T., et al. (2016). A novel 3D mesenchymal stem cell model of the multiple myeloma bone marrow niche: biologic and clinical applications. *Oncotarget* 7, 77326–77341. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12643
- Janovská, P., and Bryja, V. (2017). Wnt signalling pathways in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and B-cell lymphomas. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 174, 4701–4715. doi: 10. 1111/bph.13949
- Janovska, P., Poppova, L., Plevova, K., Plesingerova, H., Behal, M., Kaucka, M., et al. (2016). Autocrine signaling by Wnt-5a deregulates chemotaxis of leukemic cells and predicts clinical outcome in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.* 22, 459–469. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0154
- Jeong, S.-Y., Lyu, J., Kim, J.-A., and Oh, I.-H. (2020). Ryk modulates the niche activity of mesenchymal stromal cells by fine-tuning canonical Wnt signaling. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 52, 1140–1151. doi: 10.1038/s12276-020-0477-y
- Ji, Q., Hao, X., Zhang, M., Tang, W., Yang, M., Li, L., et al. (2009). MicroRNA miR-34 inhibits human pancreatic cancer tumor-initiating cells. *PLoS One* 4:e6816. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0006816
- Jost, E., Schmid, J., Wilop, S., Schubert, C., Suzuki, H., Herman, J. G., et al. (2008). Epigenetic inactivation of secreted Frizzled-related proteins in acute myeloid leukaemia. *Br. J. Haematol.* 142, 745–753. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008. 07242.x
- Jothimani, G., Di Liddo, R., Pathak, S., Piccione, M., Sriramulu, S., and Banerjee, A. (2020). Wnt signaling regulates the proliferation potential and lineage commitment of human umbilical cord derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 47, 1293–1308. doi: 10.1007/s11033-019-05232-5
- Kadekar, D., Kale, V., and Limaye, L. (2015). Differential ability of MSCs isolated from placenta and cord as feeders for supporting ex vivo expansion of umbilical cord blood derived CD34+ cells. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 6:201. doi: 10.1186/ s13287-015-0194-y
- Kalantary-Charvadeh, A., Hosseini, V., Mehdizadeh, A., and Darabi, M. (2020). Application of porcupine inhibitors in stem cell fate determination. *Chem. Biol. Drug Des.* 96, 1052–1068. doi: 10.1111/cbdd.13704
- Kamdje, A. H. N., Bassi, G., Pacelli, L., Malpeli, G., Amati, E., Nichele, I., et al. (2012). Role of stromal cell-mediated Notch signaling in CLL resistance to chemotherapy. *Blood Cancer J.* 2:e73. doi: 10.1038/bcj.2012.17
- Kamdje, A. H. N., Mosna, F., Bifari, F., Lisi, V., Bassi, G., Malpeli, G., et al. (2011). Notch-3 and Notch-4 signaling rescue from apoptosis human B-ALL cells in contact with human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells. *Blood* 118, 380–389. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-12-326694
- Kannan, S., Sutphin, R. M., Hall, M. G., Golfman, L. S., Fang, W., Nolo, R. M., et al. (2013). Notch activation inhibits AML growth and survival: a potential therapeutic approach. J. Exp. Med. 210, 321–337. doi: 10.1084/jem.20121527
- Karanu, F. N., Murdoch, B., Gallacher, L., Wu, D. M., Koremoto, M., Sakano, S., et al. (2000). The notch ligand jagged-1 represents a novel growth factor of human hematopoietic stem cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 192, 1365–1372.
- Khan, N. I., and Bendall, L. J. (2006). Role of WNT signaling in normal and malignant hematopoiesis. *Histol. Histopathol.* 21, 761–774.
- Khan, N. I., Bradstock, K. F., and Bendall, L. J. (2007). Activation of Wnt/betacatenin pathway mediates growth and survival in B-cell progenitor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Br. J. Haematol.* 138, 338–348. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2007.06667.x
- Kikuchi, Y., Kume, A., Urabe, M., Mizukami, H., Suzuki, T., Ozaki, K., et al. (2011). Reciprocal upregulation of Notch signaling molecules in hematopoietic progenitor and mesenchymal stromal cells. J. Stem Cells Regen. Med. 7, 61–68.
- Kim, A., Shim, S., Kim, M.-J., Myung, J. K., and Park, S. (2018). Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated Notch2 activation overcomes radiation-induced injury of the hematopoietic system. Sci. Rep. 8:9277. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-27666-w
- Kim, J.-A., Choi, H.-K., Kim, T.-M., Leem, S.-H., and Oh, I.-H. (2015a). Regulation of mesenchymal stromal cells through fine tuning of canonical Wnt signaling. *Stem Cell Res.* 14, 356–368. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2015.02.007
- Kim, J.-A., Kang, Y.-J., Park, G., Kim, M., Park, Y.-O., Kim, H., et al. (2009). Identification of a stroma-mediated Wnt/beta-catenin signal promoting

self-renewal of hematopoietic stem cells in the stem cell niche. *Stem Cells Dayt. Ohio* 27, 1318–1329. doi: 10.1002/stem.52

- Kim, J.-A., Shim, J.-S., Lee, G.-Y., Yim, H. W., Kim, T.-M., Kim, M., et al. (2015b). Microenvironmental remodeling as a parameter and prognostic factor of heterogeneous leukemogenesis in acute myelogenous leukemia. *Cancer Res.* 75, 2222–2231. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-3379
- Kode, A., Manavalan, J. S., Mosialou, I., Bhagat, G., Rathinam, C. V., Luo, N., et al. (2014). Leukemogenesis induced by an activating β-catenin mutation in osteoblasts. *Nature* 506, 240–244. doi: 10.1038/nature12883
- Kong, D., Zhao, L., Sun, L., Fan, S., Li, H., Zhao, Y., et al. (2018). MYCN is a novel oncogenic target in adult B-ALL that activates the Wnt/β-catenin pathway by suppressing DKK3. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* 22, 3627–3637. doi: 10.1111/jcmm. 13644
- Kong, Y., Chang, Y.-J., Wang, Y.-Z., Chen, Y.-H., Han, W., Wang, Y., et al. (2013). Association of an impaired bone marrow microenvironment with secondary poor graft function after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* 19, 1465–1473. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2013. 07.014
- Konopleva, M., Tabe, Y., Zeng, Z., and Andreeff, M. (2009). Therapeutic targeting of microenvironmental interactions in leukemia: mechanisms and approaches. *Drug Resist. Updat.* 12, 103–113. doi: 10.1016/j.drup.2009.06.001
- Krampera, M., Sartoris, S., Liotta, F., Pasini, A., Angeli, R., Cosmi, L., et al. (2007). Immune regulation by mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult spleen and thymus. *Stem Cells Dev.* 16, 797–810. doi: 10.1089/scd.2007.0024
- Kuang, S.-Q., Fang, Z., Zweidler-McKay, P. A., Yang, H., Wei, Y., Gonzalez-Cervantes, E. A., et al. (2013). Epigenetic inactivation of Notch-Hes pathway in human B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *PLoS One* 8:e61807. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0061807
- Kühnl, A., Gökbuget, N., Kaiser, M., Schlee, C., Stroux, A., Burmeister, T., et al. (2011). Overexpression of LEF1 predicts unfavorable outcome in adult patients with B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood* 118, 6362–6367. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-04-350850
- Kuljanin, M., Bell, G. I., Sherman, S. E., Lajoie, G. A., and Hess, D. A. (2017). Proteomic characterisation reveals active Wnt-signalling by human multipotent stromal cells as a key regulator of beta cell survival and proliferation. *Diabetologia* 60, 1987–1998. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4355-7
- Kunisato, A., Chiba, S., Nakagami-Yamaguchi, E., Kumano, K., Saito, T., Masuda, S., et al. (2003). HES-1 preserves purified hematopoietic stem cells ex vivo and accumulates side population cells in vivo. *Blood* 101, 1777–1783. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2002-07-2051
- Kusserow, A., Pang, K., Sturm, C., Hrouda, M., Lentfer, J., Schmidt, H. A., et al. (2005). Unexpected complexity of the Wnt gene family in a sea anemone. *Nature* 433, 156–160. doi: 10.1038/nature03158
- Lazzaroni, F., Giacco, L. D., Biasci, D., Turrini, M., Prosperi, L., Brusamolino, R., et al. (2016). Intronless WNT10B-short variant underlies new recurrent allele-specific rearrangement in acute myeloid leukaemia. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 1–14. doi: 10.1038/srep37201
- Lee, M. W., Ryu, S., Kim, D. S., Lee, J. W., Sung, K. W., Koo, H. H., et al. (2019). Mesenchymal stem cells in suppression or progression of hematologic malignancy: current status and challenges. *Leukemia* 33, 597–611. doi: 10.1038/ s41375-018-0373-9
- Leow, P.-C., Tian, Q., Ong, Z.-Y., Yang, Z., and Ee, P.-L. R. (2010). Antitumor activity of natural compounds, curcumin and PKF118-310, as Wnt/β-catenin antagonists against human osteosarcoma cells. *Invest. New Drugs* 28, 766–782. doi: 10.1007/s10637-009-9311-z
- Leung, K. K., Nguyen, A., Shi, T., Tang, L., Ni, X., Escoubet, L., et al. (2019). Multiomics of azacitidine-treated AML cells reveals variable and convergent targets that remodel the cell-surface proteome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 116, 695–700. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1813666116
- Li, K., Hu, C., Mei, C., Ren, Z., Vera, J. C., Zhuang, Z., et al. (2014). Sequential combination of decitabine and idarubicin synergistically enhances antileukemia effect followed by demethylating Wnt pathway inhibitor promoters and downregulating Wnt pathway nuclear target. *J. Transl. Med.* 12:167. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-12-167
- Li, Y., Guessous, F., Zhang, Y., Dipierro, C., Kefas, B., Johnson, E., et al. (2009). MicroRNA-34a inhibits glioblastoma growth by targeting multiple oncogenes. *Cancer Res.* 69, 7569–7576. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-0529

- Lin, Y.-W. (2006). Notch1 mutations are important for leukemic transformation in murine models of precursor-T leukemia/lymphoma. *Blood* 107, 2540–2543. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-07-3013
- Liu, G., Vijayakumar, S., Grumolato, L., Arroyave, R., Qiao, H., Akiri, G., et al. (2009). Canonical Whits function as potent regulators of osteogenesis by human mesenchymal stem cells. J. Cell Biol. 185, 67–75. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200810137
- Liu, N., Shi, S., Deng, M., Tang, L., Zhang, G., Liu, N., et al. (2011). High levels of β-catenin signaling reduce osteogenic differentiation of stem cells in inflammatory microenvironments through inhibition of the noncanonical Wnt pathway. J. Bone Miner. Res. 26, 2082–2095. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.440
- Liu, N., Zhang, J., and Ji, C. (2013). The emerging roles of Notch signaling in leukemia and stem cells. *Biomark. Res.* 1:23. doi: 10.1186/2050-7771-1-23
- Liu, S., Liu, D., Chen, C., Hamamura, K., Moshaverinia, A., Yang, R., et al. (2015). MSC transplantation improves osteopenia via epigenetic regulation of notch signaling in lupus. *Cell Metab.* 22, 606–618. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015. 08.018
- Lobry, C., Ntziachristos, P., Ndiaye-Lobry, D., Oh, P., Cimmino, L., Zhu, N., et al. (2013). Notch pathway activation targets AML-initiating cell homeostasis and differentiation. *J. Exp. Med.* 210, 301–319. doi: 10.1084/jem.20121484
- Lu, D., Zhao, Y., Tawatao, R., Cottam, H. B., Sen, M., Leoni, L. M., et al. (2004). Activation of the Wnt signaling pathway in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 3118–3123. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0308648100
- Lu, W., Lin, C., Roberts, M. J., Waud, W. R., Piazza, G. A., and Li, Y. (2011). Niclosamide suppresses cancer cell growth by inducing Wnt co-receptor LRP6 degradation and inhibiting the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. *PLoS One* 6:e29290. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029290
- Maeda, O., Ando, T., Ohmiya, N., Ishiguro, K., Watanabe, O., Miyahara, R., et al. (2014). Alteration of gene expression and DNA methylation in drug-resistant gastric cancer. *Oncol. Rep.* 31, 1883–1890. doi: 10.3892/or.2014.3014
- Majeti, R., Becker, M. W., Tian, Q., Lee, T.-L. M., Yan, X., Liu, R., et al. (2009). Dysregulated gene expression networks in human acute myelogenous leukemia stem cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 3396–3401. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0900089106
- Mangolini, M., Götte, F., Moore, A., Ammon, T., Oelsner, M., Lutzny-Geier, G., et al. (2018). Notch2 controls non-autonomous Wnt-signalling in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Nat. Commun.* 9:3839. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06069-5
- Marino, S., Bishop, R. T., de Ridder, D., Delgado-Calle, J., and Reagan, M. R. (2019).
 2D and 3D in vitro co-culture for cancer and bone cell interaction studies. *Methods Mol. Biol. Clifton. NJ* 1914, 71–98. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8997-3_5
- Martin, V., Agirre, X., Jiménez-Velasco, A., José-Eneriz, E. S., Cordeu, L., Gárate, L., et al. (2008). Methylation status of Wnt signaling pathway genes affects the clinical outcome of Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Sci.* 99, 1865–1868. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2008.00884.x
- Masiero, M., Minuzzo, S., Pusceddu, I., Moserle, L., Persano, L., Agnusdei, V., et al. (2011). Notch3-mediated regulation of MKP-1 levels promotes survival of T acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Leukemia* 25, 588–598. doi: 10.1038/leu. 2010.323
- Maso, V., Calgarotto, A. K., Franchi, G. C., Nowill, A. E., Filho, P. L., Vassallo, J., et al. (2014). Multitarget effects of quercetin in leukemia. *Cancer Prev. Res. Phila. Pa* 7, 1240–1250. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-13-0383
- Masuya, M., Katayama, N., Hoshino, N., Nishikawa, H., Sakano, S., Araki, H., et al. (2002). The soluble Notch ligand, Jagged-1, inhibits proliferation of CD34+ macrophage progenitors. *Int. J. Hematol.* 75, 269–276.
- Matsunaga, T., Takemoto, N., Sato, T., Takimoto, R., Tanaka, I., Fujimi, A., et al. (2003). Interaction between leukemic-cell VLA-4 and stromal fibronectin is a decisive factor for minimal residual disease of acute myelogenous leukemia. *Nat. Med.* 9, 1158–1165. doi: 10.1038/nm909
- Matsushita, M., Yang, Y., Tsukasaki, K., Yamada, Y., Hata, T., Mori, N., et al. (2006). Methylation analysis of the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) gene in cdult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. *Cancer Res.* 66, 372–373.
- Milner, L. A., Bigas, A., Kopan, R., Brashem-Stein, C., Bernstein, I. D., and Martin, D. I. K. (1996). Inhibition of granulocytic differentiation by?mNotch1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 93, 13014–13019.
- Moellering, R. E., Cornejo, M., Davis, T. N., Del Bianco, C., Aster, J. C., Blacklow, S. C., et al. (2009). Direct inhibition of the NOTCH transcription factor complex. *Nature* 462, 182–188. doi: 10.1038/nature08543
- Morgan, T. H. (1917). The theory of the gene. Am. Nat. 51, 513-544.

- Morimura, T., Goitsuka, R., Zhang, Y., Saito, I., Reth, M., and Kitamura, D. (2000). Cell cycle arrest and apoptosis induced by Notch1 in B cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 36523–36531. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M006415200
- Moriyama, H., Moriyama, M., Ozawa, T., Tsuruta, D., Iguchi, T., Tamada, S., et al. (2018). Notch signaling enhances stemness by regulating metabolic pathways through modifying p53, NF-κB, and HIF-1α. *Stem Cells Dev.* 27, 935–947. doi: 10.1089/scd.2017.0260
- Morrison, S. J., and Scadden, D. T. (2014). The bone marrow niche for haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature* 505, 327–334. doi: 10.1038/nature12984
- Muguruma, Y., Yahata, T., Miyatake, H., Sato, T., Uno, T., Itoh, J., et al. (2006). Reconstitution of the functional human hematopoietic microenvironment derived from human mesenchymal stem cells in the murine bone marrow compartment. *Blood* 107, 1878–1887. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-06-2211
- Mulroy, T., McMahon, J. A., Burakoff, S. J., McMahon, A. P., and Sen, J. (2002). Wnt-1 and Wnt-4 regulate thymic cellularity. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 32, 967–971.
- Mutyaba, P. L., Belkin, N. S., Lopas, L., Gray, C. F., Dopkin, D., Hankenson, K. D., et al. (2014). Notch signaling in mesenchymal stem cells harvested from geriatric mice. J. Orthop. Trauma 28:S20. doi: 10.1097/BOT.00000000000064
- Narcisi, R., Cleary, M. A., Brama, P. A. J., Hoogduijn, M. J., Tüysüz, N., ten Berge, D., et al. (2015). Long-term expansion, enhanced chondrogenic potential, and suppression of endochondral ossification of adult human MSCs via WNT signaling modulation. *Stem Cell Rep.* 4, 459–472. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2015. 01.017
- Nemeth, M. J., Mak, K. K., Yang, Y., and Bodine, D. M. (2009). β–Catenin expression in the bone marrow microenvironment is required for long-term maintenance of primitive hematopoietic cells. *Stem Cells Dayt. Ohio* 27, 1109– 1119. doi: 10.1002/stem.32
- Nervi, B., Ramirez, P., Rettig, M. P., Uy, G. L., Holt, M. S., Ritchey, J. K., et al. (2009). Chemosensitization of acute myeloid leukemia (AML) following mobilization by the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100. *Blood* 113, 6206–6214. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-06-162123
- Novartis Pharmaceuticals (2020). A Phase I, Open-label, Dose Escalation Study of Oral LGK974 in Patients With Malignancies Dependent on Wnt Ligands. Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01351103 (accessed November 19, 2020).
- Nteliopoulos, G., Marley, S. B., and Gordon, M. Y. (2009). Influence of PI-3K/Akt pathway on Wnt signalling in regulating myeloid progenitor cell proliferation. Evidence for a role of autocrine/paracrine Wnt regulation. *Br. J. Haematol.* 146, 637–651. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2009.07823.x
- Ntziachristos, P., Lim, J. S., Sage, J., and Aifantis, I. (2014). From fly wings to targeted cancer therapies: a centennial for notch signaling. *Cancer Cell* 25, 318–334. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014.02.018
- Oh, I.-H. (2010). Microenvironmental targeting of Wnt/beta-catenin signals for hematopoietic stem cell regulation. *Expert Opin. Biol. Ther.* 10, 1315–1329. doi: 10.1517/14712598.2010.504705
- OncoMed Pharmaceuticals, Inc (2020). A Phase 1b/2 Study of OMP-59R5 in Combination With Etoposide and Platinum Therapy in Subjects With Untreated Extensive Stage Small Cell Lung Cancer (PINNACLE). Available online at: https: //clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01859741 (accessed November 19, 2020).
- O'Neil, J. (2006). Activating Notch1 mutations in mouse models of T-ALL. Blood 107, 781–785. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-06-2553
- Orkin, S. H., and Zon, L. I. (2008). Hematopoiesis: an evolving paradigm for stem cell biology. *Cell* 132, 631–644. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.01.025
- Pavlovic, Z., Adams, J. J., Blazer, L. L., Gakhal, A. K., Jarvik, N., Steinhart, Z., et al. (2018). A synthetic anti-Frizzled antibody engineered for broadened specificity exhibits enhanced anti-tumor properties. *mAbs* 10, 1157–1167. doi: 10.1080/ 19420862.2018.1515565
- Petrenko, Y., Vackova, I., Kekulova, K., Chudickova, M., Koci, Z., Turnovcova, K., et al. (2020). A comparative analysis of multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells derived from different sources, with a focus on neuroregenerative potential. *Sci. Rep.* 10:4290. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-61167-z
- Pongracz, J. E., Parnell, S. M., Jones, T., Anderson, G., and Jenkinson, E. J. (2006). Overexpression of ICAT highlights a rolefor catenin-mediated canonical Wnt signalling in early T cell development. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 36, 2376–2383. doi: 10.1002/eji.200535721
- Pontikoglou, C., Deschaseaux, F., Sensebé, L., and Papadaki, H. A. (2011). Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells: biological properties and their role in

hematopoiesis and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Stem Cell Rev.* 7, 569–589. doi: 10.1007/s12015-011-9228-8

- Qiu, W., Chen, L., and Kassem, M. (2011). Activation of non-canonical Wnt/JNK pathway by Wnt3a is associated with differentiation fate determination of human bone marrow stromal (mesenchymal) stem cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 413, 98–104. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.08.061
- Qu, F., Wang, J., Xu, N., Liu, C., Li, S., Wang, N., et al. (2013). WNT3A modulates chondrogenesis via canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathways in MSCs. *Front. Biosci. Landmark Ed.* 18, 493–503. doi: 10.2741/4116
- Rahmatpanah, F. B., Carstens, S., Hooshmand, S. I., Welsh, E. C., Sjahputera, O., Taylor, K. H., et al. (2009). Large-scale analysis of DNA methylation in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Epigenomics* 1, 39–61. doi: 10.2217/epi.09.10
- Ran, Y., Hossain, F., Pannuti, A., Lessard, C. B., Ladd, G. Z., Jung, J. I., et al. (2017). γ-Secretase inhibitors in cancer clinical trials are pharmacologically and functionally distinct. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 9, 950–966. doi: 10.15252/emmm. 201607265
- Real, P. J., and Ferrando, A. A. (2009). NOTCH inhibition and glucocorticoid therapy in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia* 23, 1374–1377. doi: 10.1038/leu.2009.75
- Reya, T., Duncan, A. W., Ailles, L., Domen, J., Scherer, D. C., Willert, K., et al. (2003). A role for Wnt signalling in self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature* 423, 409–414. doi: 10.1038/nature01593
- Rizzo, P., Osipo, C., Foreman, K., Golde, T., Osborne, B., and Miele, L. (2008). Rational targeting of Notch signaling in cancer. *Oncogene* 27, 5124–5131. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.226
- Román-Gómez, J., Cordeu, L., Agirre, X., Jiménez-Velasco, A., San José-Eneriz, E., Garate, L., et al. (2007). Epigenetic regulation of Wnt-signaling pathway in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood* 109, 3462–3469. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-09-047043
- Roman-Gomez, J., Jimenez-Velasco, A., Agirre, X., Castillejo, J. A., Navarro, G., Barrios, M., et al. (2004). Transcriptional silencing of the Dickkopfs-3 (Dkk-3) gene by CpG hypermethylation in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Br. J. Cancer* 91, 707–713. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602008
- Rosati, E., Sabatini, R., De Falco, F., Del Papa, B., Falzetti, F., Di Ianni, M., et al. (2013). γ-Secretase inhibitor I induces apoptosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells by proteasome inhibition, endoplasmic reticulum stress increase and notch down-regulation. *Int. J. Cancer* 132, 1940–1953. doi: 10.1002/ijc. 27863
- Rosenwald, A., Alizadeh, A. A., Widhopf, G., Simon, R., Davis, R. E., Yu, X., et al. (2001). Relation of gene expression phenotype to immunoglobulin mutation genotype in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *J. Exp. Med.* 194, 1639–1647.
- Ross, S. E., Hemati, N., Longo, K. A., Bennett, C. N., Lucas, P. C., Erickson, R. L., et al. (2000). Inhibition of adipogenesis by Wnt signaling. *Science* 289, 950–953. doi: 10.1126/science.289.5481.950
- Salat, D., Liefke, R., Wiedenmann, J., Borggrefe, T., and Oswald, F. (2008). ETO, but not leukemogenic fusion protein AML1/ETO, augments RBP-Jkappa/SHARPmediated repression of notch target genes. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 3502–3512. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01966-07
- Salic, A., Lee, E., Mayer, L., and Kirschner, M. W. (2000). Control of β -catenin stability: reconstitution of the cytoplasmic steps of the wnt pathway in *Xenopus* egg extracts. *Mol. Cell* 5, 523–532. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80 446-3
- Sato, A., Yamamoto, H., Sakane, H., Koyama, H., and Kikuchi, A. (2010). Wnt5a regulates distinct signalling pathways by binding to Frizzled2. *EMBO J.* 29, 41–54. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2009.322
- Sato, M., and Yasugi, T. (2020). "Regulation of proneural wave propagation through a combination of notch-mediated lateral inhibition and EGF-mediated reaction diffusion," in Notch Signaling in Embryology and Cancer: Notch Signaling in Embryology Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, eds J. Reichrath and S. Reichrath (Cham: Springer International Publishing), 77–91.
- Scheller, M., Huelsken, J., Rosenbauer, F., Taketo, M. M., Birchmeier, W., Tenen, D. G., et al. (2006). Hematopoietic stem cell and multilineage defects generated by constitutive β-catenin activation. *Nat. Immunol.* 7, 1037–1047. doi: 10.1038/ ni1387
- Schilham, M. W., Wilson, A., Moerer, P., Benaissa-Trouw, B. J., Cumano, A., and Clevers, H. C. (1998). Critical involvement of Tcf-1 in expansion of thymocytes. *J. Immunol.* 161, 3984–3991.

- Semenova, D., Bogdanova, M., Kostina, A., Golovkin, A., Kostareva, A., and Malashicheva, A. (2020). Dose-dependent mechanism of Notch action in promoting osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. *Cell Tissue Res.* 379, 169–179. doi: 10.1007/s00441-019-03130-7
- Sengupta, A., Banerjee, D., Chandra, S., Banerji, S. K., Ghosh, R., Roy, R., et al. (2007). Deregulation and cross talk among Sonic hedgehog, Wnt, Hox and Notch signaling in chronic myeloid leukemia progression. *Leukemia* 21, 949– 955. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404657
- Siar, C. H., Nagatsuka, H., Han, P. P., Buery, R. R., Tsujigiwa, H., Nakano, K., et al. (2012). Differential expression of canonical and non-canonical Wnt ligands in ameloblastoma. J. Oral Pathol. Med. Off. Publ. Int. Assoc. Oral Pathol. Am. Acad. Oral Pathol. 41, 332–339. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0714.2011.01104.x
- Sliwa, T., Awsa, S., Vesely, M., Rokitte, D., Grossschmidt, P., Jilch, R., et al. (2014). Hyperexpression of NOTCH-1 is found in immature acute myeloid leukemia. *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol.* 7, 882–889.
- Song, B., Chi, Y., Li, X., Du, W., Han, Z.-B., Tian, J., et al. (2015). Inhibition of notch signaling promotes the adipogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells through autophagy activation and PTEN-PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 36, 1991–2002. doi: 10.1159/000430167
- Staal, F. J., Meeldijk, J., Moerer, P., Jay, P., van de Weerdt, B. C., Vainio, S., et al. (2001). Wnt signaling is required for thymocyte development and activates Tcf-1 mediated transcription. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 31, 285–293.
- Tabe, Y., Jin, L., Tsutsumi-Ishii, Y., Xu, Y., McQueen, T., Priebe, W., et al. (2007). Activation of integrin-linked kinase is a critical prosurvival pathway induced in leukemic cells by bone marrow–derived stromal cells. *Cancer Res.* 67, 684–694. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3166
- Tabe, Y., and Konopleva, M. (2015). Role of microenvironment in resistance to therapy in AML. Curr. Hematol. Malig. Rep. 10, 96–103. doi: 10.1007/s11899-015-0253-6
- Takam Kamga, P., Bassi, G., Cassaro, A., Midolo, M., Di Trapani, M., Gatti, A., et al. (2016a). Notch signalling drives bone marrow stromal cell-mediated chemoresistance in acute myeloid leukemia. *Oncotarget* 7, 21713–21727. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.7964
- Takam Kamga, P., Cassaro, A., Dal Collo, G., Adamo, A., Gatti, A., Carusone, R., et al. (2016b). Role of Wnt/β-catenin signalling in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) cell response to chemotherapy. *Blood* 128, 2753–2753. doi: 10.1182/ blood.V128.22.2753.2753
- Takam Kamga, P., Collo, G. D., Resci, F., Bazzoni, R., Mercuri, A., Quaglia, F. M., et al. (2019a). Notch signaling molecules as prognostic biomarkers for acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancers* 11:1958. doi: 10.3390/cancers11121958
- Takam Kamga, P., Dal Collo, G., Cassaro, A., Bazzoni, R., Delfino, P., Adamo, A., et al. (2020). Small molecule inhibitors of microenvironmental Wnt/β-catenin signaling enhance the chemosensitivity of acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancers* 12:2696. doi: 10.3390/cancers12092696
- Takam Kamga, P., Dal Collo, G., Midolo, M., Adamo, A., Delfino, P., Mercuri, A., et al. (2019b). Inhibition of notch signaling enhances chemosensitivity in B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Res.* 79, 639–649. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-1617
- Takebe, N., Miele, L., Harris, P. J., Jeong, W., Bando, H., Kahn, M., et al. (2015). Targeting Notch, Hedgehog, and Wnt pathways in cancer stem cells: clinical update. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 12, 445–464. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc. 2015.61
- Tamura, M., Sato, M. M., and Nashimoto, M. (2011). Regulation of CXCL12 expression by canonical Wnt signaling in bone marrow stromal cells. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 43, 760–767. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2011.01.021
- Tohda, S., and Nara, N. (2001). Expression of Notch1 and Jagged1 proteins in acute myeloid leukemia cells. *Leuk. Lymphoma* 42, 467–472. doi: 10.3109/ 10428190109064603
- Tomasello, L., Vezzalini, M., Boni, C., Bonifacio, M., Scaffidi, L., Yassin, M., et al. (2020). Regulative loop between β -catenin and protein tyrosine receptor type γ in chronic myeloid leukemia. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21:2298. doi: 10.3390/ ijms21072298
- Toni, F. D., Racaud-Sultan, C., Chicanne, G., Mas, V. M.-D., Cariven, C., Mesange, F., et al. (2006). A crosstalk between the Wnt and the adhesion-dependent signaling pathways governs the chemosensitivity of acute myeloid leukemia. *Oncogene* 25, 3113–3122. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209346
- Vacca, A., Felli, M. P., Palermo, R., Di Mario, G., Calce, A., Di Giovine, M., et al. (2006). Notch3 and pre-TCR interaction unveils distinct NF-κB pathways in

T-cell development and leukemia. *EMBO J.* 25, 1000–1008. doi: 10.1038/sj. emboj.7600996

- Valencia, A., Román-Gómez, J., Cervera, J., Such, E., Barragán, E., Bolufer, P., et al. (2009). Wnt signaling pathway is epigenetically regulated by methylation of Wnt antagonists in acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia* 23, 1658–1666. doi: 10.1038/leu.2009.86
- van Amerongen, R., Fuerer, C., Mizutani, M., and Nusse, R. (2012). Wnt5a can both activate and repress Wnt/β-catenin signaling during mouse embryonic development. *Dev. Biol.* 369, 101–114. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2012.06.020
- Van de Walle, I., Waegemans, E., De Medts, J., De Smet, G., De Smedt, M., Snauwaert, S., et al. (2013). Specific Notch receptor–ligand interactions control human TCR- $\alpha\beta/\gamma\delta$ development by inducing differential Notch signal strength. *J. Exp. Med.* 210, 683–697. doi: 10.1084/jem.20121798
- van Loosdregt, J., Fleskens, V., Tiemessen, M. M., Mokry, M., van Boxtel, R., Meerding, J., et al. (2013). Canonical Wnt signaling negatively modulates regulatory T cell function. *Immunity* 39, 298–310. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013. 07.019
- van Tetering, G., and Vooijs, M. (2011). Proteolytic Cleavage of Notch: "HIT and RUN.". Curr. Mol. Med. 11, 255–269.
- Varnum-Finney, B., Xu, L., Brashem-Stein, C., Nourigat, C., Flowers, D., Bakkour, S., et al. (2000). Pluripotent, cytokine-dependent, hematopoietic stem cells are immortalized by constitutive Notch1 signaling. *Nat. Med.* 6, 1278–1281. doi: 10.1038/81390
- Vercauteren, S. M., and Sutherland, H. J. (2004). Constitutively active Notch4 promotes early human hematopoietic progenitor cell maintenance while inhibiting differentiation and causes lymphoid abnormalities in vivo. *Blood* 104, 2315–2322. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-01-0204
- Vianello, F., Villanova, F., Tisato, V., Lymperi, S., Ho, K.-K., Gomes, A. R., et al. (2010). Bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells non-selectively protect chronic myeloid leukemia cells from imatinib-induced apoptosis via the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis. *Haematologica* 95, 1081–1089. doi: 10.3324/haematol. 2009.017178
- Vladar, E. K., and Königshoff, M. (2020). Noncanonical Wnt planar cell polarity signaling in lung development and disease. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 48, 231–243. doi: 10.1042/BST20190597
- Volleman, T. N. E., Schol, J., Morita, K., Sakai, D., and Watanabe, M. (2020). Wnt3a and wnt5a as potential chondrogenic stimulators for nucleus pulposus cell induction: a comprehensive review. *Neurospine* 17, 19–35. doi: 10.14245/ns. 2040040.020
- Wagner, J. M., Reinkemeier, F., Dadras, M., Wallner, C., Huber, J., Sogorski, A., et al. (2020). Local Wnt3a treatment restores bone regeneration in large osseous defects after surgical debridement of osteomyelitis. *J. Mol. Med.* 98, 897–906. doi: 10.1007/s00109-020-01924-9
- Wang, J., De Veirman, K., De Beule, N., Maes, K., De Bruyne, E., Van Valckenborgh, E., et al. (2015). The bone marrow microenvironment enhances multiple myeloma progression by exosome-mediated activation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Oncotarget* 6, 43992–44004. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.6083
- Wang, J., Hu, X., Ji, Q., Zheng, B., and Huang, L. (2019). miR-150 affects Wnt/β-catenin pathway activity and regulates MSC osteogenic differentiation. J. Biomater. Tissue Eng. 9, 1339–1345. doi: 10.1166/jbt.2019. 2147
- Wang, L., Shalek, A. K., Lawrence, M., Ding, R., Gaublomme, J. T., Pochet, N., et al. (2014). Somatic mutation as a mechanism of Wnt/β-catenin pathway activation in CLL. *Blood* 124, 1089–1098. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-01-552067
- Wang, W., Zimmerman, G., Huang, X., Yu, S., Myers, J., Wang, Y., et al. (2016). Aberrant notch signaling in the bone marrow microenvironment of acute lymphoid leukemia suppresses osteoblast-mediated support of hematopoietic niche function. *Cancer Res.* 76, 1641–1652. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-2092
- Weng, A. P., Ferrando, A. A., Lee, W., Morris, J. P., Silverman, L. B., Sanchez-Irizarry, C., et al. (2004). Activating mutations of NOTCH1 in human T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Science* 306, 269–271. doi: 10.1126/science. 1102160
- Willander, K., Dutta, R., Ungerbäck, J., Gunnarsson, R., Juliusson, G., Fredrikson, M., et al. (2013). NOTCH1 mutations influence survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients. *BMC Cancer* 13:274. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-13-274

- Willert, K., Brown, J. D., Danenberg, E., Duncan, A. W., Weissman, I. L., Reya, T., et al. (2003). Wnt proteins are lipid-modified and can act as stem cell growth factors. *Nature* 423, 448–452. doi: 10.1038/nature01611
- Wilson, A., MacDonald, H. R., and Radtke, F. (2001). Notch 1-deficient common lymphoid precursors adopt a B cell fate in the thymus. J. Exp. Med. 194, 1003–1012.
- Wilson, A., Oser, G. M., Jaworski, M., Blanco-Bose, W. E., Laurenti, E., Adolphe, C., et al. (2007). Dormant and self-renewing hematopoietic stem cells and their niches. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1106, 64–75. doi: 10.1196/annals.1392.021
- Wu, Y., Cain-Hom, C., Choy, L., Hagenbeek, T. J., de Leon, G. P., Chen, Y., et al. (2010). Therapeutic antibody targeting of individual Notch receptors. *Nature* 464, 1052–1057. doi: 10.1038/nature08878
- Xu, X., Zhao, Y., Xu, M., Dai, Q., Meng, W., Yang, J., et al. (2011). Activation of Notch signal pathway is associated with a poorer prognosis in acute myeloid leukemia. *Med. Oncol. Northwood Lond. Engl.* 28(Suppl. 1), S483–S489. doi: 10.1007/s12032-010-9667-0
- Yang, Y., Mallampati, S., Sun, B., Zhang, J., Kim, S., Lee, J.-S., et al. (2013). Wnt pathway contributes to the protection by bone marrow stromal cells of acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells and is a potential therapeutic target. *Cancer Lett.* 333, 9–17. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2012.11.056
- Yin, D.-D., Fan, F.-Y., Hu, X.-B., Hou, L.-H., Zhang, X.-P., Liu, L., et al. (2009). Notch signaling inhibits the growth of the human chronic myeloid leukemia cell line K562. *Leuk. Res.* 33, 109–114. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2008.06.023
- Yost, C., Torres, M., Miller, J. R., Huang, E., Kimelman, D., and Moon, R. T. (1996). The axis-inducing activity, stability, and subcellular distribution of beta-catenin is regulated in Xenopus embryos by glycogen synthase kinase 3. *Genes Dev.* 10, 1443–1454. doi: 10.1101/gad.10.12.1443
- Yu, Z., Liu, L., Shu, Q., Li, D., and Wang, R. (2019). Leukemia stem cells promote chemoresistance by inducing downregulation of lumican in mesenchymal stem cells. Oncol. Lett. 18, 4317–4327. doi: 10.3892/ol.2019.10767
- Yuan, Y., Lu, X., Chen, X., Shao, H., and Huang, S. (2013). Jagged1 contributes to the drug resistance of Jurkat cells in contact with human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Oncol. Lett. 6, 1000–1006. doi: 10.3892/ol.2013.1523
- Yuan, Z., Li, Q., Luo, S., Liu, Z., Luo, D., Zhang, B., et al. (2016). PPAR_Y and Wnt signaling in adipogenic and osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. *Curr. Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 11, 216–225.
- Zhang, B., Li, M., McDonald, T., Holyoake, T. L., Moon, R. T., Campana, D., et al. (2013). Microenvironmental protection of CML stem and progenitor cells from tyrosine kinase inhibitors through N-cadherin and Wnt-β-catenin signaling. *Blood* 121, 1824–1838. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-02-412890
- Zhang, L., Luo, Q., Shu, Y., Zeng, Z., Huang, B., Feng, Y., et al. (2019). Transcriptomic landscape regulated by the 14 types of bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) in lineage commitment and differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). *Genes Dis.* 6, 258–275. doi: 10.1016/j.gendis.2019.03.008
- Zhao, C., Blum, J., Chen, A., Kwon, H. Y., Jung, S. H., Cook, J. M., et al. (2007). Loss of beta-catenin impairs the renewal of normal and CML stem cells in vivo. *Cancer Cell* 12, 528–541. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2007.11.003
- Zhao, L., Chen, S., Yang, P., Cao, H., and Li, L. (2019). The role of mesenchymal stem cells in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: prevention and treatment of graft-versus-host disease. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 10:182. doi: 10.1186/s13287-019-1287-9
- Zweidler-McKay, P. A., He, Y., Xu, L., Rodriguez, C. G., Karnell, F. G., Carpenter, A. C., et al. (2005). Notch signaling is a potent inducer of growth arrest and apoptosis in a wide range of B-cell malignancies. *Blood* 106, 3898–3906. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-01-0355

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Takam Kamga, Bazzoni, Dal Collo, Cassaro, Tanasi, Russignan, Tecchio and Krampera. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Endogenous Mobilization of Mesenchymal Stromal Cells: A Pathway for Interorgan Communication?

Amandine Girousse^{1†}, Maxime Mathieu^{1†}, Quentin Sastourné-Arrey², Sylvie Monferran¹, Louis Casteilla¹ and Coralie Sengenès^{1*}

¹ Stromalab, Université de Toulouse, CNRS ERL5311, EFS, INP-ENVT, INSERM U1031, Université Paul Sabatier, Toulouse, France, ² Sprott Center for Stem Cell Research, Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Department of Cellular and Molecular Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Simone Pacini, University of Pisa, Italy

Reviewed by:

Christopher V. Carman, Harvard University, United States Julie Fradette, Laval University, Canada

*Correspondence:

Coralie Sengenès coralie.sengenes@inserm.fr †These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 24 August 2020 Accepted: 18 November 2020 Published: 08 January 2021

Citation:

Girousse A, Mathieu M, Sastourné-Arrey Q, Monferran S, Casteilla L and Sengenès C (2021) Endogenous Mobilization of Mesenchymal Stromal Cells: A Pathway for Interorgan Communication? Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:598520. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.598520 To coordinate specialized organs, inter-tissue communication appeared during evolution. Consequently, individual organs communicate their states via a vast interorgan communication network (ICN) made up of peptides, proteins, and metabolites that act between organs to coordinate cellular processes under homeostasis and stress. However, the nature of the interorgan signaling could be even more complex and involve mobilization mechanisms of unconventional cells that are still poorly described. Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) virtually reside in all tissues, though the biggest reservoir discovered so far is adipose tissue where they are named adipose stromal cells (ASCs). MSCs are thought to participate in tissue maintenance and repair since the administration of exogenous MSCs is well known to exert beneficial effects under several pathological conditions. However, the role of endogenous MSCs is barely understood. Though largely debated, the presence of circulating endogenous MSCs has been reported in multiple pathophysiological conditions, but the significance of such cell circulation is not known and therapeutically untapped. In this review, we discuss current knowledge on the circulation of native MSCs, and we highlight recent findings describing MSCs as putative key components of the ICN.

Keywords: adipose tissue, native mesenchymal stromal cell, stroma homeostasis, endogenous reservoir, rare cells in circulation

INTRODUCTION

Each organ is a combination of a functional compartment, the parenchyma, and a stromal compartment, the stroma, supporting the parenchymal cells of the organ (Feeback, 1987). The main function of the stromal compartment is to structure and remodel functional tissue in order to ensure organ homeostasis (Scadden, 2012). In normal tissue, stroma maintains the tissue microenvironment and sustains cell growth in various ways with spatial and temporal self-limitations (Huet et al., 2019). Conversely, stroma imbalance nurtures organ imbalance, which can eventually lead to tumor progression (Valkenburg et al., 2018). Among the cell types residing in the stroma, mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) are key components allowing stroma's supportive function. MSCs attract lots of attention because they hold great promise for a multitude

of emerging therapies in regenerative medicine since they promote tissue repair in various degenerative contexts such as osteoarthritis, bone defects, myocardial infarction, inflammatory bowel disease, or neurodegenerative disorders. As such, they have been the subject of clinical trials for more than 20 years (Galipeau and Sensébé, 2018; Pittenger et al., 2019). MSC identification and characterization rely on in vitro work, and long steps of culture are needed to collect a usable amount of cells (Dominici et al., 2006). Culture-expanded MSCs consist of a heterogeneous population of cells exhibiting various phenotypes and functional properties, and the extent of these properties depends on the tissue, donor, and species of origin, isolation technique, and culturing protocols (Ankrum et al., 2014). Such variations are known to limit the potential of MSCs for clinical translation, and strategies to enhance engraftment are needed (Hou et al., 2005; Hénon, 2020).

In the past few years, investigating the endogenous repair mechanisms of injured tissues has paved the way for future "*in situ*" strategies to potentiate the body's own repair capacity (Andreas et al., 2014). In this regard, pharmacological activation of endogenous stem cell mobilization from either the blood or a tissue-specific niche is a promising approach (Krankel et al., 2011). Consequently, both triggering and controlling the endogenous mobilization of MSCs represent an additional strategy to achieve effective tissue repair and regeneration. In this review, we present the current state of knowledge and unresolved gaps about the circulation of endogenous MSCs and propose MSC interorgan trafficking as a complementary pathway of communication.

WHAT DO WE KNOW ABOUT THE CIRCULATION OF ENDOGENOUS MESENCHYMAL STEM/STROMAL CELLS?

Circulating Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells: Myth or Reality?

Studies reporting the mobilization, circulation, and recruitment of endogenous MSCs are sparse and heterogeneous (Roufosse et al., 2004) and generated lots of conflicting results (Ojeda-Uribe et al., 1993; Lazarus et al., 1997; Zvaifler et al., 2000; Wexler et al., 2003). Consequently, the presence of blood circulating MSCs is still debated (Mansilla et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2006; Hoogduijn et al., 2014).

Yet, several studies show that endogenous MSCs are found in the bloodstream of various species, but their frequency is rare $[0-0.025 \text{ colonies}/10^e6$ of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (He et al., 2007)]. Conversely, the circulation of endogenous MSCs greatly increases in response to various types of injuries. Indeed, skeletal traumas, regardless of their severity (Alm et al., 2010), cardiomyopathies (Marketou et al., 2014, 2015), coronary syndrome (Wojakowski et al., 2008), skin burns (Mansilla et al., 2006), liver damages (Chen et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2015), and some types of cancers (Fernandez et al., 1997; Bian et al., 2009) are some examples of clinical situations triggering this increase. Whether endogenous MSCs circulate *in vivo* is not a matter of debate anymore but rather a matter of methods of investigation, time frame (Churchman et al., 2020), and clinical context. Such limitations relate to a lack of precise knowledge of functional, phenotypic, and molecular criteria that define endogenous circulating MSCs.

Immunophenotypic Characteristics of Circulating Endogenous Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells

Despite extensive efforts to characterize MSCs. the definition of in vivo identity(ies) of MSCs is still very obscure (Parekkadan and Milwid, 2010). In humans, canonical MSC the surface marker combination CD13⁺/CD44⁺/CD73⁺/CD90⁺/CD105⁺/CD34⁻/CD31⁻/CD45⁻ directly derives from their in vitro culture expansion (Dominici et al., 2006). However, many factors, from the harvesting methodology to the conditions of cell culture, dramatically influence MSC phenotype and functions (Bara et al., 2014; Jones and Schäfer, 2015; Pittenger et al., 2019; Walter et al., 2020). In that regard, we and others have demonstrated that cell surface marker profiles of in vitro expanded human MSCs differ compared to freshly isolated cells and those residing in their native microenvironment (Sengenès et al., 2005; Maumus et al., 2011; Bara et al., 2014). In particular, the absence of CD34 is considered among the prerequisites to identify MSCs; however, we have shown that CD34 is strongly expressed in native adipose-derived MSCs and that cell culture abolishes its expression (Sengenès et al., 2005; Maumus et al., 2011). Moreover, though some of the MSC markers appear constitutively expressed regardless of environment (Jones et al., 2006), "immunophenotypic drifts" are expected while MSCs circulate. Indeed, the expression of membrane markers such as CD29, CD44, CD73, and CD90, which all regulate MSC adhesion/migration processes, is known to change dramatically to allow MSC detachment and further migration (Rege and Hagood, 2006; Ode et al., 2011; Qian et al., 2012; Xu and Li, 2014). Consequently, using flow cytometry analysis with a combination of surface markers (validated in vitro) to detect circulating native MSCs may lead to underestimation and generates conflicting results when compared with studies using functional assays to detect MSCs [such as colony-forming unit-fibroblast (CFU-F) activity] (Fellous et al., 2020; Figure 1). Indeed, the level of blood circulating CD45⁻/CD271⁺ MSCs shows higher correlation to CFU-F numbers than the one of CD45⁻/CD73⁺/CD90⁺/CD105⁺ MSCs (Rebolj et al., 2018). This illustrates that understanding MSC heterogeneity holds promise for refining the definition of MSCs. In that regard, the analysis of MSC heterogeneity from various tissue [bone marrow (BM), adipose tissue (AT), skeletal muscle] is under active investigation using single-cell RNA sequencing technologies (Burl et al., 2018; Hepler et al., 2018; Baryawno et al., 2019; Wolock et al., 2019). However, though powerful, those studies will inform about the signature(s) of native tissue-resident MSC subpopulations but will fail for circulating MSCs. Interestingly, high-throughput technology capable of efficiently capturing



without marker-based approach and molecularly interrogating rare cells in the circulation at single-cell resolution is under development to study circulating tumor cells (CTCs) (Cheng et al., 2008). Those technologies will be of great utility both to capture and to enable single-cell transcriptome analysis of rare and limited cell populations of circulating endogenous MSCs.

How Do Endogenous Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells Navigate in the Bloodstream?

Little is known about the behavior of MSCs in flowing blood, and our current understanding mostly derives from intravascular infused cultured-expanded MSCs from which we could infer the behavior of native MSCs. While circulating MSCs are always considered to be isolated cells floating in the bloodstream, recent studies demonstrated the close interaction of MSCs with the blood microenvironment. Indeed, using in vivo confocal microscopy, it has been reported that the majority of intravascular MSCs are in contact with platelets and/or neutrophils (Teo et al., 2015). Additionally, BM-derived MSCs bind platelets that shield them from surface adhesion, so that they barely adhere at all in the blood flow via a mechanism involving podoplanin, the endogenous ligand for C-type lectin-like receptor 2 (CLEC-2) (Sheriff et al., 2018; Ward et al., 2019). CLEC-2 is being expressed broadly, including in platelets, inflammatory leukocytes, and lymphatic endothelial cells. Moreover, platelet depletion decreases MSC trafficking to sites of injury (Langer et al., 2009; Teo et al., 2015). Platelet functions extend beyond the immediate environment of the

thrombus (Golebiewska and Poole, 2015). For instance, they play important roles for tissue regeneration (Eisinger et al., 2018), and they also contribute to tumor metastasis (Tesfamariam, 2016). Indeed, it is admitted that CTCs are partly covered with platelets to provide them with "stealth" properties and help their survival in the circulation, where they are challenged by physical forces in the circulation (Nieswandt et al., 1999; Heeke et al., 2019). Whether circulating endogenous MSCs are not single cells traveling the blood alone but are accompanied by other cell types and partners possibly modifying their immunophenotype needs more investigations (**Figure 1**). However, targeting the interaction of MSCs with other cells is a promising tool and future research to improve endogenous MSC detection, collection, and trafficking.

What if Not Just the Blood?

The peripheral blood is considered as the *bona fide* route for native MSC trafficking (He et al., 2007). Indeed, the detection of blood-borne CFU-Fs was earlier (Maximow, 1928) than the detection of BM CFU-Fs (Friedenstein et al., 1968, 1970). However, it is well established that some types of stem cells such as hematopoietic stem cells recirculate daily between the BM and the blood and egress to extramedullary tissues *via* the lymphatic system (Massberg et al., 2007). Until a few years ago, the composition of the lymphatic fluid was virtually unknown. This lack of knowledge was mostly due to the technical difficulty in cannulating lymphatic vessels and the small amount of collected fluid. Over time, some of these technical issues have been resolved, and as such, lymph "omic" composition in physiological and pathological conditions received a lot of attention (Santambrogio, 2018). However, the precise cellular composition of lymph is still obscure, and immune cell transit was mostly investigated (Platt and Randolph, 2013). Yet, we have demonstrated that MSCs originating from AT, the ASCs (Zuk et al., 2001; Gimble and Guilak, 2003), are found in the lymph fluid in response to lymph node inflammation (Gil-Ortega et al., 2013). Other studies indicate that systemically infused MSCs can be found in secondary lymphoid organs [e.g., mesenteric lymph nodes after intracardiac infusion (Li et al., 2012), lymph nodes, Peyer patches, spleen (Schwarz et al., 2014)]. Interestingly, Han et al. (2020) very recently reported the presence of lots of circulating cells able to form spheroids in the thoracic duct of a mouse model of melanoma, though distant metastases were not developed. Altogether, those data suggest that as cancer cells do, MSCs may exploit several bodily fluid systems as natural transportation routes (Follain et al., 2020; Figure 1).

Whether the clinical context, fluid biomechanics, and tissue microenvironment have a role in the initial choice of the fluid route is unknown. As well, accessibility of blood and lymphatic vasculature may strongly influence the pathway taken for MSCs to transit. Finally, flow velocities and shear stress are lower in lymphatic vessels (Dixon et al., 2006), and lymphatic dissemination has been suggested as less deleterious than dissemination through the blood for some type of cancer cells (Wong and Hynes, 2006). Lymph fluid could thus represent a more favorable route for MSCs since their survival may benefit from the passive, low-shear system of fluid transport characteristic of lymphatics. Consequently, an improved understanding of this process might provide a new avenue for targeting MSC transit and might explain conflicting results. At last, the fibroblastic nature of MSCs allows considering extra-circulatory alternative routes, such as connective tissues, for MSC mobilization (Figure 1). The potential for such trafficking events, putative mechanisms, and potential functional roles represents important questions for future investigation.

WHICH PHYSIOLOGICAL RESERVOIRS MAY BE MOBILIZED?

MSCs reside in virtually all postnatal organs and tissues; however, not all organs contain the same amount of MSCs (da Silva Meirelles et al., 2006; Crisan et al., 2009). BM is generally considered as the major reservoir of mobilizable MSCs (Koh et al., 2007; Koning et al., 2013). Nevertheless, together with the absence of unique specific markers, the lack of MSC tissue-specific markers impairs the parallel analysis of various physiological reservoirs. Consequently, it is very likely that the role played by extramedullary organs in participating in the pool of circulating endogenous MSCs is underestimated. Indeed, AT is a large source of MSCs, named ASCs (Zuk et al., 2001; Gimble and Guilak, 2003). The uncultured stroma-vascular fraction (SVF) from AT usually contains up to 30% of ASCs. This is 2,500-fold more than the frequency found in BM (Fraser et al., 2008; Baer and Geiger, 2012). Consequently, AT represents so far the largest physiological reservoir of MSCs.

In the attempt of investigating to what extent AT contributes to the pool of circulating endogenous MSCs, we and others have shown that endogenous ASCs are mobilizable and that such mobilization is triggered in response to various types of stresses from inflammation to fat overload (Zhang et al., 2009; Kolonin, 2012; Gil-Ortega et al., 2013, 2014; Girousse et al., 2019). Consequently, AT also largely accounts for the pool of circulating endogenous MSCs, but animal models are still needed to clearly evaluate the respective part played by BM vs. AT.

WHY DO ENDOGENOUS MESENCHYMAL STEM/STROMAL CELLS CIRCULATE?

Whatever the reservoir, circulating endogenous MSCs belong to the group of blood-circulating rare cell populations, classified by Schreier and Triampo (2020) into "constructive" and "destructive" cell types. MSCs are mostly considered as constructive cell types because of their repair and/or homeostasis maintenance properties. The current knowledge on the functional roles of MSCs mainly relies on studies using *in vitro*expanded MSCs (Keating, 2012; Galipeau and Sensébé, 2018; Pittenger et al., 2019). The struggles in clearly defining native MSCs negatively influence advancement in understanding their role(s) *in vivo* and what is more the role of their circulation. Last, since MSCs virtually reside in all postnatal organs and tissues (da Silva Meirelles et al., 2006; Crisan et al., 2009), one may wonder why MSCs circulate toward distant "injured/inflamed" sites, while resident ones could perform the same activities.

The Interorgan Communication Network

The long-term maintenance of an organism's homeostasis and health relies on the accurate regulation of organ-organ communication (Silverthon et al., 2009). To do so, the central nervous system regulates many organ behaviors using hormones or neurons and organs developed systems to directly communicate their states to one another. This interorgan communication network (ICN) is made up of soluble factors such as peptides, proteins, and metabolites that act between organs to coordinate essential and specialized cellular processes under homeostasis and stress (Droujinine and Perrimon, 2016; Figure 2). Recent studies show that more than 15% of the protein-coding genome encodes for roughly 3,000 secreted proteins, but only a handful of them has been properly annotated (Uhlen et al., 2010; Lindskog, 2015). Consequently, the nature of the ICN remains largely a mystery (Droujinine and Perrimon, 2013). The interorgan communication is seen to occur through secreted molecules; however, accumulating data show that organs communicate their state via other ways. For instance, extracellular vesicles (EVs) have emerged as a novel messaging system of the organism, mediating cell-cell and interorgan communication (Gould et al., 2003). EVs are secreted membranous structures, entrapping nucleic acids, diverse cellular proteins, and metabolites, and are predicted to transfer their packaged molecules from one cell to another (Gould et al., 2003). EVs traffic to local or distant targets to execute defined biological



functions (Théry et al., 2009; Thomou et al., 2017; Margolis and Sadovsky, 2019). Consequently, the ICN encompasses other modes of communication than secreted molecules, and as such, whether the circulation of MSCs is a way of communication between organs needs to be considered.

Circulating Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells, a Way to Communicate Between Bodily Stromas

As stated above, the stromal compartment of each organ structures, nurtures, and remodels the functional compartment to ensure organ homeostasis. MSCs, being a central cellular component of bodily stromas, can be viewed as stroma "sentinel," sensing stromal state and ultimately the organ state. The following scenario regarding the role of circulating endogenous MSCs may be proposed.

Just as suggested for the regulation of body temperature or AT mass in the form of thermostat and adipostat, respectively, bodily stromas could be regulated by a set point to ensure the organism's homeostasis that we will name here the "stromastat." Organ failure leading to stromastat modification could be detected by resident MSCs and trigger the early and rapid transfer from MSC reservoirs to the failing organ. This early transfer of MSCs would support the resident pool of MSCs to allow the rebalance of the failing organ. In parallel, to ensure stromastat, data report that the mobilized reservoir may be replenished (Koning et al., 2013; **Figure 2**). Thus, a possible answer to the meaning of MSC circulation could be that MSCs may represent the cellular part of the ICN. Indeed, evidence that MSCs may belong to the ICN is accumulating. For instance, following organ

imbalance (e.g., inflammation, metabolic stress), we observed that ASCs transfer very early from AT toward inflamed lymph nodes (Gil-Ortega et al., 2013) or injured/remodeling skeletal muscle (Girousse et al., 2019). Similar results were also reported for BM-derived MSCs in response to other inflammatory/injury contexts such as myocardial infarction (Fukuda and Fujita, 2005), cranio cerebral trauma (Deng et al., 2011), and encephalomyelitis (Koning et al., 2013). Interestingly, independently of the clinical context or the reservoir investigated, the common point of those studies is the kinetic with which MSCs transfer from their reservoir to the unbalanced site. Such interorgan MSC transfer involves few amounts of cells when compared to the pool of local MSCs. However, we and others have demonstrated that, though discrete, such infiltration dramatically impacts the fate of the organ repair/regeneration/remodeling (Kumar and Ponnazhagan, 2012; Hu et al., 2013; Koning et al., 2013; Girousse et al., 2019). In addition to this, the impact of this rare MSC population could be amplified by the production of EVs, like an inverted funnel effect.

CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES

Both the mobilization and circulation of endogenous MSCs in physiology and pathology are undoubtful as seen in the present review. However, there are still several questions to be resolved before understanding the meaning of such circulation. One can argue that this is merely explainable because of current available technologies and lack of MSC-specific markers. Indeed, being a population of rare cells in the blood, we have only scratched the surface of the potential of circulating MSCs in diagnostics and regenerative medicine. It appears that in case of "emergency," MSCs traffic from adipose or BM reservoir toward distant "injured/inflamed/imbalanced" organs where infiltrated MSCs trigger local mechanisms to allow repair/regeneration. In return, the MSC provider replenishes its own reservoir so that both compartments balance their respective MSC pools, suggesting the presence of a set point that we suggested to name the "stromastat" (Figure 2). How the stromastat regulates organ responses to various stresses and pathological contexts is completely unexplored. This interorgan way of communication may be an unsuspected source of therapeutic targets to help in maintaining whole-organism homeostasis. At last, a better understanding of the control of endogenous MSC circulation, including the description of mobilization and attraction mechanisms, will represent an essential step that will condition their therapeutic potential.

REFERENCES

- Alm, J. J., Koivu, H., Heino, T. J., Hentunen, T. A., Laitinen, S., and Aro, H. T. (2010). Circulating plastic adherent mesenchymal stem cells in aged hip fracture patients. J. Orthop. Res. 28, 1634–1642.doi: 10.1002/jor.21167
- Andreas, K., Sittinger, M., and Ringe, J. (2014). Toward in situ tissue engineering: chemokine-guided stem cell recruitment. *Trends Biotechnol.* 32, 483–492. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2014.06.008
- Ankrum, J. A., Ong, J. F., and Karp, J. M. (2014). Mesenchymal stem cells: immune evasive, not immune privileged. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 32, 252–260.doi: 10.1038/nbt. 2816
- Baer, P. C., and Geiger, H. (2012). Adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal/stem cells: tissue localization, characterization, and heterogeneity. *Stem Cells Int.* 2012:812693. doi: 10.1155/2012/812693
- Bara, J. J., Richards, R. G., Alini, M., and Stoddart, M. J. (2014). Concise review: bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells change phenotype following in vitro culture: implications for basic research and the clinic. *Stem Cells* 32, 1713–1723.doi: 10.1002/stem.1649
- Baryawno, N., Przybylski, D., Kowalczyk, M. S., Kfoury, Y., Severe, N., Gustafsson, K., et al. (2019). A cellular taxonomy of the bone marrow stroma in homeostasis and Leukemia. *Cell* 177, 1915–1932.e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.04.040
- Bian, Z.-Y., Li, G., Gan, Y.-K., Hao, Y.-Q., Xu, W.-T., and Tang, T.-T. (2009). Increased number of mesenchymal stem cell-like cells in peripheral blood of patients with bone sarcomas. *Arch. Med. Res.* 40, 163–168.doi: 10.1016/j. arcmed.2009.01.002
- Burl, R. B., Ramseyer, V. D., Rondini, E. A., Pique-Regi, R., Lee, Y.-H., and Granneman, J. G. (2018). Deconstructing adipogenesis induced by β3adrenergic receptor activation with single-cell expression profiling. *Cell Metab.* 28, 300–309.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.05.025
- Chen, Y., Xiang, L.-X. X., Shao, J.-Z. Z., Pan, R.-L. L., Wang, Y.-X. X., Dong, X.-J. J., et al. (2010). Recruitment of endogenous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells towards injured liver. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* 14, 1494–1508.doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00912.x
- Cheng, Y., Samia, A. C., Meyers, J. D., Panagopoulos, I., Fei, B., and Burda, C. (2008). Highly efficient drug delivery with gold nanoparticle vectors for in vivo photodynamic therapy of cancer. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 130, 10643–10647.doi: 10.1021/ja801631c
- Churchman, S. M., Jones, E. A., Roshdy, T., Cox, G., Boxall, S. A., McGonagle, D., et al. (2020). Transient existence of circulating mesenchymal stem cells in the deep veins in humans following long bone intramedullary reaming. *J. Clin. Med.* 9:968.doi: 10.3390/jcm9040968
- Crisan, M., Chen, C. W., Corselli, M., Andriolo, G., Lazzari, L., and Peault, B. (2009). Perivascular multipotent progenitor cells in human organs. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1176, 118–123.doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04967.x
- da Silva Meirelles, L., Chagastelles, P. C., and Nardi, N. B. (2006). Mesenchymal stem cells reside in virtually all post-natal organs and tissues. J. Cell Sci. 119, 2204–2213.doi: 10.1242/jcs.02932

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the design and writing of the manuscript. AG, MM, QS-A, SM, and LC proofread and given comments as well as suggestions. AG designed all the figures. CS supervised and finalized the manuscript.

FUNDING

Funding supported from the INSERM: French National Reasearch Health Institute, CNRS: French National Research Institute, the University of Toulouse, the FRM (ING20140129326): Fondation pour la recherche médicale, the AFM-TELETHON (23384): Association Française pour la Myopathie, Téléthon.

- Deng, J., Zou, Z., Zhou, T., Su, Y., Ai, G., Wang, J., et al. (2011). Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells can be mobilized into peripheral blood by G-CSF in vivo and integrate into traumatically injured cerebral tissue. *Neurol. Sci.* 32, 641–651.doi: 10.1007/s10072-011-0608-2
- Dixon, J. B., Greiner, S. T., Gashev, A. A., Cote, G. L., Moore, J. E., and Zawieja, D. C. (2006). Lymph flow, shear stress, and lymphocyte velocity in rat mesenteric prenodal lymphatics. *Microcirculation* 13, 597–610. doi: 10.1080/ 10739680600893909
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The international society for cellular therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 8, 315–317.doi: 10.1080/14653240600855905
- Droujinine, I., and Perrimon, N. (2013). Defining the interorgan communication network: systemic coordination of organismal cellular processes under homeostasis and localized stress. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 3:82. doi: 10. 3389/fcimb.2013.00082
- Droujinine, I. A., and Perrimon, N. (2016). Interorgan communication pathways in physiology: focus on Drosophila. Annu. Rev. Genet. 50, 539–570.doi: 10.1146/ annurev-genet-121415-122024
- Eisinger, F., Patzelt, J., and Langer, H. F. (2018). The platelet response to tissue injury. *Front. Med.* 5:317. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00317
- Feeback, D. L. (1987). "Organs and systems," in *Histology Oklahoma Notes*, ed. D. L. Feeback (New York, NY: Springer), 89–190. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-4630-5_3
- Fellous, T. G., Redpath, A. N., Fleischer, M. M., Gandhi, S., Hartner, S. E., Newton, M. D., et al. (2020). Pharmacological tools to mobilise mesenchymal stromal cells into the blood promote bone formation after surgery. NPJ Regen. Med. 5:3. doi: 10.1038/s41536-020-0088-1
- Fernandez, M., Simon, V., Herrera, G., Cao, C., Del Favero, H., and Minguell, J. J. (1997). Detection of stromal cells in peripheral blood progenitor cell collections from breast cancer patients. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. 20, 265–271.doi: 10.1038/ sj.bmt.1700890
- Follain, G., Herrmann, D., Harlepp, S., Hyenne, V., Osmani, N., Warren, S. C., et al. (2020). Fluids and their mechanics in tumour transit: shaping metastasis. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 20, 107–124. doi: 10.1038/s41568-019-0221-x
- Fraser, J. K., Zhu, M., Wulur, I., and Alfonso, Z. (2008). Adipose-derived stem cells. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 449, 59–67. doi: 10.1007/978-1-60327-169-1_4
- Friedenstein, A. J., Chailakhjan, R. K., and Lalykina, K. S. (1970). The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. *Cell Tissue Kinet.* 3, 393–403. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2184.1970. tb00347.x
- Friedenstein, A. J., Petrakova, K. V., Kurolesova, A. I., and Frolova, G. P. (1968). Heterotopic of bone marrow. Analysis of precursor cells for osteogenic and hematopoietic tissues. *Transplantation* 6, 230–247.
- Fukuda, K., and Fujita, J. U. N. (2005). Mesenchymal, but not hematopoietic, stem cells can be mobilized and differentiate into cardiomyocytes after myocardial

infarction in mice. *Kidney Int.* 68, 1940–1943.doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005. 00624.x

- Galipeau, J., and Sensébé, L. (2018). Mesenchymal stromal cells: clinical challenges and therapeutic opportunities. *Cell Stem Cell* 22, 824–833.doi: 10.1016/j.stem. 2018.05.004
- Gil-Ortega, M., Fernández-Alfonso, M. S., Somoza, B., Casteilla, L., and Sengenès, C. (2014). Ex vivo microperfusion system of the adipose organ: a new approach to studying the mobilization of adipose cell populations. *Int. J. Obes. (Lond.)* 38, 1255–1262.doi: 10.1038/ijo.2013.243
- Gil-Ortega, M., Garidou, L., Barreau, C., Maumus, M., Breasson, L., Tavernier, G., et al. (2013). Native adipose stromal cells egress from adipose tissue in vivo: evidence during lymph node activation. *Stem Cells* 31, 1309–1320.doi: 10.1002/ stem.1375
- Gimble, J. M., and Guilak, F. (2003). Differentiation potential of adipose derived adult stem (ADAS) cells. *Curr. Top. Dev. Biol.* 58, 137–160. doi: 10.1016/s0070-2153(03)58005-x
- Girousse, A., Gil-Ortega, M., Bourlier, V., Bergeaud, C., Sastourné-Arrey, Q., Moro, C., et al. (2019). The release of adipose stromal cells from subcutaneous adipose tissue regulates ectopic intramuscular adipocyte deposition. *Cell Rep.* 27, 323–333.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.03.038
- Golebiewska, E. M., and Poole, A. W. (2015). Platelet secretion: from haemostasis to wound healing and beyond. *Blood Rev.* 29, 153–162.doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2014. 10.003
- Gould, S. J., Booth, A. M., and Hildreth, J. E. K. (2003). The Trojan exosome hypothesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 10592–10597.doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1831413100
- Han, M., Watts, J. A., Jamshidi–Parsian, A., Nadeem, U., Siegel, E. R., Zharov, V. P., et al. (2020). Lymph liquid biopsy for detection of cancer stem cells. *Cytometry Part A* doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.24221. [Epub ahead of print].
- He, Q., Wan, C., and Li, G. (2007). Concise review: multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells in blood. *Stem Cells* 25, 69–77.doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2006-0335
- Heeke, S., Mograbi, B., Alix-Panabières, C., and Hofman, P. (2019). Never travel alone: the crosstalk of circulating tumor cells and the blood microenvironment. *Cells* 8:714.doi: 10.3390/cells8070714
- Hénon, P. (2020). Key success factors for regenerative medicine in acquired heart diseases. Stem Cell Rev. Rep. 16, 441–458.doi: 10.1007/s12015-020-09961-0
- Hepler, C., Shan, B., Zhang, Q., Henry, G. H., Shao, M., Vishvanath, L., et al. (2018). Identification of functionally distinct fibro-inflammatory and adipogenic stromal subpopulations in visceral adipose tissue of adult mice. *Elife* 7:e39636. doi: 10.7554/eLife.39636
- Hoogduijn, M. J., Verstegen, M. M. A., Engela, A. U., Korevaar, S. S., Roemelingvan Rhijn, M., Merino, A., et al. (2014). No evidence for circulating mesenchymal stem cells in patients with organ injury. *Stem Cells Dev.* 23, 2328–2335.doi: 10.1089/scd.2014.0269
- Hou, D., Youssef, E. A.-S., Brinton, T. J., Zhang, P., Rogers, P., Price, E. T., et al. (2005). Radiolabeled cell distribution after intramyocardial, intracoronary, and interstitial retrograde coronary venous delivery: implications for current clinical trials. *Circulation* 112, 1150–1156. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 104.526749
- Hu, C., Yong, X., Li, C., Lü, M., Liu, D., Chen, L., et al. (2013). CXCL12/CXCR4 axis promotes mesenchymal stem cell mobilization to burn wounds and contributes to wound repair. J. Surg. Res. 183, 427–434.doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2013.01.019
- Huet, E., Jaroz, C., Nguyen, H. Q., Belkacemi, Y., de la Taille, A., Stavrinides, V., et al. (2019). Stroma in normal and cancer wound healing. *FEBS J.* 286, 2909–2920.doi: 10.1111/febs.14842
- Jones, E., and Schäfer, R. (2015). Biological differences between native and cultured mesenchymal stem cells: implications for therapies. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1235, 105–120.doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-1785-3_10
- Jones, E. A., English, A., Kinsey, S. E., Straszynski, L., Emery, P., Ponchel, F., et al. (2006). Optimization of a flow cytometry-based protocol for detection and phenotypic characterization of multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells from human bone marrow. *Cytometry B Clin. Cytom.* 70, 391–399.doi: 10.1002/cyto. b.20118
- Keating, A. (2012). Mesenchymal stromal cells: new directions. Cell Stem Cell 10, 709–716.doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.05.015
- Koh, Y. J., Kang, S., Lee, H. J., Choi, T. S., Lee, H. S., Cho, C. H., et al. (2007). Bone marrow-derived circulating progenitor cells fail to transdifferentiate into

adipocytes in adult adipose tissues in mice. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 3684-3695. doi: 10.1172/jci32504

- Kolonin, M. G. (2012). Progenitor cell mobilization from extramedullary organs. Methods Mol. Biol. 904, 243–252.doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-943-3_20
- Koning, J. J., Kooij, G., de Vries, H. E., Nolte, M. A., and Mebius, R. E. (2013). Mesenchymal stem cells are mobilized from the bone marrow during inflammation. *Front. Immunol.* 4:49. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00049
- Krankel, N., Spinetti, G., Amadesi, S., and Madeddu, P. (2011). Targeting stem cell niches and trafficking for cardiovascular therapy. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 129, 62–81.doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2010.10.002
- Kumar, S., and Ponnazhagan, S. (2012). Mobilization of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in vivo augments bone healing in a mouse model of segmental bone defect. *Bone* 50, 1012–1018.doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2012.01.027
- Langer, H. F., Stellos, K., Steingen, C., Froihofer, A., Schönberger, T., Krämer, B., et al. (2009). Platelet derived bFGF mediates vascular integrative mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 47, 315–325.doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2009.03.011
- Lazarus, H. M., Haynesworth, S. E., Gerson, S. L., and Caplan, A. I. (1997). Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal (stromal) progenitor cells (MPCs) cannot be recovered from peripheral blood progenitor cell collections. *J. Hematother.* 6, 447–455.doi: 10.1089/scd.1.1997.6.447
- Li, X., Ling, W., Khan, S., and Yaccoby, S. (2012). Therapeutic effects of intrabone and systemic mesenchymal stem cell cytotherapy on myeloma bone disease and tumor growth. J. Bone Miner. Res. 27, 1635–1648.doi: 10.1002/jbmr.1620
- Lindskog, C. (2015). The potential clinical impact of the tissue-based map of the human proteome. *Expert Rev. Proteomics* 12, 213–215. doi: 10.1586/14789450. 2015.1040771
- Liu, Y., Yang, X., Jing, Y., Zhang, S., Zong, C., Jiang, J., et al. (2015). Contribution and mobilization of mesenchymal stem cells in a mouse model of carbon tetrachloride-induced liver fibrosis. *Sci. Rep.* 5:17762. doi: 10.1038/srep17762
- Mansilla, E., Marin, G. H., Drago, H., Sturla, F., Salas, E., Gardiner, C., et al. (2006). Bloodstream cells phenotypically identical to human mesenchymal bone marrow stem cells circulate in large amounts under the influence of acute large skin damage: new evidence for their use in regenerative medicine. *Transplant. Proc.* 38, 967–969. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2006.02.053
- Margolis, L., and Sadovsky, Y. (2019). The biology of extracellular vesicles: the known unknowns. PLoS Biol. 17:e3000363. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000363
- Marketou, M. E., Parthenakis, F. I., Kalyva, A., Pontikoglou, C., Maragkoudakis, S., Kontaraki, J. E., et al. (2014). Increased mobilization of mesenchymal stem cells in patients with essential hypertension: the effect of left ventricular hypertrophy. J. Clin. Hypertens. (Greenwich) 16, 883–888. doi: 10.1111/jch.12426
- Marketou, M. E., Parthenakis, F. I., Kalyva, A., Pontikoglou, C., Maragkoudakis, S., Kontaraki, J. E., et al. (2015). Circulating mesenchymal stem cells in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Cardiovasc. Pathol.* 24, 149–153. doi: 10. 1016/j.carpath.2015.02.005
- Massberg, S., Schaerli, P., Knezevic-Maramica, I., Köllnberger, M., Tubo, N., Ashley Moseman, E., et al. (2007). Physiological recirculation of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells through blood, lymph and extramedullary tissues. *Cell* 131, 994–1008. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.09.047
- Maumus, M., Peyrafitte, J.-A., D'Angelo, R., Fournier-Wirth, C., Bouloumié, A., Casteilla, L., et al. (2011). Native human adipose stromal cells: localization, morphology and phenotype. *Int. J. Obes. (Lond.)* 35, 1141–1153. doi: 10.1038/ ijo.2010.269
- Maximow, A. A. (1928). Cultures of blood leucocytes; from lymphocyte and monocyte to connective tissue. *Arch. Exp. Zellforsch.* 5, 169–268.
- Nieswandt, B., Hafner, M., Echtenacher, B., and Männel, D. N. (1999). Lysis of tumor cells by natural killer cells in mice is impeded by platelets. *Cancer Res.* 59, 1295–1300.
- Ode, A., Kopf, J., Kurtz, A., Schmidt-Bleek, K., Schrade, P., Kolar, P., et al. (2011). CD73 and CD29 concurrently mediate the mechanically induced decrease of migratory capacity of mesenchymal stromal cells. *Eur. Cells Mater.* 22, 26–42.
- Ojeda-Uribe, M., Brunot, A., Lenat, A., and Legros, M. (1993). Failure to detect spindle-shaped fibroblastoid cell progenitors in PBPC collections. *Acta Haematol.* 90, 139–143. doi: 10.1159/000204395
- Parekkadan, B., and Milwid, J. M. C. (2010). Mesenchymal stem cells as therapeutics. Ann. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 12, 87–117. doi: 10.1146/annurev-bioeng-070909-105309

- Pittenger, M. F., Discher, D. E., Péault, B. M., Phinney, D. G., Hare, J. M., and Caplan, A. I. (2019). Mesenchymal stem cell perspective: cell biology to clinical progress. NPJ Regen. Med. 4:22. doi: 10.1038/s41536-019-0083-6
- Platt, A. M., and Randolph, G. J. (2013). "Cellular composition of lymph," in Immunology of the Lymphatic System, ed. L. Santambrogio (New York, NY: Springer), 53–64. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-3235-7_4
- Qian, H., Le Blanc, K., and Sigvardsson, M. (2012). Primary mesenchymal stem and progenitor cells from bone marrow lack expression of CD44 protein. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 25795–25807. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.339622
- Rebolj, K., Veber, M., Drobniè, M., and Malièev, E. (2018). Hematopoietic stem cell and mesenchymal stem cell population size in bone marrow samples depends on patient's age and harvesting technique. *Cytotechnology* 70, 1575–1583. doi: 10.1007/s10616-018-0250-4
- Rege, T. A., and Hagood, J. S. (2006). Thy-1 as a regulator of cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions in axon regeneration, apoptosis, adhesion, migration, cancer, and fibrosis. *FASEB J.* 20, 1045–1054. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-5460rev
- Roufosse, C. A., Direkze, N. C., Otto, W. R., and Wright, N. A. (2004). Circulating mesenchymal stem cells. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 36, 585–597. doi: 10.1016/j. biocel.2003.10.007
- Santambrogio, L. (2018). "Chapter four the lymphatic fluid," in *International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology*, ed. L. Galluzzi (Cambridge, MA: Academic Press), 111–133. doi: 10.1016/bs.ircmb.2017.12.002
- Scadden, D. T. (2012). Rethinking stroma: lessons from the blood. Cell Stem Cell 10, 648–649. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.05.011
- Schreier, S., and Triampo, W. (2020). The blood circulating rare cell population. What is it and what is it good for? *Cells* 9:790. doi: 10.3390/cells9040790
- Schwarz, S., Huss, R., Schulz-Siegmund, M., Vogel, B., Brandau, S., Lang, S., et al. (2014). Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells migrate to healthy and damaged salivary glands following stem cell infusion. *Int. J. Oral Sci.* 6, 154–161. doi: 10.1038/ijos.2014.23
- Sengenès, C., Lolmède, K., Zakaroff-Girard, A., Busse, R., and Bouloumié, A. (2005). Preadipocytes in the human subcutaneous adipose tissue display distinct features from the adult mesenchymal and hematopoietic stem cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 205, 114–122. doi: 10.1002/jcp.20381
- Sheriff, L., Alanazi, A., Ward, L. S. C., Ward, C., Munir, H., Rayes, J., et al. (2018). Origin-specific adhesive interactions of mesenchymal stem cells with platelets influence their behavior after infusion. *Stem Cells* 36, 1062–1074. doi: 10.1002/ stem.2811
- Silverthon, D., Ober, W., Garrison, C., Silverthon, A., and Johnson, B. (2009). *Human Physiology: An Integrated Approach*, 7th Edn. San Francisco, CA: Pearson/Benjamin Cummings.
- Teo, G. S. L., Yang, Z., Carman, C. V., Karp, J. M., and Lin, C. P. (2015). Intravital imaging of mesenchymal stem cell trafficking and association with platelets and neutrophils. *Stem Cells* 33, 265–277. doi: 10.1002/stem.1848
- Tesfamariam, B. (2016). Involvement of platelets in tumor cell metastasis. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 157, 112–119. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2015.11.005
- Théry, C., Ostrowski, M., and Segura, E. (2009). Membrane vesicles as conveyors of immune responses. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 9, 581–593. doi: 10.1038/nri2567
- Thomou, T., Mori, M. A., Dreyfuss, J. M., Konishi, M., Sakaguchi, M., Wolfrum, C., et al. (2017). Adipose-derived circulating miRNAs regulate gene expression in other tissues. *Nature* 542, 450–455. doi: 10.1038/nature21365
- Uhlen, M., Oksvold, P., Fagerberg, L., Lundberg, E., Jonasson, K., Forsberg, M., et al. (2010). Towards a knowledge-based human protein Atlas. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 28, 1248–1250. doi: 10.1038/nbt1210-1248

- Valkenburg, K. C., de Groot, A. E., and Pienta, K. J. (2018). Targeting the tumour stroma to improve cancer therapy. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 15, 366–381. doi: 10.1038/s41571-018-0007-1
- Walter, S. G., Randau, T. M., Hilgers, C., Haddouti, E.-M., Masson, W., Gravius, S., et al. (2020). Molecular and functional phenotypes of human bone marrowderived mesenchymal stromal cells depend on harvesting techniques. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21:4382. doi: 10.3390/ijms21124382
- Wang, Y., Johnsen, H. E., Mortensen, S., Bindslev, L., Ripa, R. S., Haack-Sorensen, M., et al. (2006). Changes in circulating mesenchymal stem cells, stem cell homing factor, and vascular growth factors in patients with acute ST elevation myocardial infarction treated with primary percutaneous coronary intervention. *Heart* 92, 768–774. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2005.069799
- Ward, L. S. C., Sheriff, L., Marshall, J. L., Manning, J. E., Brill, A., Nash, G. B., et al. (2019). Podoplanin regulates the migration of mesenchymal stromal cells and their interaction with platelets. *J. Cell. Sci.* 132:jcs222067. doi: 10.1242/jcs. 222067
- Wexler, S. A., Donaldson, C., Denning-Kendall, P., Rice, C., Bradley, B., and Hows, J. M. (2003). Adult bone marrow is a rich source of human mesenchymal "stem" cells but umbilical cord and mobilized adult blood are not. *Br. J. Haematol.* 121, 368–374. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2003.04284.x
- Wojakowski, W., Kucia, M., KaÅomierski, M., Ratajczak, M. Z., and Tendera, M. (2008). Circulating progenitor cells in stable coronary heart disease and acute coronary syndromes: relevant reparatory mechanism? *Heart* 94, 27–33. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2006.103358
- Wolock, S. L., Krishnan, I., Tenen, D. E., Matkins, V., Camacho, V., Patel, S., et al. (2019). Mapping distinct bone marrow niche populations and their differentiation paths. *Cell Rep.* 28, 302–311.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.06. 031
- Wong, S. Y., and Hynes, R. O. (2006). Lymphatic or hematogenous dissemination: how does a metastatic tumor cell decide? *Cell Cycle* 5, 812–817.
- Xu, L., and Li, G. (2014). Circulating mesenchymal stem cells and their clinical implications. J. Orthop. Translat. 2, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jot.2013.11.002
- Zhang, Y., Daquinag, A., Traktuev, D. O., Amaya-Manzanares, F., Simmons, P. J., March, K. L., et al. (2009). White adipose tissue cells are recruited by experimental tumors and promote cancer progression in mouse models. *Cancer Res.* 69, 5259–5266.
- Zuk, P. A., Zhu, M., Mizuno, H., Huang, J., Futrell, J. W., Katz, A. J., et al. (2001). Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. *Tissue Eng.* 7, 211–228.
- Zvaifler, N. J., Marinova-Mutafchieva, L., Adams, G., Edwards, C. J., Moss, J., Burger, J. A., et al. (2000). Mesenchymal precursor cells in the blood of normal individuals. *Arthritis Res.* 2, 477–488. doi: 10.1186/ar130

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Girousse, Mathieu, Sastourné-Arrey, Monferran, Casteilla and Sengenès. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Macrophage Control of Incipient Bone Formation in Diabetic Mice

Miya Kang¹, Ghadeer Thalji², Chun-Chieh Huang¹, Sajjad Shirazi¹, Yu Lu¹, Sriram Ravindran¹ and Lyndon F. Cooper^{1*}

¹ Department of Oral Biology, College of Dentistry, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States, ² Department of Restorative Dentistry, College of Dentistry, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

Both soft and hard tissue wound healing are impaired in diabetes. Diabetes negatively impacts fracture healing, bone regeneration and osseointegration of endosseous implants. The complex physiological changes associated with diabetes often manifest in immunological responses to wounding and repair where macrophages play a prominent role in determining outcomes. We hypothesized that macrophages in diabetes contribute toward impaired osseous wound healing. To test this hypothesis, we compared osseous wound healing in the mouse calvaria defect model using macrophages from C57BL/6J and db/db mice to direct osseous repair in both mouse strains. Initial analyses revealed that db/db mice macrophages showed an inflamed phenotype in its resting state. Incipient bone regeneration evaluated by μ CT indicated that bone regeneration was relatively impaired in the db/db mouse calvaria and in the calvaria of C57BL/6J mice supplemented with db/db macrophages. Furthermore, osteogenic differentiation of mouse mesenchymal stem cells was negatively impacted by conditioned medium from db/db mice compared to C57BL/6J mice. Moreover, miR-Seq analysis revealed an altered miRNA composition in db/db macrophages with up regulated pro-inflammatory miRNAs and down regulated anti-inflammatory miRNAs. Overall, this study represents a direct step toward understanding macrophage-mediated regulation of osseous bone regeneration and its impairment in type 2 diabetes mellitus.

Antonio Salgado,

OPEN ACCESS

University of Minho, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Edited by:

Toshiyuki Yamane, Mie University, Japan Kent Leach, University of California, Davis, United States Jeroen JJP van den Beucken, Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Lyndon F. Cooper cooperlf@uic.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

Received: 19 August 2020 Accepted: 15 December 2020 Published: 25 January 2021

Citation:

Kang M, Thalji G, Huang C-C, Shirazi S, Lu Y, Ravindran S and Cooper LF (2021) Macrophage Control of Incipient Bone Formation in Diabetic Mice. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 8:596622. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.596622 Keywords: osteogenesis, db/db mouse, macrophage, bone regeneartion, type 2 diabetes mellitus

INTRODUCTION

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a chronic disease of growing prevalence worldwide that has broad and severe systemic consequences (Geiss et al., 2014; IDF Diabetes Atlas, 2020). The impact of altered insulin secretion and insulin resistance on the health of individuals has far-reaching implications that are frequently highlighted by cutaneous ulcers, heart disease, and kidney failure. Elevated inflammation is associated with and, in part, contributory to this pathology (Daryabor et al., 2020). T2DM also influences bone physiology. This is evidenced with respect to bone remodeling and increased risk of bone fractures (Fan et al., 2016), by altered bone density, reduced bone turnover (Reyes-García et al., 2013), and reduced bone repair and regeneration (Follak et al., 2005; Hu et al., 2018). While studies indicate that T2DM influences osteoclastogenesis (Kasahara et al., 2010), hyperglycemia associated with T2DM can influence osteoblastic differentiation (Phimphilai et al., 2017) to affect bone healing (Bhamb et al., 2019). In a human clinical study

using T2DM and body mass index (BMI)-matched control subjects, peripheral blood osteoblastic precursors were significantly reduced in T2DM subjects (P = 0.0007) (Sassi et al., 2018). Human osteoblastic cell cultures obtained from hip fracture patients demonstrated that T2DM patients showed marked reduction in *RUNX2* and *OSTERIX* gene expression when exposed to high glucose (Miranda et al., 2016). The impact of diabetes on osteoblast function and the related altered inflammatory signaling remains a central focus of attention.

Several possible mechanisms have been explored concerning how T2DM influences bone physiology, quality, and function. Included are the roles of insulin resistance, enhanced marrow adiposity, formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs), increased reactive oxygen species, and altered inflammatory factors (Jiao et al., 2015; Chiodini et al., 2020). In T2DM associated with obesity, there is chronic low-grade inflammation and accumulation of pro-inflammatory cells in visceral fat and inflammatory stimulation of tissue macrophages (Wensveen et al., 2015). In fact, the secretion of inflammatory cytokines by multiple cell types is strongly implicated in the inflammatory pathogenesis associated with T2DM (Nikolajczyk et al., 2011). Macrophages are central regulators of inflammation and secrete many of the proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines that direct the inflammatory effects observed in T2DM. They are further required for regulation of wound healing that is well-known to be diminished in T2DM. In cutaneous wounds of diabetic mice, there is increased accumulation of macrophages and sustained accumulation of inflammatory macrophages. The macrophages of diabetic mice are M1-like macrophages, further suggesting an elevated inflammatory phenotype that may impair the regenerative phase of wound healing (Barman and Koh, 2020). The T2DM-associated alteration in macrophage phenotype may also play a role in the regulation of bone repair and regeneration.

Several studies implicate macrophages and their polarization in the regulation of bone regeneration. This may result from the induction of an M2 or wound healing macrophage phenotype (Shi et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018; Bai et al., 2020). When M2 macrophage-derived extracellular vesicles (EVs) were added to rat calvarial defects within a collagen scaffold, bone healing was increased at 3 and 6 weeks compared to naïve macrophages or M1 EVs (Kang et al., 2020). Given the impact of T2DM on macrophage phenotype and the role that macrophages play in modulating osteogenesis, it is possible that macrophages contribute to the pathophysiology of impaired bone regeneration in T2DM. While several mouse models are available for T2DMrelated research including chemical induction of T2DM (King, 2012), the db/db mouse model has been studied with respect to post-natal bone regeneration and serves as a good model for T2DM. Both ectopic osteogenesis and fracture repair have been studied. Delayed mesenchymal osteogenesis and impaired microvascularization were observed (Roszer et al., 2014). In this report, the effect of macrophages on calvarial bone repair was examined in the db/db mouse to investigate the effects of T2DM on bone regeneration.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Isolation of Bone Marrow-Derived Macrophages

Bone marrow-derived macrophages were isolated from 6-weekold C57BL/6J wild-type (WT) mice (The Jackson Laboratory) and BKS.Cg-Dock7^m+/+Lepr^{db}/J db/db (DB) mice (The Jackson Laboratory) as described in Mirza et al. (2013). Briefly, bone marrow cells were flushed out of the mouse femur and tibia and passed through a 40-µm cell strainer. The cells were seeded in 100-mm culture dishes and cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Gibco) containing 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco) and 1% antibiotic-antimycotic solution (Gibco). WT macrophages and DB macrophages were obtained by adding 20 ng/ml of recombinant murine M-CSF (PeproTech) into the DMEM growth medium for 7 days. The macrophages were detached by gently pipetting ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing 5% FBS across the dish followed by incubation at 4°C for 10 min. The cells were then centrifuged at $300 \times g$ for 5 min and resuspended in DMEM growth medium for further experiments. For inflammatory stimuli to be induced, macrophages were treated with 100 ng/ml of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) for 24 h.

Flow Cytometry

WT and DB macrophages were preincubated with rat monoclonal [93] TruStain FcXTM anti-CD16/CD32 antibody (101320, BioLegend) to block the Fc receptor prior to further staining. Cell surface antigens were labeled with rat monoclonal [D7] PE/Cyanine7 anti-mouse Ly-6A/E (Sca-1) antibody (108114, BioLegend), rat monoclonal [1A8] Alexa Fluor[®] 647 anti-mouse Ly-6 antibody (127610, BioLegend), and rat monoclonal [BM8] PE anti-mouse F4/80 antibody (123110, BioLegend). Samples were subjected to analysis using a Gallios flow cytometer and Kaluza software.

Immunocytochemistry

WT and DB macrophages were seeded in 12-well culture dishes and incubated for 18 h at 37°C in 5% CO2 for immunocytochemistry staining. The coverslips were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 15 min, permeabilized using 0.1% Triton X-100 (Fisher Scientific) for 10 min, and blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 1h at room temperature. Following incubation with rat monoclonal [CI:A3-1] anti-F4/80 antibody (1/100, ab6640, Abcam), rabbit monoclonal anti-inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) antibody (1/100, ab15323, Abcam), rabbit monoclonal anti-mannose receptor (CD206) antibody (1/100, ab64693, Abcam), mouse monoclonal [3A6] anti-interleukin-1 beta (IL-1β) antibody (1/100, 12242, Cell Signaling), and mouse monoclonal [AC-15] anti-beta actin antibody (1/1,000, NB600-501, Novus Biologicals) overnight at 4°C, cells were then treated with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)- and tetramethylrhodamine (TRITC)conjugated secondary antibodies (1/1,000, Sigma) for 1 h at room temperature. Cells were imaged using a Zeiss LSM 710 Meta confocal microscope. For quantification of iNOS and IL-1β staining, ImageJ software was used to calculate the fluorescence
intensity. The values were presented as normalized fluorescence intensity divided by the number of nuclei per field (n = 4 per group).

qRT PCR

Total RNA was isolated using an RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) as per the manufacturer's protocol. The RNA concentration was measured using NanoDrop One. After first-strand cDNA synthesis was completed, gene-specific primers (**Table 1**) were used to direct PCR amplification and SYBR Green probe incorporation using a Bio-Rad CFX96 thermocycler. All expression data were normalized to housekeeping genes GAPDH, and fold change was calculated using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method (n = 4 per group).

Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

Cell culture supernatants were collected from WT and DB macrophages and centrifuged at 1,500 rpm for 10 min. The supernatants were then subjected to an ELISA for detection of cytokine secretion. Mouse IL-6 ELISA kit (Invitrogen) and mouse tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) ELISA kit (Invitrogen) were used per the manufacturer's protocol. The protein concentration of the culture supernatant was measured using a BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and an equal amount of protein was added to each well. The absorbance was measured at 450 nm, and values were presented as concentration in pg/ml according to the standard curve (n = 3 per group).

Phagocytosis Assay

Phagocytic activity of WT and DB macrophages were compared using a VybrantTM Phagocytosis Assay Kit (Invitrogen) as per the manufacturer's recommended protocol. Briefly, WT and DB macrophages were seeded onto 96-well culture dishes (1 \times 10⁵ cells per well, n = 5 per group). The cells were incubated with fluorescently labeled *Escherichia coli* particles for 2 h and stained with trypan blue. The phagocytosis activity was quantitated by following the internalization of the fluorescent bioparticles, and the relative fluorescence units (RFUs) were measured at 480 nm using a fluorescence plate reader (BioTek plate reader).

Mouse Calvarial Bone Defect Model

Mid-skull transcortical defects were created in 8-week-old mice using a 3.5-mm trephine dental drill. All the defects were filled with collagen scaffolds (BioPlug, BioHorizons). In the experimental groups, scaffolds were populated with 1×10^6 of either WT macrophages (DB+wtMO group) or DB macrophages (WT+dbMO group) per defect. An equivalent volume of PBS was added in the scaffolds of WT and DB groups as a shamtreated control.

After 4 weeks, the mice were sacrificed by carbon dioxide asphyxiation followed by cervical dislocation. The calvariae were harvested, fixed in neutral buffered 4% PFA, and subjected to 3D μ CT analysis using a Scanco40 μ CT scanner. The μ CT scanner data were analyzed using a custom-built Matlab program. All procedures were performed according to animal protocols

approved by the Animal Care Committee of the Office of Animal Care and Institutional Biosafety (OACIB) of the University of Illinois at Chicago.

Histology and Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

The calvariae were decalcified in 10% EDTA solution, embedded in paraffin, and sectioned into 5- to 10- μ m sections. Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining was performed as per previously published protocols (Huang et al., 2020).

For immunofluorescent staining, the slides were pre-treated with 5% BSA blocking buffer for 1h at room temperature and stained for osteomarkers and macrophage-specific antigens using mouse monoclonal [65529.111] anti-bone morphogenetic protein 2 (BMP2) antibody (1/100, ab6285, Abcam), mouse monoclonal [OCG3] anti-osteocalcin (OCN) antibody(1/100, ab13420, Abcam), rabbit monoclonal anti-iNOS antibody (1/100, ab15323, Abcam), rabbit monoclonal anti-CD206 antibody (1/100, ab64693, Abcam), and mouse monoclonal [3A6] anti-IL-1β antibody (1/100, 12242, Cell Signaling). Sections were then stained with anti-mouse FITC and anti-rabbit TRITC secondary antibodies (1/200, Sigma), imaged using Zeiss LSM 710 laser scanning confocal microscope equipped with Zen image analysis software. For a vascular marker, sections were stained with rabbit polyclonal anti-CD31 antibody (1/100, ab28364, Abcam) and peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody. ImageJ was used to measure positive immunostained cell number or % area per field (n = 4 per group). The positive cell number of iNOS and CD206 was divided by the number of nuclei per field.

Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP) Assay

Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) were purchased from Lonza. hMSCs (5 \times 10⁴ cells per well) were seeded in 12-well tissue culture plates and cultured in α MEM (Gibco) containing 20% FBS, 1% antibiotic–antimycotic solution, and 1% L-glutamine (Gibco). Osteogenic differentiation was induced by culturing the cells in α MEM growth medium containing 100 μ g/ml of ascorbic acid (Sigma), 10 mM β -glycerophosphate (Sigma), and 10 mM dexamethasone (Sigma) for 5 days.

For preparation of conditioned medium, WT and DB macrophages were seeded into T-25 tissue culture flasks (3×10^6 cells per flask) in DMEM growth medium containing 20 ng/ml of M-SCF overnight. The cells were washed in growth medium and cultured under DMEM-1% FBS condition for 48 h. The culture medium was then harvested and centrifuged at 3,000 × g for 15 min to remove cell debris and added to the hMSCs at an osteogenic medium (OS)-to-CM ratio of 1:1.

hMSCs cultured in osteogenic medium were collected from each well at day 1 and 5. ALP activity was quantified using Alkaline Phosphatase Assay Kit (Abcam) by measuring *p*nitrophenyl (*p*NP) based on the spectrophotometric absorbance at 405 nm. The fold change of ALP activity at day 5 was calculated with respect to the relative enzymatic activity of day 1. TABLE 1 | Primer pairs used for qRT PCR.

Genes	Forward (5'-3')	Reverse (5′-3′)	Size (bp)		
GAPDH	AGGTCGGTGTGAACGGAT TTG	GGGGTCGTTGATGGCAACA	123		
IL-1β	GCAACTGTTCCTGAACTCA ACT	ATCTTTTGGGGTCCGTCAACT			
IL-6	TAGTCCTTCCTACCCCAAT TTCC	TTGGTCCTTAGCCACTCCTTC	76		
TNFα	CAGGCGGTGCCTATGTCTC	CGATCACCCCGAAGTTCAG TAG	89		
IL-10	GCTCTTACTGACTGGCAT GAG	CGCAGCTCTAGGAGCATGTG	105		
BMP2	GGGACCCGCTGTCTTCTAGT	TCAACTCAAATTCGCTGAG GAC	154		
RUNX2	ATGCTTCATTCGCCTCACAAA	GCACTCACTGACTCGGTTGG	146		
OSX	ATGGCGTCCTCTCTGCTTG	TGAAAGGTCAGCGTATGGCTT	156		

miRNA Sequencing (miR-Seq) Analysis and Quantitative miRNA Expression in Macrophages

RNA isolation from WT and DB macrophages was performed using a miRNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) as per the manufacturer's protocol. miR-Seq libraries were constructed using a QIAseq miRNA Library Kit (Qiagen) and sequenced on a NovaSeq 6000 at the UIC Core Genomics Facility. Fastq files were generated with the bclfastq v1.88.4, and adapter sequences and low-quality sequences were removed. miRNAs were identified with BWA ALN.

For qRT PCR, the exact same amounts of miRNA from WT and DB macrophages were utilized to complete cDNA synthesis with a miScript II RT Kit (Qiagen). qRT PCR was performed using a miScript SYBR Green PCR Kit (Qiagen) with custom primer for miR-155-5p: 5'-GGGTTAATGCTAATTG TGATAGGGGT-3'. Relative miRNA expression levels were normalized to RNU6B, and fold change was calculated using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method (n = 4 per group).

Statistical Analysis

For experiments involving two groups, Student's *t*-test with a confidence interval of 95% was utilized. For the experiments involving comparison of more than two groups, one-way ANOVA was performed with a confidence interval of 95%, followed by pairwise comparisons using Tukey's *ad hoc* method (P < 0.05).

RESULTS

Resting State of WT and DB Macrophages

We first demonstrated that macrophages isolated from WT and DB mice were similar. Both WT and DB macrophages demonstrate similar surface antigen profiles representative of macrophages as assessed by flow cytometry at the level of Sca-1, Ly6G, and F4/80 (**Figure 1A**). We next analyzed the resting states of WT and DB macrophages at the level of prominent inflammatory mediator expression.

Immunocytochemistry qualitatively affirmed the expression of iNOS and IL-18 only in DB macrophages and of CD206 in both WT and DB macrophages (Figure 1B). Furthermore, quantitation of protein expression from immunocytochemical staining in WT and DB macrophages indicated elevated expression of iNOS and IL-1 β in the DB macrophages (Figures 1C,D). qRT PCR analysis quantitatively demonstrated the differences in the resting inflammatory states of the isolated WT and DB macrophages. Quantitative gene expression analysis of inflammatory cytokines showed that, when compared to WT macrophages, the DB macrophages possess significantly elevated proinflammatory cytokines including a higher expression of IL-1β (Figure 1E). ELISA for the other inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and TNF α indicated the reduced expression of IL-6 and an elevated presence of TNF α in the DB macrophages (Figure 1F). To observe if the phagocytic ability of the macrophages is altered, a phagocytosis assay was performed. Results presented in Figure 1G indicate a small albeit statistically significant reduction in the phagocytic activity of the DB macrophages.

To evaluate if the behavior of WT and DB macrophages is altered when stimulated for an inflammatory response, we treated both types of cells with *E. coli* LPS. Results presented in **Figure 2** demonstrate that DB macrophages show increased presence of IL-1 β when subjected to LPS stimulation (**Figures 2A,B**). They also show elevated gene expression levels of TNF α and IL-10 (**Figure 2C**). However, the gene expression levels of IL-1 β were less than that of WT macrophage, indicating that the elevated protein expression could be a result of a translationally controlled phenomenon.

Diabetic Macrophages Affect the Quality of Bone Regeneration

Macrophages are capable of modulating osteogenesis (Champagne et al., 2002; Sinder et al., 2015). We proceeded to investigate if incipient bone formation was affected by the DB macrophage phenotype. In the mouse calvarial defect model, we observed by quantitative µCT measurements that the incipient healing at 4 weeks significantly reduced in DB mice compared to WT mice (Figures 3A,B). When DB macrophages were introduced into the WT wound sites adherent to collagen scaffolds, they negatively impacted the healing of the WT mouse defects. Conversely, the introduction of WT macrophages into diabetic wounds improved healing. Together with the accompanying histological representation of absence of incipient bone formed in both the DB mouse and WT mouse treated with DB macrophages (Figure 3A), these results indicate that DB macrophages impair incipient bone formation. This impairment of osteogenesis in the DB mouse calvaria was partially reversed by the treatment of DB mouse calvarial defects with WT macrophages, further implying a role for the macrophages in the regulation of bone repair.

When the sections were probed with CD31 antibody for the presence of endothelial cells, all the groups showed reduced positive staining in the defect area compared to the WT control



FIGURE 1 | Characterization of WT and DB macrophages. (A) Flow cytometric analysis of Sca-1⁻/Ly6G⁻/F4/80⁺ cell population in macrophages isolated from WT and DB mice (wtMO and dbMO, respectively). (B) Immunocytochemistry of WT and DB macrophages for F4/80 (green), iNOS (green), CD206 (green), and IL-1 β (green). Scale bar represents 20 μ m in all images. (C,D) Normalized fluorescence intensity of iNOS and IL-1 β in immunocytochemistry images using ImageJ software. (E) Quantitative RT PCR of WT and DB macrophages for inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α , and IL-10). The data represent fold change in DB macrophages with respect to WT macrophages (n = 4). Note the significantly increased expression of IL-1 β in DB macrophages. (F) Quantification of IL-6 and TNF α in supernatants from WT and DB macrophages using ELISA (n = 3). (G) Phagocytosis assay with WT and DB macrophages (n = 5). The data represent RFUs. *Statistical significance (P < 0.05) calculated by Student's *t*-test.



FIGURE 2 | Response of WT and DB macrophages to inflammatory cytokine. (A) Representative confocal images of LPS-treated WT and DB macrophages (wtMO and dbMO, respectively), immunostained for IL-1 β (green). Scale bar represents 20 μ m in all images. (B) Normalized fluorescence intensity of IL-1 β in immunocytochemistry images (n = 4). (C) Quantitative RT PCR of WT and DB macrophages for IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α , and IL-10. The data represent fold change in LPS-treated WT and DB macrophages with respect to untreated WT macrophages (n = 4). *Statistical significance (P < 0.05) calculated by Student's *t*-test.

group (**Figure 3A**). Further, DB mouse calvarial regeneration is associated with reduced vascularization that was not overcome by the addition of WT macrophages in the collagen scaffolds.

To evaluate if the effect of macrophages was mediated by paracrine effects of the macrophage secretome, we performed an *in vitro* mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) differentiation assay in the presence of WT and DB macrophage-conditioned medium (wtCM and dbCM, respectively) and assessed ALP activity. Results presented in **Figure 3C** indicate that ALP activity increased when the MSCs were subjected to an osteogenic differentiation medium with respect to a growth medium. This increase remained unchanged in the presence of wtCM and was significantly reduced (by \sim 30%) in the presence of dbCM, indicating the negative effects of the DB macrophage secretome on MSC differentiation.

Further proof of macrophage-associated control of bone regeneration was obtained by IHC evaluation of two key osteogenic protein expressions, namely, BMP2, and OCN (**Figure 4A**). Comparative IHC staining of these proteins in wounds from the four groups of mice demonstrated the relatively low abundance of either protein in the DB mouse defects and WT defects treated with collagen containing DB macrophages



FIGURE 3 Diabetic macrophages affect the quality of bone regeneration. (A) Representative 3D μ CT images and light microscopic images of the demineralized and paraffin-embedded tissue sections of the mouse calvaria at 4 weeks post wounding stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) and 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) for CD31. WT, wild-type mice; DB, db/db mice; WT+dbMO, WT mice treated with DB macrophages; DB+wtMO, DB mice treated with WT macrophages. The black arrows represent newly formed bone in the H&E images and CD31-positive cells in DAB staining images. Scale bar represents 100 μ m in all images. (B) Volumetric quantitation of the 3D μ CT data (n = 6). The graph represents mean percentage bone volume regenerated to total volume of the defect \pm SD. (C) The fold change represents alkaline phosphatase (ALP) activity in hMSCs treated with osteogenic medium (OS), osteogenic medium with WT macrophage conditioned medium (OS+wtCM), and osteogenic medium with conditioned medium from DB macrophages (OS+dbCM) with respect to hMSCs in growth medium at day 5 (n = 3). *Statistical significance (P < 0.05) as measured by Tukey's *ad hoc* test post ANOVA.





(Figures 4B,C). This finding is aligned with the relative absence of incipient bone formation observed in the groups of DB mouse and DB mouse treated with WT macrophages. While BMP2 expression was not significantly improved by treatment of DB mouse defects with WT macrophages, OCN expression levels were significantly improved compared to DB group and the WT group treated with DB macrophages, indicating partial rescue of OCN expression.

Given the relative inflammatory nature of the isolated DB macrophages (Figures 1, 2), we sought to define the inflammatory status of macrophages in healing calvarial defects. Figure 5A illustrates the confocal microscopic evaluation of iNOS, IL-1β-positive (M1-like), and CD206 (M2-like) macrophages in healing the calvariae in the four treatment groups. The quantitation of expression of these proteins is represented in Figures 5B-D. The iNOS/CD206 (M1/M2) ratio was 4.56-fold in the DB group, whereas it was 0.45-fold in WT group treated with DB macrophages and 0.4-fold in DB group treated with WT macrophages with respect to the WT group. iNOS and IL-1β were present in significantly increased amounts in the DB group compared to the WT group. When WT macrophages were introduced into the DB mouse wounds, the expression levels of both iNOS and IL-1 β were significantly reduced, suggesting a reduction in inflammation in these groups. Conversely, when DB macrophages were added to WT defects, the expression levels of iNOS and IL-1β were increased. While the iNOS expression increase was not statistically significant, a significant increase in IL-1ß expression was observed. With respect to CD206, a marker for M2-like cells, DB mice displayed a reduced presence of this marker, and its expression increased with the addition of WT macrophages to DB wounds. Interestingly, the addition of DB macrophages to WT wounds dramatically increased the expression levels of this marker. Relatedly, the relative absence of CD206 staining in DB mouse calvarial defects suggests a reduced level of reparative macrophages that is associated with the absence of incipient bone repair in this group However, the treatment of either DB mouse calvarial defects with WT macrophages or WT defects with DB macrophages was associated with an increased number of CD206-positive cells at the defect sites of both types of animals. The introduction of WT macrophages to the diabetic wounds shifted this ratio toward normalcy and was associated with improved incipient bone repair. The diabetic bone defects showed impaired early healing that was associated with the presence of the inflammatory state of the macrophages and the altered ratio of inflammatory to reparative macrophages.

Possible Role of miRNA in the Function of WT and DB Macrophages

Our results indicated that the resting states of the WT and DB macrophages are varied and that their response to proinflammatory stimulus is different. To evaluate the possible role of miRNAs in WT and DB macrophages, we performed miR-Seq analysis of the two isolated cell types. The table presented in **Figure 6A** lists the top 25 most abundant miRNAs in DB macrophages and their expression levels in WT macrophages. Figure 6B lists the top 25 miRNAs in WT macrophages and their corresponding expression in DB macrophages. The green color coding denotes pro-inflammatory miRNA showing increased expression in DB macrophages compared to WT, and the red color coding denotes anti-inflammatory miRNA showing reduced expression in DB macrophages compared to WT. In addition to these miRNAs, we also evaluated the expression of miR-155-5p in WT and DB macrophages by qRT PCR and its change in the presence of LPS treatment. miR-155 is characterized as a master regulator of inflammation (Mahesh and Biswas, 2019), and we have demonstrated the role of exosomal miR-155 in bone repair. miR-155-5p was downregulated in resting DB macrophages (Figure 6C). However, upon LPS stimulation, DB macrophages showed a more robust increase in miR-155-5p compared to WT macrophages, indicating their propensity for an enhanced inflammatory response to stimuli.

DISCUSSION

T2DM is a disease of epidemic proportion affecting $\sim 10.5\%$ of the US population (34.2 million people in 2020) (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). It is characterized by impaired insulin secretion, glucose intolerance, and hyperglycemia (American Diabetes Association, 2010). As a result, multiple organ systems are affected and cause significant comorbidities. A common underlying sequela of T2DM is immune dysregulation and inflammation. In addition to changes in the T-cell compartment and reduction in regulatory T cells and NK cells, there is reported abnormal polarization of macrophages (Zhou et al., 2018). The alterations in immune cell function in T2DM may have subsequent effects on other tissues and generally manifest as challenges in wound healing (Barman and Koh, 2020). The DB macrophage displays a pro-inflammatory phenotype as shown above and suggests that this diabetes-related macrophage phenotype is involved in the modulation of bone repair. This may explain, in part, how engraftment of the DB macrophage impaired bone regeneration in WT mice.

This finding of reduced bone regeneration in DB mice and the finding that DB macrophages impair bone regeneration in WT mice are consistent with the existing evidence that bone healing is impaired in T2DM. A 2015 review indicated the increased risk of fracture in T2DM and suggests that the impairment of bone formation is associated with increased osteoblast apoptosis and reduced expression of osteoinductive factors (Marin et al., 2018). A more recent review has also highlighted the effect of T2DM on MSC differentiation leading to alterations in vascularization and increased number of adipocytes, which negatively impact bone regeneration (Cassidy et al., 2020).

The number of bone marrow MSCs is reduced in T2DM (Cassidy et al., 2020), suggesting a systemic role for heightened inflammation in bone regeneration. A differential gene expression study of blood from T2DM and non-diabetic patients revealed low bone morphogenetic protein 4 (*BMP4*), *BMP7*, and *RUNX2* expression in T2DM patients. Further, metformin was observed to enhance *BMP4* levels and osteogenic function of MSCs (Liang et al., 2020). Impaired bone repair in



diabetics, demonstrated in this model of bone repair in T2DM, may be influenced by reduced numbers or activity of MSCs in osteogenesis.

The db/db mouse model is a recognized model of T2DM. Previous studies of bone regeneration conducted in this model indicate that db/db mice display reduced bone repair (Wallner et al., 2015). For example, using a 1-mm unicortical defect, absence of bone regeneration was recovered by treating defects with syngeneic adipogenic stem cells (Wallner et al., 2016). While suggesting that bone regeneration was recovered by augmenting the number of osteoinductive stem cells, the tibia defects are not critical-sized defects, and potential paracrine effects of the implanted cells were not considered. Obesity does complicate the interpretation of studies with db/db mice. Obesity-related inflammation, however, does increase the pro-inflammatory phenotype of macrophages. While obesity is a comorbidity of diabetes, we did not intend for this work to explain obesitymediated effects on macrophage function in bone repair. To separate the effects of obesity from T2DM, further studies need to be performed wherein the effects observed in db/db mice are directly compared to those in non-diabetic obese mice. In this study, we isolated macrophages from DB mice and placed them in WT wounds. These WT animals were not obese and yet displayed altered healing when engrafted with DB macrophages. Based on these observations, we demonstrated that the macrophage of the DB mouse altered bone repair associated with their altered inflammatory status (M1/M2 ratios).

T2DM-related impairment of osteogenesis has been previously observed in the Zucker diabetic fatty (ZDF) rat calvarial model in which partial bone regeneration was observed at 8 weeks, but significantly reduced amounts of bone with reduced angiogenesis were found in critical-sized defects of the diabetic rat calvaria (Caliaperoumal et al., 2018). Separate studies in the ZDF rat indicate that osteoblastogenesis is suppressed in T2DM (Hamann et al., 2011). Not only are osteoblasts affected, osteoclastogenesis and osteoclast activity is also reduced in a rat model of T2DM (Hu et al., 2019). The early time point investigated in this study did not warrant a study of osteoclastogenesis. However, this serves as a limitation of this study, and further studies are required to ascertain the role of diabetic macrophages in osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption.

The macrophage is a known significant factor in T2DM pathophysiology. The monocyte/macrophage population contributes to chronic inflammation that impairs wound healing

Sequence	Number of Copies				Number of Copies		() () () () () () () () () () () () () (miR-155-5p
	DB macrophage	WT macrophage	DB/WT	Sequence	DB macrophage	WT macrophage	DB/WT	
mmu-let-7f-5p	239083.929	66709.58861	3.583951483	mmu-let-7i-5p	102569.829	102908.156	0.99671234	*
mmu-miR-21a-5p	196664.9278		6.349208624	mmu-let-7f-5p	239083.929	66709.58861	3.583951483	10 - *
mmu-miR-16-5p	195062.4482	50642.65328	3.851742268	mmu-miR-142a-3p	162927.3144	50966.24498	3.196769047	
mmu-miR-142a-3p	162927.3144		3.196769047	mmu-miR-16-5p	195062.4482	50642.65328	3.851742268	
mmu-let-7a-5p	114956.9339	31774.62236	3.617885135	mmu-miR-146a-5p	8993.139463	49882.34689	0.180287016	
mmu-miR-29a-3p	106418.1154	25926.6214	4.104588631	mmu-let-7a-5p	114956.9339	31774.62236	3.617885135	₽ 21 m '
mmu-let-7i-5p	102569.829	102908.156	0.99671234	mmu-miR-21a-5p	196664.9278	30974.71503	6.349208624	2 0 Martin Charles
mmu-miR-27b-3p	80009.92496	24798.70474	3.226375159	mmu-miR-29a-3p	106418.1154	25926.6214	4.104588631	with other out PS out
mmu-miR-342-3p	36210.30923	2815.926214	12.85911153	mmu-miR-27b-3p	80009.92496	24798.70474	3.226375159	4" 80 NOX NOX
mmu-miR-221-3p	33710.86468	17804.4855	1.893391678	mmu-miR-221-3p	33710.86468	17804.4855	1.893391678	410. 9.04
mmu-miR-34a-5p	27719.01392	7213.996537	3.842393571	mmu-let-7c-5p	25302.39537	17445.86828	1.450337408	
mmu-let-7c-5p	25302.39537	17445.86828	1.450337408	mmu-miR-223-3p	4298.534101	8689.64411	0.494673205	
mmu-miR-26a-5p	24744.60972	6532.4187	3.78797056	mmu-let-7b-5p	10313.19596	7270.479145	1.418502928	
mmu-miR-29b-3p	24253.35644	3571.34165	6.791105085	mmu-miR-34a-5p	27719.01392	7213.996537	3.842393571	
mmu-miR-29c-3p	19923.3213	2716.844991	7.333256541	mmu-miR-26a-5p	24744.60972	6532.4187	3.78797056	
mmu-miR-191-5p	17143.35456	893.7820484	19.18068794	mmu-miR-22-3p	8415.258323	6447.85256	1.305125737	
mmu-let-7j	15970.89129	3851.3881	4.146788348	mmu-miR-27a-3p	8285.588095	4279.583065	1.936073671	
mmu-miR-23a-3p	14491.2929	3460.427479	4.187717553	mmu-let-7g-5p	14350.21712	4216.000688	3.403751133	
mmu-let-7g-5p	14350.21712	4216.000688	3.403751133	mmu-miR-103-3p	11715.39956	4198.172379	2.790595169	
mmu-miR-30d-5p	12098.70747	2329.670914	5.19331181	mmu-miR-378a-3p	1723.459895	4063.434538	0.424138713	
mmu-miR-24-3p	11736.71708	1658.506071	7.0766802	mmu-let-7j	15970.89129	3851.3881	4.146788348	
mmu-miR-103-3p	11715.39956	4198.172379	2.790595169	mmu-let-7d-5p	7988.636485	3850.441464	2.074732614	
mmu-miR-125b-5p	11265.69507	3423.824225	3.290383596	mmu-miR-29b-3p	24253.35644	3571.34165	6.791105085	
mmu-let-7b-5p	10313.19596	7270.479145	1.418502928	mmu-miR-23a-3p	14491.2929	3460.427479	4.187717553	
mmu-miR-146a-5p	8993.139463	49882.34689	0.180267016	mmu-miR-125b-5p	11265.69507	3423.824225	3.290383596	

FIGURE 6 | miR-Seq analysis of WT and DB macrophages. (**A**) A list of the top 25 most abundant miRNAs in DB macrophages and their expression levels in WT macrophages. (**B**) Top 25 most abundant miRNAs in WT macrophages and their expression levels in DB macrophages. The pro-inflammatory miRNAs are highlighted in green, and anti-inflammatory miRNAs are highlighted in red. Note that the increased expression of pro-inflammatory miRNAs (miR-142a-3p, miR-342-3p, and miR-191-5p) and suppressed expression of anti-inflammatory miRNAs (miR-146a-5p, miR-223-3p, and miR-378a-3p) in DB macrophages compared to WT. (**C**) Quantitative RT PCR of WT macrophages (wtMO) and DB macrophages (dbMO) for miR-155-5p. The graph showing the expression level of miR-155-5p in WT and DB macrophages with or without LPS stimulation. Data represent mean fold change with respect to WT macrophage expression \pm SD (n = 4). Note the significant increase of miR-155-5p expression upon LPS treatment in DB macrophages (dbMO+LPS). *Statistical significance (P < 0.05) calculated by Tukey's *ad hoc* test post ANOVA.

and may reflect a greater number of macrophages and their dysregulation (Barman and Koh, 2020). Studies that deplete monocytes/macrophages from mice (clodronate treatment or MaFIA mice) demonstrate that the absence of macrophages impairs bone regeneration (Davison et al., 2014; Kaur et al., 2017). Based on the concept that macrophages are one of the primary regulators of wound healing, the present investigation involved the syngeneic transplantation of DB macrophages in WT wound that resulted in impaired osteogenesis. The larger number of macrophages and their relatively pro-inflammatory phenotype contributed to the reduction in bone repair in the WT mice when DB macrophages were implanted in them. Conversely, transplantation of WT macrophages into the DB mouse partially reconstituted the impaired regenerative process in these diabetic osseous wounds. We speculate that this partial restoration may be attributed to the reduction in the inflammatory status of the wound bed, resulting in altered M1/M2 ratios with an increase in the M2 macrophage population favoring bone repair.

While the results of this study are solely focused on the influence of diabetic macrophages (as indicated here by increased numbers of CD206-positive cells) in bone repair, as discussed previously, other effects of T2DM should also be considered. For example, the role of insulin resistance requires further investigation. A recent study identified that insulin resistance as a

result of T2DM negatively affects bone regeneration (Srikanthan et al., 2014). On the other hand, the anabolic role of insulin in bone formation has also been documented and reviewed (Thrailkill et al., 2005). This dichotomy is currently debated at molecular and mechanistic levels, and it would be interesting to investigate the role of macrophages in this process. We envision that the results presented here outlining the role of diabetic macrophages may serve as a starting point for such investigations.

In this large, critical-sized defect, islands of osteogenesis formed remotely from the bone surfaces populated by bonespecific macrophages termed osteomacs (Miron and Bosshardt, 2016; Batoon et al., 2017) are likely less influenced by these regulatory macrophages that form canopy structures above progenitor cells lining the bone surface. Circulating cells also contribute to wound healing, and studies in the parabiotic mouse model demonstrate the contribution of circulating cells to osteogenesis in fracture repair (Kumagai et al., 2008), indicating that large defects are populated by cells derived from the circulation. Here, as in other wounds, macrophages are likely derived from circulating monocytes (Rodero et al., 2014).

The implanted macrophages may exert their effects on osteoprogenitors in the local environment by both direct cell-cell and soluble factor signaling (Champagne et al., 2002; Pajarinen et al., 2019). ALP activity was reduced in differentiating MSCs in the presence of dbCM when compared to culture in the presence of wtCM. The measured differences in BMP2 and OCN expression further imply that the observed absence of incipient bone formation in the DB mice or in WT mice treated with DB macrophages is due, in part, to paracrine effects of the DB macrophage upon the osteoprogenitor cells. Factors secreted by macrophages and known to reduce OSTERIX and BMP2 expression include IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF α (Nakase et al., 1997). Of note, all these pro-inflammatory factors' gene expression was elevated in the DB macrophages relative to the WT macrophages, again suggesting that the macrophage phenotype of the DB mouse directly impairs osteoblastogenesis.

In addition to growth factors, cytokines, and chemokines, cells secrete exosomes [30- to 150-nm extracellular vesicles containing protein and miRNA cargo (Golchin et al., 2018)] that transfer their cargo as regulatory signals from parental to target cells. Exosomes serve as a carrier for miRNA from parental cells to target cells, and exosomal miRNAs are implicated as the primary effectors of exosome function (Huang et al., 2020). In a recent study, we have highlighted the role of macrophagederived exosomal miRNA in bone repair (Kang et al., 2020). In this manuscript, we have performed a miR-Seq analysis of the miRNA composition of macrophages from WT and DB mice. Of the top 25 most abundantly expressed miRNAs in the WT and DB macrophages, we have identified miRNA candidates that have proven roles in inflammation. Notably, our results indicate the upregulation of pro-inflammatory miRNAs (Wei et al., 2013; Gu et al., 2017; Mandolesi et al., 2017) and the downregulation of anti-inflammatory miRNAs in DB macrophages (Rückerl et al., 2012; Testa et al., 2017; Cheng et al., 2020; Kang et al., 2020), indicating that the transfer of miRNA via paracrine mechanisms may also play a role in macrophage-mediated control of bone repair. In addition to the miRNA presented in the table, we have also evaluated the changes in expression levels of miR-155. miR-155 is considered a master regulator of inflammation affecting the NLRP3 inflammasome pathway (Mahesh and Biswas, 2019). The stimulated macrophage expression of miR-155 in DB macrophages is greater when compared to WT macrophages, further indicating the sensitized pro-inflammatory state of the macrophage phenotype in DB mice. Further studies on the role of diabetic macrophage miRNAs and the paracrine role of these miRNAs via exosomes in relation to bone repair and in general tissue repair are warranted to understand this complex process in greater detail.

REFERENCES

- American Diabetes Association. (2010). Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care 33, S62–S69. doi: 10.2337/dc10-S062
- Bai, J., Wang, H., Chen, H., Ge, G., Wang, M., Gao, A., et al. (2020). Biomimetic osteogenic peptide with mussel adhesion and osteoimmunomodulatory functions to ameliorate interfacial osseointegration under chronic inflammation. *Biomaterials* 255:120197. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2020.120197
- Barman, P. K., and Koh, T. J. (2020). Macrophage dysregulation and impaired skin wound healing in diabetes. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 8:528. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.00528

CONCLUSION

The role of macrophages in the pathology of bone healing observed in diabetes was modeled in the DB mouse. Transfer of DB macrophages to WT mouse calvarial defects impaired incipient bone repair *in vivo* and affected M1/M2 ratios in the wound bed, and the macrophage-derived conditioned medium impaired ALP activity in differentiating MSCs *in vitro*, suggesting that the paracrine effects of macrophages on incipient osteogenesis may impair bone formation in the DB mouse. The partial restoration of incipient bone formation in the DB mouse by transfer of WT mouse macrophages to calvarial wounds further suggests that macrophages play an important role in the impairment of osteogenesis in diabetes. Targeting the inflammatory phenotype of the diabetic macrophage may provide an alternative therapeutic strategy to enhance bone repair in diabetic patients.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found at: BioProject ID PRJNA685165.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Animal Care Committee of the Office of Animal Care and Institutional Biosafety (OACIB) of the University of Illinois at Chicago (protocol number 20-020).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LC and MK conceived of the project and experimental design. MK, GT, C-CH, YL and SS contributed to the laboratory and animal experiments. LC, SR, and MK prepared this manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by NIH grant DE027404 (SR) and UL1TR002003 (LC) in support of the experiments presented.

- Batoon, L., Millard, S. M., Raggatt, L. J., and Pettit, A. R. (2017). Osteomacs and Bone Regeneration. *Curr. Osteoporos. Rep.* 15, 385–395. doi: 10.1007/s11914-017-0384-x
- Bhamb, N., Kanim, L. E. A., Maldonado, R. C., Nelson, T. J., Salehi, K., Glaeser, J. D., et al. (2019). The impact of type 2 diabetes on bone metabolism and growth after spinal fusion. *Spine J.* 19, 1085–1093. doi: 10.1016/j.spinee.2018.12.003
- Caliaperoumal, G., Souyet, M., Bensidhoum, M., Petite, H., and Anagnostou, F. (2018). Type 2 diabetes impairs angiogenesis and osteogenesis in calvarial defects: microCT study in ZDF rats. *Bone* 112, 161–172. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2018.04.009
- Cassidy, F. C., Shortiss, C., Murphy, C. G., Kearns, S. R., Curtin, W., De Buitléir, C., et al. (2020). Impact of type 2 diabetes mellitus on human bone marrow

stromal cell number and phenotypic characteristics. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21:2476. doi: 10.3390/ijms21072476

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2020). *National Diabetes Statistics Report.* Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Champagne, C. M., Takebe, J., Offenbacher, S., and Cooper, L. F. (2002). Macrophage cell lines produce osteoinductive signals that include bone morphogenetic protein-2. *Bone* 30, 26–31. doi: 10.1016/S8756-3282(01)00638-X
- Cheng, N., Liu, C., Li, Y., Gao, S., Han, Y.-C., Wang, X., et al. (2020). MicroRNA-223-3p promotes skeletal muscle regeneration by regulating inflammation in mice. J. Biol. Chem. 295, 10212–10223. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA119.012263
- Chiodini, I., Catalano, A., Gennari, L., and Gaudio, A. (2020). Osteoporosis and fragility fractures in type 2 diabetes. *J. Diabetes Res.* 2020:9342696. doi: 10.1155/2020/9342696
- Daryabor, G., Atashzar, M. R., Kabelitz, D., Meri, S., and Kalantar, K. (2020). The effects of type 2 diabetes mellitus on organ metabolism and the immune system. *Front. Immunol.* 11:1582. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01582
- Davison, N. L., Gamblin, A.-L., Layrolle, P., Yuan, H., de Bruijn, J. D., and Barrèrede Groot, F. (2014). Liposomal clodronate inhibition of osteoclastogenesis and osteoinduction by submicrostructured betatricalcium phosphate. *Biomaterials* 35, 5088–5097. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.03.013
- Fan, Y., Wei, F., Lang, Y., and Liu, Y. (2016). Diabetes mellitus and risk of hip fractures: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos. Int. 27, 219–228. doi: 10.1007/s00198-015-3279-7
- Follak, N., Klöting, I., and Merk, H. (2005). Influence of diabetic metabolic state on fracture healing in spontaneously diabetic rats. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 21, 288–296. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.537
- Geiss, L. S., Wang, J., Cheng, Y. J., Thompson, T. J., Barker, L., Li, Y., et al. (2014). Prevalence and incidence trends for diagnosed diabetes among adults aged 20 to 79 years, United States, 1980-2012. *JAMA*. 312, 1218–1226. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.11494
- Golchin, A., Hosseinzadeh, S., and Ardeshirylajimi, A. (2018). The exosomes released from different cell types and their effects in wound healing. J. Cell. Biochem. 119, 5043–5052. doi: 10.1002/jcb.26706
- Gu, Y., Ampofo, E., Menger, M. D., and Laschke, M. W. (2017). miR-191 suppresses angiogenesis by activation of NFkB signaling. FASEB J. 31, 3321–3333. doi: 10.1096/fj.201601263R
- Hamann, C., Goettsch, C., Mettelsiefen, J., Henkenjohann, V., Rauner, M., Hempel, U., et al. (2011). Delayed bone regeneration and low bone mass in a rat model of insulin-resistant type 2 diabetes mellitus is due to impaired osteoblast function. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 301, E1220–E1228. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00378.2011
- Hu, Z., Ma, C., Liang, Y., Zou, S., and Liu, X. (2019). Osteoclasts in bone regeneration under type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Acta Biomater*. 84, 402–413. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2018.11.052
- Hu, Z., Ma, C., Rong, X., Zou, S., and Liu, X. (2018). Immunomodulatory ECMlike microspheres for accelerated bone regeneration in diabetes mellitus. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 10, 2377–2390. doi: 10.1021/acsami.7b18458
- Huang, C.-C., Kang, M., Lu, Y., Shirazi, S., Diaz, J. I., Cooper, L. F., et al. (2020). Functionally engineered extracellular vesicles improve bone regeneration. *Acta Biomater*. 109, 182–184. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2020.04.017
- IDF Diabetes Atlas. (2020). Available online at: https://www.idf.org/elibrary/ epidemiology-research/diabetes-atlas/134-idf-diabetes-atlas-8th-edition.html (accessed August 16, 2020).
- Jiao, H., Xiao, E., and Graves, D. T. (2015). Diabetes and its effect on bone and fracture healing. *Curr. Osteoporos. Rep.* 13, 327–335. doi: 10.1007/s11914-015-0286-8
- Kang, M., Huang, C.-C., Lu, Y., Shirazi, S., Gajendrareddy, P., Ravindran, S., et al. (2020). Bone regeneration is mediated by macrophage extracellular vesicles. *Bone* 141:115627. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2020.115627
- Kasahara, T., Imai, S., Kojima, H., Katagi, M., Kimura, H., Chan, L., et al. (2010). Malfunction of bone marrow-derived osteoclasts and the delay of bone fracture healing in diabetic mice. *Bone* 47, 617–625. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2010.06.014
- Kaur, S., Raggatt, L. J., Batoon, L., Hume, D. A., Levesque, J.-P., and Pettit, A. R. (2017). Role of bone marrow macrophages in controlling homeostasis and repair in bone and bone marrow niches. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 61, 12–21. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2016.08.009

- King, A. J. F. (2012). The use of animal models in diabetes research. Br. J. Pharmacol. 166, 877–894. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.01911.x
- Kumagai, K., Vasanji, A., Drazba, J. A., Butler, R. S., and Muschler, G. F. (2008). Circulating cells with osteogenic potential are physiologically mobilized into the fracture healing site in the parabiotic mice model. J. Orthop. Res. 26, 165–175. doi: 10.1002/jor.20477
- Liang, C., Sun, R., Xu, Y., Geng, W., and Li, J. (2020). Effect of the abnormal expression of BMP-4 in the blood of diabetic patients on the osteogenic differentiation potential of alveolar BMSCs and the rescue effect of metformin: a bioinformatics-based study. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2020;7626215. doi: 10.1155/2020/7626215
- Mahesh, G., and Biswas, R. (2019). MicroRNA-155: a master regulator of inflammation. J. Interferon. Cytokine Res. 39, 321–330. doi: 10.1089/jir.2018.0155
- Mandolesi, G., De Vito, F., Musella, A., Gentile, A., Bullitta, S., Fresegna, D., et al. (2017). miR-142-3p is a key regulator of IL-1β-dependent synaptopathy in neuroinflammation. J. Neurosci. 37, 546–561. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0851-16.2016
- Marin, C., Luyten, F. P., Van der Schueren, B., Kerckhofs, G., and Vandamme, K. (2018). The impact of type 2 diabetes on bone fracture healing. *Front. Endocrinol.* 9:6. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00006
- Miranda, C., Giner, M., Montoya, M. J., Vázquez, M. A., Miranda, M. J., and Pérez-Cano, R. (2016). Influence of high glucose and advanced glycation endproducts (ages) levels in human osteoblast-like cells gene expression. *BMC Musculoskelet. Disord*. 17:377. doi: 10.1186/s12891-016-1228-z
- Miron, R. J., and Bosshardt, D. D. (2016). OsteoMacs: key players around bone biomaterials. *Biomaterials* 82, 1–19. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.12.017
- Mirza, R. E., Fang, M. M., Ennis, W. J., and Koh, T. J. (2013). Blocking interleukin-1β induces a healing-associated wound macrophage phenotype and improves healing in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 62, 2579–2587. doi: 10.2337/db12-1450
- Nakase, T., Takaoka, K., Masuhara, K., Shimizu, K., Yoshikawa, H., and Ochi, T. (1997). Interleukin-1 beta enhances and tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibits bone morphogenetic protein-2-induced alkaline phosphatase activity in MC3T3-E1 osteoblastic cells. *Bone* 21, 17–21. doi: 10.1016/S8756-3282(97)00038-0
- Nikolajczyk, B. S., Jagannathan-Bogdan, M., Shin, H., and Gyurko, R. (2011). State of the union between metabolism and the immune system in type 2 diabetes. *Genes Immun.* 12, 239–250. doi: 10.1038/gene.2011.14
- Pajarinen, J., Lin, T., Gibon, E., Kohno, Y., Maruyama, M., Nathan, K., et al. (2019). Mesenchymal stem cell-macrophage crosstalk and bone healing. *Biomaterials* 196, 80–89. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2017.12.025
- Phimphilai, M., Pothacharoen, P., Kongtawelert, P., and Chattipakorn, N. (2017). Impaired osteogenic differentiation and enhanced cellular receptor of advanced glycation end products sensitivity in patients with type 2 diabetes. J. Bone Miner. Metab. 35, 631–641. doi: 10.1007/s00774-016-0800-9
- Reyes-García, R., Rozas-Moreno, P., López-Gallardo, G., García-Martín, A., Varsavsky, M., Avilés-Perez, M. D., et al. (2013). Serum levels of bone resorption markers are decreased in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Acta Diabetol.* 50, 47–52. doi: 10.1007/s00592-011-0347-0
- Rodero, M. P., Licata, F., Poupel, L., Hamon, P., Khosrotehrani, K., Combadiere, C., et al. (2014). *In vivo* imaging reveals a pioneer wave of monocyte recruitment into mouse skin wounds. *PLoS ONE* 9:e108212. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0108212
- Roszer, T., Józsa, T., Kiss-Tóth, E. D., De Clerck, N., and Balogh, L. (2014). Leptin receptor deficient diabetic (db/db) mice are compromised in postnatal bone regeneration. *Cell Tissue Res.* 356, 195–206. doi: 10.1007/s00441-013-1768-6
- Rückerl, D., Jenkins, S. J., Laqtom, N. N., Gallagher, I. J., Sutherland, T. E., Duncan, S., et al. (2012). Induction of IL-4Rα-dependent microRNAs identifies PI3K/Akt signaling as essential for IL-4-driven murine macrophage proliferation *in vivo. Blood.* 120, 2307–2316. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-02-408252
- Sassi, F., Buondonno, I., Luppi, C., Spertino, E., Stratta, E., Di Stefano, M., et al. (2018). Type 2 diabetes affects bone cells precursors and bone turnover. *BMC Endocr. Disord.* 18:55. doi: 10.1186/s12902-018-0283-x
- Shi, M., Wang, C., Wang, Y., Tang, C., Miron, R. J., and Zhang, Y. (2018). Deproteinized bovine bone matrix induces osteoblast differentiation via macrophage polarization. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A* 106, 1236–1246. doi: 10.1002/jbm.a.36321

- Sinder, B. P., Pettit, A. R., and McCauley, L. K. (2015). Macrophages: their emerging roles in bone. J. Bone Miner. Res. 30, 2140–2149. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2735
- Srikanthan, P., Crandall, C. J., Miller-Martinez, D., Seeman, T. E., Greendale, G. A., Binkley, N., et al. (2014). Insulin resistance and bone strength: findings from the study of midlife in the United States. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 29, 796–803. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2083
- Testa, U., Pelosi, E., Castelli, G., and Labbaye, C. (2017). miR-146 and miR-155: two key modulators of immune response and tumor development. *Noncoding RNA* 3:22. doi: 10.3390/ncrna3030022
- Thrailkill, K. M., Lumpkin, C. K., Bunn, R. C., Kemp, S. F., and Fowlkes, J. L. (2005). Is insulin an anabolic agent in bone? dissecting the diabetic bone for clues. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 289, E735–E745. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00159.2005
- Wallner, C., Abraham, S., Wagner, J. M., Harati, K., Ismer, B., Kessler, L., et al. (2016). Local application of isogenic adipose-derived stem cells restores bone healing capacity in a type 2 diabetes model. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 5, 836–844. doi: 10.5966/sctm.2015-0158
- Wallner, C., Schira, J., Wagner, J. M., Schulte, M., Fischer, S., Hirsch, T., et al. (2015). Application of VEGFA and FGF-9 enhances angiogenesis, osteogenesis and bone remodeling in type 2 diabetic long bone regeneration. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0118823. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 18823
- Wang, J., Meng, F., Song, W., Jin, J., Ma, Q., Fei, D., et al. (2018). Nanostructured titanium regulates osseointegration via influencing macrophage polarization

in the osteogenic environment. Int. J. Nanomedicine 13, 4029-4043. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S163956

- Wei, Y., Nazari-Jahantigh, M., Chan, L., Zhu, M., Heyll, K., Corbalán-Campos, J., et al. (2013). The microRNA-342-5p fosters inflammatory macrophage activation through an Akt1- and microRNA-155– dependent pathway during atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 127, 1609–1619. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.000736
- Wensveen, F. M., Valentić S., Šestan, M., Turk Wensveen, T., and Polić B. (2015). The "Big Bang" in obese fat: Events initiating obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 45, 2446–2456. doi: 10.1002/eji.201545502
- Zhou, T., Hu, Z., Yang, S., Sun, L., Yu, Z., and Wang, G. (2018). Role of adaptive and innate immunity in type 2 diabetes mellitus. J. Diabetes Res. 2018:7457269. doi: 10.1155/2018/7457269

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Kang, Thalji, Huang, Shirazi, Lu, Ravindran and Cooper. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Eph-Ephrin Signaling Mediates Cross-Talk Within the Bone Microenvironment

Agnieszka Arthur^{1,2} and Stan Gronthos^{1,2*}

¹ Mesenchymal Stem Cell Laboratory, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, Adelaide Medical School, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ² Precision Medicine Theme, South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute, Adelaide, SA, Australia

Skeletal integrity is maintained through the tightly regulated bone remodeling process that occurs continuously throughout postnatal life to replace old bone and to repair skeletal damage. This is maintained primarily through complex interactions between bone resorbing osteoclasts and bone forming osteoblasts. Other elements within the bone microenvironment, including stromal, osteogenic, hematopoietic, endothelial and neural cells, also contribute to maintaining skeletal integrity. Disruption of the dynamic interactions between these diverse cellular systems can lead to poor bone health and an increased susceptibility to skeletal diseases including osteopenia, osteoporosis, osteoarthritis, osteomalacia, and major fractures. Recent reports have implicated a direct role for the Eph tyrosine kinase receptors and their ephrin ligands during bone development, homeostasis and skeletal repair. These membrane-bound molecules mediate contact-dependent signaling through both the Eph receptors, termed forward signaling, and through the ephrin ligands, referred to as reverse signaling. This review will focus on Eph/ ephrin cross-talk as mediators of hematopoietic and stromal cell communication, and how these interactions contribute to blood/ bone marrow function and skeletal integrity during normal steady state or pathological conditions.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Philippe Bourin, Independent Researcher, Toulouse, France

Reviewed by:

Agustin G. Zapata, Complutense University of Madrid, Spain Peter Warwick Janes, Monash University, Australia

*Correspondence:

Stan Gronthos stan.gronthos@adelaide.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Stem Cell Research, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology

> Received: 25 August 2020 Accepted: 15 January 2021 Published: 09 February 2021

Citation:

Arthur A and Gronthos S (2021) Eph-Ephrin Signaling Mediates Cross-Talk Within the Bone Microenvironment. Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 9:598612. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.598612 Keywords: bone marrow microenvironment, bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells, osteogenic differentiation, hematopoietic stem cells, osteoimmunology, vasculature, musculoskeletal pathology, Eph-ephrin communication

INTRODUCTION - THE CELLULAR COMPONENTS OF BONE MICROENVIRONMENT

The bone microenvironment provides cellular, molecular, and metabolic stimuli in an endocrine, paracrine and autocrine manner to regulate and maintain skeletal integrity, support hematopoiesis and regulate immune cell responses. The cellular components that reside within the bone microenvironment include endothelial cells, perivascular cells, neural cells, Schwann cells, and those of the mesenchymal and hematopoietic lineages. These populations contribute to specific stem cells niches located within the bone marrow and the bone to support and maintain hematopoiesis and osteogenesis (**Figure 1**) (Chan et al., 2015; Ramasamy et al., 2016; Crane et al., 2017). Hematopoiesis is sustained by hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) that give rise to the erythroid (erythrocytes, megakaryocytes, platelets), myeloid (basophil/ mast cells, eosinophils, neutrophils, dendritic cells, monocytes, macrophages and osteoclasts) and lymphoid (T-lymphocytes, B-lymphocytes and natural killer cells) lineages. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSC)

give rise to cells of the chondrogenic lineage (chondroprogenitors, proliferating, resting, pre-hypertrophic hypertrophic chondrocytes), and osteogenic lineage (osteoprogenitors, osteoblasts, bone lining cells, osteocytes), stromal cells, reticular cells, smooth muscle cells and adipocytes (Figure 1). Maintenance of the bone microenvironment under physiological or pathological conditions is dependent on interactions between the different cellular components, as well as their precise anatomical location within the skeleton. However, a better understanding of the numerous molecular interactions that mediate intercellular signaling and function within the bone microenvironment is required to help identify novel therapeutic strategies to treat musculoskeletal conditions. The present review describes the erythropoietin-producing human hepatocellular (Eph) receptor tyrosine kinase family and the Eph receptor interacting protein (ephrin) ligands (also termed Efn molecules) that are expressed by stromal, hematopoietic, and vascular populations and the function of Eph/ephrin molecules within the bone microenvironment.

OVERVIEW OF THE EPH-EPHRIN MOLECULES

The Eph family of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) and their ephrin ligands are contact-dependent, cell membrane-bound molecules expressed by invertebrates and vertebrate species. This family consists of two subclasses, the A subclass and



FIGURE 1 | The bone microenvironment. A schematic representation of the resident cells within the bone microenvironment during homeostasis. These cellular components include fibroblasts (fb), stroma, bone marrow stem cells (BMSC), osteoprogenitors (OP), obsteoblasts (OB), bone lining cells (BLC), osteocytes (Oty), the periosteum (P), nerves, Schwann cells (sc), nerve bundle (nb), arterioles (A), endothelial cells (E), Pericytes (Pr), CXCL12-abundant reticular cells (CAR), also known as Leptin Receptor+ mesenchymal stromal cells, adipocytes (Ad), hematopoietic stem cells (HSC), hematopoietic progenitor (HPC) cells, lymphoid progenitors (LP), monocytes (m), macrophage (mc) and osteoclasts (OC). These cells form specific niches to regulate haematopoiesis and osteogenesis and thus maintain skeletal integrity.

the B subclass, comprising 14 Eph receptors (EphA1-8 and EphA10 and EphB1-4 and EphB6) and eight ephrin ligands (ephrin-A1-A5 and ephrin-B1-B3) in humans (Kania and Klein, 2016; Nguyen et al., 2016a; Liang et al., 2019). The Eph-ephrin intercellular and intracellular signaling modalities, both catalytic and non-catalytic, are complex. The structure of these molecules, the size of the family, and the range of activation-dependent downstream effects all contribute to this complexity (Gale et al., 1996; Kania and Klein, 2016; Nguyen et al., 2016a; Liang et al., 2019).

It is important to note that there is promiscuous binding within subclasses, where multiple EphA receptors bind with differing affinity to cognate ephrin-A ligands and EphB receptors bind with ephrin-B ligands. The Eph receptors of both subclasses are predominantly structurally conserved, with the extracellular region consisting of the globular ligand binding domain, a cysteine-rich region, encompassing the Sushi and epidermal growth factor like domains, and two fibronectin III repeats. Intracellularly, Eph receptors consist of a juxtamembrane, a kinase domain, a sterile alpha motif (SAM) domain and a postsynaptic density, discs-large, zona occludens-1 (PDZ) domain. The most variation within these receptors lies in the ligand binding domain and thus the receptors are functionally divided into two subclasses determined by the binding affinity for their cognate ligand (Gale et al., 1996), with minimal interaction between subclass, with the exception of EphA4 which can bind with ephrin-B ligands; and EphB2 which can also interact with ephrin-A5 (Gale et al., 1996; Holland et al., 1998; Himanen et al., 2004).

Conversely, the ephrin ligands are divided into their subclasses based on the variation in their structure. While both A and B subclass ligands contain the extracellular receptor binding globular domain, the ephrin-A molecules are glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) linked to the exoplasmic leaflet of the plasma membrane (Pasquale, 2005). The ephrin-B molecules however are transmembrane molecules consisting of a transmembrane domain containing conserved tyrosine residues and a C-terminal PDZ domain-binding motif (Liang et al., 2019).

The Eph RTK family does not fall into the conventional receptor ligand signaling mechanism, where the terms "receptor" and "ligand" are somewhat artificial. Both the Eph and ephrin expressing cells are able to signal and thus can function as both receptors and ligands. Conventional signaling through the Eph receptor following ligand binding is referred to as forward signaling, while activation of an ephrin ligand upon Eph receptor binding is considered reverse signaling (Bruckner et al., 1997; Binns et al., 2000; Murai and Pasquale, 2003). Furthermore, the Eph-ephrin molecules can mediate their response unidirectionally, through either the Eph or ephrin expressing cell, or bi-directionally, through both Eph and ephrin expressing cells simultaneously as reviewed by Kania and Klein (2016). These interactions can be mediated in trans, where opposing cells express the receptor or ligand; or in cis, where both the receptor and ligand are expressed on the same cell (Dudanova and Klein, 2011; Falivelli et al., 2013; Yoshida et al., 2017). These receptors and ligands interact as dimers and tetramers and larger clusters, where the clustering of Eph and ephrin molecules is essential to provoke a specific response within a cell (Davis et al., 1994; Himanen et al., 2001; Xu et al., 2013; Liang et al., 2019). The biological outcomes such as adhesion, de-adhesion, migration, proliferation or differentiation are dependent on the quantitative characteristics of Eph activation, where high levels and low levels of expression/activation can induce opposing biological responses (Batlle et al., 2002; Blits-Huizinga et al., 2004; Hansen et al., 2004; Poliakov et al., 2004; Ojosnegros et al., 2017).

The Eph receptors of both subclasses and the ephrin-B ligands can signal through both tyrosine phosphorylation and ensuing protein-protein interactions, as well as protein-protein interactions through the PDZ motif and SAM domain (Binns et al., 2000; Cowan and Henkemeyer, 2001; Lu et al., 2001; Palmer et al., 2002; Leone et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2018; Liang et al., 2019; Baudet et al., 2020). Importantly the ephrin-A molecules localize to lipid rafts/micro-compartments within the plasma membrane and engage transmembrane proteins, such as caveolins, neurotrophin receptor p75 and intracellular Src family kinase dependent signaling (Davy et al., 1999; Davy and Robbins, 2000; Lim et al., 2008). The signaling through Eph-ephrin interactions is essential for a number of developmental and pathophysiological processes (Boyd et al., 2014; Kania and Klein, 2016), including cell attachment, spreading, migration, tissue boundary formation, cellular differentiation, stem cell niche maintenance and proliferation, axon guidance, neural plasticity, somatogenesis, angiogenesis, vasculogenesis, hematopoiesis, immune cell function, cancer tumorigenicity, tissue repair, skeletal development and homeostasis (Kullander and Klein, 2002; Cramer and Miko, 2016; Kania and Klein, 2016; Yang et al., 2018a; Darling and Lamb, 2019; Alfaro et al., 2020; Buckens et al., 2020; Fernandez-Alonso et al., 2020; Giorgio et al., 2020; Vreeken et al., 2020).

THE ROLE OF EPH-EPHRIN SIGNALING WITHIN THE MESENCHYMAL LINEAGE AND CONTRIBUTION TO SKELETAL DEVELOPMENT AND HOMEOSTASIS

The skeleton is formed through two distinct processes termed intramembranous and endochondral ossification. MSC are essential for both processes. Cranial neural crest and the direct differentiation of MSC into osteoblasts contribute to intramembranous ossification. A portion of the clavicle and the cranium are formed by intramembranous ossification. The more complex process of endochondral ossification contributes to the formation of posterior part of the skull, axial and appendicular skeleton. In simplistic terms, during endochondral bone formation MSC condensations contribute to the formation of a cartilaginous scaffold that is systemically replaced to form bone. However, this is a much more involved process which has been elegantly described by Kronenberg and colleagues (Ono et al., 2019). Skeletal integrity is maintained throughout the lifetime of vertebrates through the tightly regulated process of bone homeostasis which takes place within the basic multicellular unit (BMU) or bone remodeling unit (BRU). This process predominantly relies on many cell types maintaining the delicate balance between bone formation and bone resorption (Arthur et al., 2013b; Sims and Martin, 2014) (**Figure 2**).

Identification and Maintenance of MSC Through Eph-Ephrin Signaling

MSC are a desirable source of cells to use in bone tissue engineering applications due to their accessibility, differentiation potential and immune-modulatory effects (Arthur et al., 2009b; Nguyen et al., 2013; Wada et al., 2013). Notably, numerous MSC populations that contribute to the skeletal stem cell niche have been identified using mouse in vivo studies (Chan et al., 2015; Crane et al., 2017). A comprehensive review of genetic mouse studies identifying the bone marrow stem cells niche and the translational relevance to human stem cell biology has been described (Chen et al., 2017). Human MSC populations are predominantly referred to as MSC or bone marrow stromal/stem cells (BMSC) and are defined based on three criteria proposed by The Mesenchymal and Tissue Stem Cell Committee of the International Society for Cellular Therapy. These include: (1) that isolated cells are plastic adherent in culture: (2) that >95% of the cells express the following markers CD73 CD90, and CD105, and >95% of the cells lack the expression of CD14 or CD11b, CD79a or CD19, CD34, CD45, and HLA-DR: and (3) that the cultured MSC have the ability to differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondroblasts (Dominici et al., 2006). However, these criteria are an oversimplification of MSC-specific populations and are inadequate indicators of stemness. Other markers have been identified with the capacity to purify clonogenic MSC which exhibit multi-differentiation potential, hematopoietic support and self-renewal capacity in vitro and in vivo, based on their high cell surface expression of NGF-R, PDGF-R, EGF-R, IGF-R, CD49a/CD29, STRO-1, CD146, and CD106 (Gronthos and Simmons, 1995; Gronthos et al., 2001, 2003; Dennis et al., 2002; Shi and Gronthos, 2003; Sacchetti et al., 2007).

The Eph-ephrin molecules have also been implicated in MSC biology (Alfaro et al., 2020). Certainly comparative analyses studies have identified upregulated levels of EphA2 expression in umbilical cord MSC, compared to MSC derived from other tissue sources and human dermal fibroblastic cells, suggesting that EphA2 may be an unique biomarker characterizing tissue specific MSC (Brinkhof et al., 2020). It is important to note that during cell culture a number of MSC biomarkers are downregulated rapidly coincident with a correlative increase in expression of osteogenic maturation associated genes (Gronthos et al., 2003). While the expression of EphA3 in endometrial MSCs can be dependent on oxygen levels during culture conditions (To et al., 2014). Furthermore, cell passage and cellular aging also contribute to the ability of MSC to adequately differentiate toward the osteogenic lineage (Tanabe et al., 2008). This is an important issue with respect to tissue engineering, which requires clinical grade and scale up of MSC numbers for therapeutic applications. Multiple groups have endeavored to address this issue by investigating the differential gene expression profile of short- and long-term passaged human BMSC (hBMSC), identifying EphA5 among other molecules to be up-regulated during late passages (Tanabe et al., 2008; Yamada et al., 2013). It



signaling and Eph-ephrin communication.

was proposed that EphA5 mediates inhibitory signals observed in long-term cultures that led to the deterioration of hBMSC differentiation capacity. Therefore, EphA5 may be a negative regulator of hBMSC osteogenic differentiation (Yamada et al., 2013). Subsequent overexpression and siRNA studies support this role for EphA5 and further propose that EphA5 signaling may have a dual role in growth regulation of hBMSC and may also be a potential candidate for replicative senescence (Yamada et al., 2016). Indeed, it was recently proposed that members of both the A and B subclass Eph-ephrin molecules are able to influence MSC survival and adherence *in vitro* (Alfaro and Zapata, 2018).

The B-subclass also contribute to MSC-like populations derived from dental and bone marrow tissues (Stokowski et al., 2007; Arthur et al., 2009a, 2011). Numerous EphB-ephrin-B molecules are expressed by human dental pulp stem cells (hDPSC) within the perivascular niche and the surrounding tissue. Both EphB and ephrin-B molecules play a functional role regulating cell attachment and spreading, and inhibiting cell migration (Stokowski et al., 2007). In the context of an *ex vivo* tooth injury model it was further confirmed that ephrin-B1 activation of EphB molecules expressed by hDPSC was important for MSC niche maintenance under steady-state conditions (Arthur et al., 2009a). Similarly, the B-subclass have also been identified in hBMSC where EphB-ephrin-B communication

mediated through *reverse signaling* inhibited hBMSC attachment and spreading, while *forward signaling* promoted migration (Arthur et al., 2011). *Reverse signaling* through ephrin-B molecules is also important for hBMSC chondrogenic and osteogenic differentiation (Arthur et al., 2011). Collectively, these findings demonstrate the importance of Eph-ephrin communication in MSC niche maintenance and differentiation capacity in response to injury of mineralized tissues.

Contribution of Eph-Ephrin Signaling to Chondrogenesis

Pioneering studies have identified the importance of spatial localization of EphA-ephrin-A signaling (EphA4, EphA7, ephrin-A2, ephrin-A3, ephrin-A5) within the earliest stages of skeletal development (Wada et al., 1998, 2003; Stadler et al., 2001; Lorda-Diez et al., 2011) (**Figure 3A**). During the early stages of endochondral ossification, the outer cells of the mesenchymal condensation form the perichondrium, which display overlapping expression of ephrin-A3 and EphA7. EphA7, positively regulated by Hoxa13, subsequently communicates with ephrin-A3 to demarcate the perichondrial boundary (Stadler et al., 2001). Within the developing avian limb bud, ephrin-A2, localized predominantly to the proximal-intermediate regions, regulates the "position-specific" affinity of limb mesenchymal cells, while also contributing to cartilage patterning within the

limb (Wada et al., 2003). Whilst, Eph-ephrin communication is critical for spatial localization, down-stream EphA4 forward signaling has also been shown to contribute to post-natal body growth through the regulation of insulin growth factor (IGF-1). Thus global deletion of EphA4 results in smaller epiphyseal growth plates and short stature and associated low levels of plasma IGF-1 (Jing et al., 2012). The EphA receptors have also been identified within the superficial to middle zone during articular cartilage growth using laser capture microdissection. However, this study did not elaborate further on which receptors were differentially expressed (Lui et al., 2015). Several of these molecules are now being addressed in the context of cartilage related defects, which will be discussed in Section Pathological Conditions Attributed to Alterations Within the Bone Microenvironment in Response to Eph-Ephrin Function of the review.

Recently, the B-subclass of Eph-ephrins has also been implicated in the growth of articular cartilage (Lui et al., 2015). The ephrin-B1 molecule is the only known family member to be associated with a human skeletal phenotype. In humans, loss of function mutations in the EFNB1 gene result in cranial defects such as frontonasal dysplasia and coronal craniosynostosis (Twigg et al., 2004; van den Elzen et al., 2014). Associated skeletal defects include asymmetrical lower limb shortness and unequal arm span to total height ratio (van den Elzen et al., 2014), which are dependent on correct chondrogenesis and growth plate function. Polydactyly, a cartilage segmentation defect, was also observed in humans (Wieland et al., 2004). The global deletion of ephrin-B1 in mouse causes perinatal lethality and other defects including abnormal cartilage segmentation, ossification pattern (Compagni et al., 2003); and perichondrium maintenance (Davy et al., 2004). Furthermore, abnormalities in cartilage segmentation within the wrist and ribs during embryonic development and in adult ephrin-B1 null mice have also been described (Compagni et al., 2003; Davy et al., 2004). More recently, ephrin-B1 was also identified to be important for growth plate formation (Figure 3A). The targeted deletion of ephrin-B1 under the control of the Osterix promoter (Osx:cre-eB1^{-/-}) resulted in developmental growth plate defects in Osx:cre-eB1^{-/-} mice when compared to Osx:cre controls (Nguyen et al., 2016b). Notably, osterix is expressed by pre-hypertrophic chondrocytes within the growth plate as well as osteogenic progenitors (Oh et al., 2012). In accord with these observations, in vitro studies have also noted that ephrin-B1 reverse signaling enhances the chondrogenic potential of hBMSC (Arthur et al., 2011), where it contributes to the regulation of the fracture repair process (Arthur et al., 2020).

Interestingly, it appears that the loss of ephrin-B2 also under the control of the *Osterix* promoter, resulted in a strikingly different phenotype. These *Osx1Cre:Efnb2*^{Δ/Δ} mice displayed an increase in trabecular bone volume, growth plate remnants and abnormal osteoclasts within the growth plate during skeletal development, which was resolved by 6 weeks of age (Tonna et al., 2016). This observation was attributed to the dependence of ephrin-B2 signaling for the correct production of cartilage degrading enzymes and subsequent endochondral ossification, which then allowed for the correct attachment of osteoclasts and

also osteoblasts to the chondro/osseous junction (Tonna et al., 2016) (Figure 3A). During postnatal bone development of the secondary ossification center, IGF-1 signaling within the inner layer of perichondral cells promotes proliferation and cartilage matrix degradation (Kozhemyakina et al., 2015). Moreover, IGF-1 increased ephrin-B2 production, which stimulated VEGF expression and subsequent vascularization (Wang et al., 2015). Notably the conditional deletion of ephrin-B2 under the control of the Collagen Type 2 promoter, which has been proposed through lineage tracing studies to be expressed prior to Osterix (Ono et al., 2014), did not result in obvious growth plate defects. Rather these conditional ephrin-B2 knockout mice displayed a defect in the trabecular bone in the metaphysis and epiphysis (Wang et al., 2020). The authors propose that during skeletal development ephrin-B2 expressed by Collagen Type 2 expressing cells contribute to the transdifferentiation of chondrocytes to osteoblasts (Wang et al., 2020). This suggests that in addition to normal endochondral ossification, a proportion of chondrocytes can transdifferentiate into osteoblasts within ossification centers. This is a relatively new area of investigation that is gaining momentum (Yang et al., 2014; Zhou et al., 2014); although the concept still requires further examination. However, it is clear that while ephrin-B1 and ephrin-B2 are structurally similar their function can vary greatly depending on their spatial and temporal expression and interaction with cognate receptors (Figure 3A).

Contribution of Eph-Ephrin Signaling to the Osteogenic Lineage

The seminal work conducted by Matsuo et al. in 2006 demonstrated that EphB4, expressed by osteoblasts, and its cognate ligand, ephrin-B2, expressed by osteoclasts signal bidirectionally acting as mediators of bone homeostasis (Zhao et al., 2006). This inspired a body of work examining the importance of Eph-ephrin communication during skeletal development, homeostasis and skeletal repair (Edwards and Mundy, 2008; Martin et al., 2010; Matsuo and Otaki, 2012; Sims and Walsh, 2012; Arthur et al., 2013a; Sims and Martin, 2014; Tonna and Sims, 2014; Rundle et al., 2016) (Figure 3B). The research in this field has predominantly focused on the B-subclass Eph-ephrin molecules and the communication between EphB4-ephrin-B2. However, a number of EphA molecules are also expressed within the osteogenic population, including EphA1, A2, A3, A4, and A7 (Zhao et al., 2006; Irie et al., 2009; Matsuo and Otaki, 2012; Stiffel et al., 2014). While EphA4 is important for limb development, chondrogenesis and cranial development, EphA2 has been directly implicated in osteogenic function, inhibiting osteogenesis through RhoA signaling (Zhao et al., 2006; Irie et al., 2009; Ting et al., 2009; Matsuo and Otaki, 2012; Stiffel et al., 2014).

EphB4-Ephrinb2 Communication Within Skeletal Tissue

Our understanding of EphB4-ephrin-B2 communication has expanded over the last 15 years from cell-heterotypic interactions between cells of the osteogenic lineage and osteoclastic cells to cell-homotypic interactions within the osteogenic lineage. The field has utilized the knowledge of Eph-ephrin function



from other biological systems and their association with diverse signaling networks (Arvanitis and Davy, 2008), to understand the molecular interactions of cell surface signaling pathways within skeletal tissue (Lindsey et al., 2018). It is clear that EphB4 *forward*

signaling is required for bone formation under steady-state (Zhao et al., 2006) and trauma induced conditions (Arthur et al., 2013a).

Mechanistically, inhibiting EphB4-ephrin-B2 interactions within the osteogenic population reduces the mineralization

potential of mouse stromal cells in a dose dependent manner by parathyroid hormone 1 receptor (PTHR1) (Allan et al., 2008). These observations suggest that ephrin-B2-expressing osteogenic cells are responsive to parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP)/ PTH mediating homotypic interactions presumably with EphB4 and potentially EphB2 to stimulate osteoblast maturation and function (Allan et al., 2008). The N-terminus of PTHrP has been attributed with roles in calcium homeostasis and osteogenic function among other roles. However, it is also evident from mouse knock-in studies that the mid-regional, nuclear localization sequence (NLS) and C-terminus of PTHrP are also essential for osteogenesis (Toribio et al., 2010). These regions influence skeletal mineralization in part through the regulation of ephrin-B2 within the osteogenic lineage (Toribio et al., 2010). Moreover, administration of PTH in the presence of EphB4 blocking peptide to inhibit EphB4-ephrin-B2 interactions, resulted in a multifaceted response in both osteoblasts and osteoclasts in vitro and in vivo (Takyar et al., 2013). Inhibition of EphB4 mediated signaling reduced the expression of mature osteoblast and osteocyte markers in vitro, while osteoblast numbers and activity were increased in vivo correlating to a decrease in trabecular number. Collectively the findings suggest that PTH mediated EphB4 forward signaling within the osteogenic lineage is important for the later phases of osteoblast differentiation (Takyar et al., 2013).

Furthermore, it is well established that IGF-1 signaling is necessary for PTH stimulation of bone formation (Bikle et al., 2002; Bikle and Wang, 2012). Indeed it has been demonstrated utilizing global IGF-1 knockout mice and complementary in vitro co-culture studies using blocking peptides that IGF-1/ IGF-IR signaling mediated through ephrin-B2-EphB4 heterotypic interactions promoted osteoblast and chondrogenic differentiation (Wang et al., 2015). However, while the majority of these studies have focused on EphB4 signaling during osteogenic differentiation, a recent report identified that ephrin-B2 reverse signaling is also important for secondary mineralization (Vrahnas et al., 2019). The bone is mineralized through two sequential phases, known as primary mineralization at the calcification front, which is a rapid process (~60-65% mineralization in ewes). This is followed by secondary mineralization, involving the gradual maturation, accumulation and quality of mineral (Bala et al., 2010). Assessment of an osteocyte specific ephrin-B2 conditional knockout mouse found that the mice developed brittle bones. This was attributed to an acceleration of secondary mineralization resulting in increased mineral and carbonate accrual mediated by enhanced autophagic flux (Vrahnas et al., 2019). This novel finding demonstrates that B-type Eph and ephrin molecules are required for various processes during osteogenesis.

EphB2-EphrinB1 Communication Within Skeletal Tissue

The EphB2 high affinity ligand, ephrin-B1, is expressed by different human MSC-like populations and is a potent mediator of mineralization in both dental (Arthur et al., 2009a) and bone tissues (Arthur et al., 2011), skeletal development (Xing et al., 2010; Nguyen et al., 2016b), homeostasis (Arthur et al., 2018)

and trauma (Arthur et al., 2020). Mechanical loading is essential for the maintenance of skeletal integrity, mechanical loading experiments using the tibia identified up-regulation of both EphB2 and ephrin-B1 when compared to the un-loaded control (Xing et al., 2005; Kesavan et al., 2011). EphB2 up-regulation was exacerbated within newly formed bone of transgenic mice overexpressing ephrin-B1 in committed bone cells, suggesting homotypic cellular interactions (Cheng et al., 2013). Since EphB4 expression was unchanged in these studies, mineralization may occur through EphB2-ephrin-B1 interactions independent of EphB4-ephrin-B2 signaling. While EphB2 has been implicated in osteogenesis within the cranial sutures (Benson et al., 2012), it was reported, although not shown, that EphB2 global knockout mice did not develop noticeable differences within the skeleton (Compagni et al., 2003). However, EphB2/EphB3 knockout mice were reported to display patterning abnormalities in the thoracic skeleton (Compagni et al., 2003), indicating some level of functional redundancy within the family. A conditional osteogenic EphB2 knockout study is thus warranted to determine the specific role of EphB2 during axial and appendicular skeletal development and homeostasis.

More is known about the role of ephrin-B1 in osteogenesis, where the global and conditional knockout of ephrin-B1 in osteoblasts results in gross skeletal deformities (Compagni et al., 2003; Xing et al., 2010; Nguyen et al., 2016b). These conditional mice are physically shorter in stature which correlated to reduced bone formation, cortical thickness, and trabecular parameters (Xing et al., 2010; Nguyen et al., 2016b). Conversely, transgenic mice over-expressing ephrinB1 in osteoblast progenitors exhibit enhanced bone formation, within the trabecular and cortical bone, and reduced bone resorption, resulting in an increase in bone mass (Cheng et al., 2013). Importantly, aging (6month-old) mice lacking ephrin-B1 in the osteogenic population developed an osteoporotic-like phenotype (Arthur et al., 2018). Interestingly, mice with ephrin-B2 knockout using the same promoter reported a significant increase in bone to tissue volume, trabecular number, and thickness at 6 months of age (Tonna et al., 2014). Therefore, it appears that the functions of ephrin-B1 and ephrin-B2 vary considerably during osteogenesis. It appears that the function of these ephrin-B molecules is underpinned by their intercellular interaction with cognate receptors, predominantly facilitated by EphB2 and EphB4, respectively, and subsequent differential intracellular signaling modalities.

Mechanistically, ephrin-B1 intracellular signaling contributes to bone formation in mouse osteogenic cells, mediated through the PDZ domain. The binding of EphB2 with ephrin-B1, results in ephrin-B1 phosphorylation, consequently the ephrin-B1 PDZ domain forms a complex with Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase Non-Receptor Type 13 (PTPN13), Na+/H+ exchanger regulatory factor 1 (NHERF1) and Transcriptional Coactivator With PDZ-Binding Motif (TAZ). TAZ is subsequently dephosphorylated and released from the ephrin-B1-PDZ complex and translocates to the nucleus inducing the expression of *Osterix* to drive osteoblast maturation (Xing et al., 2010). Recently it was confirmed that hBMSC also utilize the same signaling pathway where EphB2 activation resulted in the de-phosphorylation of TAZ (Arthur et al., 2020).

Involvement of Eph/Ephrin Molecules in Adipogenesis

It is interesting to note that no studies have investigated the contribution of Eph-ephrin signaling within bone marrow adipocytes specifically. However, Zapata et al. recently reported that adipose tissue derived MSC (Ad-MSC) isolated from mice lacking EphB2 increase adipogenesis with minimal influence on osteoblast differentiation. However, Ad-MSC isolated from mice expressing a truncated version of EphB2, which prevents forward Eph signaling while still allowing ephrin reverse signal, resulted in osteoblast differentiation (Alfaro et al., 2020). These observations suggest that perhaps EphB2 forward signaling is important for the inhibition of adipogenesis by MSC. Moreover, Eph-ephrin communication has been reported in white adipose tissue, where ephrin-A4 and ephrin-A5 were found to be a downstream signaling pathway to aldehyde dehydrogenase, which stimulates the development and innervation of white adipose tissue (Shen et al., 2018). Also, ephrin-B1 was identified to be down-regulated in mature adipocytes of obese mice and shown to suppress the adipose inflammatory response (Mori et al., 2013).

Collectively these studies demonstrate that ephrin molecules of both subclasses are implicated in adipocyte biology and therefore investigating the function of Eph-ephrin molecules within bone marrow adipocytes is warranted (**Figure 3C**). Furthermore, it is clear that intercellular Eph-ephrin signaling within the mesenchymal lineage can modulate diverse pathways and biological responses during specific stages of skeletal development and bone homeostasis. However, other resident cells within the bone such as those of the hematopoietic lineage also contribute to skeletal development and homeostasis.

EPH-EPHRIN COMMUNICATION INFLUENCES THE HEMATOPOIETIC SYSTEM WITHIN THE BONE

The HSC niche associates with numerous cell types and location within the bone marrow (Crane et al., 2017). These HSC and their derivatives, the myeloid and lymphoid lineages, are maintained and regulated by the stromal population (Okamoto and Takayanagi, 2019; Tsukasaki and Takayanagi, 2019; Guder et al., 2020). The contribution of Eph-ephrin intercellular signaling between the stromal population and the regulation of these lineages, while important, they are beyond the scope of this review. However, HSC niche maintenance and osteoclast function, both of which are essential for the maintenance of skeletal integrity have been addressed.

Regulation and Maintenance of Hematopoietic Stem/Progenitors by BMSC Through Eph-Ephrin Signaling

We have previously reviewed the stromal-hematopoietic interactions through Eph-ephrin communication, highlighting the role of EphA3-ephrin-A5 and EphB4-ephrin-B2 interactions in BMSC-HSC intercellular signaling (Ting et al., 2010; Nguyen et al., 2015, 2016a). More recently, it has been reported that

EPHA5 and EPHA7 are expressed by human hematopoietic stem/ progenitor cells. Activation of either EPHA5 or EPHA7 by EPHRIN-A5, expressed by the hBMSC, subsequently stimulates RAC1 activation and RAC1 target molecule WAVE to enrich the maintenance, migration and adhesion of hematopoietic stem/ progenitor cells (Nguyen et al., 2017). The B-subclass act in a similar manner to the A-subclass in this BMSC-HSC intercellular communication. The conditional loss of ephrin-B1 within the mouse osteogenic population limits the capacity of these osteogenic cells to support the maintenance of mouse hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells (Arthur et al., 2019). Human studies confirmed that EPHB1 or EPHB2 expressing CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells were responsive to ephrin-B1 stimulation (Arthur et al., 2019). Here it was proposed that the mechanism facilitating this response was mediated in part by CXCL12 (Arthur et al., 2019), a known critical regulator of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell function (Greenbaum et al., 2013) (Figure 4).

Further investigations into the contribution of EphB4-ephrin-B2 signaling in hematopoietic stem/ progenitor cell mobilization found that EphB4 was expressed by endomucin+ bone marrow sinusoidal endothelium, while ephrin-B2 was expressed by hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells, using a $EfnB2^{H2BGFP}$ reporter mouse (Kwak et al., 2016). Importantly the study reported that the regulation of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells exiting from the bone marrow was mediated through transendothelial migration, which could be inhibited by using antibodies that blocked EphB4-ephrin-B2 interactions. In the context of cancer therapy, blocking the mobilization of hematopoietic stem/ progenitor cell by inhibiting EphB4-ephrin-B2 communication also resulted in reduced infiltration of the hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells into murine tumor models (Kwak et al., 2016) (Figure 4). These observations suggest that manipulation of EphB-ephrin-B signaling has potential therapeutic applications not only in cancer but potentially other diseases and disorders.

The Role of Eph/Ephrin Molecules in Osteoclast Development and Function

Seminal studies identified the expression and importance of a number of A and B subclass Eph receptors and ligands with discrete temporal functions within the osteoclast lineage (Zhao et al., 2006; Irie et al., 2009) (**Figure 3D**).

Contribution of the a Subclass Eph-Ephrin Molecules to Osteoclastogenesis

With regard to the EphA-ephrin-A molecules, osteoclast precursors were found to express EphA2 and ephrin-A2, while EphA4 is specifically expressed by mature osteoclasts. Further investigations revealed that EphA2 and ephrin-A2 are both positive regulators of osteoclast differentiation, where ephrin-A2 mediates down-stream signaling dependent on c-Fos, but not its target molecule NFATc1 (Irie et al., 2009). While it was proposed that ephrin-A2 *reverse signaling* may modulate intracellular calcium signaling through phospholipase C γ 2 (PLC γ 2), further investigations are required to confirm these observations. Interestingly, ephrin-A2 was found to be cleaved by



matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), where its release enhanced osteoclastogenesis, suggestive of a homotypic interaction between ephrin-A2-EphA2 within the osteoclast lineage. However, as EphA2 was down-regulated when ephrin-A2 was up-regulated, it is plausible that this homotypic interaction takes place between osteoclasts at various developmental states (Irie et al., 2009).

Conversely, EphA4 expression by mature osteoclasts coincides with its function as a negative regulator of osteoclast activity rather than osteoclast formation (Stiffel et al., 2014). Assessment of EphA4-null mice showed reduced trabecular bone volume attributed to osteoclast size and resorption capacity with no change in osteoclast numbers. The molecular mechanisms facilitating this process are thought to be mediated through the activation of the β 3-integrin signaling pathway leading to Vav3 activation (Stiffel et al., 2014), where Vav3 is a Rho family GTP exchange factor essential for actin cytoskeletal organization and resorptive activity (Faccio et al., 2005). Like the observations presented for the B-subclass during chondrogenesis and osteogenesis, here we also observe during osteoclastogenesis that EphA receptors, while structurally similar, disseminate diverse functional resonses.

Contribution of the B Subclass Eph-Ephrin Molecules to Osteoclastogenesis

Initial studies identifying Eph-ephrin molecules during osteoclast differentiation did not detect the expression of EphB receptors within mouse osteoclast populations (Zhao et al., 2006). However, a recent study identified that *EPHB2* is expressed by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells and during osteoclast differentiation (Arthur et al., 2018). EPHB2 acts as a negative regulator of osteoclast differentiation and function *in vitro*, inhibiting TRAP⁺ osteoclast formation, resorption activity and

the expression of *C-FMS*, *CXCR4*, *RANK*, and *CATHEPSIN K* (Arthur et al., 2018).

Conversely, the ephrin-B1 and ephrin-B2 ligands are expressed by mouse osteoclast progenitors and mature osteoclasts (Zhao et al., 2006). Loss-of-function studies determined that ephrin-B1 expressed by the myeloid lineage was a negative regulator of osteoclast differentiation (Cheng et al., 2012). It was proposed that EphB2 activation of ephrin-B1 inhibits NFATc1 expression, while also reducing the phosphorylation of ezrin/ radixin/ moesin (ERM) proteins in mature osteoclasts (Cheng et al., 2012). This protein complex is involved in cytoskeletal rearrangement and cell migration, which are important not only for osteoclast formation but also function. These observations suggest that ephrin-B1 *reverse signaling* plays an essential role for multiple processes in osteoclast biology.

It has also been shown that ephrin-B2 activation in osteoclast progenitors following EphB4 engagement suppresses osteoclast differentiation. This was mediated via the PDZ domain of ephrin-B2, which led to the inhibition of the osteoclastogenic c-Fos-NFATc1 cascade (Zhao et al., 2006; Mao et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2014). Interestingly, *in vitro* mouse osteoclast studies, in which titanium wear particles increased osteoclast formation and function showed that osteoclast activation and the expression of inflammatory markers could be attenuated with the addition of soluble EphB4-Fc, which binds and blocks the receptor binding domain of ephrin-B2 expressed by osteoclasts (Ge et al., 2018). This observation is of particular interest clinically as wear particles can induce inflammation and subsequent periprosthetic osteolysis in response to aseptic loosening following joint replacement surgery.

The communication between osteoblasts and osteoclasts is well established. It was recently documented that during skeletal development and aging (6 months old mice), mice lacking

ephrin-B1 within osteoprogenitors displayed elevated osteoclast numbers within the secondary spongiosa and cortical bone (Nguyen et al., 2016b; Arthur et al., 2018). However, the lack of ephrin-B1 by osteoblasts, did not result in alterations in osteoclast numbers or function (Xing et al., 2010). These studies suggest that osteogenic progenitors also influence the function of the osteoclastic population. This observation is somewhat juxtaposed to current dogma which proposes that osteoblasts and osteocytes, rather than immature osteogenic populations, regulate osteoclast function (Han et al., 2018). However, immature osteogenic regulation of osteoclast function is also supported by the finding that administration of the EphB4 blocking peptide during PTH treatment enhanced osteoclast function in vivo (Takyar et al., 2013). Supportive evidence showed that the response was attributed to an indirect function of EphB4 signaling, where blocking of EphB4 in undifferentiated stromal Kusa 4b10 cells resulted in elevated levels of Rankl, IL-6 and Osmr, known promoters of osteoclast formation (Takyar et al., 2013). Collectively, these studies imply that numerous Eph-ephrin interactions contribute to osteoclast function through distinctive spatially and temporally controlled molecular mechanisms. Further investigations are required to determine whether targeting Eph or ephrin molecules is an appropriate therapeutic approach to treat musculoskeletal conditions that are affected by the dysregulation of osteoclasts.

THE ROLE OF EPH-EPHRIN SIGNALING IN VASCULARIZATION AND ANGIOGENESIS WITHIN THE BONE MICROENVIRONMENT

Endothelial cells form blood vessels, supplying the skeletal tissue with nutrients, hormones, oxygen and growth factors, and are critical to skeletal growth, homeostasis and repair (Peng et al., 2020; Zhao and Xie, 2020). A recent review has highlighted the involvement of Eph-ephrin signaling in different endothelial cell populations (Vreeken et al., 2020), with few studies investigating the role of Eph-ephrin homotypic and heterotypic communication between mesenchymal and endothelial cells, during vascularization (formation of the vasculature), angiogenesis (expansion and remodeling of the vasculature) and capillary formation (Adams et al., 1999; Adams and Klein, 2000; Salvucci and Tosato, 2012). The B-subclass Eph-ephrin molecules have predominantly been implicated in these processes, where EphB4 and ephrin-B2 null mice are embryonically lethal (Wang et al., 1998). More specifically EphB3, EphB4 and ephrin-B1 are located on veins, while ephrin-B1 and ephrin-B2 are detected on arteries, where ephrin-B2 has also been implicated in arterial vasodilation (Stein et al., 1998; Adams et al., 1999; Gerety et al., 1999; Adams and Klein, 2000; Lin et al., 2014).

Endothelial cells and the mesenchyme express numerous Eph receptors and ephrin ligands that act through both homotypic and heterotypic interactions (**Figure 3E**). Vascular structures are also supported by pericytes, otherwise known as mural cells. Pericytes, identified by the perivascular marker CD146, share similar properties to MSC (Covas et al., 2008). These pericytes

reside within the basement membrane of the vasculature and are key regulators of vascular maintenance and function through the secretion of angiogenic promoting factors. DPSC located within the perivascular niche have been shown to promote angiogenesis via the secretion of VEGF ligands, stimulating VEGFR2dependent signaling pathways, which included the activation of ephrin-B2 (Janebodin et al., 2013). Activation of ephrin-B2, through its PDZ domain, has also been shown to control VEGFR2 and VEGFR3 endocytosis and subsequent angiogenic sprouting, lymphangiogenic growth and tumor angiogenesis (Sawamiphak et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010). In the context of Eph-ephrin signaling the assembly of pericyte-endothelial cordlike structures (Figure 1), required for vascularization or remodeling, are reliant on Src phosphorylation-dependent down-stream signaling of ephrin-B2 in endothelial cells following activation by either EphB2 or EphB4 (Salvucci et al., 2009).

Similarly, homotypic communication between endothelial cells promotes the formation of cordlike structures, although this was mediated through EphB2 and EphB4 forward signaling, and enhanced CXCL12 endothelial chemotaxis (Salvucci et al., 2006). Endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis can also be facilitated by ephrin-B2 stimulation of EphB receptors and more specifically activating the phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3 kinase) pathway (Maekawa et al., 2003). Conversely, neovascularization can be facilitated by EphB1 stimulation of ephrin-B1 reverse signaling, mediated through the C-terminus and most likely the PDZ domain, and required for endothelial attachment and migration facilitated by integrin avß3 and α 5 β 1 (Huynh-Do et al., 2002). Taken together, the processes of endothelial migration, angiogenesis and vascularization utilize both Eph forward and ephrin reverse signaling which appears to be dependent on intercellular communication.

Interestingly, EphB4 has also been identified as an important regulator of intussusceptive angiogenesis (splitting of blood vessels), a dynamic process of non-sprouting angiogenesis. Here it was shown that EphB4 can regulate dose-dependent outcomes of VEGF distribution to skeletal muscle that influenced ERK1/2 signaling down-stream of VEGFR2 to "fine tune" endothelial proliferation and circumferential enlargement of vessels without interfering with normal angiogenesis and endothelial migration (Groppa et al., 2018). While EphB4ephrin-B2 communication is important for pericyte-mediated angiogenesis, this communication did not influence pericyte recruitment (Groppa et al., 2018). Notably, this process of intussusceptive angiogenesis was shown in the muscle, however intussusceptive angiogenesis has been reported in skeletal development and implicated in tumor growth (De Spiegelaere et al., 2012). As developmental processes are often recapitulated during repair, investigating intussusceptive angiogenesis following trauma or musculoskeletal disorders may provide new insight on the endothelial contribution of maintaining skeletal integrity.

In the context of the bone microenvironment, Ephephrin signaling of both subclasses has been implicated in tumor progression facilitating several processes including cell proliferation, migration, boundary formation and angiogenesis. More specifically, *EPHA3*, which is elevated in both bone marrow endothelial cells and plasma cells from Multiple Myeloma patients, promotes their adhesion, migration, angiogenesis and invasion (Caivano et al., 2017; La Rocca et al., 2017). Therefore EphA3 may be an appropriate target for the treatment of Multiple Myeloma (Caivano et al., 2017; La Rocca et al., 2017). Furthermore, endoglin-expressing endothelial cells were recently identified in the bone marrow during fetal development and during regeneration of the adult bone marrow following insult. It was proposed that these endothelial cells may contribute to angiogenesis, osteogenesis and hematopoiesis through the activation of "angiocrine factors." While IL-33 was predominantly investigated in this study, EphA and EphB molecules were enriched in transcriptome studies of the fetal human regenerative endothelial cells (Kenswil et al., 2018).

With respect to tissue regeneration, bone marrow derived endothelial cells are a desirable source of cells that can promote angiogenesis and tissue repair. It was recently demonstrated through a tissue engineering strategy that modulating the stiffness of fabricated substrates regulated arterial-venous differentiation of bone marrow derived endothelial cells, where the EphB4 venous marker and ephrin-B2 arterial marker were differentially expressed based on substrate stiffness (Xue et al., 2017). Collectively, these studies demonstrate the importance of Eph-ephrin signaling in discrete biological processes to facilitate correct angiogenesis and vascularization. However, there is limited knowledge on the contribution of Eph-ephrin interactions within the endothelial population in postnatal skeletal tissues under steady state or pathological conditions or following trauma, warranting further investigation.

PATHOLOGICAL CONDITIONS ATTRIBUTED TO ALTERATIONS WITHIN THE BONE MICROENVIRONMENT IN RESPONSE TO EPH-EPHRIN FUNCTION

Eph-ephrin communication facilitates numerous processes within the bone marrow microenvironment that contribute to maintaining skeletal integrity. Therefore, the loss of any one of these signaling cascades can have detrimental effects to skeletal pathophysiology. While this review does not focus on the pathophysiology of skeletal malignancies, the Eph-ephrin molecules have been identified and contribute to numerous bone related cancers (Buckens et al., 2020).

Osteoporosis

With an increasing aging population comes an increase in the frequency of bone related diseases such as osteoporosis, which is defined as "a systemic skeletal disease characterized by low bone mass and microarchitectural deterioration of bone tissue leading to enhanced bone fragility and a consequent increase in fracture risk," according to The International Osteoporosis Foundation. Certainly, several studies using hormonally regulated osteoporotic ovariectomy (OVX)-induced bone loss models or similar models, have demonstrated the contribution of a number of the Eph-ephrin family members. One proposed treatment target is the communication between EphA2-ephrin-A2, where administration of 17β -estradiol following OVX in rats mitigated the associated bone loss partially through the suppression of EphA2-ephrin-A2 (Liu et al., 2018). Furthermore, an age-related model of osteoporosis in rhesus monkeys identified a gradual increase in bone mass following 12 weeks of treatment with miRNA-based gene therapy (miR-141). miR-141 targeted the osteoclast population, with no differences observed within several organs that were investigated (heart, liver, spleen, kidney) or metabolic processes (blood glucose or cholesterol levels). The study also identified that miR-141 could functionally target EphA2 within the osteoclast population (Yang et al., 2018b).

Prolonged use of glucocorticoids increases the incidence of osteoporotic fractures. The glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis mouse model causes down-regulation of EphB4 in osteoblasts and up-regulation of ephrin-B2 in osteoclasts. This response was reversed following the administration of icariin, isolated from the Chinese herb Epimedium. Notably there were significant improvements in bone parameters following 4 weeks of icariin treatment (Huang et al., 2020). EphB4-ephrin-B2 expression is also dysregulated in a diabetes-related osteoporosis model (Wu et al., 2016). Together these observations demonstrate the importance of EphB4-ephrin-B2 intercellular communication in maintaining skeletal integrity. However, in the context of lactation-induced maternal bone loss, where prolactin is known to induce the release of osteoclast driver RANKL, upregulation of the ephrin-B1 gene was detected, with no change in the expression of ephrin-B2 nor EphB4 (Wongdee et al., 2011). Importantly, the loss of ephrin-B1 within the osteogenic population alone results in an osteoporotic phenotype which is comparable to that observed in OVX-induced osteoporosis. Notably, the conditional loss of ephrin-B1 within the osteogenic population diminished skeletal integrity by attenuating bone formation and enhancing osteoclast numbers and function, which was mediated through EphB2 forward signaling (Arthur et al., 2018). This observation, in conjunction with its role in inhibiting osteoclast differentiation, suggests that ephrin-B1 may be a key driver in maintaining skeletal integrity. This is supported by the observation that administration of Alendronate (a bisphosphonate) for 8 weeks enhances the expression of ephrin-B1, EphB1 and EphB3 in the mouse femur. Based on in vitro cultures ephrin-B1 was also the highest expressed molecule on both osteoblasts and osteoclasts (Shimizu et al., 2012).

Skeletal Repair

The Eph-ephrin molecules have also been investigated in the context of skeletal repair. Tazaki et al. addressed the bone remodeling process using the autologous transplant of goldfish scales, where the scales are formed by intramembranous ossification and mimic the bone remodeling process (outlined in **Figure 2**). While the data showed considerable variability between donors, the authors suggest that ephrin-B2-EphB was required for the activation of osteoprogenitor proliferation during the first absorption phase. During the formation phase ephrin-EphA4 signaling inhibited the communication between osteoclasts, while ephrin-B2 reverse signaling and EphB forward signaling were involved in osteoblast activation (Tazaki et al., 2018).

Stabilized femoral fracture studies have highlighted the importance and similar function of EphB4 and ephrin-B1 during the callus formation stage of bone modeling. More specifically the transgenic mouse studies demonstrated that EphB4 overexpression in committed bone cells facilitates callus formation in vivo following traumatic injury by enhancing endochondral ossification, while inhibiting osteoclast differentiation (Arthur et al., 2013a). Conversely, the loss of ephrin-B1 within the osteogenic lineage resulted in a delay in callus formation and skeletal repair, with an altered distribution of osteoclasts favoring the calcified cartilage (Arthur et al., 2020). This observation was consistent with an independent femoral fracture study that also suggested the importance of ephrin-B1 during the early stages of fracture repair, with the upregulation of ephrin-B1 at 1 and 2 weeks post fracture and localization with mature chondrocyte marker Collagen type 10 (Kaur et al., 2019).

Notably, ephrin-B2 was also upregulated during the first 3 weeks of fracture repair following a stabilized femoral fracture model, with its protein expression localizing to prehypertrophic chondrocytes, osteoblasts and osteocytes (Kaur et al., 2019). This is an interesting observation as it was recently reported that conditional loss of ephrin-B2 in Collagen Type 2 expressing cells also resulted in a significant delay in fracture repair. However, this study used a nonstable tibia fracture model (Wang et al., 2020). Using this model the authors demonstrated that loss of ephrin-B2 within the Collagen Type 2 expressing cells impaired intramembranous bone formation during fracture repair due to the decline in periosteal progenitors. The loss of ephrin-B2 also impaired endochondral ossification during fracture repair due to the reduction in progenitors and VEGF-induced vascular formation within the periosteum and the invasion front of the callus. In addition, there was a reduction in chondrocyte and osteoblast differentiation within the callus which led to impaired bone formation during the later stages of bone repair (Wang et al., 2020). Furthermore, the authors postulate a role for chondrocyte transformation to osteoblasts, although this requires further investigation. Interesting the formation or function of chondroclasts or osteoclasts was not investigated in this study, which is an essential aspect of endochondral bone formation. Collectively these studies demonstrate the relevance and importance of Eph-ephrin function during chondrogenesis and osteogenesis during skeletal repair. As such, targeting these molecules may be a viable therapeutic approach to treating skeletal trauma.

Osteoarthritis

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a degenerative and debilitating disease of the joints and is the most common form of arthritis. While the etiology is not fully known, both systemic (obesity) and non-modifiable (gender, age, genetics) risk factors influence the progression of OA. The predominant feature of OA is the irreversible degradation of the structural proteins (collagens, proteoglycans) within the cartilage matrix of the articular cartilage, as well as cell death (Heinegard and Saxne, 2011). This loss of tissue results in cartilage thinning between adjacent bones, causing bone erosion, and in conjunction, the subchondral bone is remodeled causing sclerosis. Osteophyte formation (bone spurs) ensues, initially as cartilage outgrowths, which then undergo the developmental process of chondrogenesis/endochondral ossification (Hashimoto et al., 2002).

EphB4-ephrin-B2 communication has also been implicated in both chondrogenic and osteogenic metabolism following OA. In OA patients EPHB4 gene expression is up-regulated in chondrocytes and in osteoblasts of the subchondral bone, where these osteoblasts have pro-resorption properties (Kwan Tat et al., 2008, 2009). Treatment of these chondrocytes or osteoblasts with ephrin-B2 in vitro reduced the expression of catabolic collagen degrading molecules in both the chondrocytes and osteoblasts, and inhibited the resorption activity of the osteoblasts (Kwan Tat et al., 2008, 2009). Furthermore, over-expression of EphB4 within osteoblasts was protective against cartilage degradation, sclerosis of the subchondral bone (Valverde-Franco et al., 2012) and the synovial membrane thickness in mice that had undergone the destabilization of the medial meniscus (DMM) OA model (Valverde-Franco et al., 2015). Interestingly, the loss of ephrin-B2 by chondrocytes instigated an osteoarthritic phenotype with aging alone (Valverde-Franco et al., 2016). Of note, ephrin-B1 has been implicated during the inflammatory processes of rheumatoid arthritis (Kitamura et al., 2008; Hu et al., 2015).

Novel approaches to investigate protein-protein interactions and associations between microRNA and genes are also being utilized to identify disease related targets for OA through the analysis of OA meniscal cells rather than the articular cartilage (Wang et al., 2013). The meniscus is composed of a heterogeneous extracellular matrix and fibroblast-like cells, chondrocyte-like cells, and cells with fusiform morphology (Makris et al., 2011). Among other molecules EphA4 was identified and associated with OA (Wang et al., 2013). Recently it was shown that EphA4 was expressed by articular chondrocytes, osteoblasts, osteocytes, meniscal and synovial cells within injured joints of an intraarticular knee injury model (Stiffel et al., 2020). Supportive in vitro studies demonstrated that ephrin-A4 stimulation of EphA4 mediated a pro-anabolic response within articular chondrocytes. While, EphA4 activation within synoviocytes facilitated an anticatabolic response, the authors suggest that targeting EphA4 signaling may be a potential therapeutic approach to treat OA (Stiffel et al., 2020).

THERAPEUTIC TARGETS OF EPH-EPHRIN SIGNALING

The role of Eph-ephrin molecular interactions and specific signaling modalities in numerous tissues and related cancers has led to the development of multiple therapeutic approaches and targets (Barquilla and Pasquale, 2015; Buckens et al., 2020; Giorgio et al., 2020; London and Gallo, 2020) that could be repurposed for the treatment of musculoskeletal diseases/disorders or carcinomas. The drug-based therapeutics include kinase inhibitors, small molecules, monoclonal

antibodies, antibody-drug conjugates, nanobodies and peptides that predominantly target either the kinase domain or the ligand binding domain of the receptor (Barquilla and Pasquale, 2015; Buckens et al., 2020). Depending on the target site, these approaches utilize either selective-agents, as demonstrated with the development of antibodies or less selective-agents such as kinase inhibitors (Giorgio et al., 2020). In the context of currently available drugs a number of pan-kinase inhibitor drug targets, Dasatinib, Sitravinib (MGCD516), JI-101, and XL647, and one selective drug target, an antibody targeting EphA3, Ifabotuzumab (KB004), are currently in clinical trials, predominantly Phase I trials (Buckens et al., 2020). More specific to the musculoskeletal field, a preclinical study treating osteosarcoma utilized drugs that inhibit receptor tyrosine kinase signaling, Pazopanib and Trametinib. The authors identified that this treatment downregulated EphA2 and IL-7R, and silencing EphA2 resulted in significant reduction of cell proliferation and migration (Chiabotto et al., 2020).

Researchers are also developing novel strategies to identify and generate therapeutic targets with increasing specificity and efficiency. One such approach is the selection of Phagedisplayed accessible recombinant targeted antibodies (SPARTA). This process utilizes in vitro phage-display screening followed by multiple rounds of sorting with yeast-display screening and the intravenous injection of the selected phage particles into tumorbearing mice, where they undergo further selection, recovery and amplification (D'Angelo et al., 2018; Tang et al., 2020). This technique was used to generate anti-EphA5 antibodies that have shown specific targeting of EphA5 expressing lung cancer cells (D'Angelo et al., 2018; Tang et al., 2020). Another approach is the generation of peptide antagonists. The Ephephrin specific blocking peptides predominantly target the Eph receptor (Koolpe et al., 2002, 2005; Murai et al., 2003), with limited peptides targeting the ephrin ligands (Tanaka et al., 2010). The majority of these peptides bind to the ligandbinding domain of the Eph receptor limiting ephrin ligand binding and thus inhibiting Eph activation. Researchers have subsequently extended the half-life of existing peptides through the addition of polyethylene glycol polymer. One such example is TNYL-RAW, which blocks the binding of the ephrin ligand to the ligand binding domain of EphB4 (Noberini et al., 2011). Recently a peptide with dual function, specifically targeting EphB4-ephrin-B2 interactions was developed. This molecule, termed bi-directional ephrin agonist peptide (BIDEN-AP), can inhibit ephrin-B2 endothelial cell angiogenic signaling, while also activating EphB4 dependent tumor-suppressive signaling in tumor cells (Xiong et al., 2020). In vivo mouse studies confirm a significant reduction in ovarian tumor growth following the administration of BIDEN-AP (Xiong et al., 2020). This approach could be beneficial when targeting a known receptorligand pairing responsible for a specific biological function. Based on the current set of tools available to manipulate Ephephrin interactions, there is scope and potential for these therapeutic targets to be exploited and repurposed for the treatment of other diseases and disorders including those related to musculoskeletal pathophysiology.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

There is considerable complexity in the intercellular interactions between numerous cell types within the bone microenvironment. Throughout this review we have highlighted the multifaceted Eph-ephrin interactions within and between stromal, hematopoietic and endothelial cell types and with the surrounding extracellular matrix. With the development of appropriate research tools including conditional knockout and transgenic mice, specialized in vitro culture systems, unique engineered substrates, soluble Eph and ephrin-Fc fusion proteins, Eph-ephrin inhibitory peptides and functional blocking antibodies, we have a greater understanding of how these cells interact within the bone through Eph-ephrin communication to maintain skeletal integrity. It is clear that the Eph-ephrin family members play a role in many vital biological processes during skeletal development and in maintaining skeletal physiology, where dysregulation can lead to a number of pathophysiological conditions within the musculoskeletal system. Eph-ephrin signaling research has identified potential new drug targets that could be exploited for the treatment of musculoskeletal conditions such as fracture repair, periprosthetic osteolysis or disease states such as osteoarthritis or osteoporosis.

Despite our extensive knowledge in this field, there is still a considerable amount of research required to fully understand the role of Eph-ephrin communication within the bone microenvironment. For example it is clear that the MSC population is highly heterogeneous. Could Ephs and ephrins be used as markers to identify MSC subsets? Certainly, this is already under investigation with the identification of EphA2 within different human MSC populations, and the proposed contribution of EphA5 regulating MSC growth, while numerous B-subclass members have been implicated in MSC niche maintenance. There is limited knowledge on the function of Eph-ephrin signaling within the marrow adipose tissue.

The involvement of numerous Eph-ephrin signaling partners contributing to a particular cellular process in a spatial and temporal manner is a reoccurring theme evident throughout this review. It is yet to be determined how multiple Eph receptors or ephrin ligands are expressed simultaneously over a range of developmental stages to differentially influence biological processes. Overall, Eph-ephrin interactions appear to be required as a mechanism to "fine tune" a myriad of processes required for skeletal development, maintenance and repair.

We are also just starting to appreciate the interaction of Ephephrin molecules with up-stream and down-stream signaling targets within resident cells of the bone microenvironment. Currently known targets include IGF-1 and PTH, which interact with Eph-ephrin signaling during osteoblast and osteoclast formation and function; the communication with CXCL12 signaling during hematopoietic niche maintenance; or the interaction with integrin molecules during cell adhesion of endothelial cells or osteoclasts. Knowing these molecular interactions and the associated up- or down-stream signaling pathways provides us with a better understanding not only of the biology but also the dynamics and fluidity that is required to develop potential therapeutic targets to treat musculoskeletal diseases and disorders. This is already evident with current therapeutic approaches targeting different domains of the Eph receptors and ephrin ligands to treat a range of cancers. Based on current knowledge there is an opportunity to combine and utilize multidisciplinary approaches to repurpose tools and drug targets to influence Eph-ephrin communication as a therapeutic strategy to treat diseases and disorders relating to musculoskeletal tissue.

REFERENCES

- Adams, R. H., and Klein, R. (2000). Eph receptors and ephrin ligands essential mediators of vascular development. *Trends Cardiovasc. Med.* 10, 183–188. doi: 10.1016/S1050-1738(00)0 0046-3
- Adams, R. H., Wilkinson, G. A., Weiss, C., Diella, F., Gale, N. W., Deutsch, U., et al. (1999). Roles of ephrinB ligands and EphB receptors in cardiovascular development: demarcation of arterial/venous domains, vascular morphogenesis, and sprouting angiogenesis. *Genes Dev.* 13, 295–306. doi: 10.1101/gad.13.3.295
- Alfaro, D., Rodriguez-Sosa, M. R., and Zapata, A. G. (2020). Eph/ephrin signaling and biology of mesenchymal stromal/stem cells. J. Clin. Med. 9:310. doi: 10.3390/jcm9020310
- Alfaro, D., and Zapata, A. G. (2018). Eph/Ephrin-mediated stimulation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells correlates with changes in cell adherence and increased cell death. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 9:172. doi: 10.1186/s13287-018-0912-3
- Allan, E. H., Hausler, K. D., Wei, T., Gooi, J. H., Quinn, J. M., Crimeen-Irwin, B., et al. (2008). EphrinB2 regulation by PTH and PTHrP revealed by molecular profiling in differentiating osteoblasts. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 23, 1170–1181. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.080324
- Arthur, A., Koblar, S., Shi, S., and Gronthos, S. (2009a). Eph/ephrinB mediate dental pulp stem cell mobilization and function. J. Dent. Res. 88, 829–834. doi: 10.1177/0022034509342363
- Arthur, A., Nguyen, T. M., Paton, S., Klisuric, A., Zannettino, A. C. W., and Gronthos, S. (2018). The osteoprogenitor-specific loss of ephrinB1 results in an osteoporotic phenotype affecting the balance between bone formation and resorption. *Sci. Rep.* 8, 1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-31190-2
- Arthur, A., Nguyen, T. M., Paton, S., Zannettino, A. C. W., and Gronthos, S. (2019). Loss of EfnB1 in the osteogenic lineage compromises their capacity to support hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell maintenance. *Exp. Hematol.* 69, 43–53. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2018.10.004
- Arthur, A., Panagopoulos, R. A., Cooper, L., Menicanin, D., Parkinson, I. H., Codrington, J. D., et al. (2013a). EphB4 enhances the process of endochondral ossification and inhibits remodeling during bone fracture repair. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 28, 926–935.
- Arthur, A., Paton, S., Zannettino, A. C. W., and Gronthos, S. (2020). Conditional knockout of ephrinB1 in osteogenic progenitors delays the process of endochondral ossification during fracture repair. *Bone* 132:115189. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2019.115189
- Arthur, A., Zannettino, A., and Gronthos, S. (2009b). The therapeutic applications of multipotential mesenchymal/stromal stem cells in skeletal tissue repair. J. Cell. Physiol. 218, 237–245. doi: 10.1002/jcp.21592
- Arthur, A., Zannettino, A., and Gronthos, S. (2013b). "Multipotential mesenchymal stromal/stem cells in skeletal tissue repair," in *Stem Cells* and Bone Tissue, 1st Edn. eds R. Rajkumar, and V. Patel (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press) 82–102.
- Arthur, A., Zannettino, A., Panagopoulos, R., Koblar, S. A., Sims, N. A., Stylianou, C., et al. (2011). EphB/ephrin-B interactions mediate human MSC attachment, migration and osteochondral differentiation. *Bone* 48, 533–542. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2010.10.180

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AA and SG contributed to the writing and editing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was funded in-part by the National health and Medical Council Australian project grant APP1142954.

- Arvanitis, D., and Davy, A. (2008). Eph/ephrin signaling: networks. Genes Dev. 22, 416–429. doi: 10.1101/gad.1630408
- Bala, Y., Farlay, D., Delmas, P. D., Meunier, P. J., and Boivin, G. (2010). Time sequence of secondary mineralization and microhardness in cortical and cancellous bone from ewes. *Bone* 46, 1204–1212. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2009.11.032
- Barquilla, A., and Pasquale, E. B. (2015). Eph receptors and ephrins: therapeutic opportunities. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 55, 465–487. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-011112-140226
- Batlle, E., Henderson, J. T., Beghtel, H., van den Born, M. M., Sancho, E., Huls, G., et al. (2002). Beta-catenin and TCF mediate cell positioning in the intestinal epithelium by controlling the expression of EphB/ephrinB. *Cell* 111, 251–263. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)01015-2
- Baudet, S., Becret, J., and Nicol, X. (2020). Approaches to manipulate ephrin-A:EphA forward signaling pathway. *Pharmaceuticals* 13:140. doi: 10.3390/ph13070140
- Benson, M. D., Opperman, L. A., Westerlund, J., Fernandez, C. R., San Miguel, S., Henkemeyer, M., et al. (2012). Ephrin-B stimulation of calvarial bone formation. *Dev. Dyn.* 241, 1901–1910. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.23874
- Bikle, D. D., Sakata, T., Leary, C., Elalieh, H., Ginzinger, D., Rosen, C. J., et al. (2002). Insulin-like growth factor I is required for the anabolic actions of parathyroid hormone on mouse bone. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 17, 1570–1578. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.2002.17.9.1570
- Bikle, D. D., and Wang, Y. (2012). Insulin like growth factor-I: a critical mediator of the skeletal response to parathyroid hormone. *Curr. Mol. Pharmacol.* 5, 135–142. doi: 10.2174/1874467211205020135
- Binns, K. L., Taylor, P. P., Sicheri, F., Pawson, T., and Holland, S. J. (2000). Phosphorylation of tyrosine residues in the kinase domain and juxtamembrane region regulates the biological and catalytic activities of Eph receptors. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 20, 4791–4805. doi: 10.1128/MCB.20.13.4791-4805.2000
- Blits-Huizinga, C. T., Nelersa, C. M., Malhotra, A., and Liebl, D. J. (2004). Ephrins and their receptors: binding versus biology. *IUBMB Life* 56, 257–265. doi: 10.1080/15216540412331270076
- Boyd, A. W., Bartlett, P. F., and Lackmann, M. (2014). Therapeutic targeting of EPH receptors and their ligands. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 13, 39–62. doi: 10.1038/nrd4175
- Brinkhof, B., Zhang, B., Cui, Z., Ye, H., and Wang, H. (2020). ALCAM (CD166) as a gene expression marker for human mesenchymal stromal cell characterisation. *Gene X* 5:100031. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2020.100031
- Bruckner, K., Pasquale, E. B., and Klein, R. (1997). Tyrosine phosphorylation of transmembrane ligands for Eph receptors. *Science* 275, 1640–1643. doi: 10.1126/science.275.5306.1640
- Buckens, O. J., El Hassouni, B., Giovannetti, E., and Peters, G. J. (2020). The role of Eph receptors in cancer and how to target them: novel approaches in cancer treatment. *Exp. Opin. Investig. Drugs* 29, 567–582. doi: 10.1080/13543784.2020.1762566
- Caivano, A., La Rocca, F., Laurenzana, I., Annese, T., Tamma, R., Famigliari, U., et al. (2017). Epha3 acts as proangiogenic factor in multiple myeloma. *Oncotarget* 8, 34298–34309. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget. 16100
- Chan, C. K., Seo, E. Y., Chen, J. Y., Lo, D., McArdle, A., Sinha, R., et al. (2015). Identification and specification of the mouse skeletal stem cell. *Cell* 160, 285–298. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.12.002

- Chen, K. G., Johnson, K. R., and Robey, P. G. (2017). Mouse genetic analysis of bone marrow stem cell niches: technological pitfalls, challenges, and translational considerations. *Stem Cell Rep.* 9, 1343–1358. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.09.014
- Cheng, S., Kesavan, C., Mohan, S., Qin, X., Alarcon, C. M., Wergedal, J., et al. (2013). Transgenic Overexpression of Ephrin B1 in bone cells promotes bone formation and an anabolic response to mechanical loading in mice. *PLoS ONE* 8:e69051. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069051
- Cheng, S., Zhao, S. L., Nelson, B., Kesavan, C., Qin, X., Wergedal, J., et al. (2012). Targeted disruption of ephrin B1 in cells of myeloid lineage increases osteoclast differentiation and bone resorption in mice. *PLoS ONE* 7:e32887. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032887
- Chiabotto, G., Grignani, G., Todorovic, M., Martin, V., Centomo, M. L., Prola, E., et al. (2020). Pazopanib and trametinib as a synergistic strategy against osteosarcoma: preclinical activity and molecular insights. *Cancers* 12:1519. doi: 10.3390/cancers12061519
- Compagni, A., Logan, M., Klein, R., and Adams, R. H. (2003). Control of skeletal patterning by ephrinB1-EphB interactions. *Dev. Cell* 5, 217–230. doi: 10.1016/S1534-5807(03)00198-9
- Covas, D. T., Panepucci, R. A., Fontes, A. M., Silva, W. A. Jr., Orellana, M. D., Freitas, M. C., et al. (2008). Multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells obtained from diverse human tissues share functional properties and gene-expression profile with CD146+ perivascular cells and fibroblasts. *Exp. Hematol.* 36, 642–654. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2007.12.015
- Cowan, C. A., and Henkemeyer, M. (2001). The SH2/SH3 adaptor Grb4 transduces B-ephrin reverse signals. *Nature* 413, 174–179. doi: 10.1038/35093123
- Cramer, K. S., and Miko, I. J. (2016). Eph-ephrin signaling in nervous system development. *F1000Res* 5:F1000. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.7417.1
- Crane, G. M., Jeffery, E., and Morrison, S. J. (2017). Adult haematopoietic stem cell niches. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 17, 573–590. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.53
- D'Angelo, S., Staquicini, F. I., Ferrara, F., Staquicini, D. I., Sharma, G., Tarleton, C. A., et al. (2018). Selection of phage-displayed accessible recombinant targeted antibodies (SPARTA): methodology and applications. *JCI Insight* 3e98305. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.98305
- Darling, T. K., and Lamb, T. J. (2019). Emerging roles for Eph receptors and ephrin ligands in immunity. *Front. Immunol.* 10:1473. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01473
- Davis, S., Gale, N. W., Aldrich, T. H., Maisonpierre, P. C., Lhotak, V., Pawson, T., et al. (1994). Ligands for EPH-related receptor tyrosine kinases that require membrane attachment or clustering for activity. *Science* 266, 816–819. doi: 10.1126/science.7973638
- Davy, A., Aubin, J., and Soriano, P. (2004). Ephrin-B1 forward and reverse signaling are required during mouse development. *Genes Dev.* 18, 572–583. doi: 10.1101/gad.1171704
- Davy, A., Gale, N. W., Murray, E. W., Klinghoffer, R. A., Soriano, P., Feuerstein, C., et al. (1999). Compartmentalized signaling by GPI-anchored ephrin-A5 requires the Fyn tyrosine kinase to regulate cellular adhesion. *Genes Dev.* 13, 3125–3135. doi: 10.1101/gad.13.23.3125
- Davy, A., and Robbins, S. M. (2000). Ephrin-A5 modulates cell adhesion and morphology in an integrin-dependent manner. *EMBO J.* 19, 5396–5405. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.20.5396
- De Spiegelaere, W., Casteleyn, C., Van den Broeck, W., Plendl, J., Bahramsoltani, M., Simoens, P., et al. (2012). Intussusceptive angiogenesis: a biologically relevant form of angiogenesis. J. Vasc. Res. 49, 390–404. doi: 10.1159/0003 38278
- Dennis, J. E., Carbillet, J. P., Caplan, A. I., and Charbord, P. (2002). The STRO-1+ marrow cell population is multipotential. *Cells Tissues Organs* 170, 73–82. doi: 10.1159/000046182
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* 8, 315–317. doi: 10.1080/14653240600855905
- Dudanova, I., and Klein, R. (2011). The axon's balancing act: cisand trans-interactions between Ephs and ephrins. *Neuron* 71, 1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.06.030
- Edwards, C. M., and Mundy, G. R. (2008). Eph receptors and ephrin signaling pathways: a role in bone homeostasis. *Int. J. Med. Sci.* 5, 263–272. doi: 10.7150/ijms.5.263

- Faccio, R., Teitelbaum, S. L., Fujikawa, K., Chappel, J., Zallone, A., Tybulewicz, V. L., et al. (2005). Vav3 regulates osteoclast function and bone mass. *Nat. Med.* 11, 284–290. doi: 10.1038/nm1194
- Falivelli, G., Lisabeth, E. M., Rubio de la Torre, E., Perez-Tenorio, G., Tosato, G., Salvucci, O., et al. (2013). Attenuation of eph receptor kinase activation in cancer cells by coexpressed ephrin ligands. *PLoS ONE* 8:e81445. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081445
- Fernandez-Alonso, R., Bustos, F., Budzyk, M., Kumar, P., Helbig, A. O., Hukelmann, J., et al. (2020). Phosphoproteomics identifies a bimodal EPHA2 receptor switch that promotes embryonic stem cell differentiation. *Nat. Commun.* 11:1357. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-15173-4
- Gale, N. W., Holland, S. J., Valenzuela, D. M., Flenniken, A., Pan, L., Ryan, T. E., et al. (1996). Eph receptors and ligands comprise two major specificity subclasses and are reciprocally compartmentalized during embryogenesis. *Neuron* 17, 9–19. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80276-7
- Ge, Y. W., Liu, Z. Q., Sun, Z. Y., Yu, D. G., Feng, K., Zhu, Z. A., et al. (2018). Titanium particlemediated osteoclastogenesis may be attenuated via bidirectional ephrinB2/ephB4 signaling *in vitro*. Int. J. Mol. Med. 42, 2031–2041. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2018.3780
- Gerety, S. S., Wang, H. U., Chen, Z. F., and Anderson, D. J. (1999). Symmetrical mutant phenotypes of the receptor EphB4 and its specific transmembrane ligand ephrin-B2 in cardiovascular development. *Mol. Cell* 4, 403–414. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80342-1
- Giorgio, C., Zanotti, I., Lodola, A., and Tognolini, M. (2020). Ephrin or not? Six tough questions on Eph targeting. *Exp. Opin. Ther. Targets* 24, 403–415. doi: 10.1080/14728222.2020.1745187
- Greenbaum, A., Hsu, Y. M., Day, R. B., Schuettpelz, L. G., Christopher, M. J., Borgerding, J. N., et al. (2013). CXCL12 in early mesenchymal progenitors is required for haematopoietic stem-cell maintenance. *Nature* 495, 227–230. doi: 10.1038/nature11926
- Gronthos, S., and Simmons, P. J. (1995). The growth factor requirements of STRO-1-positive human bone marrow stromal precursors under serum-deprived conditions *in vitro*. *Blood* 85, 929–940. doi: 10.1182/blood.V85.4.929.bloodjournal854929
- Gronthos, S., Simmons, P. J., Graves, S. E., and Robey, P. G. (2001). Integrin-mediated interactions between human bone marrow stromal precursor cells and the extracellular matrix. *Bone* 28, 174–181. doi:10.1016/S8756-3282(00)00424-5
- Gronthos, S., Zannettino, A. C., Hay, S. J., Shi, S., Graves, S. E., Kortesidis, A., et al. (2003). Molecular and cellular characterisation of highly purified stromal stem cells derived from human bone marrow. *J. Cell. Sci.* 116(Pt 9), 1827–1835. doi: 10.1242/jcs.00369
- Groppa, E., Brkic, S., Uccelli, A., Wirth, G., Korpisalo-Pirinen, P., Filippova, M., et al. (2018). EphrinB2/EphB4 signaling regulates non-sprouting angiogenesis by VEGF. *EMBO Rep.* 19:e45054. doi: 10.15252/embr.201745054
- Guder, C., Gravius, S., Burger, C., Wirtz, D. C., and Schildberg, F. A. (2020). Osteoimmunology: a current update of the interplay between bone and the immune system. *Front. Immunol.* 11:58. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00058
- Han, Y., You, X., Xing, W., Zhang, Z., and Zou, W. (2018). Paracrine and endocrine actions of bone-the functions of secretory proteins from osteoblasts, osteocytes, and osteoclasts. *Bone Res.* 6:16. doi: 10.1038/s41413-018-0019-6
- Hansen, M. J., Dallal, G. E., and Flanagan, J. G. (2004). Retinal axon response to ephrin-as shows a graded, concentration-dependent transition from growth promotion to inhibition. *Neuron* 42, 717–730. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.05.009
- Hashimoto, S., Creighton-Achermann, L., Takahashi, K., Amiel, D., Coutts, R. D., and Lotz, M. (2002). Development and regulation of osteophyte formation during experimental osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartil.* 10, 180–187. doi: 10.1053/joca.2001.0505
- Heinegard, D., and Saxne, T. (2011). The role of the cartilage matrix in osteoarthritis. *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.* 7, 50–56. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2010.198
- Himanen, J. P., Chumley, M. J., Lackmann, M., Li, C., Barton, W. A., Jeffrey, P. D., et al. (2004). Repelling class discrimination: ephrin-A5 binds to and activates EphB2 receptor signaling. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 501–509. doi: 10.1038/nn1237
- Himanen, J. P., Rajashankar, K. R., Lackmann, M., Cowan, C. A., Henkemeyer, M., and Nikolov, D. B. (2001). Crystal structure of an Eph receptor-ephrin complex. *Nature* 414, 933–938. doi: 10.1038/414933a

- Holland, S. J., Peles, E., Pawson, T., and Schlessinger, J. (1998). Cell-contactdependent signalling in axon growth and guidance: Eph receptor tyrosine kinases and receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase beta. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 8, 117–127. doi: 10.1016/S0959-4388(98)80015-9
- Hu, Y., Wang, X., Wu, Y., Jin, W., Cheng, B., Fang, X., et al. (2015). Role of EFNB1 and EFNB2 in mouse collagen-induced arthritis and human rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 67, 1778–1788. doi: 10.1002/art.39116
- Huang, M., Wang, Y., and Peng, R. (2020). Icariin alleviates glucocorticoidinduced osteoporosis through EphB4/Ephrin-B2 axis. *Evid. Based Complement. Alternat. Med.* 2020:2982480. doi: 10.1155/2020/2982480
- Huynh-Do, U., Vindis, C., Liu, H., Cerretti, D. P., McGrew, J. T., Enriquez, M., et al. (2002). Ephrin-B1 transduces signals to activate integrin-mediated migration, attachment and angiogenesis. J. Cell. Sci. 115(Pt 15), 3073–3081.
- Irie, N., Takada, Y., Watanabe, Y., Matsuzaki, Y., Naruse, C., Asano, M., et al. (2009). Bidirectional signaling through EphrinA2-EphA2 enhances osteoclastogenesis and suppresses osteoblastogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 14637–14644. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M807598200
- Janebodin, K., Zeng, Y., Buranaphatthana, W., Ieronimakis, N., and Reyes, M. (2013). VEGFR2-dependent angiogenic capacity of pericyte-like dental pulp stem cells. J. Dent. Res. 92, 524–531. doi: 10.1177/0022034513485599
- Jing, X., Miyajima, M., Sawada, T., Chen, Q., Iida, K., Furushima, K., et al. (2012). Crosstalk of humoral and cell-cell contact-mediated signals in postnatal body growth. *Cell. Rep.* 2, 652–665. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2012.08.021
- Kania, A., and Klein, R. (2016). Mechanisms of ephrin-Eph signalling in development, physiology and disease. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 17, 240–256. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2015.16
- Kaur, A., Xing, W., Mohan, S., and Rundle, C. H. (2019). Changes in ephrin gene expression during bone healing identify a restricted repertoire of ephrins mediating fracture repair. *Histochem. Cell. Biol.* 151, 43–55. doi: 10.1007/s00418-018-1712-7
- Kenswil, K. J. G., Jaramillo, A. C., Ping, Z., Chen, S., Hoogenboezem, R. M., Mylona, M. A., et al. (2018). Characterization of endothelial cells associated with hematopoietic niche formation in humans identifies IL-33 as an anabolic factor. *Cell. Rep.* 22, 666–678. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.12.070
- Kesavan, C., Wergedal, J. E., Lau, K. H., and Mohan, S. (2011). Conditional disruption of IGF-I gene in type 1alpha collagen-expressing cells shows an essential role of IGF-I in skeletal anabolic response to loading. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 301, E1191–1197. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo. 00440.2011
- Kitamura, T., Kabuyama, Y., Kamataki, A., Homma, M. K., Kobayashi, H., Aota, S., et al. (2008). Enhancement of lymphocyte migration and cytokine production by ephrinB1 system in rheumatoid arthritis. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol.* 294, C189–196. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00314.2007
- Koolpe, M., Burgess, R., Dail, M., and Pasquale, E. B. (2005). EphB receptor-binding peptides identified by phage display enable design of an antagonist with ephrin-like affinity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 17301–17311. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M500363200
- Koolpe, M., Dail, M., and Pasquale, E. B. (2002). An ephrin mimetic peptide that selectively targets the EphA2 receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 46974–46979. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M208495200
- Kozhemyakina, E., Lassar, A. B., and Zelzer, E. (2015). A pathway to bone: signaling molecules and transcription factors involved in chondrocyte development and maturation. *Development* 142, 817–831. doi: 10.1242/dev. 105536
- Kullander, K., and Klein, R. (2002). Mechanisms and functions of Eph and ephrin signalling. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 3, 475–486. doi: 10.1038/nrm856
- Kwak, H., Salvucci, O., Weigert, R., Martinez-Torrecuadrada, J. L., Henkemeyer, M., Poulos, M. G., et al. (2016). Sinusoidal ephrin receptor EPHB4 controls hematopoietic progenitor cell mobilization from bone marrow. J. Clin. Invest. 126, 4554–4568. doi: 10.1172/JCI87848
- Kwan Tat, S., Pelletier, J. P., Amiable, N., Boileau, C., Lajeunesse, D., Duval, N., et al. (2008). Activation of the receptor EphB4 by its specific ligand ephrin B2 in human osteoarthritic subchondral bone osteoblasts. *Arthritis Rheum.* 58, 3820–3830. doi: 10.1002/art.24029
- Kwan Tat, S., Pelletier, J. P., Amiable, N., Boileau, C., Lavigne, M., and Martel-Pelletier, J. (2009). Treatment with ephrin B2 positively impacts the abnormal metabolism of human osteoarthritic chondrocytes. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 11:R119. doi: 10.1186/ar2782

- La Rocca, F., Airoldi, I., Di Carlo, E., Marotta, P., Falco, G., Simeon, V., et al. (2017). EphA3 targeting reduces *in vitro* adhesion and invasion and *in vivo* growth and angiogenesis of multiple myeloma cells. *Cell. Oncol.* 40, 483–496. doi: 10.1007/s13402-017-0338-4
- Leone, M., Cellitti, J., and Pellecchia, M. (2008). NMR studies of a heterotypic Sam-Sam domain association: the interaction between the lipid phosphatase Ship2 and the EphA2 receptor. *Biochemistry* 47, 12721–12728. doi: 10.1021/bi801713f
- Liang, L. Y., Patel, O., Janes, P. W., Murphy, J. M., and Lucet, I. S. (2019). Eph receptor signalling: from catalytic to non-catalytic functions. *Oncogene* 38, 6567–6584. doi: 10.1038/s41388-019-0931-2
- Lim, Y. S., McLaughlin, T., Sung, T. C., Santiago, A., Lee, K. F., and O'Leary, D. D. (2008). p75(NTR) mediates ephrin-A reverse signaling required for axon repulsion and mapping. *Neuron* 59, 746–758. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.07.032
- Lin, Y., Jiang, W., Ng, J., Jina, A., and Wang, R. A. (2014). Endothelial ephrin-B2 is essential for arterial vasodilation in mice. *Microcirculation* 21, 578–586. doi: 10.1111/micc.12135
- Lindsey, R. C., Rundle, C. H., and Mohan, S. (2018). Role of IGF1 and EFN-EPH signaling in skeletal metabolism. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 61, T87–T102. doi: 10.1530/JME-17-0284
- Liu, L., Zhou, L., Yang, X., Liu, Q., Yang, L., Zheng, C., et al. (2018). 17beta-estradiol attenuates ovariectomyinduced bone deterioration through the suppression of the ephA2/ephrinA2 signaling pathway. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 17, 1609–1616. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2017.8042
- London, M., and Gallo, E. (2020). Critical role of EphA3 in cancer and current state of EphA3 drug therapeutics. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 47, 5523–5533. doi: 10.1007/s11033-020-05571-8
- Lorda-Diez, C. I., Montero, J. A., Diaz-Mendoza, M. J., Garcia-Porrero, J. A., and Hurle, J. M. (2011). Defining the earliest transcriptional steps of chondrogenic progenitor specification during the formation of the digits in the embryonic limb. *PLoS ONE* 6:e24546. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024546
- Lu, Q., Sun, E. E., Klein, R. S., and Flanagan, J. G. (2001). Ephrin-B reverse signaling is mediated by a novel PDZ-RGS protein and selectively inhibits G proteincoupled chemoattraction. *Cell* 105, 69–79. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00297-5
- Lui, J. C., Chau, M., Chen, W., Cheung, C. S., Hanson, J., Rodriguez-Canales, J., et al. (2015). Spatial regulation of gene expression during growth of articular cartilage in juvenile mice. *Pediatr. Res.* 77, 406–415. doi: 10.1038/pr.2014.208
- Maekawa, H., Oike, Y., Kanda, S., Ito, Y., Yamada, Y., Kurihara, H., et al. (2003). Ephrin-b2 induces migration of endothelial cells through the phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase pathway and promotes angiogenesis in adult vasculature. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 23, 2008–2014. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000096655.56262.56
- Makris, E. A., Hadidi, P., and Athanasiou, K. A. (2011). The knee meniscus: structure-function, pathophysiology, current repair techniques, and prospects for regeneration. *Biomaterials* 32, 7411–7431. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.06.037
- Mao, Y., Huang, X., Zhao, J., and Gu, Z. (2011). Preliminary identification of potential PDZ-domain proteins downstream of ephrin B2 during osteoclast differentiation of RAW264.7 cells. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 27, 669–677. doi: 10.3892/ijjmm.2011.639
- Martin, T. J., Allan, E. H., Ho, P. W., Gooi, J. H., Quinn, J. M., Gillespie, M. T., et al. (2010). Communication between ephrinB2 and EphB4 within the osteoblast lineage. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 658, 51–60. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-1050-9_6
- Matsuo, K., and Otaki, N. (2012). Bone cell interactions through Eph/ephrin: bone modeling, remodeling and associated diseases. *Cell. Adh. Migr.* 6, 148–156. doi: 10.4161/cam.20888
- Mori, T., Maeda, N., Inoue, K., Sekimoto, R., Tsushima, Y., Matsuda, K., et al. (2013). A novel role for adipose ephrin-B1 in inflammatory response. *PLoS ONE* 8:e76199. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076199
- Murai, K. K., Nguyen, L. N., Koolpe, M., McLennan, R., Krull, C. E., and Pasquale, E. B. (2003). Targeting the EphA4 receptor in the nervous system with biologically active peptides. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 24, 1000–1011. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2003.08.006
- Murai, K. K., and Pasquale, E. B. (2003). 'Eph'ective signaling: forward, reverse and crosstalk. J. Cell. Sci. 116(Pt 14), 2823–2832. doi: 10.1242/jcs.00625
- Nguyen, T. M., Arthur, A., and Gronthos, S. (2016a). The role of Eph/ephrin molecules in stromal-hematopoietic interactions. *Int. J. Hematol.* 103, 145–154. doi: 10.1007/s12185-015-1886-x

- Nguyen, T. M., Arthur, A., Hayball, J. D., and Gronthos, S. (2013). EphB and Ephrin-B interactions mediate human mesenchymal stem cell suppression of activated T-cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 22, 2751–2764. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0676
- Nguyen, T. M., Arthur, A., Panagopoulos, R., Paton, S., Hayball, J. D., Zannettino, A. C., et al. (2015). EphB4 expressing stromal cells exhibit an enhanced capacity for hematopoietic stem cell maintenance. *Stem Cells* 33, 2838–2849. doi: 10.1002/stem.2069
- Nguyen, T. M., Arthur, A., Paton, S., Hemming, S., Panagopoulos, R., Codrington, J., et al. (2016b). Loss of ephrinB1 in osteogenic progenitor cells impedes endochondral ossification and compromises bone strength integrity during skeletal development. *Bone* 93, 12–21. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2016. 09.009
- Nguyen, T. M., Arthur, A., Zannettino, A. C., and Gronthos, S. (2017). EphA5 and EphA7 forward signaling enhances human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell maintenance, migration, and adhesion via Rac1 activation. *Exp Hematol.* 48, 72–78. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2016.12.001
- Noberini, R., Mitra, S., Salvucci, O., Valencia, F., Duggineni, S., Prigozhina, N., et al. (2011). PEGylation potentiates the effectiveness of an antagonistic peptide that targets the EphB4 receptor with nanomolar affinity. *PLoS ONE* 6:e28611. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028611
- Oh, J. H., Park, S. Y., de Crombrugghe, B., and Kim, J. E. (2012). Chondrocytespecific ablation of Osterix leads to impaired endochondral ossification. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun* 418, 634–640. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.01.064
- Ojosnegros, S., Cutrale, F., Rodriguez, D., Otterstrom, J. J., Chiu, C. L., Hortiguela, V., et al. (2017). Eph-ephrin signaling modulated by polymerization and condensation of rec.eptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 114, 13188–13193. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1713564114
- Okamoto, K., and Takayanagi, H. (2019). Osteoimmunology. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 9:a031245. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a031245
- Ono, N., Balani, D. H., and Kronenberg, H. M. (2019). Stem and progenitor cells in skeletal development. *Curr. Top. Dev. Biol.* 133, 1–24. doi: 10.1016/bs.ctdb.2019.01.006
- Ono, N., Ono, W., Nagasawa, T., and Kronenberg, H. M. (2014). A subset of chondrogenic cells provides early mesenchymal progenitors in growing bones. *Nat. Cell. Biol.* 16, 1157–1167. doi: 10.1038/ncb3067
- Palmer, A., Zimmer, M., Erdmann, K. S., Eulenburg, V., Porthin, A., Heumann, R., et al. (2002). EphrinB phosphorylation and reverse signaling: regulation by Src kinases and PTP-BL phosphatase. *Mol. Cell* 9, 725–737. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(02)00488-4
- Pasquale, E. B. (2005). Eph receptor signalling casts a wide net on cell behaviour. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 6, 462–475. doi: 10.1038/nrm1662
- Peng, Y., Wu, S., Li, Y., and Crane, J. L. (2020). Type H blood vessels in bone modeling and remodeling. *Theranostics* 10, 426–436. doi: 10.7150/thno.34126
- Poliakov, A., Cotrina, M., and Wilkinson, D. G. (2004). Diverse roles of eph receptors and ephrins in the regulation of cell migration and tissue assembly. *Dev. Cell* 7, 465–480. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2004.09.006
- Ramasamy, S. K., Kusumbe, A. P., Itkin, T., Gur-Cohen, S., Lapidot, T., and Adams, R. H. (2016). Regulation of hematopoiesis and osteogenesis by blood vessel-derived signals. *Annu. Rev. Cell. Dev. Biol.* 32, 649–675. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-111315-124936
- Rundle, C. H., Xing, W., Lau, K. W., and Mohan, S. (2016). Bidirectional ephrin signaling in bone. Osteoporos. Sarcopenia 2, 65–76. doi: 10.1016/j.afos.2016.05.002
- Sacchetti, B., Funari, A., Michienzi, S., Di Cesare, S., Piersanti, S., Saggio, I., et al. (2007). Self-renewing osteoprogenitors in bone marrow sinusoids can organize a hematopoietic microenvironment. *Cell* 131, 324–336. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.025
- Salvucci, O., de la Luz Sierra, M., Martina, J. A., McCormick, P. J., and Tosato, G. (2006). EphB2 and EphB4 receptors forward signaling promotes SDF-1induced endothelial cell chemotaxis and branching remodeling. *Blood* 108, 2914–2922. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-05-023341
- Salvucci, O., Maric, D., Economopoulou, M., Sakakibara, S., Merlin, S., Follenzi, A., et al. (2009). EphrinB reverse signaling contributes to endothelial and mural cell assembly into vascular structures. *Blood* 114, 1707–1716. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-12-192294
- Salvucci, O., and Tosato, G. (2012). Essential roles of EphB receptors and EphrinB ligands in endothelial cell function and angiogenesis. *Adv. Cancer Res.* 114, 21–57. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-386503-8.00002-8

- Sawamiphak, S., Seidel, S., Essmann, C. L., Wilkinson, G. A., Pitulescu, M. E., Acker, T., et al. (2010). Ephrin-B2 regulates VEGFR2 function in developmental and tumour angiogenesis. *Nature* 465, 487–491. doi: 10.1038/nature08995
- Shen, Q., Yasmeen, R., Marbourg, J., Xu, L., Yu, L., Fadda, P., et al. (2018). Induction of innervation by encapsulated adipocytes with engineered vitamin A metabolism. *Transl. Res.* 192, 1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2017.10.005
- Shi, S., and Gronthos, S. (2003). Perivascular niche of postnatal mesenchymal stem cells in human bone marrow and dental pulp. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 18, 696–704. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.4.696
- Shimizu, E., Tamasi, J., and Partridge, N. C. (2012). Alendronate affects osteoblast functions by crosstalk through EphrinB1-EphB. J. Dent. Res. 91, 268–274. doi: 10.1177/0022034511432170
- Sims, N. A., and Martin, T. J. (2014). Coupling the activities of bone formation and resorption: a multitude of signals within the basic multicellular unit. *Bonekey. Rep.* 3:481. doi: 10.1038/bonekey.2013.215
- Sims, N. A., and Walsh, N. C. (2012). Intercellular cross-talk among bone cells: new factors and pathways. *Curr. Osteoporos. Rep.* 10, 109–117. doi: 10.1007/s11914-012-0096-1
- Stadler, H. S., Higgins, K. M., and Capecchi, M. R. (2001). Loss of Eph-receptor expression correlates with loss of cell adhesion and chondrogenic capacity in Hoxa13 mutant limbs. *Development* 128, 4177–4188.
- Stein, E., Lane, A. A., Cerretti, D. P., Schoecklmann, H. O., Schroff, A. D., Van Etten, R. L., et al. (1998). Eph receptors discriminate specific ligand oligomers to determine alternative signaling complexes, attachment, and assembly responses. *Genes Dev.* 12, 667–678. doi: 10.1101/gad.12.5.667
- Stiffel, V., Amoui, M., Sheng, M. H., Mohan, S., and Lau, K. H. (2014). EphA4 receptor is a novel negative regulator of osteoclast activity. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 29, 804–819. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2084
- Stiffel, V. M., Thomas, A., Rundle, C. H., Sheng, M. H., and Lau, K. W. (2020). The EphA4 signaling is anti-catabolic in synoviocytes but pro-anabolic in articular chondrocytes. *Calcif. Tissue Int.* 107, 576–592. doi: 10.1007/s00223-020-00747-7
- Stokowski, A., Shi, S., Sun, T., Bartold, P. M., Koblar, S. A., and Gronthos, S. (2007). EphB/Ephrin-B interaction mediates adult stem cell attachment, spreading, and migration: implications for dental tissue repair. *Stem Cells* 25, 156–164. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2006-0373
- Takyar, F. M., Tonna, S., Ho, P. W., Crimeen-Irwin, B., Baker, E. K., Martin, T. J., et al. (2013). EphrinB2/EphB4 inhibition in the osteoblast lineage modifies the anabolic response to parathyroid hormone. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 28, 912–925. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.1820
- Tanabe, S., Sato, Y., Suzuki, T., Suzuki, K., Nagao, T., and Yamaguchi, T. (2008). Gene expression profiling of human mesenchymal stem cells for identification of novel markers in early- and late-stage cell culture. *J. Biochem.* 144, 399–408. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvn082
- Tanaka, M., Kamata, R., Yanagihara, K., and Sakai, R. (2010). Suppression of gastric cancer dissemination by ephrin-B1-derived peptide. *Cancer Sci.* 101, 87–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01352.x
- Tang, F. H. F., Davis, D., Arap, W., Pasqualini, R., and Staquicini, F. I. (2020). Eph receptors as cancer targets for antibody-based therapy. *Adv. Cancer Res.* 147, 303–317. doi: 10.1016/bs.acr.2020.04.007
- Tazaki, Y., Sugitani, K., Ogai, K., Kobayashi, I., Kawasaki, H., Aoyama, T., et al. (2018). RANKL, Ephrin-Eph and Wnt10b are key intercellular communication molecules regulating bone remodeling in autologous transplanted goldfish scales. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Mol. Integr. Physiol.* 225, 46–58. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2018.06.011
- Ting, M. C., Wu, N. L., Roybal, P. G., Sun, J., Liu, L., Yen, Y., et al. (2009). EphA4 as an effector of Twist1 in the guidance of osteogenic precursor cells during calvarial bone growth and in craniosynostosis. *Development* 136, 855–864. doi: 10.1242/dev.028605
- Ting, M. J., Day, B. W., Spanevello, M. D., and Boyd, A. W. (2010). Activation of ephrin A proteins influences hematopoietic stem cell adhesion and trafficking patterns. *Exp. Hematol.* 38, 1087–1098. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2010.07.007
- To, C., Farnsworth, R. H., Vail, M. E., Chheang, C., Gargett, C. E., Murone, C., et al. (2014). Hypoxia-controlled EphA3 marks a human endometrium-derived multipotent mesenchymal stromal cell that supports vascular growth. *PLoS ONE* 9:e112106. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0112106
- Tonna, S., Poulton, I. J., Taykar, F., Ho, P. W., Tonkin, B., Crimeen-Irwin, B., et al. (2016). Chondrocytic ephrin B2 promotes cartilage destruction

by osteoclasts in endochondral ossification. Development 143, 648-657. doi: 10.1242/dev.125625

- Tonna, S., and Sims, N. A. (2014). Talking among ourselves: paracrine control of bone formation within the osteoblast lineage. *Calcif. Tissue Int.* 94, 35–45. doi: 10.1007/s00223-013-9738-2
- Tonna, S., Takyar, F. M., Vrahnas, C., Crimeen-Irwin, B., Ho, P. W., Poulton, I. J., et al. (2014). EphrinB2 signaling in osteoblasts promotes bone mineralization by preventing apoptosis. *FASEB J.* 28, 4482–4496. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-254300
- Toribio, R. E., Brown, H. A., Novince, C. M., Marlow, B., Hernon, K., Lanigan, L. G., et al. (2010). The midregion, nuclear localization sequence, and C terminus of PTHrP regulate skeletal development, hematopoiesis, and survival in mice. *FASEB J.* 24, 1947–1957. doi: 10.1096/fj.09-147033
- Tsukasaki, M., and Takayanagi, H. (2019). Osteoimmunology: evolving concepts in bone-immune interactions in health and disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 19, 626–642. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0178-8
- Twigg, S. R., Kan, R., Babbs, C., Bochukova, E. G., Robertson, S. P., Wall, S. A., et al. (2004). Mutations of ephrin-B1 (EFNB1), a marker of tissue boundary formation, cause craniofrontonasal syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 101, 8652–8657. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0402819101
- Valverde-Franco, G., Hum, D., Matsuo, K., Lussier, B., Pelletier, J. P., Fahmi, H., et al. (2015). The *in vivo* effect of prophylactic subchondral bone protection of osteoarthritic synovial membrane in bone-specific Ephb4-overexpressing mice. *Am. J. Pathol.* 185, 335–346. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.10.004
- Valverde-Franco, G., Lussier, B., Hum, D., Wu, J., Hamadjida, A., Dancause, N., et al. (2016). Cartilage-specific deletion of ephrin-B2 in mice results in early developmental defects and an osteoarthritis-like phenotype during aging *in vivo. Arthritis Res. Ther.* 18:65. doi: 10.1186/s13075-016-0965-6
- Valverde-Franco, G., Pelletier, J. P., Fahmi, H., Hum, D., Matsuo, K., Lussier, B., et al. (2012). *In vivo* bone-specific EphB4 overexpression in mice protects both subchondral bone and cartilage during osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 64, 3614–3625. doi: 10.1002/art.34638
- van den Elzen, M. E., Twigg, S. R., Goos, J. A., Hoogeboom, A. J., van den Ouweland, A. M., Wilkie, A. O., et al. (2014). Phenotypes of craniofrontonasal syndrome in patients with a pathogenic mutation in EFNB1. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 22, 995–1001. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2013.273
- Vrahnas, C., Blank, M., Dite, T. A., Tatarczuch, L., Ansari, N., Crimeen-Irwin, B., et al. (2019). Author Correction: Increased autophagy in EphrinB2-deficient osteocytes is associated with elevated secondary mineralization and brittle bone. *Nat. Commun.* 10:5073. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-13040-5
- Vreeken, D., Zhang, H., van Zonneveld, A. J., and van Gils, J. M. (2020). Ephs and ephrins in adult endothelial biology. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21:5623. doi: 10.3390/ijms21165623
- Wada, N., Gronthos, S., and Bartold, P. M. (2013). Immunomodulatory effects of stem cells. *Periodontol 2000* 63, 198–216. doi: 10.1111/prd.12024
- Wada, N., Kimura, I., Tanaka, H., Ide, H., and Nohno, T. (1998). Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored cell surface proteins regulate position-specific cell affinity in the limb bud. *Dev. Biol.* 202, 244–252. doi: 10.1006/dbio.1998.9013
- Wada, N., Tanaka, H., Ide, H., and Nohno, T. (2003). Ephrin-A2 regulates positionspecific cell affinity and is involved in cartilage morphogenesis in the chick limb bud. *Dev. Biol.* 264, 550–563. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2003.08.019
- Wang, H. U., Chen, Z. F., and Anderson, D. J. (1998). Molecular distinction and angiogenic interaction between embryonic arteries and veins revealed by ephrin-B2 and its receptor Eph-B4. *Cell* 93, 741–753. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81436-1
- Wang, M., Liu, C., Zhang, Y., Hao, Y., Zhang, X., and Zhang, Y. M. (2013). Protein interaction and microRNA network analysis in osteoarthritis meniscal cells. *Genet. Mol. Res.* 12, 738–746. doi: 10.4238/2013.March.13.2
- Wang, Y., Ling, L., Tian, F., Won Kim, S. H., Ho, S., and Bikle, D. D. (2020). Ablation of ephrin B2 in Col2 expressing cells delays fracture repair. *Endocrinology* 161:bqaa179. doi: 10.1210/endocr/bqaa179
- Wang, Y., Menendez, A., Fong, C., ElAlieh, H. Z., Chang, W., and Bikle, D. D. (2014). Ephrin B2/EphB4 mediates the actions of IGF-I signaling in regulating endochondral bone formation. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 29, 1900–1913. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2196
- Wang, Y., Menendez, A., Fong, C., ElAlieh, H. Z., Kubota, T., Long, R., et al. (2015). IGF-I signaling in osterix-expressing cells regulates secondary ossification center formation, growth plate maturation, and metaphyseal formation

during postnatal bone development. J. Bone Miner. Res. 30, 2239-2248. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2563

- Wang, Y., Nakayama, M., Pitulescu, M. E., Schmidt, T. S., Bochenek, M. L., Sakakibara, A., et al. (2010). Ephrin-B2 controls VEGF-induced angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. *Nature* 465, 483–486. doi: 10.1038/nature09002
- Wang, Y., Shang, Y., Li, J., Chen, W., Li, G., Wan, J., et al. (2018). Specific Eph receptor-cytoplasmic effector signaling mediated by SAM-SAM domain interactions. *Elife* 7:e35677. doi: 10.7554/eLife.35677.030
- Wieland, I., Jakubiczka, S., Muschke, P., Cohen, M., Thiele, H., Gerlach, K. L., et al. (2004). Mutations of the ephrin-B1 gene cause craniofrontonasal syndrome. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 74, 1209–1215. doi: 10.1086/421532
- Wongdee, K., Tulalamba, W., Thongbunchoo, J., Krishnamra, N., and Charoenphandhu, N. (2011). Prolactin alters the mRNA expression of osteoblast-derived osteoclastogenic factors in osteoblast-like UMR106 cells. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 349, 195–204. doi: 10.1007/s11010-010-0674-4
- Wu, M., Ai, W., Chen, L., Zhao, S., and Liu, E. (2016). Bradykinin receptors and EphB2/EphrinB2 pathway in response to high glucose-induced osteoblast dysfunction and hyperglycemia-induced bone deterioration in mice. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 37, 565–574. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2016.2457
- Xing, W., Baylink, D., Kesavan, C., Hu, Y., Kapoor, S., Chadwick, R. B., et al. (2005). Global gene expression analysis in the bones reveals involvement of several novel genes and pathways in mediating an anabolic response of mechanical loading in mice. J. Cell. Biochem. 96, 1049–1060. doi: 10.1002/jcb.20606
- Xing, W., Kim, J., Wergedal, J., Chen, S. T., and Mohan, S. (2010). Ephrin B1 regulates bone marrow stromal cell differentiation and bone formation by influencing TAZ transactivation via complex formation with NHERF1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 30, 711–721. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00610-09
- Xiong, C., Wen, Y., Zhao, J., Yin, D., Xu, L., Chelariu-Raicu, A., et al. (2020). Targeting forward and reverse EphB4/EFNB2 signaling by a peptide with dual functions. *Sci. Rep.* 10:520. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-57477-x
- Xu, K., Tzvetkova-Robev, D., Xu, Y., Goldgur, Y., Chan, Y. P., Himanen, J. P., et al. (2013). Insights into Eph receptor tyrosine kinase activation from crystal structures of the EphA4 ectodomain and its complex with ephrin-A5. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 110, 14634–14639. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1311000110
- Xue, C., Zhang, T., Xie, X., Zhang, Q., Zhang, S., Zhu, B., et al. (2017). Substrate stiffness regulates arterial-venous differentiation of endothelial progenitor cells via the Ras/Mek pathway. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell. Res.* 1864, 1799–1808. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2017.07.006
- Yamada, T., Yoshii, T., Yasuda, H., Okawa, A., and Sotome, S. (2016). Dexamethasone regulates EphA5, a potential inhibitory factor with osteogenic capability of human bone marrow stromal cells. *Stem Cells Int.* 2016:1301608. doi: 10.1155/2016/1301608
- Yamada, T., Yuasa, M., Masaoka, T., Taniyama, T., Maehara, H., Torigoe, I., et al. (2013). After repeated division, bone marrow stromal cells express inhibitory factors with osteogenic capabilities, and EphA5 is a primary candidate. *Bone* 57, 343–354. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2013.08.028
- Yang, J. S., Wei, H. X., Chen, P. P., and Wu, G. (2018a). Roles of Eph/ephrin bidirectional signaling in central nervous system injury and recovery. *Exp. Ther. Med.* 15, 2219–2227. doi: 10.3892/etm.2018.5702
- Yang, L., Tsang, K. Y., Tang, H. C., Chan, D., and Cheah, K. S. (2014). Hypertrophic chondrocytes can become osteoblasts and osteocytes in endochondral bone formation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 111, 12097–12102. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1302703111
- Yang, S., Zhang, W., Cai, M., Zhang, Y., Jin, F., Yan, S., et al. (2018b). Suppression of bone resorption by miR-141 in aged rhesus monkeys. *J. Bone Miner. Res.* 33, 1799–1812. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.3479
- Yoshida, S., Kato, T., Kanno, N., Nishimura, N., Nishihara, H., Horiguchi, K., et al. (2017). Cell type-specific localization of Ephs pairing with ephrin-B2 in the rat postnatal pituitary gland. *Cell Tissue Res.* 370, 99–112. doi: 10.1007/s00441-017-2646-4
- Zhao, C., Irie, N., Takada, Y., Shimoda, K., Miyamoto, T., Nishiwaki, T., et al. (2006). Bidirectional ephrinB2-EphB4 signaling controls bone homeostasis. *Cell. Metab.* 4, 111–121. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2006.05.012
- Zhao, Y., and Xie, L. (2020). Unique bone marrow blood vessels couple angiogenesis and osteogenesis in bone homeostasis and diseases. Ann. N Y Acad. Sci. 1474, 514. doi: 10.1111/nyas.14348
- Zhou, X., von der Mark, K., Henry, S., Norton, W., Adams, H., and de Crombrugghe, B. (2014). Chondrocytes transdifferentiate into osteoblasts in

endochondral bone during development, postnatal growth and fracture healing in mice. *PLoS Genet.* 10:e1004820. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1004820

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Arthur and Gronthos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

